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By C. W. Nimitz, Fleet Admiral, U.S. N m y  

ONE hundred and seventy-three years ago on the North 
American continent, thirteen rebellious colonies won their 
independence from their mother country after six years of 
hard and desperate warfare. Seven years ago, on August 15, 
1947, on another continent two great countries, India and 
Pakistan, had their independence thrust upon them by that 

- 

same mother country in a somewhat urgent and not com- 
pletely orderly manner. 

I t  was not that the peoples of these two new-born coun- 
tries had not been agitating for independence-as indeed 
they had for many years, sometimes with open violence, but 
mostly with passive resistance. When suddenly independ- 
ence came with a rush, these new countries, whose com- 
bined numbers approximate one-fifth of the world's popu- 
lation, were ill-prepared for the peaceful settlement of the 
many knotty problems that such a hasty separation entailed. 
The existing situation, complicated by deep-seated antago- 
nisms between the two most interested parties, called for a 
judicial procedure somewhat similar to that employed in a 
present-day settlement of an important estate. However, the 
mother country, instead of presiding as a probate court, left 
the two principal heirs more or less on their own to settle 
the division of the estate as best they could. 

I t  was, of course, inevitable that there would be many 
matters on which the interested parties could reach no 
agreement without outside help. Among these residual prob- 
lems, perhaps the most important that separates India and 
Pakistan today is their dispute over the ownership of the 
Princely State of Kashmir. This is the most important be- 

- 

cause it has flared into open, though undeclared, war, which 
has involved troops of both countries in fighting in Kashmir. 
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Foreword 

I t  is important also because a continuation of such fighting 
might develop into a world conflagration. T o  the casualties 
resulting from the fighting between the opposing troops 
must be added some ten million refugees and one million 
dead as a result of the disorderly rioting which accom- 
panied or followed the inadequately prepared separation of 
the Indian subcontinent into two countries. 

It was into this tense and dangerous situation that the 
youthful three-year-old United Nations moved in early 1948 
to bring an end to the fighting, and to seek a peaceful so- 
lution to the basic dispute as to whether Kashmir should 
belong to India or to Pakistan. By January 1, 1949, a 
five-member United Nations Commissiol~ on India and 
Pakistan (UNCIP)  had succeeded in stopping the fighting 
and had secured a cease-fire which became effective on Jan- 
uary 1, 1949, and which to this date constitutes the high- 
water mark of agreement between the two contending coun- 
tries. This cease-fire stands to the credit of the United Na- 
tions as one of its early and important successes. Then fol- 
lowed the long, patient (and to date, unsuccessful) efforts 
of the United Nations through its Commission, and later 
by employment of single mediators, to find a fair and peace- 
ful settlement of the Kashmir dispute, a dispute which con- 
cerns not only India and Pakistan but the whole world 
as well. 

The recording of this chapter of contemporary history 
has been undertaken by Dr. Josef Korbel, who is eminently 
qualified to present an accurate and impartial account of 
the Kashmir crisis down to the present. Dr. Korbel served 
as a member of the Conlmission (UNCIP)  during its early 
and critical days, and in that capacity visited India, Pak- 
istan, and Kashmir and conferred with their leaders and 
met their people. In the pages which follow, he makes a 
very important coiltribution to history. In our rapidly 
shrinking world there are very few people left unaffected 
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by disturbances in other areas, even though such upheavals 
are remote or far removed. Certainly a dispute that in- 
volves one-fifth of the world's population, and that can 
erupt into a world war, bears careful watching. T o  all read- 
ers, then, I commend this authoritative account. 

BERKELEY, CALIFORNIA 

FEBRUARY 19, 1954 
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OVER the vast Indo-Pakistan Subcontinent lies a shadow. I t  
is a shadow cast from beyond the towering Himalayas and 
the Pamirs, from Sinkiang and Tibet and the Soviet Union. 
Four hundred and thirty million people, who so recently 
gained their independence, face the possible threat of its 
loss to those who, unlike the British, possess not even the 
doubtful asset of good intentions. 

If such a tragedy should take place, it will be, however, 
the result not only of pressure from without but also, and 
more directly, by forfeiture from within. For today, as for 
the past seven years, under the awesome shadow of this 
possible disaster, the two great nations of the Subcontinent, 
India and Pakistan, continue to dissipate their wealth, their 
strength, and their energy on a near fratricidal struggle in 
which the hitherto almost unknown State of Kashmir has 
become the physical battleground. 

I t  requires no thorough knowledge of political or mili- 
tary strategy to understand the interdependence of these 
two great nations. Geographically the Subcontinent is one 
entity of more than 1,500,000 square miles, almost devoid 
of natural inland barriers. In the north it is separated from 
the rest of Asia by the majestic peaks and tortuous defiles 
of the Himalayas and the Pamirs. Elsewhere the shores of 
India and Pakistan are watered in common by the waves 
of the Bay of Bengal and the Arabian Sea. Economically, 
their interdependence has been demonstrated over the years, 
the imports of one nation being in many instances the ex- 
portable products of the other. 

But even as these factors point to the mutual advantages 
of close cooperation, so too do they indicate the compulsion 
of each to preserve the independence of the other. For 
should Pakistan, composed as it is of two geographically 
separated areas, succumb to Communism, two spearheads 
for invasion would be aimed at  the heart of India. Should 
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India be communized, Pakistan would survive only so long 
as the Communists, for reasons of their own, wished to re- 
strain their expansionist impulses. 

Not only then for reasons of the Subcontinent's pros- 
perity but also for deeply compelling reasons of its security, 
neither the nations immediately involved nor the rest of 
the free world can afford to see this animosity continue, an 
animosity of which the struggle for Kashmir is not only the 
principal external evidence but also the principal continu- 
ing source of infection. 

And yet, since 1947, the conflict has continued. Although 
its original violence has given way to a prolonged and un- 
easy truce, the pressures of hatred and fear and frustration 
continue to exist under the thin crust of the cease-fire ar- 
rangement. If a satisfactory solution cannot be found, the 
danger of an explosion remains ever present. If it comes, 
there will come with it the moment which the Communist 
world alone eagerly awaits. 

Should India and Pakistan consume themselves in war, 
surely the dark shadow would slide over the Himalayas and 
the Pamirs, and in its gloom there would have been found 
the unhappy solution to the problem of Kashmir. 

J.K. 
August 1954 
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I. The Forgotten Nation 

"If one were to take to praise Kashmir, whole books 
would have to be written. . . . Kashmir is a garden of eter- 
nal spring, or an iron fort to a palace of kings-a delightful 
flower-bed, and a heart-expanding heritage for dervishes. Its 
pleasant meads and enchanting cascades are beyond all de- 
scription. There are running streams and fountains beyond 
count. Wherever the eye reaches, there are verdure and run- 
ning water. The red rose, the violet and the narcissus grow 
of themselves; in the fields, there are all kinds of flowers and 
all sorts of sweet-scented herbs more than can be calculated. 
In the soul-enchanting spring the hills and plains are filled 
with blossoms; the gates, the walls, the courts, the roofs, 
are lighted up by the torches of the banquet-adoring tulips. 
What  shall we say of these things or the wide meadows and 
the fragrant trefoil? 

"The garden-nymphs were brilliant, 
Their cheeks shone like lamps; 
There were fragrant buds on their stems, 
Like dark amulets on the arms of the beloved; 
The wakeful, ode-rehearsing nightingales 
Whetted the desires of wine-drinkers; 
At each fountain the duck dipped his beak 
Like golden scissors cutting silk; 
There were flower-carpets and fresh rosebuds, 
The wind fanned the lamps of the roses, 
The violet braided her locks, 
The buds tied a knot in the heart."' 

THUS in 1620 wrote Emperor Salim Jahangir of the beau- 
ties of Kashmir. Since that time many others have added 
their voices to the Emperor Salim's paean-but none more 

The Tuzuk-I-lahangiri or Memoirs of luhungir, translated by 
A. Rogers, edited by H. Beveridge. 2 volumes, Royal Asiatic Society, 
London, 1914, vol. 11, p. 114. 
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eloquently than one of Kashmir's greatest descendants, 
Pandit Jawaharlal Nehru. 

In 1940 Pandit Nehru revisited the beautiful land of his 
ancestors after an absence of twenty-three years, dedicated 
to his nation's frantic struggle for independence. And in the 
ripe years of his rich life he wrote with lyrical nostalgia: 
- .  

4 4 . . . Like some supremely beautiful woman, whose 
beauty is almost impersonal and above human desire, such 
was Kashmir in all its feminine beauty of river and valley 
and lake and graceful trees. And then another aspect of this 
magic beauty would come to view, a masculine one, of hard 
mountains and precipices, and snow-capped peaks and gla- 
ciers, and cruel and fierce torrents rushing down to the 
valleys below. It had a hundred faces and innumerable as- 
pects, ever-changing, sometimes smiling, sometimes sad and 
full of sorrow. The mist would creep up from the Dal 
Lake and, like a transparent veil, give glimpses of what was 
behind. The clouds would throw out their arms to embrace 
a mountaintop, or creep down stealthily like children at 
play. I watched this ever-changing spectacle, and sometimes 
the sheer loveliness of it was overpowering and I felt al- 
most faint. I gazed at it, it seemed to me dreamlike and un- 
real, like the hopes and desires that fill us and so seldom 
find fulfillment. I t  was like the face of the beloved that one 
sees in a dream and that fades away on awakening. . . . ? 9 

Nehru saw Srinagar as "a fairy city of dreamlike beauty'? 
which "is no fancy picture, for fairyland lies all around it; 
the magic is there already. . . ." And, "Kashmir calls [him] 
back, its pull is stronger than ever; it whispers its magic to 
the ears, and its memory disturbs the mind. How can they 
who have fallen under its spell release themselves from this 
en~hantment?"~  

Wha t  is this Kashmir that calls from a seventeenth- 
century emperor and a twentieth-century statesman such 

Jawaharlal Nehru, The U n i t y  o f  Ind ia .  The John Day Company. 
New York, 1942, pp. 223, 226, 240. Quoted by permission of The 
John Day Company, Inc. 
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ecstatic songs? The name itself is familiar through its wool, 
and the beauty of the Shalimar gardens is legend. But this 
is all the average man or woman can tell you of this for- 
gotten corner of land, shrinking in the shadow of the ma- 
jestic Himalayan colossus and the "roof of the world," the 
Pamirs. 

The shy Kashmiri would look at you with gentle amaze- 
ment if you told him that his case has been debated before 
the world forum, the United Nations, and that his plight 
has from time to time made headlines in the press of every 
country. Centuries of hard life have taught him to be recon- 
ciled to the strange role of living in a paradise that treats 
him poorly, forgotten by all, helped by none. Obediently 
and stolidly he accepts the status of the forgotten man in 
an undiscovered nation. 

Only those who have visited Kashmir can see this cruel 
contrast between the nostalgic beauty and power of its 
scenery and the frightened dark eyes of its countless poor. 
Such visitors are few, and the country and its people have 
remained, to most of the world, obscure. 

The Country 
The term "Kashmir," as it is generally used, is actually 

not accurate. I t  applies only to one part of the entire ter- 
ritory, the official name of which is the State of Jammu 
and Kashmir. The state consists of several regions. Its heart 
is the famous Vale of Kashmir. South of it is the Jammu 
Province, to the east is Ladakh, and north of it, Baltistan; 
farther north are the regions of Hunza and Nagir, and west 
of them, the Gilgit Agency, composed of several political 
districts. West of the Vale are the districts of Muzaffarabad, 
Riasi, Poonch, and Mirpur. 

Kashmir's irregular borders, many miles of which are as 
yet not internationally determined, touch a number of 
states. Beginning at its most northeasterly point, Kashmir 
borders upon Sinkiang, the line running south and east for 
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some 400 miles; then for about 450 miles it finds itself 
neighbor to Tibet. Between India to the south and Kash- 
mir to the north, the border continues for some 350 miles, 
then joins the boundary of Pakistan and turning northwest 
for about 700 miles finds Afghanistan. Here the border 
swings east' for about 160 miles, where it ends in a some- 
what unclear situation-on some maps it joins the Soviet 
Union for about 20 miles, while on others (including some 
Russian maps) "t ends at a common point with the borders 
of both Sinkiang and Russia. 

The whole country is about the size of Minnesota- 
84,471 square miles-and its latitude is approximately that 
of North Carolina. The total population, according to the 
census of 1941, was 4,021,616 (in 1950 an executive state- 
ment declared the to be 4,370,000). Of these, 
77.11 Per cent (3,101,247) were Muslims, 20.12 per cent 
Hindus, and 1.64 per cent Sikhs. The rate of increase of 
population has been estimated at 1 per cent a year. 

As to the individual provinces, the Jammu Province has 
- 

an area of 12,378 square miles and a population of 1,981,433. 
0 1  this number, 61 per cent are Muslims living mainly west 
and north of the Chenab River. The other 39 per cent, 
mostly Hindus, are concentrated predominantly south and 
east of the river. The Kashmir Province, 8,539 square miles 
in size, has a total population of 1,728,705, of which 93.7 
per cent are Muslims. The other regions-Gilgit, Baltistan, 
and Ladakh-are almost entirely Muslim with the excep- 
tion of the one region of Ladakh adjacent to Tibet, where 
o 939 Buddhists live. 4 7 

The political and economic life of the entire area is cen- 
tered around the Vale of Kashmir, a rich strip of land about 
85 miles long and 25  miles wide. Its principal city, the an- 
cient Srinagar (Shri Nagar = City of Wealth of Knowl- 
edge), with 210,000 inhabitants, was the home of the Ma- 
haraja except for the winters, which he usually spent in 

Bol'shoi Sovetskii Atlas Mira, Moskva, 19 37. 
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Jammu. The Vale, lying 5,000 feet above sea level, is rich 
in fruits of all kinds as well as in wheat, rice, maize, and 
wood. 

Jammu, geographically, is a succession of mountain 
ranges and plateaus and is separated from Kashmir by Pir 
Panjal, which is accessible only during the snow-free period 
through Banihal Pass, 9,000 feet high. The southwestern 
part of Jammu is open to Pakistan, and its southeastern part 
to India. The only 16 miles of railroad built in Jammu run 
to Sialkot in Pakistan. 

In the northern regions the rugged mountains are topped 
by the world's second highest peak, Mt. Goodwin Austen, 
unconquered until July 1954. The sparse population is scat- 
tered over vast distances and isolated almost entirely from 
their capital city of Srinagar. 

Few roads connect the towns and provinces or open 
Kashmir to the outside world. One of these leads north- 
west from Srinagar through Baramula Pass, along the 
Jhelum River, to Pakistan. Another runs south from Srina- 
gar to Jammu over the Banihal Pass and farther to Sialkot 
in Pakistan. A third was built in the fall of 1947 by the 
Indian army, a branch road from the town of Jammu to the 
Indian border village of Pathankot. The final one of any 
importance is the trade route running from Srinagar east 
to Kashgar in Chinese Turkestan and to Tibet over Zojila 
Pass. 

Indeed, the principal highways were (and still largely are) 
three rivers: Jhelum, Chenab, and Indus, which flow from 
or through Kashmir to Pakistan. Over them floated the 
timbers from the Kashmir forests, the sale of which was 
once the most important source of Kashmir's total revenue. 
Upon these waters and over the roads running along their 
banks there went, towards Pakistan, the fruit, vegetables, 
wine, woolen and silk materials, carpets, and the prettv 
products of skilled Kashmiri artists and artisans. 

On the other hand, coal and steel, metal and cotton 
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products, sugar, tea, oidseeds, and tobacco were imported to 
Kashmir from what is the Republic of India today; wheat, 
oils, salt and petrol came from Pakistan or from overseas, 
passing through the port of Karachi. According to rough 
estimates, 36 per cent of Kashmir imports came from Pak- 
istan or from overseas; 64 per cent from India. It should be 
remembered, however, that Indian products were shipped 
westward through the present Pakistan, since Kashmir was 
not directly accessible from India. It mattered little in the 
old days, for British India and the Princely States formed 
one economic entity. No railroad was constructed in Kash- 
mir because its rulers preferred their isolation. And, with 
the exception of its southwestern border, Kashmir was in- 
deed isolated by its colossal mountains: from India, Tibet, 
and Sinkiang by the Himalayas; from the Soviet Union and 
Afghanistan by the Pamirs. 

The People 
The Kashmiris call their country Kasheer and the lan- 

guage they speak Koshur. Though technically under the 
central administration of one dynasty, the people of the 
State of Jammu and Kashmir have hardly any sense of 
cohesion. Wild mountains and primitive roads, most of 
them impassable for several months of every year, dis- 
courage any sense of unity. 

Just as the country is broken into separate areas by ge- 
ography, so are its people separated and divided by cultural 
differences. The Hindus of Kashmir remain apart from all 
other people; the 73,000 Kashmiri Pandits, members of the 
Brahmin caste, and the 155,000 Jammu Brahmins enjoyed 
until recently the privilegid position of landowners, money- 
lenders, and state functionaries. The Muslims, though 
bound by the very strong tie of Islam, show little unity 
in temperament or attitude. 

Kashmiris from the Vale of Kashmir reveal such indi- 
vidual traits that they are considered by some historians as 
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a nation in their own right. They are docile and passive, 
whereas the Jammu Muslims resemble the Muslims of Pak- 
istan's Punjab, renowned for their fearlessness as warriors. 
The Gilgit and Baltistan Muslims live in complete isolation 
from the rest of this divided country, administering them- 
selves through their chieftains. Ladakh's Buddhists, living 
in what is also called Little Tibet, have spiritual affinity with 
the Chinese Tibetans, and their lamas offer allegiance to 
the Dalai Lama in Lhasa. 

This, then, is Kashmir, a nation divided by its mountains, 
its gods, its traditions, its allegiances, and the temperament 
of its peoples. 

The Past 
Some historians have made of Kashmir the principal in- 

vasion route to India, including that of Alexander of Mace- 
donia in 326 B.C. They explain the light complexion of 
Kashmiris by the fact that when Alexander withdrew he 
left behind a number of soldiers. They also find in Kashmir 
remnants of Hellenic sculpture and architecture. Others 
give little support to this location of the path of invasions 
and assert that the waves of intrusions-including the land- 
ing of Mohammed Bin Kasim on the shores of Sind-fol- 
lowed different roads and various passes leading to the Sub- 
continent from Persia, Baluchistan, and Afghanistan, or the 
northern passes between Central Asia and Kashmir. There 
is a common view, however, that some invasions of Central 
Asia tribes, including the Scythians, did pass through Kash- 
mir. It would be difficult, at any rate, to exaggerate the stra- 
tegic importance of the State of Jammu and Kashmir to the 
security of the Subcontinent, lying as it does so near the 
precarious borders of the Soviet Union and China. 

The history of Kashmir is a sad story. As one scholar, 
Vincent H. Smith, wrote, "Few regions in the world can 
have had worse luck than Kashmir in the matter of govern- 
ment." And his explanation, which seems to be echoed bv 



The Forgotten Nation 
most historians of this unfortunate country, ascribes their 
fate "partly to the cowardly character of the population, 
which invited oppression."' 

Only one writer, G. M. D. Sufi, seems to disagree. In his 
monumental work6 he pictures the Kashmiris as feared war- 

- 

riors of an ancient day who through centuries of oppression 
lost these fighting qualities. He  quotes from a report, 
"Remonstrantie," written by Francisco Pelsaert, who was 
in India from 1621 to 1627 in the service of the Dutch East 
India Company. Pelsaert described the Kashmiris as "fa- 
natical Muslims." Sufi further found them to be a people 
of superior intellect, intelligent and gay; emotional, hos- 
pitable, fond of singing, good cooking; good businessmen 
and excellent craftsmen; not drunkards, kind to their wives 
and children. He criticized them, however, for being en- 
vious, sometimes malicious and dirty; also, contrary to the 
spirit and philosophy of Islam, mystical and superstitious. 
"The Kashmiri is indeed made up of contradictions. He is 
timid, yet persistent, degraded yet intellectual, mystical yet 
adventurous, shrewd and busine~slike."~ 

As the centuries passed, the people of Kashmir lived un- 
der a succession of foreign dynasties-~andava, Maurya, 
Kushan, Gonandya, Karkota, Utpala and Lohara. Only one 
characteristic was held in common by these foreign rulers 
-the cruelty of their suppression and exploitation. 

Reliable sources trace the history of Kashmir only to the 
beginning of the seventh century, although it is known that 
in the second century Kashmir was annexed by Emperor 
Kanishka and became part of the Kushan Empire, later a 
part of China. For a period of 600 years (from the eighth 
to the fourteenth century) the country, despite its exploita- 

Vincent H. Smith, The O x f o r d  History o f  India. The Claren- 
don Press, Oxford, 1928, p. 176. 

G. M .  D. Sufi, Kashir, Being a History o f  Kashmir. 2 volumes, 
the University of Punjab, Lahore, 1948. 

G. M. D. Sufi, Islamic Cul ture  i n  Kashmir. The Army Press, 
Simla, p. 13. 
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tion, was relatively independent and flourishing. Historians 
nevertheless have called its ruler for the second part of the 
eleventh century the "Nero of Kashmir." 

In the fourteenth century Kashmir was invaded and con- 
quered by Muslims, and the population, sometimes peace- 
fully, sometimes forcibly and in masses, was converted from 
Hinduism to Islam. The period of the fifty-year rule of 
Zain-U1-Abidin (1422-1474) was considered one of Kashmir 
greatness and has been called its Golden Age. Various Sul- 
tans continued in their rule over the country till 1587 (some 
sources name other dates, 1586 or i588),  when it was an- 
nexed by Emperor Akbar and made a part of the Moghul 
Empire. 

For the first time in centuries the exhausted and ex- 
ploited people enjoyed a short breathing spell under the 
rule of this enlightened monarch. One legend says, how- 
ever, that even Akbar, when first taking refuge from the 
Indian summer heat in the ideal climate of Kashmir, was 
enraged by the docile character of the Kashmiris. "You 
Kashmiris have stomachs to eat but not to fight," he told 
them. "Men? Faint-hearts, not lion-hearts."' And to show 
his contempt, he ordered them to change their dress into a 
skirtlike costume as a symbol of their feminine behavior. 
There is another story, however, that attributes far different 
motives to the Emperor's command. This one insists that 
it was because of his fear of the Kashmiris' fighting spirit 
and ability that he ordered them to put on over their 
trousers a clumsy skirt which would make their movements, 
and therefore their fighting, more difficult. 

Akbar's son and successor, Jahangir, followed his father's 
example as did the two last Moghul Emperors. And what- 
ever the truth of their attitude toward the people may be, 
their devotion to its climate and its beauty may be seen 
in the monuments of architecture they erected on ~ a l  Lake. 

Maud Diver, Royal India. Appleton-Century Co., New York, 
'942, P. 274. 
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In 1752, with the declining power of the last Moghul, 
Kashmir was conquered by Ahmad Shah Abdali of Afghan- 
istan, who established a brutally oppressive rule over the 
passive Kashmiris. When in 1819 the Sikhs, coming from 
their homeland in the adjacent Punjab, entered Kashmir to 
oust the Afghan tyrants, they were welcomed by the popu- 
lation as liberators. But the unhappy Kashmiris soon dis- 
covered that the liberators were nothing more than a new 
type of oppressor, this time religious fanatics seeking re- 
venge upon the helpless Kashmiri Muslims whose fore- 
fathers had once been Hindus. "The penalty imposed on a 
Sikh for slaying a Muslim was only twenty rupees [seven 
dollars] ."' 

With the Sikh "protectorate" over Kashmir, forces were 
set in motion which eventually produced the modern State 
of Jammu and Kashmir. 

Jammu had consisted for centuries of a number of small 
principalities whose uninterrupted pastime seems to have 
been warring upon one another. One principality in the 
southeast area, high in the hills, was populated by the 
Dogras. As a matter of fact, an expert on the history of the 
Princely States wrote, "The Jammu people are known 
generally as Dogras whatever their   rig in."^ They consisted 
of Sikhs, Rajputs, other Hindus and Muslims, all of whom 
displayed extraordinary fighting qualities in contrast to the 
indolent Kashmiris. 

When the Sikhs launched their expedition against the 
Afghan ruler in Kashmir, they were assisted by a member 
of the Dogra family, Raja Gulab Singh. Because of his 
assistance, the Sikhs rewarded him by establishing his con- 
trol over the whole Province of Jammu. In 1837 and in 
1839, he extended his rule by seizing from Tibet the north- 
ern areas, Ladakh and Baltistan. 

Sir William Barton, The Princes of India. Nisbet & Co.,  Lon- 
don, 1934, P. 1 2 1 .  

Tbid., p. i 20. 
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Seven years later the British waged war against the re- 
bellious Sikhs. I t  was at this time that Raja Gulab Singh 
engineered his great coup. Any sense of obligation he may 
have felt toward the Sikhs for establishing his rule over 
Jammu vanished before his realistic appraisal of the even- 
tual outcome of the struggle. At first he remained strictly 
neutral; then he assumed the role of adviser and mediator 
for the British; and finally, according to some sources, he 
actively participated in fighting his one-time protectors. 
When, after their defeat, the Sikhs were ordered to re- 
linquish their hold over Kashmir, Raja Gulab Singh played 
his ace. He offered the British 7,s mil rupees (750,000 
pounds) for the possession of Kashmir, and the final re- 
sult was the Treaty of Amritsar, signed in 1846. Kashmir, 
by its terms, was to belong "forever, an independent pos- 
session, to Maharaja Gulab Sing11 and the heirs male of 
his body." 

His purchase included Gilgit, but the Dogra dynasty 
never succeeded in establishing actual control over this re- 
mote and wild area. In 1889 the British, wary of increasing 
Russian pressure towards the Pamirs, institited the Gilgit 
Agency under the direct rule of a British political agent, 
and from that time Gilgit paid even less allegiance to the 
Maharaja of Kashmir. 

Thus began the modern history of Kashmir, united with 
Jammu under the rule of the Dogra dynasty. I t  was for the 
Kashmiris another tragic experience in a millennium of trag- 
edies. Though once Hindus, they had for 500 years been 
Muslims. Now, by the terms of the Treaty of Amritsar, the 
Hindu Dogras possessed the territory; they immediately set 
out upon a policy of unlimited cruelty that seemed to vent 
upon the hapless Kashmiris all the pent-up hatred of the 
Hindus for the five centuries of Muslim rule. The willing 
instruments of this policy became the Kashmiri Pandits, 
who shared with the Maharaja his contempt for his Muslim 
subjects. The land was mostly owned by the Maharaja or 
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the Hindu landowners. The Muslims, toiling on their land, 
had to pay such high taxes that economic crises bordering 
on starvation became more or less a regular affair. 

The State of Jammu and Kashmir was, among the Princely 
States of the Subcontinent, second in importance only to 
the State of Hyderabad. The "paramount power," the Brit- 
ish Crown, had an exclusive responsibility, as in the case of 
other states, for the country's foreign affairs and defense, 
but according to Dr. K. M.  Panikkar, it was until 1886 "a 
completely independent state maintaining its own limited 
diplomatic relations. I t  received no British residents in its 
 court^."'^ The internal affairs were left to the authority of 
the Maharaja, and his oppressive measures were followed 
vigilantly, though benevolently, by the viceroy representa- 
tive at his court, a resident. The Maharaja was flattered by 
the exalted title of His Highness. He was a major-general of 
the British Indian army and when paying a visit was saluted 
by 21  guns-one among five "twenty-one-gun" princes. His 
pleasores included gold, polo, tennis, and hunting; he de- 
lighted in extravagant parties, maintained expensive stables, 
and in all ways indulged himself with extravagant pomp 
and luxury. Not the least of his idle pleasures was his perse- 
cution of the Muslims, and to his underlings he gave his 
blessing for their slaughter. 

At times this "amusement" took a bizarre turn. The story 
is told that on one of his tours, the Maharaja stopped at  a 
river to watch the convicts working at the construction of a 
bridge. He  was impressed by the skill of one of them and 
praised him, whereupon the convict asked for his release. 
"What was your offense?" asked the Maharaja. "Only a 
little matter," said the convict, and explained that he had 
killed a little girl for her ornaments. The  Maharaja took a 
pen and "drew a line down and then across his trunk. Then 
a sawyer was ordered to saw the man in four pieces. 'One 

lo Sardar Dr. K. M. Panikkar, Kashmir. India League, London, 
p. 8. 
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piece shall be sent to North, one South, one East, and one 
West,' said the Maharaja. . . . 'For I want my people to 
know that I do not regard the murder of a girl for the sake 
of her ornaments as a little matter.' "I1 

In 1850 the Maharaja expressed the wish that the Kash- 
miris return to the faith of their forefathers and wanted to 
reconvert them en masse to Hinduism, but the high priests 
of Hinduism at Benares refused to give their blessing to the 
plan. 

The first Maharaja, Gulab Singh, was succeeded in 1857 
by Maharaja Ranbir Singh. Some sources describe him as 
a noble and just ruler, though in the hands of greedy and 
cruel Hindu administrators. His rule was followed by that 
of Major-General, His Highness Sir Partab Singh, G.C.I., 
G.C.I.E., in 1885. Because of court intrigue growing out of 
the fact that the Maharaja had no son to succeed him, and 
because of Russian activities on the Pamir border of Kash- 
mir, the British Crown in 1889 replaced his rule tempo- 
rarily by a council, and strengthened the garrisons on the 
northern roads. This temporary arrangement lasted till 1905. 
The Maharaja was then reinstalled, at least nominally. But 
there is evidence that the council, following the advice of 
Sir Walter Lawrence, somewhat alleviated the plight of the 
people by introducing many reforms. But despite such re- 
forms (continuing down to the last few years) the life of 
the Kashmiris remained a saga of poverty and oppression. 
Everything and everybody was taxed. Production of silk, 
saffron, paper, tobacco, wine, and salt, as well as the sale 
of grain, was the monopoly of the state. The state police 
ruled mercilessly. For minor offenses people were thrown in 
jail, often without trial. As late i s  the 1920's it was a cap- 
ital offense for a Muslim to kill a cow; later, the penaltv was 
reduced to ten years of imprisonment and still later to seven 
years (Section 219 of the State Penal Code). 

l1 Sir Walter R. Lawrence, The India We Served. Houghton 
Mifflin, New York, 1929, p. 125. 
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Little was done by the Dogra ruler for the health and wel- 
fare of the people. According to the 1941 census 93.4 per 
cent of the population was illiterate. In 1939 there was one 
boys' primary school for every 66 square miles and for every 
3,850 people, and one girls' school for every 467 square 
miles and 25,670 persons. One state college existed in the 
whole country. About 60 per cent of the peasants had hold- 
ings of about 16 kanals (two acres) each. Their net annual 
income was 74-8-0 rupees (about $17) PA family and 
10-10-3 rupees (about $2.50) per head. The rest of the 
peasant population was landless. As late as 1944-1945 the 
per capita income was only 11 rupees (about $3.00). Out 
of this sum people had to pay taxes of around 2 1  cents 
per head. Although the Maharaja's court spent four million 
rupees, and five million rupees went to the army, only 3.6 
million rupees were spent on public health, agriculture, in- 
dustries, roads, irrigation, and education. 

The First Awakening 
In 1925 the nephew of the Dogra ruler, His Highness 

Maharaja Sir Hari Singh Bahadur, mounted the throne. It 
was with the beginning of his rule that the first signs of po- 
litical awakening were seen among the oppressed peoples 
of his Princely State. The first tangible evidence was a proc- 

- - 

lamation in 1927, made in response to the protests of a 
small group of professional and white-collar workers, which 
theoretically opened the way for the participation of Mus- 
lims in government and military services. For some time the 
proclamation was meaningless, as only local Pandits and 
some Hindus and Sikhs continued to occupy all the profit- 
able positions in government and to serve in the state armed 
forces. 

In 1929, however, an All-India National Congress meet- 
ing was held in Lahore, the ancient city of India not far 
from the border of Jammu and Kashmir. The resolutions 
of this meeting found an echo in Kashmir. In the early 
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1930's the waves of the non-violence movement were sweep- 
ing India, and patriots in Kashmir, inspired by this spirit 
of revolt, renewed their claims for the admission of Mus- 
lims to the administrative and military services of their 
country. They formed first a "Reading Room Party," seek- 
ing to educate themselves politically; then later, with the 
assistance of the religious leaders, or mullahs, they con- 
ducted political meetings in the mosques. Gradually this 
political consoiousness began to take firm roots, spreading 
from the intelligentsia to the people of the middle class, 
though not as yet to the peasants. Then the agitation was 
carried beyond the "reading rooms'' and mosques to open 
meetings, until in 1931 the Maharaja gave his blessing to 
the foundation of three political parties in Kashmir. These 
were the Kashmiri Pandits Conference, the Hindu Sabha in 
Jammu, and the Sikhs' Shiromani Khalsa Darbar. This was 
obviously only a gesture on the part of the Maharaja be- 
cause it included political representation only for the non- 
Muslim groups. As a consequence, the overwhelming ma- 
jority of the population remained without any organized 
political party. 

I t  was in 1931 that the growing dissatisfaction of the 
Kashmiri people burst into flame. I t  was led by a man of 
twenty-five, an unemployed teacher hitherto unknown but 
soon to play an important role in the political history of 
Kashmir-Sheikh Mohammad Abdullah. 

Sheikh Abdullah was one of five children born at Sovrah, 
on the outskirts of Srinagar. His father, Sheikh Mohammad 
Ibrahim, was a dealer in shawls. The mother sent her son 
to the Islamic College in Lahore and to Aligarh University. 
Sheikh Abdullah was an imposing figure. His six feet four 
inches of height towered over his countrymen, and his in- 
tellect attracted the attention and respect of those who were - 

associated with him in his revolutionary efforts. 
The Maharaja reacted to the 1931 revolt with swift re- 

solve. On  September 24 he declared martial law and threw 
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Sheikh Abdullah into prison for several weeks. This first 
abortive attempt, however, was highly significant. For the 
first time in centuries the Kashmiri people responded to the 
leadership of one who sought to throw off the old yoke of op- 
pression. They shed their docile and servile characters, and, 
as Sir Zafrulla Khan, the Pakistan Minister of Foreign Af- 
fairs, related before the United Nations on January 16, 
1948, "they were mowed down by the bullets of the State 
Dogra troops in their uprising . . . but refused to turn back 
and received those bullets on their bared breasts."12 

This first attempt was quelled, but the spirit of resistance 
continued to grow. Imprisonment brought to Sheikh Ab- 
dullah only further admiration from the Kashmiri people, 
and they rewarded him with the nickname Sher-E-Kashrnir, 
the "Lion of Kashmir." After his release from prison, Sheikh 
Abdullah continued to work for the political rights of his 
people, and in October 1932 founded the All Jammu and 
Kashmir Muslim Conference, claiming to represent the 
state's Muslim population. 

The British government, disturbed by the oppressive rule 
of the Maharaja and by the extent of the opposition, sent 
the Glancy Commission to Srinagar to investigate Muslim 
grievances. As a result of the inquiry the Maharaja was 
requested to introduce certain land reforms and to give the 
people the right to elect a legislative assembly. Whether the 
Maharaja ever intended to carry out the British recommen- 
dations cannot be known, but in 1933 revolt broke out once 
more, and once again on June 1 martial law was declared 
and the uprising crushed (Ordinance-Notification No. 19).  
A number of people were killed, and thousands were ar- 
rested without warrant. Property was confiscated and heavy 
fines imposed. 

This revolt had been helped by Muslims from Punjab 
who in tens of thousands in organized groups (iatha) 
slipped through the open plains between Punjab and 

l2 Security Cotrncil Oficial Records, Third Year, Nos. 1-1 5 ,  p. 65. 
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Jammu. They were led by a Muslim political party, the Ahrar 
Party? According to some sources their activity in this 
case was largely due to the fact that they felt they had 
compromised themselves in Punjab by attempting to col- 
laborate with the Indian National Congress, and wished 
now to regain their popularity by such organized assistance 
to the Kashmir and Jammu Muslims. 

After this second defeat a civil disobedience campaign 
was organized in the spring of 1934 by Sheikh Abdullah's 
closest political friend, Chaudhri Ghulam Abbas, but this 
met the same fate as the previous attempts to compel the 
Maharaja to liberalize his policy toward the Muslims. 

But revolt continued to seethe in Kashmir, and finally, 
pressed by the British from above and by the Kashmiri 
people from below, the Maharaja on April 22, 1934, en- 
acted the Constitutional Act, Regulation No. 1 of Samvat 
1991 (A.D. 1934). In the first election ever held in Kashmir, 
in 1934, the Muslim Conference captured 14 out of 21 

seats allotted to the Muslim voters in the State Assembly, 
Praia Sabha. I t  should be quickly pointed out, however, 
that this represented no great concession on the part of 
the Maharaja because the Assembly was composed of 75 
members, 40 of whom were elected and 35 nominated. Also, 
the regulations which controlled the ballot (the voter had 
to be literate, have an income of $80 per year, and possess 
$1,500 worth of property) allowed only 8 per cent of the 
population to vote. Finally, the Assembly itself had onlv 
consultative powers. When this final fact became fully evi- 
dent in 1936, all elected members of the Assembly walked 
out. Two years later new elections were held, and this time 
the Muslim Conference so controlled the Muslim voters of 
Kashmir that they elected 19 out of 21 seats allotted to the 
Muslims. 

The year 1939 was a fateful one for the Muslin~s in Kash- 

l3 Sir Geoffrey De Montmorencv. The Indian States and Indian 
Federation. Cambridge ~ n i v e r s i t ~ ~ ~ r e s s ,  1942, pp. 73-74. 
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mir. As a matter of fact, the origins of the present tragic 
struggle can, in a sense, be traced back to those months. 
Up to that time the Muslims had been united through the 
Muslim Conference. In 1939 this unity was broken. Re- 
sponsible for this tragic schism was none other than the 
popular Lion of Kashmir, Sheikh Mohamnlad Abdullah. 

For some time Sheikh Mohammad Abdullah had been 
dissatisfied with the political program and practices of the 
Muslim movement on the Subcontinent, the Muslim Con- 
ference of Kashmir in particular. He objected to the fact 
that only Muslims were allowed to be its members. Then, 
too, its political leaders seemed to him to be preoccupied 
with the Muslim-Hindu struggle, unaware of the true sig- 
nificance of their own nationalist movement. They were, 
indeed, accused by the Indian National Congress leaders of 
reactionary tendencies and mediaeval theocratic thinking. 
Sheikh Abdullah's progressive, socially advanced mind did 
not find inspiration in this kind of political party. Instead, 
Nehru's secular and progressive concept of Indian society, 
including his dream of a united independent India, ap- 
pealed to his way of thinking. In fact, the leadership of the 
Indian National Congress was permeated with ideas close 
to Abdullah's heart. 

T o  advance these ideas, he and a Kashmiri Brahmin, 
Prem Nath Bazaz, founded in 1935 a weekly, Hamddrd, 
printed in Urdu, in which he pleaded for admission of the 
Sikhs and Hindus to the membership of the Muslim Con- 
ference. At one time he became president of the All-India 
States' Peoples' Congress sponsored by the Indian National 
Congress. He also became a close friend of Pandit Nehru, to 
whom, it is said, he was introduced by Bazaz. 

This development culminated in June 1939, when there 
emerged under Abdullah's guidance the All Jammu and 
Kashmir National Conference. Its first president was Ghu- 
lam Mohammad Sadiq, an old friend of Abdullah and, sig- 
nificantly enough, a man who was later to become the chief 
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exponent of the Communist Party of India in Kashmir. 
Inevitably there soon developed between the Muslim lead- 
ers in Kashmir a split as definite and as pronounced as that 
between the Indian National Congress and the Muslim 
League. 

In 1939 the Maharaja liberalized his rule somewhat, pro- 
claiming the Jammu and Kashmir Constitution Act No. 14 
of Samvat 1996 (A.D. 1939)  This established an executive 
office, the Council of Ministers, and a juridical and legis- 
lative branch of public administration, but most of the de- 
cisive powers remained in the Maharaja's hands. 

Two cities, Srinagar and Jammu, were administered by 
municipal councils, of which four-fifths of the members 
were elected; smaller towns were to be administered by 
town area committees, with one half of the members 
elected; and some 5,000 villages were administratively fused 
into 720 districts, panchayats. They all enjoyed only nom- 
inal authority, the most powerful persons being the district 
commissioner directly responsible to the government. 

As in British India, however, where every political con- 
cession by the British government deepened the split be- 
tween the Indian National Congress and the Muslim 
League, so in Kashmir, with every political concession made 
by the Maharaja, the abyss grew between the National Con- 
ference with its program of unity for all India and thc pro- 
Pakistan Muslim Conference. 

For some time, possibly because of the extreme popu- 
larity of Sheikh Abdullah, the All Jammu and Kashmir Na- 
tional Conference captured the attention of the Kashmiris. 
However, when in 1943 Mohammed Ali Jinnah visited 
Kashmir and presided over the annual congress of the hfus- 
lim Conference, he injected new life and authority into this 
organization. 

In 1944 the popularity of the National Conference was 
still on the ascendancy, and one of its members, Mirza 
Afzal Beg, entered the Maharaja's government to become 
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Minister of Public Works. But events were soon to work 
against the National Conference. As Muslims in British 
India became more and more pronounced in their support 
of an independent Pakistan, the Muslims in Jammu and 
Kashmir began to return to the Muslim Conference led by 
Ghulam Abbas, abandoning the ranks of the National Con- 
ference of Sheikh Abdullah. 

Then, in March 1946, Abdullah played a poor card. The 
British Cabinet Mission was to meet with Indian leaders 
to discuss the future of India, including the status of the 
Princely States. First, Mirza Afzal Beg resigned to free the 
National Conference of governmental responsibilities in 
these forthcoming negotiations. This was followed by a 
memorandum to the Mission from Sheikh Abdullah, de- 
claring that "the fate of the Kashmir nation is in the bal- - 

ante and in that hour of decision we demand our basic 
democratic right to send our selected representatives to the 
constitution-making bodies that will construct the frame- 
work of Free India. W e  emphatically repudiate the right of 
the Princely Order to represent the people of the Indian 
States or their right to nominate personal representatives as 
our spokesmen."14 

The memorandum was ignored, whereupon Sheikh Ab- 
dullah reacted by launching in May a "Quit Kashmir" cam- 
paign against the Maharaja. This sentiment would seem to 
be cause for rejoicing among the Kashmiris, but actually 
Sheikh Abdullah was accused of highly ulterior motives. I t  

- .  

was charged that he opened this agitation solely in an at- 
tempt to regain the popularity which he had lost for his 
pro-India policy. Even his former close associate, Prem 
Nath Bazaz, accused him of opportunism and through his 
paper, Hamdard, denied him the right of claiming to repre- 
sent both the Muslims and Hindus. He further asserted 

l4 lammu and Kashmir Constituent Assembly, opening address 
by the Honorable Sheikh Mohammad Abdullah, Srinagar, Novem- 
ber 5, 1951. The Caxton Press, New Delhi, p. 14. 
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that the Muslims followed largely the Muslim Conference 
and the Hindus had their own parties. 

Not only did this ill-fated gesture fail to strengthen Ab- 
dullah's position with the Muslims but also, because of his 
campaign against the Maharaja, he became unacceptable to 
many Hindus and Sikhs who looked upon the Maharaja 
as the main pillar of their privileged position in Muslim 
Kashmir.'Wor was his loss of political power his only re- 
versal. Shortly thereafter he was arrested by the Maharaja, 
tried and sentenced to nine years in prison. 

Then, in October 1946, Sheikh Abdullah and his political 
enemy, the leader of the Muslim Conference, Ghulam 
Abbas, were brought together by the Maharaja through a 
simple but not particularly happy expedient. Ghulam Abbas 
joined Sheikh Abdullah in jail for leading his Muslim Con- 
ference members in a "campaign of action" similar to Jin- 
nah's in British India. 

Sheikh Abdullah told me much later (in September 
1948) about his many night-long conversations with Abbas 
in prison and how together they contemplated reconcilia- 
tion and resumption of the common struggle. Ghulam Ab- 
bas had told me the same story one month before in Ka- 
rachi. Both leaders recounted these conversations with feel- 
ings of sadness and nostalgia. They seemed to share the 
belief that the split in 1939 had been the beginning of all 
their troubles. 

In January 1947 new elections were held in Kashmir. 
They were boycotted by the National Conference, and the 
Muslim Conference captured sixteen Muslim seats out of 
twenty-one. Both parties claimed victory in the elections. 
The National Conference pointed out that onlv 182,800 
voters out of a possible 607,419 went to the polls. They 
drew from this the conclusion that their boycott had been 
highly successful and illustrated graphically their popularitv. 

l6 Prem Nath Bazaz, Truth about Kashmir. The Kashmir Derno- 
cratic Union, 1950, pp. 4-5. 
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But the Muslim Conference, pointing to the impassable 
snow-clogged roads at  the time of the elections, claimed 
that the polling of 30 per cent of the possible vote was a 
smashing victory and that the National Conference's appeal 
for a boycott had been largely ignored. 

Meanwhile, the leaders of both parties lay in the Ma- 
haraja's prison, talking through the night about reconcilia- 
tion. But it was a reconciliation that would never take place. 
For beyond the walls of the Maharaja's prison, indeed be- 
yond the borders of his Princely State, historic forces were 
shaping their own pattern of events, which were soon to 
plunge Kashmir into another bloody chapter of its long and 
tragic history. 

Over these forces neither Sheikh Abdullah nor Ghulam 
Abbas had any control. 



2. The ~ e a l  Issue 

IF THE struggle for Kashmir were a struggle for territory, if 
it were a struggle for national resources, or for manpower, 
or for strategic position, or for any of the other prizes for 
which nations traditionally contest, it might well have been 
solved some years ago; it might no longer constitute for the 
entire Subcontinent the menace that today it remains. 

But it is none of these. At least, not primarily. What  
makes the problem of Kashmir the nigh insoluble debacle 
that it is, what makes the leaders of both contending parties 
dispute in such bitterness and compromise with such grudg- 
ing reticence, what makes the whole history of its attempted 
settlement such a record of frustration, annoyance, and ex- 
asperation is something more than these traditional causes 
for international dispute. 

The real cause of all the bitterness and bloodshed, all the 
venomed speech, the recalcitrance and the suspicion that 
have characterized the Kashmir dispute is the uncompromis- 
ing and perhaps uncompromisable struggle of two ways of 
life, two concepts of political organization, two scales of 
values, two spiritual attitudes, that find themselves locked 
in deadly conflict, a conflict in which Kashmir has become 
both symbol and battleground. 

Simply, these two irrevocably opposed positions may be . . characterized thus: T o  India the Subcontinent is lnpscap- 
ably o n e e v ,  two. 
The examination of the intensity of these two beliefs, their 
nature, their origins, and the events that were and remain 
the exmession ;f their conflict is essential to the full un- 

I 

derstanding of this'-conflict's present-dav symbol Kashmir. 
T a c h a i l a m e i l r u  believed deeply and passiona;ely in the 
national unity of all India. T o  him it was a natural conse- 
quence of the centuries of common history, of common 
achievements, common suffering, and the mutual influences 
of the varied cultures and customs of its diverse peoples. 



The Real Issue 
He agreed with Vincent Smith that "India beyond all doubt 
possesses a deep underlying fundamental unity, far more 
profound than that produced either by geographical isola- 
tion or by political suzerainty. That unity transcends the 
innumerable diversities of blood, colour, language, dress, 
manners, and sect."' He explained the difficulties between 
Muslims and Hindus as a "dispute among upper-class people 
for a division of the spoils of office or of representation in 
a legislature."* He was convinced that the dispute was 
created and cultivated by the "third party," the British, who 
ruled over India by the method of divide et impera. This 
opinion was shared by Mahatma Gandhi. 

Mohammed Ali Jinnah had no patience with Nehru's 
philosophy of the oneness of the Indian nation. For him, 
"It is extremely difficult to appreciate why our Hindu 
friends fail to understand the real nature of Islam and 
Hinduism. They are not religions in the strict sense of the 
word, but are, in fact, different and distinct social orders, 
and it is a dream that the Hindus and Muslims can ever 
evolve a common nationality, and this misconception of 
one Indian nation has gone far beyond the limits and is 
the cause of most of your troubles and will lead India to 
destruction if we fail to revise our notions in time. The 
Hindus and Muslims belong to two different religious phi- 
losophies, social customs, literatures. They neither inter- 
marry nor interdine and, indeed, they belong to two dif- 
ferent civilizations which are based mainly on conflicting 
ideas and  conception^."^ 

- 

To  Nehru, however, the conflict was not even one be- 
tween two religions but "between those who stood for a 
nationalist-democratic-socially revolutionary policy and 

Smith, The  Oxford History o f  India, op.cit., p. x. 
Nehru, The Unity of  India, op.cit., p. 20.  

Some Recent Speeches and Writings o f  Mr. Jinnah, collected 
and edited by Jamil-ud-Dinahmad. Kashmiri Bazar, Lahore, 1942, 
P a  153 .  
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those who were concerned with preserving the relics of a 
feudal regime."' He was sure it would be settled after the 
"third party" withdrew and when the Muslims began to 
enjoy the blessings of living in a secular, united, and demo- 
cratic India. To  him, "The whole question of minorities 
and majorities in India is tied up with foreign and third- 
party rule. Eliminate that rule, and the basic aspect of this 
question changes."' He saw in communalism, with its pro- 
gram of separatism, a reactionary force trying to throw India 
back to mediaeval feudalisnl. He recalled the humanitarian 
welcome which Hindus had extended to Christians, Jews, 
and Muslims alike, whatever might have been the motives 
for their appearance upon the soil of his ancient country. 
He was impressed by the endeavors of the great Muslim 
Emperor Akbar to lay foundations for a solid and consoli- 
dated country of one nation for all-Muslim, Hindu, and 
other religious communities. He bitterly opposed what he 
considered to be the aim of the Muslim League-to turn 
the clock back to the pre-Akbar days. "When the world is 
groping blindly towards a real Federation of Nations, it is 
suggested that India be split up into various parts,"' he pro- 
tested. He recognized the diversity of the nation's scores of 
patterns of life, but to him this diversity was only an ever- 
inspiring source of cultural and intellectual richness, giving 
real strength to the synthesis of one nation, one India. T o  
Pandit Jawaharlal Nehru "one Indian nation in one united 
India" was the great ideal. 

T o  Jinnah the Hindu-Muslim differences were of funda- 
mental character, the cleavage too deep and sentiments too 
bitter for any lasting unity. What  was to Nehru "unity in 
diversity" was to Jinnah "conflicting ideas"; and even more 
aggravating to him was the idea of political unity. 

* Jawaharlal Nehru, The Discovery of India. The John Day Co., 
Inc., New York, 1946, p. 799. 

Nehru, The Unity of India, op.cit., p. 2 3 3.  
Ibid., p. 388. 
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One Nation-or Two 
These two-Jinnah and Nehru-were the voices of the 

combatant schools of thought that had such diametrically 
opposed answers to the single question: Is the Subcontinent 
one nation or two? On both sides argunlent was piled upon 
argument, theory upon theory, promise upon pron~ise. For 
centuries, argued the "one nation" school, the Hindus and 
Muslims in India had exerted profound influence upon each 
other. Actually, even before the Muslims invaded India 
(the first wave of penetration was traced to the eighth 
century, the last occurred in the eighteenth century) the 
Arab civilization came in contact with Hindu society 
through Hindu literature, merchants, and financiers. The 
Arabs were acquainted with Hindu science and writings. 
The courts of the Emperors of Iraq, Persia, and Syria re- 
ceived Indian merchandise. Basra was a busy meeting port 
of Hindus, Arabs, and Greeks. 

True, Hindus were converted to Islam by Muslim rulers, 
Nehru maintaining that 95 per cent of today's Muslims 
were originally Hindus, Jinnah putting the figure at  75 per 
cent. But some enlightened Muslim Emperors recognized 
the greatness of the Hindu culture and supported its learn- 
ings, encouraging the study of Sanskrit and Hindu literature. 

As these two religions came into contact, they developed 
ways of life in which each had deep and continuous im- 
pact upon the other. In the arts-for example, in music, 
architecture, and dancing-the two cultures created a syn- 
thesis of one artistic expression. The exception was paint- 
ing and sculpture, where the laws of the Koran impressed 
upon the Muslims definite limitations, the Koran forbid- 
ding images. 

Even as to dress, argued the "one nation" adherents, the 
differences were primarily those of wealth; the poor dressed 
simply, the rich subscribed to more elaborate and orna- 
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mented garments. There was, however, no difference in 
terms of Hindu or Muslim communities. 

The segregation of women-purdah-was an Islamic law. 
The intercourse of Muslims with Hindus introduced PUT- 
dah among Hindu women as well. 

Where villages and towns were composed of mixed popu- 
lation and the contacts became frequent and regular, in- 
evitably various customs, rites, and ceremonies fused into 
one common way of social life. In villages especially, Hin- 
dus called upon Muslims skilled in some professions. The 
names of Hindus and Muslims were not always discernible, 
particularly among the lower strata of society. Even the 
name Jinnah, it was held, was a Hindu name. 

Nor did language serve as an instrument of division along 
communal lines. Rather, the division developed according 
to geographical areas, Urdu and Hindi influencing each 
other. Such was the testimony of the "one nation" school. 

The "two nations" school of thought had equally de- 
voted disciples. Their arguments rarely contradicted the 
testimony of those who pleaded the "oneness" of the people 
of the Subcontinent. Rather, they dwelt on the differences, 
and argued that those differences were too great to be en- 
compassed by one nation, no matter how many or how 
great the similarities. They pointed to the Hindu religion, 
which found its most characteristic expression in a caste 
system, the negation of the equality of men, and then to the 
Muslim religion, which was based upon this equality. They 
pointed to the Hindu philosophy of non-violence, strange 
to and incompatible with the militant and missionary zeal 
of Muslims. They enumerated the vast differences between 
their laws of succession, marriage, divorce, and adoption. 
These, they said, could never be compromised within one 
nation. Intermarriage was practically impossible. Members 
of the two groups would not share meals together. The 
caste system threw its heavy shadow over all social life. The 
capital of the nation, with the exception of landowning 
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capital, was concentrated in Hindu hands, the Muslims be- 
ing exposed to the exploiting practices of moneylenders. 
The Hindu concept of the sanctity of the cow was listed 
as an illustration of the extreme differences between the 
two cultures, a difference sharply apparent to thousands of 
Muslims who had been severely punished for inadvertent 
sacrilege to some bovine's "person." 

The arguments for both points of view have here been 
both understated and oversimplified-nor is it possible to 
pass judgment too lightly on the relative merits of the two 
positions. But it must be emphasized that it is the emo- 
tional intensity of these contradictory Hindu and Muslim 
attitudes toward nationalisnl in India which has so deci- 
sively and gravely affected Indian and Pakistan policy to- 
ward each other and toward Kashnlir. 

This dilemma is one which has forever plagued students 
of political theory. Ever since nationalism became a factor 
in human relations, theories and practice have clashed with 
one another. Although nationalism has always proved to be 
an elusive concept, such prominent scholars as Arnold 
Toynbee, Ernest Renan, Frederick Hertz, Hans Kohn, to 
name only a few, have worked out at least one promising 
approach to the problem. They label it the subjectivist 
evaluation of the elements of nationalism. Its essence is that 
sentimental components must overweigh objective findings. 
According to them, such demonstrable unities as a common 
language, a common territory, or even a common culture 
are not the sine qua non of the community that is a na- 
tion. Instead, they insist, the essential quality of such a 
community is the knowledge, the feeling of a group of 
people, large or small, that they belong together; that there 
is a sense of solidarity, of mutual dependence, the desire to 
share in common the vicissitudes of life; that they feel 
themselves to be inextricably interwoven, for good or bad; 
that they wish to be or remain united forever; that there 
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is among them a sufficient conformity of attitudes on the 
"fatal tests" of life. 

Hans Kohn, whom D. W. Brogan called "the most 
learned historian of nationalism,"' wrote that "nationalism 
is first and foremost a state of mind, an act of conscious- 
ness. . . . 9'8 

Would, then, the argument for the "oneness" of the In- 
dian nation stand up against the requirement of a "state of 

- 

mind, an act of consciousness"? 
Hindus and Muslims on the Subcontinent have shared 

many things together: common rulers, common traditions, 
common history, common territory. The languages have 
not persisted along lines of religious affinities. Their cul- 
tures, customs, and habits have grown closer together under 
the pressures of physical intermingling. 

- ~ 

 everth he less, in the last seventy years all of these "ob- 
jective" manifestations of "oneness" seem never to have 
achieved on the Subcontinent the spiritual synthesis that 
is perhaps the only enduring quality of national allegiance. 
And though such great minds as Nehru had no use for 
sentiment in politics and revealed somewhat scornfully that 
to "talk of a 'Muslim nation' . . . means, finally, just nothing 
at  all except an emotional state of mind . . . ,"' contrariwise, 
the wise Rajendra Prasad, himself a one-nation advocate, 
conceded that "sentiment has its value and should not be 
lightly cast off. Nor can it be nonchalantly brushed aside."1° 
I t  is quite possible that Nehru, with his more rational ap- 
proach, misjudged the permanency of the cement that alone 

7 D. W. Brogan, The Price of Revolution. Harper & Brothers, 
New York, 1951, p. 127. 

Hans Kohn, The Idea of Nationalism. The hilacmillan Co., 
New York, 1944, p. 10. 

Jawaharlal Nehru, Autobiography. The Bodley Head, London, 
1949, P. 469. 

lo Rajendra Prasad, India Divided. 3rd Ed. Hind Kitabs, Bombay, 
l947, Pa 175. 
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had bonded Muslin~s and ' ~ i n d u s  together-their struggle 
against their common overlords, the British. A r l d L A i  ),:a) 

The Burden of the Past 
The pages of history are filled with stories of misery 

which have produced strange bedfellows. But tlie stories 
have a habit of ending in much the sanle way. As the misery 
lessens and the compulsions of unity subside, the animosi- 
ties of such bedmates sharpen and their enforced union 

- 

grows more and more repugnant. Then, when ~lecessities 
of cooperation pass, one or the other or both want nothing 
so much as to be free of these bonds which once were ties 
between them but which now have the weight of chains. 

The happenings on the Subcontinent have proved to be 
no exception. The struggle for freedom in India took con- 
crete shape in the 1880's. I t  culminated in victory in 1947. 
But every event which brought the peoples of India closer 
to independence seems also to have been marked by grow- 
ing differentiation and restlessness between the Hindus and 
the Muslims. 

As far back, indeed, as 1857 when the famous mutiny was 
broken and the participants were severely punished, the 

~ - 

treatment of Muslim mutineers, which was more severe 
than that meted out to their Hindu compatriots, produced 
resentment not only toward the British but toward the 
Hindus as well. 

T o  produce among the masses stronger feelings of soli- 
darity, the spiritual and political leaders of the nineteenth 
century dwelt in their writings on the illustrious past of the 
people of the Subcontinent, preaching a return to the spirit- 
ual and cultural values of ancient times. Raja Ram Mohan 
Roy in Bengal, in 1828, and Swami Dayanand Saraswati in 
Northern India, in 1875, tried to raise the spirit of resistance 
by spreading the gospel of "Back to the Vedas." Among the 
Muslims, Haji Shariat Allah, Dudhu Miyan, and Mirza 
Ghulam Quadiani harangued the masses with "Back to the 
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' -  of the Prophet," "Back to the early Khilafat." 
. ,its and institutions sprang up, calling for the puri- 
ion of religion and of language. Old customs were 

bi ught back from the shelves of forgotten history. As a 
result, a national consciousness did indeed begin to take 
roots, but fro111 its fertile soil sprang also the first seeds of 
separatism. "Hindus and Musulmans were going beyond 
the last thousand years of rapprochement back to distant and 
divergent traditions and heroes and, therefore, further away 
from one another in some important spheres of life."" 

In 1885, on the initiative of the Englishman Allan Oc- 
tavian Hume, the Indian National Congress was founded 
to foster the interest of the intellectual class in public af- 
fairs. Its founders and followers understood that the process 
of national consciousness and self-reliance would develop 
more quickly through education. Musli~n society, on the 
other hand, remained static, lagging behind the Hindu 
cultural and educational activity, although intellectuals 
among the Muslims found their way into the Congress. 
But their number diminished when the suspicion spread, 
well-founded or not, that the Congress, though professing 
to be non-communal, was primarily defending and foster- 
ing Hindu culture and interests. 

Admittedly the Muslim leader, Sir Syed Ahmad Khan, 
had recognized the weakness inherent in the backwardness 
of his fellow countrymen and in 1875 he founded, as a 
hauslirn institution, the Anglo-Oriental College, later re- 
organized as Aligarh University. I t  was not until 1906, how- 
ever, that the All-India Muslim League was founded, with 
cultural and political aims similar to those of the Indian 
National Congress. Originally, the two were not intended to 
be rival organizations, though certainly they did at that time 
bear testimony to a recognition of separate identities. I t  

l1 Beni Prasad, India Hindu-A4uslim Qt~estions. George Allen & 
Unwin Ltd., London, 1946, p. ; I .  
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was later that from within their ranks and around them 
separate national allegiances started to develop and grow. 

Simultaneously with this cultural and intellectual growth 
came the expression of political aspirations. Among these- 
and one to which the British yielded-was the demand for 
separate Hindu and Muslim electorates for the local ad- - 

ministration. Limited as these rights were, they nonetheless 
gave new impetus to the process of the separation of Hindu 
and Muslim interests. Sir Syed, the driving force behind 
the claim, argued that "The vigour of religious institutions 
has kept even neighbours apart; the system of caste is still 

- 

dominant and powerful. . . . But, my Lord, in a country 
like India . . . where religious distinctions are still violent 
. . . the introduction of the election, pure and simple . . . 
would be attended with evils of greater significance than 
purely econon~ic considerations. . . . The larger co~nmunity 
would totally override the interests of the smaller com- 
munity. . . . ,912 

In 1905, the Province of Bengal was actually partitioned 
largely along religious lines, and though this was abolished 
in 1911, the partition gave no small encouragement to the 
growing spirit of Muslim nationalism. 

Then, in 1909, the Morley-Minto reforms, giving the 
people of India enlarged participation in local government, 
recognized the principle of separate representation. The In- 
dian National Congress fought this tendency vehemently; 
among its opponents were also such Muslimleaders as the 
brothers Shaukat Ali and Maulana Mohamed Ali. But de- 
spite such opposition the process of growing divergence was 
not materially retarded. 

World War  I brought new hopes and opportunities to 
the Indian people in their struggle for freedom. Toward 

l2 R. Coopland, The India Problem. Oxford University Press, 
London, 1944. Appendix 11, Extracts from Proceedings of the 
Council of the Governor-General of India, 1883. Central Prov- 
inces Local Self-Government Bill, pp. 1 5 5-1 56. 
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the end of 1916 both the All-India National Congress and 
the All-India Muslim League met in Lucknow. Out of the 
conference came the historic document, the "Lucknow 
Pact," in which the two nloveme~lts asked the British gov- 
ernment for reforms, for a constitution, and for new elec- 
tions for a central parliament and for the provinces. The 
most significant and important fact of this historic meeting 
was that the Congress concurred with the League upon the 
principle of separate electorates for the Muslim voters. This 
was a concession of great significance: it implied at least 
that both Hindus and Muslin~s anticipated the develop- 
ment of some political structure which would recognize 
separate Hindu and Muslim interests. I t  mattered little to 
the Muslims whether the concession was meant to be made 
to Muslims as a religious or an ethnical group; to them this 
was only another step which would eventually lead to their 
conlplete self-determination. 

It may well be that the Congress leaders were not aware 
of the consequences of the Lucknow Pact. Indeed it was 
greeted by Hindus as well as Muslims as a great victory for 
their common cause. Victory it may have been for the 
Congress, a victory in their struggle for independence, but 
it also inevitably produced a strengthening of the very sep- 
aratist inclinations which the Congress wished least to sup- 
port. 

If the Government of India Act of 1919 did not meet the 
Hindu-Muslim proposals as contained in the Lucknow Pact, 
and if it did not live up to the expectations aroused by the 
British promise to give to the Indian people "gradual de- 
velopment of self-governing institutions with a view to the 
progressive realization of responsible government of India" 
(August 20, 191 7 ) .  the subsequent disappointment of the 
Indian people only intensified their struggle. 

Once again, though now for individual reasons, the hlus- 
lims and the Hindus rallied their forces against the British 
rule. The Hindus, indignant over the tragedy at Amritsar 
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(April 
ering, 
Musli~ 

13, 1 9 1 9 ) ~  where the British fired upon a gath- 
launched their first non-violence movement. The 

ns, together with other Islamic brethren, joined the 
Caliphate movement in protest against the Allied policy 
towards defeated Turkey, the center of the Muslim world 
and the seat of the Caliph. The Congress supported the 
Muslims, and the Muslims in turn joined at  least that por- 
tion of the non-violence Hindu policy which called for diso- 
bedience to British orders and the boycotting of British 
goods. Once again, in their mutual misery, facing the com- 
mon enemy, these strange bedfellows found themselves 
united, albeit for different purposes and from different mo- 
tives. 

But the companionship did not last for long. The non- 
violence movement was called off in 1922, after Gandhi 
had condemned the killing of twenty-two policemen in the 
village of Chauri Chaura. T o  the Muslims the Hindu at- 
titude toward a mild bloodletting was unnecessarily queasy. 
Nor were their bitterness and indignation in any way di- 
minished when to their rage the Caliphate problem was 
solved by the Turks themselves, who denounced the Caliph, 
declared Turkey a republic, and signed the peace treaty in 
Lausanne in July 1923. This, be it recorded, was the last 
time that these two, the Congress and the League, found 
themselves in the same bed. 

In the inter-war period the antagonism between the Mus- 
lims and Hindus grew until, by 1947, it reached unbridge- 
able proportions. Riots occurred, innocent people were 
killed, women were abducted. "The record of Hindu- 
Muslim rioting in India is long and tragic," wrote R. Coup- 
land, who traced it back to 1809 and then listed recurrences 
in 1871, 1872, 1884, 1885, 1886, 1891, 1893, 1907-1914.l' 
Dr. B. R. Ambedkar, the learned leader of the untouchables, 

l3  Ibid., p. 29.  
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described the riots as a "civil war between Hindus and Mus- 
lims, interrupted by brief intervals of armed peace."" 

So the pages of history were repeating themselves. As 
British dominion decreased, as the prospect for freedom 
grew brighter, Hindus and Muslims (but more particularly 
Muslims) who had once united against a common enemy 
looked less and less at their common interests and fixed 
their attention more and more upon those characteristics of 
the other that irritated and annoyed them. 

In 1928, when the Congress drafted a blueprint for a 
constitution of India with Dominion status, the Muslim 
leaders accused the Congress of having completely over- 
looked the special position of the Muslim population. As 
a reaction they met in Delhi and proclaimed, in 1929, their 
"Fourteen Points" asking for separate electorates, federal 
government, and qualitative rights in the parliament and 
the executive. 

In 1930-1932 at the Round Table Conference in London, 
the British government was unable to reconcile both fac- 
tions or to present them with reforms mutually acceptable 
to their separate political aspirations. The result was in- 
creased bitterness. Maulana Mohamed Ali, the prominent 
Muslim leader in the Congress, once its president and him- 
self a protagonist of Hindu-Muslim unity, wrote from his 
deathbed to the Prime Minister of  rea at-~ritain, declaring 
his past attitudes mistaken and appealing for proper rights 
for the Muslims. 

Mohammed Ali Jinnah, once also a member of the Con- 
gress (which he left in 1920 to remain aloof from politics 
for a number of years), declared that at the Round Table 
Conference he had received the shock of his life at  the 
Hindu attitude. 

Jinnah, whom the late Hindu woman leader. Sarojini 
Naidu, had once called "Ambassador of Hindu-Muslim 

l4 Ambedkar, Pakistan or Partition o f  India. Thacker and Com- 
pany, Bombay, 1945, p. '52. 
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unity," now became in the eyes of Congress leaders a traitor 
to the common cause of independence. Nehru accused him 
of having left the Congress, not because of any differences 
regarding the Hindu-Muslim question, but because he could 
not adjust himself to the progressive ideology of the Con- 
gress. He made no attempt to conceal his contempt for 
Jinnah and quoted openly a remark that Iqbal, the great 
poet of Islam of Kashmir origin, had made to him a few 
months before Iqbal's death in 1938: "What is there in 
common between Jinnah and you? He is a politician, you 
are a patriot."" The open recounting of such a remark was 
not calculated to repair any differences Nehru may have had 
with Jinnah. 

Indeed, mutual suspicions continued to grow to the ex- 
tent that even Mahatma Gandhi, whom Maulana Mo- 
hamed Ali called "the most Christ-like man," was now sus- 
pected of not wishing any sincere agreement with Muslims. 
Certainly, if there had been any hope of achieving the in- 
dependence of a united India, the events of the 1930's 
shattered them. 

The Muslim League, which since its beginnings in 1906 
had been primarily a cultural organization, now grew into 
a full-fledged political party. For years its membership had 
been a few thousand intellectuals and landowners; but with 
the outbreak of World War  I1 the membership rose to 
590,919, and within two years, in 1941, it had mounted to 
i ,089,881 persons,16 a not inconsiderable political force. 

The last fifteen years prior to independence and partition 
were clearly marked by a growing animosity between the 
two political movements-the All-India National Congress 
and the All-India Muslim League. 

The India Act of 1935 was meant by the British govern- 
ment as another step toward self-rule on the Subcontinent. 

l5 Nehru, The Discovery of India, op.cit., p. 3 5 5. 
l6 T. A. Raman, Report on India. Oxford University Press, 1943, 

P. '75 .  
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It envisaged alnlost full autonomy for the provinces and 
made provisio~ls for a federal government with sovereign 
powers in internal affairs, external affairs, and defense re- 
maining in the hands of the British. None of the parties 
concerned-the Congress, the League, nor the Princes- 
liked it. Nevertheless, they participated in the provincial 
elections of 1937, in which the Congress was victorious in 
seven provinces. It was in this period between 1937 and 
1939 that the Muslim League complained bitterly about the 
behavior of the Congress Cabinets towards the Muslim pop- 
ulation, and when, in 1939, all Congress Cabinets resigned 
as a protest against the British declaration of war without 
prior consultation with the Indian leadership, Jinnall called 
the occasion "the day of deliverance." 

World War I1 offered a tremendous challenge to Hindu 
and Muslim leaders to press vigorously their right of inde- 
pendence. But at  the same time, the cleavage between them 
continued to grow. While Congress leaders were arrested 
for undermining the war efforts by a campaign of non- 
violence, Jinnah, making clever use of the situation, moved 
toward conditional cooperation. 

Then, in 1940, at  the Lahore Conference of the League, 
Jinnah, feeling that freedom from British rule was upon 
them and that the issue must now be crystallized, openly, 
directly, and vigorously made the overt step. He demanded 
not only an independent but also a separate Pakistan. 

In March 1942, the British Cabinet Mission of Sir Staf- 
ford Cripps tried to solve the deadlock. Sir Stafford invited 
the leaders to draft a constitution to give India a Dominion 
status which would be put in force immediately after the 
end of hostilities. I t  was to mean full independence, inclod- 
ing external affairs and defense. I t  envisaged a Union of In- 
dia but at the same time contained provisions for a separate 
homeland for Muslims should they wish to establish it. I t  
also offered the Princely States their choice of joining the 
Union of India or maintaining their relationship to the Brit- 
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ish Crown. The proposal was rejected by the Indian leaders. 

Another attempt to work out a suitable solution was 
made in June of 1945 at the Simla Conference. The Vice- 
roy, Lord Wavell, proposed that a new executive council 
should be nominated, representative of all sections of the 
people and with authority over all affairs, the only excep- 
tion being the functions of the Viceroy and the Com- 
mander-in-Chief, which were to remain in British hands. 
Jinnah agreed, but insisted upon the exclusive right of the 
Muslim League to nominate the Muslim representatives on 
the executive council. The Congress refused to accept any 
such proposal implying as it did a comnlunal division.  in- 
nah's position, however, was considerably strengthened 
when in the elections of the winter of 1945-1946 the League 
received overwhelnling majorities in the Muslim provinces. 

The last attempt to give the Subcontinent freedom and 
at  the same time maintain its unity was made in the spring 
of 1946. A cabinet mission visited Delhi and in May made 
public a plan which proposed a united, independent India 
but with safeguards guaranteeing rights and representa- 
tion for minorities." Most observers agree that this was the 
only occasion throughout ten long years that the Congress 
and the League seemed almost in agreement; for a moment 
there appeared some chance of saving the Subcontinent 
from dismemberment. But the plan collapsed. The cause 
of collapse had almost the shallowness of pretext. The par- 
ties could not agree on the composition of the government. 
Nothing could more graphically illustrate the depth of 
their mutual antagonism than this, for had any degree of 
will been present to establish a framework of one govern- 
ment for the Subcontinent, no technicality of the composi- 
tion of the envisaged coalition government could have 
thwarted it. 

From this point events plunged relentlessly onward to- 
ward inescapable separation, a separation that was to coin- 

l7 Command Paper 682 1 .  
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cide with what should have been the Subcontinent's great- 
est day of rejoicing-its day of liberation. 

The struggle had been long and hard fought. And who, 
even today, can pass final judgment upon the validity of 
one position or another? 

Every student of international affairs who is aware of the 
havoc of excessive nationalism must be as inescapably at- 
tracted by the persuasiveness of Nehru's arguments as he 
must be repelled by those who argued separation. Without 
doubt reason was on his side. The undeniable facts of com- 
mon history, customs, and mutual interests support him. 
And who, in these days, can look with dispassionate calm 
on the further splintering of an already too divided world? 

But when the arguments of reason are opposed by deep- 
rooted, passionate, and somewhat justifiable emotions, then 
it would seem that reason must command itself to give way. 
I t  is, therefore, impossible to condemn Nehru and his col- 
leagues for their stubborn insistence on Indian unity, but it 
is difficult to understand their inability to yield to the in- 
evitable. Right as they may have been in their ideals of 
unity, they could not be unaware of the forces that would 
inevitably thwart them. Surely the Congress leaders sensed 
even among their own people the deep-seated, perhaps onlv 
semiconscious, resentment of the Muslims who in their 
well-remembered past had swarmed over the land, subju- 
gating it to both a foreign dynasty and a strange religion. 
Surely they must have known that the Muslims, on the one 
hand personally and economically repelled by the caste sys- 
tem of the Hindus, on the other openly derisive of much 
of Hindu culture, could never (or at least not at the mo- 
ment) shed both prejudice and contempt for the sake of an 
intellectual ideal. 

Nehru often insisted that it was the British who were 
responsible for all the difficulties between these two peoples, 
playing one against the other throughout the history of their 
occupation. Even if this were true, the prejudices and ani- 
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mosities upon which the British played, however, were 
deeply rooted in the hearts of those who responded to the 
ruse. I t  appears that it was in their common hatred of this 
British rule that Hindus and Muslims found the principal 
reason for such mutuality of thought and action as did de- 
velop-a poor basis for the development of a unified na- 
tional conscience. 

That Nehru sensed the depth of this division may be 
found in his own admission that "the burden of the past, 
the burden of both good and ill, is overpowering and some- 
times suffocating. . . . "'"nother Hindu-himself an un- 
touchable-Dr. B. R. Ambedkar, saw clearly that "the pity 
of it [the Hindu-Muslim problem] is that the two com- 
munities can never forget or obliterate their past. Their past 
is imbedded in their religion, and for each to give up its past 
is to give up its religion. T o  hope for this is to hope in vain. 
In the absence of common historical antecedents, the Hindu 
view that Hindus and Musulmans form one nation falls to 
the ground. T o  maintain it is to keep up an hallucination."1g 

How then, in this certain knowledge, we must ask our- 
selves, could the Congress have continued even to the day of 
separation not only to oppose the certainty of its occurrence 
but also to close their minds so completely to the humanity 
if not the wisdom of its inevitability? 

But more important by far than this question is another 
one: For what reason does India continue this bitter fight 
for the ideal of "oneness" now that separation is an ac- 
complished fact? 

For the struggle for Kashmir is in every sense another 
battle in this continuing and by now irrational war of ideals. 
In the minds of Nehru and the Congress, Kashmir is, in 
miniature, another Pakistan, and if this Muslim nation can 
be successfully governed by India, then their philosophy of 
secularism is vindicated. Moreover, it would ease the ten- 

l8 Nehru, The Discovery of India, op.cit., p. 25. 

l9 Ambedkar, op.cit., p. 19. 
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sion among those forty million Muslims who still find them- 
selves on Indian soil. But conversely, should the Muslim na- 
tion of Kashmir reject its pesent- status and by plebiscite 
accede on the basis of its religion to Pakistan, then religious 
affinities and arguments of emotion have once more tri- 
umphed. This would be a damaging blow to Nehru's the- 
ory of secularism, and no one knows it better than Nehru. 
N; one has expressed it more eloquently than he when 

6 6 he said, . . . it is not Kashmir, therefore, but rather a 
much deeper conflict that comes in the way of friendly 
relations between India and Pakistan and the situation is a 
grave one. W e  cannot give up the basic ideal which we have 
held so long and on which the whole conception of our 
state is founded."" One must not overlook the fact that 
some prominent Muslim leaders as well have associated 
themselves with Nehru in his defense of this ideal of the 
oneness of the Indian nation. Nor must one overlook the 
fact that Nehru has combated courageously and consistently 
those Hindu nationalist extremists who have tried to com- 
promise his philosophy of oneness. 

This, then, is the setting for the tragic drama of modern 
Kashmir, a setting entirely essential to the full meaning of 
each scene. For only as Kashmir is viewed as one (though 
currently the most dramatic and foreboding) of many 
dramas in this tragic cycle of suspicion, fear, hate, and 
bloodletting that for so-many years have wrecked the In- 
dian Subcontinent, can its true significance be appreciated. 

The prologue to this drama is identical to the epilogue of 
another. The place, the Subcontinent. The time, 1947. The 
argument, the final provisions for independence and the 
separation of Pakistan and India. 

20 Jawaharlal Nehru, Report to the All-India Congress Commit- 
tee, July 6, 1951. The Hindustan Times Press, New Delhi, p. 17. 



3. The Struggle Begins 
BY 1947 affairs on the Indian Subcontinent had reached 
the point that a declaration of independence could be de- 
layed no longer. On  February 20 the government of Great 
Britain announced its "definite intention to take necessary 
steps to effect the transference of power to responsible In- 
dian hands by a date not later than June 1948."' Lord 
Mountbatten was appointed Viceroy and entrusted with 
the superhuman task of effecting a peaceful transfer of the 
administration from the British to the new authorities- 
either the government of a united India or the two govern- 
ments of India and Pakistan. 

This decision was not long in the making. Mountbatten 
came to Delhi on March 22, 1947, and almost immediately 
recognized the impossibility of bringing the Indian Na- 
tional Congress and the Muslin1 League together to create 
a common government. He declared he would proceed on 
the basis of two separate governments, and on June 3, act- 
ing upon his counsel, the British government published a 
plan for the partition of India. Six weeks later, on July 18, 
the Indian Independence Act was passed, stating that on 
August 1 5  India and Pakistan were to become independent 
count r ie~ .~  The division was to take place according to com- 
munal allegiance; the predominantly Hindu provinces were 
to form the Union of India, and the predominantly Muslim 
provinces were to form Pakistan. 

It is too early to judge every aspect of Lord Mountbat- 
ten's negotiations, and it would also exceed the nature of 
this study. Too few official documents have been published 
to throw sufficient light upon the deliberations among the 
parties concerned. No documents are needed, however, to 
establish that any mission designed to bring about the par- 
tition of a country which for so many years had developed 

Statement of H.M.G. of February no, 1947. 
* Command Paper 71 36. 
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as an economic and military entity under one political au- 
thority must have encountered hundreds of complex and 
difficult problems. 

Nor was Mountbatten's position made easier by the per- 
sonal wrangling among the leaders of the political parties 
on the Subcontinent. It was a difficult collection of person- 
alities with which he was to deal. There was Jawaharlal 
Nehru, the great and uncontested leader of the All-India 
National Congress, stubbornly unwilling to reconcile him- 
self to the idea of an independent Pakistan. There was 
Vallabhbhai Patel, with the multiple function of Deputy 
Prime Minister and Minister of States, Home Affairs, In- 
formation and Broadcasting, calm, almost enigmatic, but 
with determined will. And there was Mahatma, with no 
official position but with overwhelming influence, exposing 
his views in daily articles, prayers, private conversations, and 
always ready to fast to rouse the conscience of millions. 

There was Mohammed Ali Jinnah, Quaid-i-Azam, the 
"Great Leader," revered by Muslims as the chief protago- 
nist of their independent country. He was described by the 
great Kashmiri poet Iqbal as "the only Muslim in India 
today to whom the community has a right to look for safe 
guidance. . . ."' Certainly he enjoyed unlimited authoritv 
among his followers. His opponents found him, however, a 
most difficult person with whom to negotiate. T o  them he 
was "a strangely negative per~on";~ inaccessible, cold and 
yet passionate, stubborn and yet unpredictable, unwilling 
and perhaps unable to bring personal warmth into the deli- 
cate atmosphere of negotiations. He suspected the Congress 
leaders of bad faith and showed little belief in Lord Mount- 
batten's integrity. Few foreign observers or correspondents 
found it possible to establish cordial contacts with him. 
They all recognized, however, the power of his personality, 

Letters of  Iqbal to linnah. Kashmir Bazaar, Lahore, p. 19. 
Nehru, The Discovery o f  India, op.cit., p. 394. 
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his determined mind, and his perhaps unsurpassed ability 
in political strategy. 

These were the principals with whom Mountbatten had 
to negotiate. But they were not the only ones. The Princes 
as well claimed the right to be heard and to take part in 
the historic decisions. 

The Princely States 
There were 584 of these Princely States scattered over 

the Subcontinent, covering 45.3 per cent of its surface and 
with a population of some 99 million people. Some Princes 
represented real power, such as the Nizam of Hyderabad, 
which had almost 17 million inhabitants and was about the 
size of Germany. Other Princely States were small in size 
and population. The overwhelming majority of them were 
Hindu; only a half dozen were Muslim. 

The Princes were proud of their quasi-royal status and 
claimed unlimited obedience from their subjects and 
princely respect from abroad. They bore the elevated title 
of Maharaja (Hindu) or Nawab (Muslim), and they were 
addressed as "His Highness." The ruler of Hyderabad had 
the special title of Nizam and was addressed as "His Ex- 
alted Highness." 

The relations between the British Crown and the Princely 
States were based upon treaties, "the paramount power" 
taking responsibility for their foreign affairs and defense, 
the Princes being guaranteed their rights of succession and 
autonomy in internal affairs. British India and the Princely 
States were linked by a sort of personal union: the Viceroy 
of British India acted also as the Crown's representative 
toward the Princes. 

The Princes would have preferred to live in splendid iso- 
lation from the happenings in British India, but they were 
not able to quarantine their people against the infectious 
spirit of freedom which was sweeping the Subcontinent. In 
some states political parties appeared similar to the Indian 

4 6  
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National Congress and the Muslim League. In 1921 the 
Princes constituted, in Delhi, a Chamber of Princes, com- 
posed of 108 rulers and i 2 additional members representing 
127 minor states. The Chamber was a consultative and de- 
bating body without any real authority. Its main political 
purpose was to bring the Princes closer to the political arena 
of Indian affairs and to make them aware of the impending 
realities of political life. 

When the hour of decision struck in the spring of 1946 
and the British government determined to grant independ- 
ence to British India, the question of relinquishing its para- 
mountcy over the Princely States was immediately posed. 

In a "Memorandum on States' Treaties and Para- 
mountcy," the Cabinet Mission informed His Highness the 
Chancellor of the Chamber of Princes that after the trans- 
fer of British powers to an independent government of 
India ". . . His Majesty's Government will cease to exer- 
cise the powers of paramountcy. This means that the rights 
of the States which flow from their relationship to the 
Crown will no longer exist and that all the rights sur- 
rendered by the States to the paramount power will return 
to the States."" 

Four days later, on May 16, the Cabinet Mission reaf- 
firmed its position on the Princely States, envisaging that, 
"There should be a Union of India embracing both British 
India and the States, which should deal with the following 
subjects: Foreign Affairs, Defence, and Communications 
. . ." and that "The States will retain all subjects and powers 
other than those ceded to the Union."" 

Though the Cabinet Mission's proposal was rejected as a 
whole, its statements concerning the Princely States became 
the basis for future settlement of this particular problem. 
Nor was the principle of this declaration changed when in 
June of 1947 the decision for partition was announced. 

Command Paper 6855. 
Command Paper 682 1. 
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On July 25, 1947, Lord Mountbatten appeared before the 

- - 

chamber of princes to offer them a more concrete interpre- 
tation of the Independence Act and to add to his previously 
private counsel a bit of public advice. "The States will have 
- 

complete freed on^," he told the Princes, ". . . technically and 
legally they become independent." But he reminded them 
that 1ndia~ had been operating as an economic entity, that 
this implied certain consequences and that "there are cer- - 

tain geographical con~pulsions which cannot be evaded."' 
The Independence Act made provisions for the temporary 
continuation of customs, transit and comm~inications, posts 
and telegraphs (Section 7,  sub-section 1, c ) ,  but Lord 
Mountbatten once again urged the Princes to enter into 
standstill agreements with the future authorities of India 
and Pakistan to make arrangement about such matters. 

Lord Mountbatten stressed to the Princes that they would 
have to surrender to the central governments of India or 
Pakistan only defense, foreign affairs, and communications, 
without any~financial liability, and that these governments 
would have no authority "to encroach on the internal au- 
tonomy or the sovereignty of the  state^."^ He invited the 
Princes to make up their minds before long, as the day of 
transfer of power, August 15, was "very close at  hand"; after 
that date they would have to take care of any arrangement 
by themselves as sovereigns of independent countries. The 
&neral assumption was -that the I%ndu States would join 
India and the Muslim States, Pakistan. Nearly all of the 
Princely States saw clearly the only possible and reasonable 
path open to them and acceded to one country or the other. 
Three Princes, however, those of Hyderabad, Junagadh, and 
Kashmir, chose to join neither dominion and on August 1 5  
became technically independent states. Their subjects were 
to pay heavily for their rulers' policy. Junagadh, with a 

Time Only to Look Forward. S~eeches of Rear Admiral the Earl 
Mountbatten 'of Burma. ~ i c h o l a s  i<aye, London, 1949, p. 52. 

Ibid., p. 5 5 .  
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Muslim ruler but with a Hindu population of about 700,000, 
acceded in September 1947 through the act of its Nawab 
to Pakistan, but the Indian army entered the country and 
assured the people of their right to express themselves about 
their future. They voted for India. In the case of Hydera- 
bad, its Muslim Nizam tried to postpone indefinitely any 
decision concerning the fate of its predominantly Hindu 
population-but this too was solved by way of arms when 
the Indian army forced its way into the state in September 
1948 and the country became part of India. 

And Kashmir? 

Flames of Civil War 
I t  would be difficult to overestimate, then, the difficul- 

ties which Mountbatten faced when in March of 1947 he 
began his negotiations. Not only were there the perplexities 
of such problems as the Princely States and the deep-rooted 
antagonisms of the leaders of India and Pakistan, but there 
was also the knowledge that even as they worked, among 
the peoples of the Subcontinent the infernos of communal 
strife were already raging unchecked. Such bloodlettings 
were not new to the Subcontinent. But this time there was a 
difference. Now they were no longer outbursts of isolated 
political or religious feelings. Now they were part and in- 
strument of a historical political struggle. Now the fate of 
a nation for centuries to come was at  stake. Now the flames 
were fanned by winds of nationalism that threatened to 
engulf the entire Subcontinent. 

The leaders of the Congress blamed the Muslim League 
for inciting outbursts of violence to prove that the Hindu- 
Muslim rift was irreconcilable. The leaders of the Rluslim 
League accused the Congress of trying to decimate the 
Muslims. 

A full and impartial story of the riots remains still to be 
written. The purpose of our study requires only the listing 
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of some facts directly pertinent to the development in 
Kashmir. 

Riots reached threatening proportions in several regions, 
particularly in Pun jab, borderiilg on Kashmir . The reasons 
- 

for this are readily understood when tlic co~lclitio~ls preced- 
ing the rioting are examined. 

The population in Punjab was mixcd. According to 1941 
census, there were i6,2 17,000 hl~lsliins living ill the prov- 
ince, 7,5 5 1 ,000 Hindus, and (perhaps most important) 
3,757,800 Sikhs. 

Punjab was the motherland of the Sikhs, numbering alto- 
gether 5.7 millions. Originally they considered themselves 
as a religious group following the teaching of Guru Nanak 
(1467-1 538), whose philosophy combined elements of both 
Hinduism and Islam: a belief in monotheism and a refusal 
to recognize the caste system. He wished to create some- 
thing of a synthesis of both religions acceptable to all in- 
habitants of the Subcontinent, but his followers soon de- 
veloped qualities distinctly antagonistic to both faiths. 
Eventually this included a vaunted militarism "to resist 
both Muslim aggression and Hindu intolerance."' I11 Pun- 
jab they established their own kingdom, but in 1846 they 
were crushed by the British, who had received, according 
to some sources, considerable Muslim assistance. Naturally 
enough this fact only served to intensify the Sikhs' hatred 
of the Muslims, a hatred which over the years found ex- 
pression in much letting of blood. I t  was by no means rare 
for the otherwise quiet and stolid Sikh to pull out his sword, 
kirpan, the symbol of his virile, martial power, and burst 
into appalling murder. 

certainly, therefore, the presence of more than 3 million 
Sikhs in the primarily Muslin1 state of Punjab was a con- 
dition conducive to rioting and bloodshed. Another factor, 
however, was the presence in this unhappy territory of a 

India, Pakistan. Ceylon. Edited by W. Norman Brown. Cornell 
University Press, Ithaca, N.Y., 1951, p. 1 i 2 .  
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strong representation of the militant Hindu organization, 
Rashtriya Swayamsevak Sangh (RSS) . 

The RSS was founded in 1925, its leaders feeling that the 
traditional Hindu pacifist philosophy ill-equipped them to 
defend themselves against the bellicose Muslims. The RSS 
was organized as a secret group, and its founder, Dr. K. B. 
Hedgewar, and his successor, M. S. Golwarkar, were rec- 
ognized and respected leaders-Fuehrers in the Nazi tra- 
dition. 

In this same tradition, the members of the organization 
wore uniforn~s, were trained in terrorism, and were divided 
into military groups. It is thought that in 1935 they num- 
bered only 25,000; by 1947 they had grown to 400,000, and 
these were supported by some 5,000,000 sympathizers.1° 

In Punjab there were, in 1947, some 30,000 of the RSS 
who were eager to lend their strength to the Sikhs' kirpans. 
Against both, the Muslim League assembled and armed the 
National Guard. 

The Muslim leaders accused the Sikhs of having planned 
a wholesale massacre of the Muslims. Whatever the truth 
may be (and the findings of the Punjab Criminal Investiga- 
tion Department, entrusted with the task of establishing re- 
sponsibility for the riots, have never been brought to a 
conclusion), one officer of the Department reported to 
Mountbatten's mission that "These interrogations [of in- 
stigators of disturbances] and intelligence from other sources 
implicated the Sikh leaders in a number of sabotage plans, 
including a plot to assassinate Jinnah. . . ."ll 

As a matter of record also are such episodes as that which 
took place on February 23, 1947, when one of the Sikh 
leaders, Master Tara Singh, mounted the steps "of the Leg- 

lo For detailed study see J. A. Curran, Jr., Militant Hinduism in 
Indian Politics, A Study of the R.S.S., International Secretariat, In- 
stitute of Pacific Relations, New York, 19 5 1. 

l1 Alan Campbell-Johnson, Mission with Mountbatten. E .  P. 
Dutton & Co., New York, 1953, p. 149. 
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islative Assembly in Lahore. He unleashed his kirpan, waved 
it about and announced that the sword would now decide 
between the Sikhs and Muslims."" Other Sikh leaders fol- 
lowed his example. 

Lord Mountbatten was gravely aware of the situation and 
the difficulty of negotiating with the Indian leaders in such 
an atmosphere. He induced Gandhi and Jinnah to appeal 
to the population to keep calm. "We deeply deplore the 
recent acts of lawlessness and violence that have brought the 
utmost disgrace on the fair name of India and the greatest 
misery to innocent people, irrespective of who were the ag- 
gressors and who were the victims," read their common 
declaration of April 15, 1947. "We denounce for all time 
the use of force to achieve political ends, and we call upon 
all the communities of India, to whatever persuasion they 
may belong, not only to refrain from all acts of violence and 
disorder, but also to avoid both in speech and writing any 
incitement of such acts."'" 

The appeal was not heeded for long. After the British 
government on June 3 announced its plan of partition, in- 
cluding the highly disputed partition of Punjab, rioting was 
resumed. The fighting spread to several Princely States. In 
Punjab it climaxed in August, even before the Radcliffe 
Award (made public on August 18) determined the bound- 
aries between the western and the eastern parts of the prov- 
ince. Thousands of people were massacred, millions were 
expelled from their homes to seek refuge with their fellow 
countrymen and coreligionists; villages were burned, 
churches desecrated, trains carrying refugees dynamited; 
mass looting, abduction of women, and arson had no end. 

Thus it was that the long-awaited day of independence, 
an event that should have produced general rejoicing, rev- 
erence, and conciliation, was instead for thousands of inno- 

l2 From the speech of Sir Zafrulla Khan before the Security Coun- 
cil; Security Council Oficial Records, Third Year, Nos. 1-1 j, p. 42. 

l3 Time Only to Look Forward, op.cit., p. 272. 
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cent people a verdict of death. The British were evacuating 
their forces and offices; the newly established governments 
of the Union of India and Pakistan were unable to cope 
with the situation. Fighting went on in villages and towns, 
in provinces and Princely States. T o  a considerable extent 
this could not be stopped because the administration was 
similarly divided from top governmental posts down to the 
last local policeman. The central government became an 
unworkable team; the civil servants were grouped along the 
comnlunal lines; the army broke into two hostile fronts 
bridged over only by a few British generals who tried to save 
the situation by wise and considerate advice. On  local scenes 
of horror the constabulary sided with the community ac- 
cording to national and religious allegiances. 

When the maelstrom of human tragedy had subsided, the 
Subcontinent was poorer by more than half a million people 
who had lost their lives in the mass killings. The  misery of 
the displaced persons, fleeing from Muslim to Hindu ter- 
ritories or vice versa, staggers the imagination. Six million 
fled from Pakistan, 5,800,000 from India. But even such 
incredible migrations could not solve the problem of found- 
ing purely national states. After the large-scale flight of mi- 
norities was over, about 1 2  million Hindus remained in 
Pakistan and 40 million Muslims were left in India. 

Nor did the religious frenzy which swept the Subconti- 
nent stop at the boundaries of the Princely States, though 
some were spared because of their purely Hindu character. 
But Kashmir was not among these happy states. 

Kashmir Involved 
The Hindu Maharaja of these predominately Muslim 

people drew his army from Hindus, Sikhs, and Gurkhas. He 
knew that with the exception of the Kashmiris from the 
Vale of Kashmir the Muslims of Jammu and Kashmir were 
formidable fighters. In World War  11, of the 71,667 citizens 
of the State of Jammu and Kashmir who served in the 
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British Indian forces, 60,402 were Muslims." But the Ma- 
haraja also knew that as Muslims, they were not good risks 
as members of his army. When the Maharaja refused, after 
the war and demobilization, to accept these fighters in his 
military forces, most of them went back to farming in their 
home regions of Mirpur and Poonch. Meanwhile, the Ma- 
haraja strengthened his garrisons in these areas in the spring 
of 1947 by importing Sikhs and Hindus. 

Political developments in Kashmir prior to 1948 paralleled 
happenings elsewhere. As in British India, the hluslim Con- 
ference in Kashmir had appealed on July 19, 1946, for "Di- 
rect Action." A few months later, its leaders were in jail. 

Then, in the spring of 1947, the Maharaja brutally sup- 
pressed a Poonchis-instigated "No Tax Campaign," and as 
the fires of rebellion flickered, flared, and subsided, Rluslims 
slipped in from Punjab to help their brothers in Jammu; 
Sikhs and Hindu extremists, on the other hand, crossed the 
border to aid the Maharaja forces. 

Mountbatten Visits Srinagar 

Lord Mountbatten could not have been unaware of the 
explosive character of the situation. There are no official 
documents published as to his negotiations with the Princes, 
and we are told that "Mountbatten . . . had no detailed 
directives from London to support him"15 on how to handle 
the delicate problem of inducing the Princes to accede to 
one of the dominions before "the appointed day" of August 
1 5 .  But it is now evident that although he apparently suc- 
ceeded in convincing most of them to accede "in time," the 
Kashmir case proved to be beyond his persuasive powers. 

Lord Mountbatten visited Kashmir on June 19 and re- 
mained four days. The immediate motives of this important 
visit appear to be unknown. The documentary diary of Allen 

l4 Janzmu: A Muslim Province. Kashmir Publications, hiuzaffara- 
bad, Azad Kashmir, p. 13 .  

l5 Campbell-Johnson, Mission witlz Mountbatten, op.cit., p. 140. 
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Campbell-Johnson simply states that they were "visiting 
Kashmir on the 19th at the genuine invitation of the Ma- 
haraja."" I t  further reports, however (though only indi- 
rectly) certain interesting facts and background incidents 
related to him by Lord Mountbatten upon his return from 
Kashmir: 

"Mountbatten has also seen for himself the paralysis of 
Princely uncertainty during his visit to Kashmir, from which 
he has only just returned today. Both Nehru and Gandhi 
have been very anxious that the Maharaja of Kashmir 
should make no declaration of independence. And Nehru, 
himself descended from Kashmiri Brahmins, has been press- 
ing to visit the State himself to seek the release from prison 
of his friend, Sheikh Abdullah, now President of the States' 
Congress. Last year when Nehru visited the State he was 
himself placed under arrest by the Kashmir Government. 
Gandhi's view was that he himself ought to prepare the way 
for Nehru. The Maharaja has made it very clear that he 
does not welcome a visit from either. Mountbatten suc- 
ceeded in deferring both visits by saying he himself had a 
long-standing invitation from the Maharaja and would like 
to see him first. 

"When he got there he found the Maharaja politically 
very elusive and the only conversations that took place were 
during their various car drives together. Mountbatten on 
these occasions urged him and his Prime Minister, Pandit 
Kak, not to make any declaration of independence, but to 
find out in one way or another the will of the people of 
Kashmir as soon as possible, and to announce their inten- 

- 

tion by 14th of August, to send representatives accordingly 
to one Constituent Assembly or the other. He told them 
that the newly created States Department of India was pre- 
pared to give an assurance that if Kashmir went to Pakistan 
this would not be regarded as an unfriendly act by the Gov- 

Is Ibid., p. 117. 
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ernment of India. He went on to stress the dangerous situa- 
tion in which Kashmir would find itself if it lacked the sup- 
port of one of the two Dominio~ls by the date of the trans- 
fer of power. His intention was to give this advice privately 
to the Maharaja alone and then to repeat it in the presence 
of his Prime Minister with George Abell [Private Secretary 
to the Viceroy] and the Resident, Colonel Webb, in at- 
tendance, at a small meeting where minutes could be kept. 

"The Maharaja suggested that the meeting should take 
place on the last day of the visit, to which Mountbatten 
agreed, feeling that this would allow him the maximum 
chance to make up his mind, but when the time came the 
Maharaja sent a message that he was in bed with colic and 
would be unable to attend the meeting. I t  seems that this 
is his usual illness when he wishes to avoid difficult dis- 
cussions. 

"Needless to say, Mountbatten is very disappointed at 
this turn of events," concludes Campbell-Johnson in his 
diary." 

Though there is here no direct evidence concerning the 
conversation between Mountbatten and the Maharaja, there 
is reason to believe that the Pakistanis are mistaken in their 
conviction that Mountbatten from the beginning connived 
with the government of India to force the Maharaja and 
with him the State of Jammu and Kashmir into accession. 

Lord Mountbatten was very anxious to dispel any doubt 
about his own position. Speaking before the East India 
Association in London shortly after his return from his 
historic mission in India, he repeated, "In the case of 
Kashmir I went up personally and saw the Maharaja. I 
spent four days with him in July [sic], on every one of those 
four days I persisted with the-same advice: '~scertain the 
will of your people by any means and join whichever Do- 
minion your people wish to join by August 14 this year.' 
He did not do that, and what happened can be seen. Had 

Ibid., pp. i 20-1 21. 
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he acceded to Pakistan before August 14, the future govern- 
ment of India had allowed me to give His Highness an 
assurance that no objectio~l whatever would be raised by 
them. Had His Highness acceded to India by August 14, 

Pakistan did not then exist, and therefore could not have 
interfered. The onlv trouble that could have been raised 

J 

was by non-accession to either side, and this was unfortu- 
nately the very course followed by the Maharaja."'" 

It would seem, therefore, that up to this moment at least 
Mountbatten applied the same f o r ~ n ~ ~ l a  for the future of 
Kashmir after partition that he used so successfully with 
the other Princely States. His failure to convince the Ma- 
haraja is surely no cause for Pakistani resentment. That this 
was indeed the official position is only reinforced by the 
knowledge that Lord Ismay, the experienced military ad- 
viser to Winston Churchill during the war, who served with 
Mountbatten's mission in the capacity of Chief of Staff, also 
tried his best while spending a few days in Srinagar at the 
beginning of September 1947 to influence the Maharaja, 
obviously with no success. Nothing official is known, how- 
ever, about his conversations with the ruler. 

Campbell-Johnson in his diary also returns several times 
to the subject of Mountbatten's impartiality, apparently 
deeply chagrined that suspicion should be thrown upon his 
chief.'' Lord Birdwood, a British expert on India, likewise 
accepted "the truth of that position. After a certain amount 
of inquiry and talk with those concerned, I certainly do 
myself. If we accept it, then we must equally refuse the 
Pakistan contention that there was some form of diabolical 
plot between the Maharaja and the Government of India 
to stage a situation which would precipitate accession to 
India."'O 

lB Time Only to Look Forward, op.cit., pp. 268-269. 
lB Campbell-Johnson, Mission with Mountbatten, op.cit., pp. 317, 

3 58- 
20 Lord Birdwood, "Kashmir." International Aflairs, Vol. XXVIII, 
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On the other hand one is forced to admit that Gandhi's 
and Nehru's ardent desire to visit Kashmir did nothing to 
allay Pakistan suspicion. The Subcontinent was in the 
throes of a deep communal and political crisis. The situa- 
tion in Kash~nir was tense. A Hindu Maharaja was in 
process of shedding the blood of i\luslims whose prominent 
leaders, both of the National and Muslin1 Conference, were 
in prison. No Muslim leader visited such Princely States as 
Hyderabad or Junagadh in which Muslim rulers governed 
predominantly Hindu populations. Nor did they visit 
Kashmir. 

Gandhi Visits Srinagar 
In spite of Mountbatten's efforts to dissuade the Con- 

gress leaders from going to Srinagar, the Maharajas of 
Patiala, Kapurthala, and Faridkot and the president of the 
Indian National Congress, Acharya Kripalani, paid visits 
to the Maharaja. Then, early in August Mahatma Gandhi 
went himself. 

Even the cautious London Times commented ". . . But 
the Union of India has been taking a lively interest in the 
subject and indications are that the Hindu h4aharaja of 
Kashmir, Sir Hari Singh, has lately been much influenced 
by representations made by Mr. Gandhi who visited Kash- 
mir three months ago and by other Congress  leader^."^' 

Small wonder, then, that the Pakistanis are convinced 
that Gandhi succeeded in arriving at a definite commitment 
from the Maharaja, though no document supports their 
conviction. Such a possibility is, of course, in contradiction 
to the content of Mountbatten's June message to the Ma- 
haraja stating that the government of India had allowed 
him to "give to His Highness an assurance that no objec- 
tion would be raised by them" if he acceded to Pakistan. 

No. 3' July 1952' Royal Institute of International Affairs. London, 
pp. 301-312. 

The Times (London), October 2 5, 1947. 
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On the other hand it is difficult to understand why the 
Congress leaders were anxious "that the Maharaja of Kash- 
mir should make no declaration of independence." It is 
safe to assume that they would not have advised the Ma- 
haraja to accede to Pakistan, but then if they did not wish 
him to declare independence, for what purpose was their 
visit? I t  is perhaps understandable that Pandit Nehru might 
have wanted to visit Kashmir to intervene for his political 
friend, Sheikh Abdullah, who was in prison. But one won- 
ders whether Nehru was interested in Abdullah's personal 
welfare-devoid of political implications-at a time when 
the Subcontinent boiled with insurrection and thousands 
of people were being killed. 

The Pakistanis further support their conviction about the 
purpose of Mr. Gandhi's visit with the Maharaja by point- 
ing to several political events which followed in the period 
between the visit and the act of accession. They point out, 
for example, that the Prime Minister of Kashmir, Pandit 
Kak, who had signed the standstill agreement with Pakistan, 
was replaced by Janak Singh and later by Mehr Chand 
Mahajan, who sided openly with India and was for the 
state's accession to India. They point to the dismissal of 
the British officers from the Kashmir police and army, in- 
cluding the Chief of the General Staff and the Inspector 
General of Police. 

The Pakistanis have further maintained that as a result 
of Gandhi's negotiations it was decided to build a direct 
road between India and Jammu. I t  was reported that "orders 
have been issued by the Kashmir Government that a temp- 
orary boat bridge should be constructed over the Ravi near 
Pathankot [India] so that vehicular traffic could be main- 
tained between Jammu and the Indian Union. The metalling 
of the road from Jammu [town] to Kathua [in Jammu 
Province] is also proceeding at top speed. The idea is to 
keep up some sort of communication between the State and 
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the Indian Union, so that essential supplies and troops could 
be rushed to Kashmir without having to transport them 
through Pakistan territory. These orders were kept as top 
secret lest the Pakistan Government smell these shady 
moves. But sonlehow it leaked out and a local daily paper, 
belonging to the Kashmiri Pandit Sabha, published it. 
When other papers and news agencies tried to copy it, the 
censor stepped in and prohibited its publication in the State 
and circulation outside." 

I t  was further reported three weeks later that, "The Kash- 
mir Government has confirmed the news that it is linking 
the State, via Pathankot, with the East Punjab, and throw- 
ing a bridge over the River Ravi. The work is already pro- 
ceeding at top speed. Temporary arrangements are also 
under way to make it possible for vehicles and other trans- 
port to cross the Ravi. In short, every effort is being made 
to render the State independent of the two existing arteries 
of communications that link Kashmir with the outside 
world. Both of these run through Pakistan. 

"Once the communication lines between the State and 
Hindustan become actual, it is generally believed in the 
highest circles, that the Maharaja will burst forth with a 
declaration of accession to Hindustan. In the Muslim circles 
throughout the State, it is said that such a declaration would 
be tantamount to a declaration of war against 80% of 
the Muslim population of the State, as well as against 
P a k i ~ t a n . " ~ ~  

The Pakistanis, then, assert that "with Indian assistance 
the State improved the road to Jammu, constructed a tele- 
graph line along it, and started work on the road to link 
Bagh in Poonch with the main Jhelum Valley road to Kash- 
mir near Chikar. This latter road was to give India through 
Jammu, Naushera and Kotli a road open throughout the 

22 The Pakistan Times (Lahore), September 2 7 ,  Octobcr 1;. 

l947. 
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year to the Vale of Kashmir, which is normally inaccessible 
in winter by the Jammu-Banihal road."'' 

Now it cannot be assumed that a decision to link by high- 
way two areas hitherto rather tenuously joined by inade- 
quate transportation facilities is prima-facie evidence of 
either a secret agreement of eventual accession or military 
support in case of trouble. But the timing of such a decision, 
if it did come (as the Pakistanis claim) hard on the heels 
of Gandhi's visit, would be evidence enough for the Pak- 
istanis. They were convinced that a plan to incorporate 
Kashmir within India had been prepared at  the time of 
the negotiations concerning partition, when the Radcliffe 
Award assigned to India the district of Gurdaspur in spite 
of its slight Muslim majority. The district lies opposite 
Kathua and provides the only natural link between India 
and Jammu. 

There is one piece of etymological fact that would seem 
to cast a different light on the question. This is the very 
name "Pakistan," with which the Muslims, ever since 1940, 
have associated the idea of national independence. It has 
a double meaning. One is Pak-i-Stan, meaning the "Land 
of Pure." The other is the fact that the name is composed 
of the initials of the regions from which Pakistan was to be 
created: P for Punjab, A for Afghan (North-West Frontier 
Province), K for Kashmir(! ), S for Sind, and Tan for the 
ending of Baluchistan. Such a name would seem to imply 
that the Muslim leaders themselves had taken for granted 
that Kashmir would be an integral part of their future 
homeland. On the other hand, since the Indian National 
Congress failed to protest this highly political interpreta- 
tion of the letter "K" in the name of Pakistan, it would 
seem to indicate at least its resignation to Kashmir's even- 
tually becoming a part of Pakistan. If this is so, it would 
seem rather illogical to accuse the government of India of 
planning Kashmir's accession to India by force. 

 ammu mu: A Muslim Province, op.cit., p. 17. 
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All these may seem to be trivial and bothersome details. 
Yet they are of material importance in view of the Paki- 
stani suspicions which have cast heavy shadows upon the 
good faith and integrity of the Indian government. And 
such seemingly unimportant evidence, multiplied hundreds 
of times by the general distrust which clouded every detail 
of crucial negotiations in Delhi concerning the complex 
issues of the partition, added fuel to the flames of Hindu- 
Muslim hostility. 

One fact, however, stands out amid the welter of claims 
and counterclaims. This is that of the other 584 Princely 
States not a single one with Hindu population became a 
part of Pakistan even though in two cases, Hyderabad and 
Junagadh, they were ruled by Muslim Princes. Nor did any 
state with a Muslim population (with the exception of the 
Sikh-ruled State of Kapurthala, in which almost all Mus- 
lims were killed or expelled) accede to India. Rather, they 
sought integration according to their religious affinity in 
every case save one-Kashmir. 

Independence-and Bloodshed in Kashmir 
Through all the mists of uncertainty that shroud the ne- 

gotiations concerning the future of Kashmir, one fact alone 
is clear. This is the irresponsible behavior of the Maharaja. 
It was this that brought his nation uncommitted, his peo- 
ple's wishes unascertained, past the fatal day of partition. 
August 15, 1947. I t  was his stubbornness, his coy maneuver- 
ing, including his "attacks of colic," that brought upon his 
people unparalleled suffering and pain. In this respect at 
least, he was a worthy "Son of the Dogras." 

When the fateful day of August 1 5  dawned, Muslims 
celebrated a "Pakistan Day" with flags enthusiastically dis- 
played throughout the state. The Maharaja ordered them 
torn down and retaliated bv closing all pro-Pakistani news- 
papers. 

Still the pressure mounted, and the stories carried by 
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refugees pouring in from bloodsoaked Punjab by Sikhs, 
Hindus, and Muslims must have done little to allay the 
Maharaja's anxiety. Nor did the presence in Kashmir of 
these bitter and hysterical refugees do anything to reduce 
the tension within Kashmir. 

The Maharaja's last-minute decision was, as history would 
indicate, no decision at all. It  was only a final maneuver- 
a last vacillation. He apparently thought to temporize his 
position on August 12, three days before partition, by of- 
fering a standstill agreement with both India and Pakistan." 
Under its terms, Pakistan would assume the responsibilities 
it now held as a part of British India and would continue 
to run the communications, postal and telegraph services. 
An agreement along these lines was signed with Pakistan on 
August 14. With India, however, such an agreement was 
never effected. There was no official explanation for this 
important omission until five years later when Sheikh Ab- 
dullah declared that India's decision to refrain from signing 
such an agreement was based upon the belief that "it could 
not consider any agreement entered into by the Govern- 
ment of the State valid until it had the approval of the 
people's  representative^."^^ The fact that India accepted 

- 

the all-important act of accession from the same Maharaja's 
government two months later, in October, casts some doubt 
upon Sheikh Abdullah's sincerity concerning India's mo- 
tives. This abstention on the part of India has also been 
the basis for Pakistani accusations that the entire affair was 
a premeditated ruse on the part of both the Maharaja and 
India. They declare that the standstill agreement was de- 

- 

signed to persuade Pakistan that no action was immediately 
anticipated; that India's failure to sign was based upon a 
fairly well-founded hope for a much closer political relation- 
ship. 

24 Campbell-Johnson, Mission with Mountbatten, op.cit., p. 2 2 3 .  

2 5  lammu and Kashmir Constituent Assembly, op.cit., pp. 15-16. 
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W h o  Coerced W h o m ?  
The Indian government had an entirely different view 

about the development in Kashmir and the happenings con- 
nected with the question of accession. It admits that "Kash- 
mir became crowded with a large number of refugees, both 
Sikhs and Muslims; the Muslim refugees passed through 
parts of the State on their way from East Punjab to West 
Punjab. This resulted in the State becoming a sort of chan- 
nel through which they passed." Still, they insist that "Kash- 
mir remained quiet . . . Kashmir had no disturbances at 
all when both East and West Punjab were in the flames of 
the communal passions and disturbances"; that ". . . there 
is no reason for any suggestion that anything has been done 
by the Dogra Raja or by the Dogras otherwise to molest 
the Muslims"; that they "have no facts which would show 
that any Muslims were killed in the Kashmir State bv Sikhs 
or Hindus or even by the Maharaja or his ~ o ~ r a s - b e f o r e  
October 22, which is the date of the penetration and raid 
in Kashmir territory by the tribesmen."'" 

Indeed, says the Indian government, ever since the Ma- 
haraja failed to meet the time limit of accession the Paki- 
stan government pursued a policy of coercing him into ac- 
cession to Pakistan. I t  accused the Pakistani authorities of 
arousing feelings of communal hatred and giving support to 
acts of terrorism in Kashmir. Agents and religious leaders, 
it maintains, were sent from Pakistan to various parts of 
Kashmir to incite the Muslim population against Sikhs and 
Hindus. Raids were reportedly organized from Pakistan's 
West Punjab into Jammu Province, villages were burned, 
and non-Muslims murdered and robbed. 

Furthermore, according to the Indian statements, Paki- 
stan applied an economic blockade to Kashmir to coerce her 
into accession. She refused to honor her obligations towards 

26 From the speech of the representative of India, M. C. Setalvad. 
before the Security Council, Security Council Official Records, 
oP.cit., PP. 211, 212, 214. 
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Kashmir emanating from the standstill agreement and cut 
the country off from its supply of gasoline, wheat, salt, kero- 
sene oil, and cloth. The postal system did not work, savings 
bank accounts were tied up, postal certificates were not 
cashed, and checks on West Punjab banks were not hon- 
 red.^^ 

The Pakistan government rejects emphatically these In- 
dian accusations. It explains that the difficulties of supply- 
ing the state were caused by the dislocation of communica- 
tions, by their being overloaded with the transport of refu- 
gees, by the failure of India to supply coal to Pakistan, by 
the fact that Muslim lorry drivers were afraid to carry sup- 
plies to Kashmir because the Sikhs and Hindus were attack- 
ing them. It further asserts that India violated the standstill 
agreement by having Kashmir included within her postal 
system, and as evidence it published a memorandum, dated 
September 1, 1947, almost eight weeks before the accession 
of the state to India, signed by the Director-General, Postal 
Telegraph, New Delhi, in which towns in the State of 
Jammu and Kashmir are listed as if they were part of 
India.28 

Whatever the validity of the mutual accusations, there 
is little doubt that Kashmir was brewing with revolt against 
the Maharaja long before the tribesmen invaded the coun- 
try. The political opposition launched in 1930 was carried 
into an open resistance in 1946. This was resumed in the 
spring of 1947, and it reached a critical climax in the sum- 
mer when the news of the fratricidal struggle in Punjab 
echoed throughout Kashmir. 

The Maharaja apparently was thoroughly aware of the 
situation. He strengthened the Sikh and Hindu garrisons 
in the Muslim areas. Then, towards the end of July, he 

27 See Government of India, White Paper on Jammu and Kash- 
mir, pp. 2 ,  8, 9. 

28 See Sir Zafrulla Khan's statement before the Security Council, 
Security Council Oficial Records, op.cit., pp. 1 o 1-1 o 3. 
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ordered the Muslims to deposit arms with the police. The 
Muslims answered by organizing themselves in guerrilla 
groups in the wild hills of West Poonch, where their move- 
ments remained unnoticed for some time. They were led 
by seasoned soldiers who previously had been demobilized 
from the British Indian army. They organized the smug- 
gling of arms. Messengers were sent to the tribal areas of 
the North-West Frontier Province, where manufacturing 
of small arms and ammunitions had been practiced for 
years. The Muslim partisans in the hills were armed with 
these weapons. Many ex-servicemen from World War 11, 
hearing about the Maharaja's expeditions against Muslim 
villages, evacuated their families to West Pun jab, where 
their relatives lived, and returned to Jammu to fight the 
Dogra rule. 

This movement was led by a young Kashmiri, Sardar Mo- 
hammed Ibrahim Khan, who since June had traveled 
throughout the country, arousing the spirit of his country- 
men. In August he narrowly escaped arrest in Srinagar and 
fled to Pakistan. At Murree he laid the foundation for a 
political movement of liberation, out of which later grew 
the Azad (Free) Kashmir government. 

The Maharaja admitted unrest when his government is- 
sued a statement on September 12, 1947, listing dates and 
places where agitation had been launched "by evilly dis- 
posed persons," and assured the population that the whole 
of Jammu was "now on the loth of September pacified" 
and that "steps to restore control to civil administration of 
the area" were in progre~s.~' But the revolt was not sup- 
pressed, and the fighting did not stop. From West Jammu 
it spread to the eastern part of the province, and massacres 
grew into mass proportions. 

Richard Symonds, who served with a group of British 
Quakers in Pun jab aiding innumerable victims of communal 

2Q Kashmir Before Accession. Government Printing, Lahore, 1948; 
PP- 13-14. 
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strife, described the situation in Jammu and Poonch in the 
following terms: 

"Poonch is a barren, rocky mountainous country, whose 
important export is military manpower. Sixty thousand 
Poonchis served in the Indian Army in World War  11. They 
returned (they said) to find that during the war the Raja 
of Poonch, under whose mild, if unprogressive rule they had 
existed tolerably, had been dispossessed by a law suit and 
that the Maharaja of Kashmir's direct rule had imposed all 
the tyrannous taxes of Kashmir and Jammu. There was a 
tax on every hearth and every window. Every cow, buffalo 
and sheep was taxed and even every wife. Finally the Zail- 
dari tax was introduced to pay for the cost of taxation, and 
Dogra troops were billeted on the Poonchis to enforce col- 
lection. 

"As August 1 5  and the partition of India drew near, there 
were many meetings and demonstrations in Poonch in favour 
of Kashmir joining Pakistan. Martial law was introduced 
and meetings fired on. After one such incident on August 
27 in Nila But, Abdul Qayyum, a young zamindar, started 
the revolt with a few friends. Substantial men told me that 
they would never have joined such a rash enterprise but for 
the folly of the Dogras who burnt whole villages where only 
a single family was involved in the revolt. Rapidly most of 
the Muslim ex-Servicemen joined Qayyum and insix weeks 
the whole district except for Poonch city itself was in rebel 
hands."30 

About the middle of October, when the situation in Kash- 
mir developed into mass killing, the governments of Paki- 
stan and Kashmir exchanged a number of telegrams. Ka- 
rachi accused Srinagar of organized expeditions against 
Muslims, and of the state troops' raids into West Punjab. 
The Maharaja government protested against the infiltra- 
tion of Pakistani nationals and the smuggling of arms into 

The Statesman (Calcutta),  February 4 ,  1948. 
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Kashmir. In one telegram, on October 15, it expressed 
readiness "to have an impartial inquiry made into the whole 
affair. . . ." But it warned at the same time, "If, unfortu- 
nately, this request is not heeded the Government much 
against its wishes will have no option but to ask for as- 
sistance to withstand the aggressive and unfriendly actions 
of the Pakistan people along our border. . . . 9 , 

The Pakistani government took a grave view of the threat 
of asking for an assistance which could not have implied 
anything other than help from India, but it accepted Srina- 
gar's proposal to establish an inquiry committee. It ex- 
pressed readiness to nominate its representative without 
delay. 

A few days later, on October 18, the Prime Minister of 
Kashmir repeated the threat of asking "for friendly as- 
sistance," but, significantly, the previous offer of establish- 
ing an inquiry committee was omitted. The Governor Gen- 
eral of Pakistan protested again, saying: 

". . . the threat to enlist outside assistance shows clearly 
that the real aim of your Government's policy is to seek an 
opportunity to join the Indian Dominion, as a coup d'ttat, 
by securing the intervention and assistance of that Do- 
minion. 

"This policy is naturally creating deep resentment and 
grave apprehension among your subjects, 85 per cent of 
whom are Muslims. The proposal made by my Government 
for a meeting with your accredited representative is now an 
urgent necessity. I suggest that the way to smooth out the 
difficulties and adjust matters in a friendly way is for your 
Prime Minister to come to Karachi and discuss the develop- 
ments that have taken place, instead of carrying on acrimo- 
nious and bitter controversy by telegrams and correspond- 
ence. I would also repeat that I endorse the suggestion made 
in your Prime Minister's telegram of i 5 October, and ac- 
cepted by my Government in their reply of 18 October, 
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to have an impartial inquiry made into the whole affair."31 
Several other telegrams were sent to Kashmir from Ka- 

rachi, pointing to mou~lting oppression of Muslims and also 
to mou~ltain tensio~ls among the Pakistani nationals. But 
despite this insistent exchange of messages, nobody from the 
Maharaja's government came to Karachi, and no commis- 
sion to carry out an "impartial inquiry" was ever established. 

Abdullah Reenters the Scene 
While this battle of telegrams between Karachi and Srina- 

gar was going on, a highly curious event took place in 
Srinagar. Sheikh Abdullah was, without explanation, re- 
leased from prison. 

I t  will be remembered that Sheikh Abdullah, the leader 
of the National Conference, was sentenced in May 1946 to 
nine years in prison for having led the "Quit Kashmir" cam- 
paign, aimed against the Maharaja. Yet, on September 29, 
1947, while the state was in the midst of a revolt, the 
Maharaja ordered his release. 

There is no evidence of any official intervention with the 
Maharaja, but the only possible guess which suggests itself 
is that Abdullah was released on the intervention of the 
government of India, whose Prime Minister, Pandit Nehru, 
had been for years associated with him. That some such 
high-level intervention took place is supported by the fact 
that the leaders of the Muslim Conference, who had been 
far less pronounced in their hostility to the Maharaja than 
their political opponent, Sheikh Abdullah, remained be- 
hind bars. Abdullah's actions following his release are like- 
wise significant and continue to imply that his freedom was 
no princely whim on the part of the Maharaja. 

Immediately after his release, Abdullah set up a number 
of meetings and declared at a gathering of ioo,ooo people 
at Hazaribagh, in Kashmir, on October 5 :  

31 The telegrams are quoted in the Security Council Official Rec- 
ords; op.cit., pp. 75, 76, 77, 78, 79, 81-82. 
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". . . Our first demand is complete transfer of power to 
the people in Kashmir. Representatives of the people in a 
democratic Kashinir will then decide whether the State 
should join India or Pakistan. If the forty lakhs [~,OOO,OOO] 
of people living in Jainmu and Kashmir are by-passed and 
the State declares its accession to India or Pakistan, I shall 
raise the banner of revolt and we face a struggle. 

"Of course, we will naturally opt to go to that Dominion 
where our own demand for freedom receives recognition 
and support. . . . W e  cannot desire to joint those [in Paki- 
stan] who say that the people must have no voice in the 
matter. W e  shall be cut to pieces before we allow alliance 
between this state and people of this type. . . . 

"In this time of national crisis Kashmir must hold the 
beaconlight. All around us we see the tragedy of brother 
killing brother. At this time Kashmir must come forward 
and raise the banner of Hindu-Muslim unity. 

"In Kashmir we want a people's Government. \Ve want a 
government which will give equal rights and equal oppor- 
tunities to all men-irrespective of caste and creed. The 

L 

Kashnlir Government will not be the government of any one 
community. It will be a joint government of the Hindus, 
the Sikhs and the Muslims. That is what I am fighting 

Such sentiments are of course eminently noble, but since, 
at the time he expressed them, the basic pattern for ac- 
cession by the Princely States to India or Pakistan was being 
decided exclusively on a communal basis, there can be no 
doubt that the sense of Sheikh Abdullah's statement was 
decidedly pro-Indian-at least anti-Pakistani. The Sheikh's 
subsequent actions are likewise significant. 

Soon after his release from prison and after a few days 
of campaigning in Kashmir, Sheikh Abdullah visited New 
Delhi. In two statements released through API (Associated 

32 People's Age (Bombay), October 26, 1947, as quoted in the 
Security Council Oficial Record, op.cit., pp. 2 1 2-2 1 7.  
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Press of India) 011 October l o  and 21, he confirmed that 
the Poonchis were in open revolt against the Maharaja but 
he reaffirmed his policy against joining Pakistan. He sympa- 
thized with the Indian policy of Hindu-Muslim unity but 
insisted on "freedom before accession." 

This, then, was the situation as darkness slid over the 
Subcontinent on the evening of the twenty-first of October, 
1947. The independence of Hindus and Muslims from al- 
most two centuries of British rule was only a little more 
than nine weeks old. But already, over vast areas of what 
should have been this happy land, an indigenous and com- 
plex tyranny was spreading-a tyranny of terror, product of 
a "fission" that was at  once to the Indian leaders preposter- 
ous and to the Pakistanis, inescapable. 

It was in Kashmir, peopled by Muslims, ruled by a Hindu, 
resting upon India, nestled against Pakistan, crossroad of 
refugees fleeing from the terrors of both Muslim and Hindu 

- - 

pillage and murder, that the most tragic explosion, product 
of this fission, was to take place. 

In India, in Pakistan, in Kashmir on this evening of 
October 21, tension continued to mount. The press bayed 
accusation and counter-accusation. Hindus and Sikhs in- 
tensified the bitterness of their thrusts against Pakistan. 
The Muslims of Kashmir fell before the rifles and swords 
of the Dogras, and in Pakistan the tribesmen called for a 
jehad, a holy war of revenge against their brothers' killers. 

The explosion had now become inevitable. I t  started at 
dawn of the twenty-second. 



4. Invasion and Acceeeion 

"October ~ 2 n d .  In the hour before dawn, Prithvinath 
Wanchoo, a young divisional engineer, staying in the dak 
bungalow at Domel near the Kashmir-North-West Frontier 
Province border, is rudely awakened by his servant hyster- 
ically shouting 'Dushman aagaya' (The enemy has come). 
Wanchoo runs barefooted into the verandah and sees the 
village of Nalochi, across the Kishenganga bridge, in flames. 
The Dogra garrison, caught unawares by the suddenness of 
the invasion, loses its hill-top positions and trenches and 
falls back to organize a new defensive position."' 

THUS the curtain was raised on another scene of the drama 
of the Kashmiri people. It was the formidable Afridi and 
Mahsud tribesmen of Tirah and Waziristan who, aroused 
by stories of the slaughter of Muslims by the Dogra troops, 
crossed the Kashmir frontier at the strategic outpost of 
Domel and swept down, some 2,000 strong, along the 
Jhelum river valley, quickly overcoming the resistance of the 
state troops. - 

It had not required much effort to incite them into a 
"holy war." For years these tribes had been a thorn to the 
British in this all-important territory, where the British- 
Russian interests had often clashed in diplomatic squabbles. 
They were a restless people. Every man carried a rifle and 
recognized only one authority-his tribal chief. During the 
mild summers they were relatively quiet. But the winter 
snows covering their hilly motherland drove them to tempo- 
rary quarters in milder valleys, and these seasonal migra- 
tions were by no means peaceable. On their treks they in- 
vaded villages, looted homes and shops, and abducted 
women. Then, their spirits satisfied and their greediness as- 
suaged, they returned-to their homes. 

D. F. Karaka, Betrayal in India. Victor Gollancz, London, 1950; 
pp: 173-174, quoting from the pamphlet by K. Ahmad Abbas, Kmh- 
mzr Fights for Freedom; Kutub. 
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One British official document describing them as "among 
the hardest fighters in the world," says, ". . . only picked 
and highly trained troops can compete with them on any- 
thing like equal terms in their own hills. They are believed - - 

to number nearly three millions, of whom at least half are 
males and of the latter close on three quarters of a million 
are regarded as adults and fighting men. Their armament 
has vastly increased within the last few years, and as long 
ago as 1920 there were believed to be no less than 140,000 
modern rifles in the territory."' 

The British found one way to pacify them. They posted 
well-armed guards at all strategic locations and then paid 
subsidies to their chieftains. "It was also a fairly open secret, 
although exact figures cannot be obtained, that about thirty 
million rupees [approximately lo  million dollars] a year 
were spent in the shape of subsidies to various tribal chiefs 
in return for their goodwill. All this was done very quietly 

~ - 

and details were known only to the very high ranking of- 
ficials of the political department of the government of 
India.""Some Pakistani sources put the figure at 70 million 
rupees, British sources at 17 million.) 

When the British withdrew, however, the North-West 
Frontier Province outposts and subsidies were withdrawn 
also. Pakistan, which after the partition assumed responsi- 
bility over the area, found herself unable to pursue the 
British policy. In the first place the Pakistan army was too 
small (particularly in officer strength) to take over the gar- 
risons held previously by the British in the area. Nor could 
the Pakistan treasury afford to maintain the subsidies. In- 
stead it hoped to solve the problem by a program of public 
works which would keep the tribesmen busy in their own 
territory. But this would take years, and in the meantime 

J. Coatman, India in 1927-28 .  A statement prepared for pre- 
sentation to Parliament in accordance with the requirement o f  the 
26th Section o f  the Government o f  India Act ( 5  & 6 Geo. V., Chap. 
61) .  Calcutta, Government of India, 1928, p. 280. 

Karaka, op.cit., p. 171. 
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a resunlption of the traditional raiding habits of these war- 
like tribesmen appeared to be inevitable. Under these cir- 
cumstances it is understandable if the Pakistan government, 
without perhaps in any way inciting the invasion of Kash- - 

mir, felt some relief that the path of invasion turned to- 
ward that territory, particularly when such raids might well 
serve the national interests of Pakistan. 

The invasion was easily incited by the stories brought into 
the North-West Frontier Province by Muslims, fleeing be- 
fore the terror of Dogra troops in Kashmir. For centuries 
these tribesmen had believed that the Koran was the highest 
law and to defend it, nay, more, to spread it, was their 
sacred duty. Boundaries were no obstacle to them, certainly 
not in the sense of international law. "In Islam, every be- 
liever, wherever he may be, can serve any and all Muslim 
princes on the same terms and according to the saine uni- 
form law. In Islam, in consequence, the idea of frontiers 
has no juridical meaning. . . ."' Now Islam was in danger 
in Kashmir-and the tribesmen had swarmed across its bor- 
der to defend the faith. 

In quick succession, the tribesmen occupied Muzaffarabad 
and Uri, dispersing and liquidating the demoralized troops 
of the state army. In Jammu they were joined by the Azad 
revolutionaries and supported by Pakistani volunteers from 
West Punjab and the adjacent states of Swat and Dir. All 
of these were under the command of General Akbar 
Khan, who used the pseudonym of "General Tariq," the 
name of a Moorish hero who had defended Islam in Spain 
over a thousand years before. ( I t  should be noted here that 
General Khan later became Chief of Staff of the Pakistan 
army-and still later was imprisoned for taking part in a 
plot against the government.) 

The tribesmen pushed rapidly on, besieging the towns 
of Mirpur, Poonch, Kotli, Jllanger, Naoshera, and Bhimb- 

' Robert Montagne, "Modern Nations and Islam." Foreign Af- 
fairs, July 1952, p. 581. 
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har. No one, especially the Hindus and Sikhs, was safe 
before their barbarous fury. The avalanche of looting, pil- 
laging, burning, and abductions pushed irresistibly forward 
along the Jhelum river road. 

On the fourth day of the invasion, October 26, the tribes- 
men swept into Baramula, the only major town on the open 
road to Srinagar, thirty-five miles farther southeast. Only 
3,000 people out of 14,000 survived the raid. Even the Saint 
J-oseph's Franciscan convent, church, and hospital were not 
spared. In the words of Father Shanks: 

"The tribesmen-great, wild, black beasts they were- 
came shooting their way down from the hills on both sides 
of the town. 

"A 20-year-old Indian nurse, Philomena, tried to protect 
a Muslim patient whose baby had just been born. She was 
shot dead first. The patient was next. 

"Mother Superior Aldetrude rushed into the ward, knelt 
over Philomena and was at once attacked and robbed. The 
Assistant Mother, Teresalina, saw a tribesman point a rifle 
at  Mother Aldetrude and jumped in front of her. A bullet 
went through Teresalina's heart. 

"At that moment Colonel Dykes, who had assured us we 
would not be attacked, raced from his room a few yards 
along the terrace to get the Mother Superior out of danger, 
shouting at the tribesmen as he ran. But the Mother Su- 
perior fell shot, and Colonel Dykes collapsed beside her, 
with a bullet in the stomach. 

"Mrs. Dykes ran from her husband's room to help him. 
She, too, was shot dead. 

"While this went on Mr. Gee Boretto, an Anglo-Indian, 
was killed in the garden before nine nuns. Then the nuns 
were lined up before a firing squad. 

"As the tribesmen raised their rifles a young Afridi of- 
ficer, who once studied in a Convent school at Peshawar, 
rushed in and stopped them. He had been told his men 
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were raiding a Convent, and had run all the way from the 
town. ~ h a t ~ s a v e d  all our lives by a few seconds. 

"We did not find Mrs. Dykes until the following day. 
She had been thrown down a well."E 

Srinagar trembled before the danger of the tribesmen's 
invasion. Sheikh Abdullah became a hero in his organiza- 
tion of the defense of the city, including the mobilization 
of a national militia. Some evidence, however, would seem 
to indicate that the chief activity of the state forces was 
the slaughter of Muslims in Srinagar. The Kashmir Muslim 
Association issued a statement describing the situation: 

"Alarming reports are pouring in from Srinagar that dur- 
ing the last few days gangs of Dogra soldiers are combing 
out all those who are known to be supporters of Kashmir's 
accession to the Pakistan Dominion. Muslim personnel of 
the State military and police have either been disarmed or 
arrested; several important officials have been dismissed and 
hundreds of political workers have been lodged behind the 
iron bars of the dingy State cells. There have been in- 
numerable instances of looting of the houses of political 
workers. 

"In Baramula and Rampur, several people have been 
shot dead on the mere suspicion that they were welcom- 
ing the armies of liberation. A reign of terror has been un- 
leashed against the peace-abiding population of the State. 
The life and honour of no self-respecting patriot, whether 
Hindu or Muslim, who wants the question of the State's 
accession to either of the Dominions settled in a demo- 
cratic manner, is safe. 

"The Hindu and Sikh refugees in the State are being 
armed by the Kashmir Government and are encouraged to 
kill Muslims and others whose loyalty Sheikh Abdullah's 
Conference considers to be dubious."" 

The whole territory of Jammu and Kashmir burst into 

"White Paper on lammu and Kushndr, op.cit., 11. 25 .  

Security Council Oficial Records, op.cit., p .  70.  
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flame. Sikhs, Hindus, and state troops, supported by refu- 
gees and those who had infiltrated the territory for the 
specific purpose of comnlunal slaughter, were killiilg Mus- 
lims. The Kashmir and Jaillnlu Muslims, organized by 
Azad leaders and supported by Pakistan nationals, were 
killing Hindus and Sikhs. Over it all the tribesmen super- 
imposed their own interests in looting, pillage, and abduc- 
tion. Within a few days, ioo,ooo Muslin] refugees fled to 
Pakistan, carrying their stories of tlre tragic happenings in 
their homeland. 

Negotiation and Accession 
The news about the invasioil of the tribesinen reached 

Delhi on October 24. Events now moved swiftly. The fol- 
lowiilg three days illade history. 

A meeting of the Defense Conlmittee of the Indian gov- 
ernment took place on October 25 under the chairmanship 
of Lord Mountbatten, now the Governor-General of the 
Indian Union. According to one authentic witness, the 
reaction of the Indian government was that "the Defence 
Committee considered the most immediate necessity was 
to rush in arms and ainmunition already requested by the 
Kashmir Government, which would enable the local popu- 
lace in Srinagar to put up some defence against the raiders. 
The problem of troop reinforcement was considered, and 
Mountbatten urged that it would be dangerous to send in 
any troops unless Kashmir had first offered to accede."' 
This witness made a further disclosure: "The Government 
were determined against the military advice both of their 
own Chiefs of Staff [who were British officers] and of him- 
self [Mountbatten], to send in troops in response to a re- 
quest from Kashmir for aid. . . . [Mountbatten] considered 
that it would be the height of folly to send troops into a 
neutral State, where we had no right to send them, since 
Pakistan could do exactly the same thing, which could only 

Campbell- Johnson, op.cit., p. 2 24. 
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result in a clash of armed forces and in war. He therefore 
argued that if indeed they were determined to send in 
troops, the esse~ltial prerequisite was acces~ion."~ Further- 
more, Mountbatten insisted that even such an act of acces- 
sion should be considered as temporary and to be followed, 
up011 the restoration of peace and order, by a plebiscite. 

This testimony would indicate that the Maharaja had 
asked the Delhi government for military assistance as he 
had threatened to do in telegrams sent to Karachi. It 
further shows that the Indian leaders were resolved to send 
help to the Maharaja. But more important, it places upon 
Lord Mountbatten the responsibility for the idea that Kash- 
mir accede, though conditionally, to India. 

The importance of this decision to the subsequent his- 
tory of the Kashmir dispute cannot be overestimated, for 
this decision and the events which it precipitated are re- 
sponsible more than all else for the character of the crisis 
in Kashmir. I t  is a decision that is difficult to understand. 

As impartial and as correct as was Mountbatten's atti- 
tude toward the problem of the accession of the Princely 
States during his viceroyalty, his attitude and advice in this 
case inevitably raise critical questions. Why, for example, 
did he advise that Indian military assistance to the Maha- 
raja must be covered by the legal technicality of accession? 
How could he have reasoned that it would be illegal for 
Kashmir (which was a t  the time of invasion technically 
an independent country) to ask for military help from In- 
dia without preceding the request by accession? He must 
have assumed that the Pakistan government would refuse 
in any case to recognize the legality of such accession 
brought about without prior determination of the will of 
the Kashmiri people. He must have known that if war 
over this issue were to develop between these two Domin- 
ions it would not be on the basis of the legality of such a 
method of accession, but rather over the fact itself. W h y  

Ibid., pp. 224-22 5. 
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was there at  this point no appeal made to the United Na- 
tions from either-the technically independent government 
of Kashmir or from Delhi? The record reveals no hint that 
such a possibility was even mentioned. But, finally, it is 
most difficult to understand why no one, particularly 
Mountbatten, advanced the most obvious idea-that of 
immediately getting into contact with the Karachi govern- 
ment for consultation. 

Following the session of the Defense Committee, V. P. 
Menon, the right hand of Pate1 in the States Ministry, was 
dispatched to Srinagar to explain the situation to the Ma- 
haraja, including, without question, the suggestion that he 
sign an instrument of accession. 

Nothing is known about the conversation between Mr. 
Menon and the Maharaja. Campbell-Johnson recorded only 
that "the information which V. P. [Menon] brought back 
to the Defence Committee the next day [October 261 was 
certainly disturbing. He reported that he had found the Ma- 
haraja unnerved by the rush of events and the sense of his 
lone helplessness. Impressed at last with the urgency of the 
situation, he had felt that unless India could help immedi- 
ately, all would be lost. Later in the day, on the strong 
advice of V. P., the Maharaja left Srinagar with his wife 
and son. V. P. had impressed upon him that as the raiders 
had already reached Baramula it would be foolhardy for 
His Highness to stay on in the capital. The Maharaja also 
signed a letter of accession which V. P. was able to present 
to the Defence Committee."" 

The letter of accession, dated October 26, 1947, read 
as follows: 
"My dear Lord Mountbatten, 

"I have to inform Your Excellency that a grave emer- 
gency has arisen in my State and request the immediate 
assistance of your Government. As Your Excellency is 
aware, the state of Jammu and Kashmir has not acceded 
to either the Dominion of India or Pakistan. Geographi- 

"bid., p. 224. 
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tally n ~ y  State is contiguous with both of them. Besides, 
my State has a common boundary with the Union of 
Soviet Socialist Republics and with China. In their ex- 
ternal relations the Dominions of India and Pakistan can- 
not ignore this fact. I wanted to take time to decide to 
which Dominion I should accede or whether it is not in 
the best interests of both the Dominions and of my State 
to stand independent, of course with friendly and cordial 
relations with both. I accordingly approached the Domin- 
ions of India and Pakistan to enter into a standstill agree- 
ment with my State. The Pakistan Government accepted 
this arrangement. The Dominion of India desired further 
discussion with representatives of my Government. I could 
not arrange this in view of the developments indicated 
below. In fact the Pakistan Government under the stand- 
still agreement is operating the post and telegraph system 
inside the State. Though we have got a standstill agree- 
ment with the Pakistan Government, that Government 
permitted a steady and increasing strangulation of supplies 
like food, salt and petrol to my State. 

"Afridis, soldiers in plain clothes, and desperadoes with 
modern weapons have been allowed to infiltrate into the 
State, at first in the Poonch area, then from Sialkot and 
finally in a mass in the area adjoining the Hazara District 
on the Ramkote side. The result has been that the limited 
number of troops at  the disposal of the State had to be 
dispersed and thus had to face the enemy at several points 
simultaneously, so that it has become difficult to stop the 
wanton destruction of life and property and the looting 
of the Mahura power house, which supplies electric cur- 
rent to the whole of Srinagar and which has been burnt. 
The number of women who have been kidnapped and 
raped makes my heart bleed. The wild forces thus let 
loose on the State are marching on with the aim of cap- 
turing Srinagar, the summer capital of my Government, as 
a first step to overrunning the whole State. The mass in- 
filtration of tribesmen drawn from distant areas of the 
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North-West Frontier Province, comiilg regularly in 11lotor 
trucks, using the Mansehra-Muzaffarabad road and fullv 
armed with up-to-date weapons, cannot possibly be done 
without the knowledge of the Proviilcial Government of 
the North-West Frontier Province and the Governnlent of 
Pakistan. In spite of repeated appeals made by 11ly GOV- 
ernment no attempt has been made to check these raiders 
or to stop them from conling into my State. In fact, both 
the radio and the press of Pakistan have reported these 
occurrences. The Pakistan radio even put out the story that 
a provisional government has been set up in Kashmir. The 
people of my State, both Muslims and non-Muslims, gen- 
erally have taken no part at all. 

"With the conditions obtaining at present in my State 
and the great emergency of the situation as it exists, I have 
no option but to ask for help froin the Indian Dominion. 
Naturally they cannot send the help asked for by me with- 
out my State acceding to the Dominion of India. I have 
accordingly decided to do so, and I attach the instrument 
of accession for acceptance by your Government. The other 
alternative is to leave my State and the people to free- 
booters. On this basis no civilized government can exist 
or be maintained. This alternative I will never allow to 
happen so long as I am the ruler of the State and I have 
life to defend my country. 

"I may also inform Your Excellency's Government that 
it is my intention at once to set up an interim government 
and to ask Sheikh Abdullah to carry the responsibilities 
in this emergency with my Prime Minister. 

"If my State is to be saved, immediate assistance must 
be available at Srinagar. Mr. V. P. Menon is fully aware 
of the gravity of the situation and will explain it to you, 
if further explanation is needed. 

"In haste and with kindest regards, 
Yours sincerely, 

(Signed) Hari Singh." 
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As the Defense Committee discussed the letter of ac- 
cession, once more Lord Mountbatten returned to his in- 
sistence that the accessio~l of Kashmir "was not just an 
act of acquisition," and he urged the Defense Committee, 
"that in the reply his Government asked him to send on 
their behalf to the Maharaja accepting his accession offer 
he should be allowed to add that this was conditional on 
the will of the people being ascertained as soon as law 
and order were restored. This principle was at once freely 
accepted and unilaterally proposed by Nehru."'" 

On October 27, 1947, Lord Mountbatten replied to the 
Maharaja's letter as follows: 

"My dear Maharaja Sahib, 
"Your Highness's letter dated 26 October 1947 has been 

delivered to me by Mr. V. P. Menon. In the special cir- 
cumstances mentioned by Your Highness, my Government 
have decided to accept the accession of Kashmir State to 
the Dominion of India. In consistence with their policy 
that in the case of any State where the issue of accession 
has been the subject of dispute, the question of accession 
should be decided in accordance with the wishes of the 
people of the State, it is my Government's wish that, as 
soon as law and order have been restored in Kashmir and 
its soil cleared of the invader, the question of the State's 
accession should be settled by a reference to the people. 

"Meanwhile, in response to Your Highness's appeal for 
military aid, action has been taken today to send troops 
of the Indian Army to Kashmir, to help your own forces 
to defend your territory and to protect the lives, property 
and honour of your people. My Government and I note 
with satisfaction that Your Highness has decided to invite 
Sheikh Abdullah to form an interim Government to work 
with your Prime Minister. 

(Signed) Mountbatten of Burma."" 
lo ibid., p. 225. 

l1 White Paper on Jammu and Kashmir, op.cit., pp. 46-48. 
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With this hastily arranged interchange of letters and 
the signing of the instrument, the accession of Kashmir to 
India became a fait accompli. Three days later, on October 
30, the Maharaja appointed Sheikh Abd~illah as the Head 
of Emergency Administration. But in a sense these are 
curious letters, and the points of view which they reveal 
and the appointment of Abdullah raise insistent questions. 

Following as it did Menon's visit, it is not surprising 
that step by step the Maharaja's letter repeats the Mount- 
batten reasoning before the Indian Defense Committee 
only the previous day. But the language remains odd. 
"Naturally," says the Maharaja, "they cannot send . . . 
help . . . without my State acceding to the Dominion of 
India." But he had asked for help only a few days before- 
and apparently without the suggestion of accession. At 
least, the record would indicate that it was Mountbatten 
who first raised the danger of "aid without accession." It 
is quite probable, then, that the pressure of tribesmen only 
a few miles from Srinagar and the Maharaja's consequent 
desperation did much to make accession seem "natural" 
to him, particularly if it was revealed by Menon that such 
an act was prerequisite to military assistance. 

On the other hand, Mountbatten's reply likewise raises 
questions. The proposal of a plebiscite "after the actual 
fact" is an odd one for a realist to make, and one must 
therefore ask whether Mountbatten was not at this point 
more interested in the principle of accession than in the 
final determination of the will of the Kashmir people by 
plebiscite. Though his letter to the Maharaja urged a pleb- 
iscite, Mountbatten certainly did not indicate that such 
was in itself a condition of aid. 

But most curious of all was the sudden reappearance of 
Sheikh Abdullah. Almost as an afterthought in the Maha- 
raja's letter is Abdullah mentioned as the one who would 
form the emergency government. 

I t  was only in May of the preceding year that Abdullah 
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had been jailed under a nine-year sentence as a traitor by 
the Maharaja. Yet just a little more than a year later, less 
than thirty days before this date of October 26, he had 
been released. He had spent a few days in Kashmir mak- 
ing-if not pro-Indian-at least anti-Pakistan talks. Now, 
on October 26, he was asked by the Maharaja to form an 
interim government, and the appointment had been "noted 
with satisfaction" by Mountbatten. Could this have hap- 
pened without pressure from Delhi? Could this, too, have 
been a condition of military assistance which the Maha- 
raja could scarcely refuse? There is no documentary evi- 
dence. But the facts of accession and the appointment of 
Sheikh Abdullah are difficult to explain on the grounds of 
voluntary decision by the Maharaja. 

In any case, military aid was dispatched the following 
morning, October 27, to Srinagar. 

The Indian Army Intervenes 
"Three hundred and thirty men of the First Sikh Bat- 

talion were flown in to block a major invasion by North- 
West Frontier tribesmen, who [were] moving rapidly on 
Srinagar, the summer capital."12 The last-minute character 
of this intervention may be seen in the fact that on that 
very day the tribesmen were only four and one-half miles 
from the city, prepared to encircle the airport at which the 
Indian airborne troops were to land. But just before they 
moved, the troops were landed, the tribesmen repulsed, 
and Srinagar saved from destruction. 

The Pakistanis insist that the dispatch with which aid 
was sent to Srinagar only further indicates that such aid 
had been planned for weeks. As a matter of record, Gen- 
eral Sir Frank Messervy, who was the commander-in-chief 
of the Pakistan army from August 15, 1947, to February 15, 
1948, asserted that there was "much evidence that this ac- 

l2 Campbell-Johnson, op.cit., p. 2 2 3. 
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cession had been deliberately planned for some weeks be- 
fore the event."'" 

The Indian government insists, however, that the mili- 
tary aid sent to Srinagar was improvised upon receipt of 
word of the invasion of the tribesmen and their threat to the 
capital, and the testimony of General Messervy is contra- 
dicted by the three conlnlanding officers in charge of the 
Indian armed forces, thenlselves all British: the command- 
er-in-chief of the Indian army, General R. M. Lockhart; 
the Air Marshal commanding the Royal Indian Air Force, 
T. W. Elmhirst; and the Rear Admiral of the Royal In- 
dian Navy, J. T. S. Hall. Jointly they issued the following 
statement: 

"It has been alleged that plans were made for sending 
Indian forces to Kashmir at some date before 22 October, 
on which day the raid on that State from the direction of 
Abbottabad began. 

"1. The following is a true time-table of events, as re- 
gards decisions taken, plans made, orders given, and move- 
ment started in this matter: 

"2. On 24 October the Commander in Chief, Indian 
Army, received information that tribesmen had seized Mu- 
zaffarabad. This was the first indication of the raid. 

"3. Prior to this date, no plans of any sort for sending 
Indian forces into Kashmir had been formulated or even 
considered. On  the morning of 25 October, we were di- 
rected to examine and prepare plans for sending troops to 
Kashmir by air and road, in case this should be necessary 
to stop the tribal incursions. This was the first direction 
which we received on this subject. No steps had been taken, 
prior to the meeting, to examine or prepare such plans. 

"4. On the afternoon of 25 October we sent one staff 
officer of the Indian Army and one of the Royal Indian Air 

l3 General Sir Frank Messervy, "Kashmir." Asiatic Review, VO~.  
45, January, 1949, p. 469. 
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Force by air to Srinagar. There they saw officers of the 
Kashmir State Forces. This was the first contact between 
officers of our Headquarters and officers of the Kashmir 
State Forces on the subject of sending Indian troops to 
Kashmir. 

" 5 .  On the afternoon of 25  October we also issued orders 
to an infantry battalion to prepare itself to be flown at 
short notice, to Srinagar, in the event of the Government 
of India deciding to accept the accession of Kashmir and 
to send help. 

"6. On the morning of 26 October the staff officers men- 
tioned in paragraph 4 above, returned froin Srinagar and 
reported on their meetings with officers of the Kashmir 
State Forces. 

"7. On the afternoon of 2 6  October we finalized our 
plans for the dispatch by air of troops to Kashmir. 

"8. At first light on the morning of 27 October, with 
Kashmir's Instrument of Accession signed, the movement 
by air of Indian forces to Kashmir began. No plans were 
made for sending these forces, nor were such plans even 
considered before 25 October, three days after the tribal 
incursions began."" 

The Pakistani government reacted swiftly to the Indian 
move. The Governor-General of Pakistan, Jinnah, at mid- 
night October 2 7  (the Indian troops had arrived in Sri- 
nagar that morning) ordered the acting commander-in-chief, 
General Sir Douglas D. Gracey, to dispatch troops to Kash- 
mir. The wise General, realizing the grave consequences 
of such an act, was not prepared to follow Jinnah's instruc- 
tion without the approval of Marshal Sir Claude Auchin- 
cleck, who was the supreme commander in charge of ad- 
lninistering partition of the Indian army. At Gracey's 
urgent request Auchincleck flew immediately to Lahore and 
urged upon Jinnah to withdraw his orders. Jinnah cancelled 

l4 Security Council Oficial Records, op.cit., pp. 2 2 2-2 2 3 .  



Invasion and Accession 

the order and invited Lord Mountbatten and Prime Min- 
ister Nehru to Lahore for the discussion of the situation.'" 

Negotiations Fail 
This was probably the final opportunity to bring about 

a quick and peaceful solution of the Kashmir conflict. 
Perhaps, even at this point, Jinnah, Nehru, and Mount- 
batten could have solved at the co~lncil table what bullets, 
political maneuvering, and seven years of subsequent diplo- 
matic effort have not yet solved. I t  was not to be. Prime 
Minister Nehru was exhausted and sick. Lord Mountbat- 
ten's press attach6 "was shocked to see how haggard and 
ill Nehru looked."1° In addition, the Indian Cabinet, Pate1 
most of all, was against anyone going to Lahore. Later, 
Mountbatten's view prevailed, and the Cabinet decided on 
October 30 that both the Governor-General and the Prime 
Minister would go to Lahore, where a meeting of the Joint 
Defense Council was to take place. Finally, however, 
Mountbatten went alone, as the doctor had forbidden 
Nehru to leave. 

Meanwhile the government of Pakistan branded Kash- 
nlir's accession as an act based on "fraud and violence" 
and refused to recognize it. 

The two Governors-General met in Lahore the next day, 
November 1, and had a three-and-half hour talk. The con- 
versation revealed little more than the powerful position 
of Jinnah in the Pakistan government and the constitu- 
tionally limited powers of Mountbatten in the Indian 
government. 

Jinnah formally presented a three-point proposal em- 
bodying a cease fire, a mutual withdrawal of all "alien" 
troops, and a plebiscite. Herewith is the text: 

"1. T o  put an immediate stop to fighting, the two Gov- 
ernors-General should be authorized and vested with full 

l5 Campbell-Johnson, op.cit., pp. 226, 241. 
l6 Ibid., p. 225. 
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powers by both Dominion Governments to issue a procla- 
mation forthwith giving forty-eight hours' notice to the 
two opposing forces to cease fire. W e  have no control over 
the forces of the Provisional [Azad] Government of Kash- 
mir or the tribesmen engaged in the fighting, but we will 
warn them in the clearest terms that if they do not obey 
the order to cease fire immediately the forces of both Do- 
millions will make war on them; 

" 2 .  Both the forces of Indian Dominion and the tribes- 
men to withdraw siillultaneously and with the utmost ex- 
pedition from Jammu and Kashmir State territory; 

"3. With the sanction of the two Dominion Govern- 
ments, the two Governors-General to be given full powers 
to restore peace, undertake the administration of Jammu 
and Kashmir State, and arrange for a plebiscite without 
delay under their joint control and supervision."" 

Mountbatten rejected Jinnah's proposal, pointing out his 
constitutional inability to act without his government's ad- 
vice. He, in turn, suggested a plebiscite under United Na- 
tions auspices, but this Jinnah would not agree to, insisting 
that the two Governors-General should organize it. 

Lord Mountbatten's caution not to exceed his constitu- 
tional rights is understandable, but it is difficult to under- 
stand why the government of India, under the grave cir- 
cumstances that occasioned his visit to Lahore, could not 
have bestowed upon him the special right to co-act as an 
authority supervising a plebiscite, especially since under the 
act of accession the territory of Kashmir was considered a 
part of the Indian Union and the holding of such a plebi- 
scite was one condition of that accession. It may have been 
that the Indian government felt that the participation of 
the Pakistan Governor-General in the supervision of the 
plebiscite would imply doubt as to the validity of the ac- 
cession. 

The tragedy, of course, is that no matter what condi- 

l7 White Paper on Jarnrnu and Kashmir, op.cit., p. 60. 
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tions limited or seemed to liinit Mountbatten's ability to 
accept Jinnah's proposals, had he been able to accept them 
there is much reason to believe that the fighting could 
have been stopped, the raiders withdrawn, and the plebi- 
scite carried through quickly and without too many com- 
plications. Kashmir would have been spared nlonths of 
further cruel fighting and years of partition, and, nlore 
important, the two Dominions could have smoothed out 
their present bitter estrangement, so dangerous to the 
peace of the world. 

The day following the meeting in Lahore, on Novem- 
ber 2, Pandit Nehru made a broadcast in which he failed 
to mention the Lahore meeting and Jinnah's proposal. 
Instead he repeated the suggestion made by Mountbatten 
to Jinnah of a plebiscite held under the United Nations 
auspices. 

Then for about ten days, negotiations (if this term can 
be used) were carried on by telegrains between the Prime 
Ministers of the two Dominions-each elaborating and re- 
stating their case against the other. 

On November 16, the Prime Minister of Pakistan, Lia- 
quat Ali Khan, issued a press statement. It was something 
of a surprise move, accepting (at  least in principle) and 
elaborating Nehru's suggestion of reference of the dispute 
to the United Nations. Said Liaquat Ali Khan, 

"The fundamental principle of the Charter of the United 
Nations is to prevent might prevailing over right. The 
whole dispute should, therefore, be brought before the bar 
of international opinion. W e  are ready to request the 
United Nations Organization immediately to appoint its 
representative in the Jammu and Kashmir State in order to 
put a stop to fighting and to the repression of Muslims in 
the State, to arrange the programme of withdrawal of out- 
side forces, set up an impartial administration of the State 
until a plebiscite is held, and undertake the plebiscite under 
its direction and control for the purpose of ascertaining 
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free and unfettered will of the people of the State on 
,, 

the of accession. . . . 
To this proposal Pandit Nehru replied five days later, 

on November 21, and his answer, given here in part, re- 
vealed the measure of disagreement: 

"Siilce the United Natioils have no (repeat no) forces 
at their disposal, we do not see how they can put a stop 
to the fighting or to the alleged repression of Muslims. 
This call only be done by an organized military force, and 
is being done by our troops. The fighting would also stop 
as soon as raiders were made to withdraw, and I have re- 
peatedly asked your cooperatioil in stopping transit [of] and 
supplies to raiders through Pakistan territory. 

"It is not clear to me what the United Nations Organi- 
zation can do in the present circumstances in Kashmir 
until peace and order have been established. W e  are con- 
vinced that Sheikh Abdullah's administration is based on 
the will of the people and is impartial. Only he who goes 
to Kashmir and sees things for himself can appreciate this. 
Moreover, we have pledged that, so long as our forces are 
in Kashmir, protection of all sections of the community 
will be their first and sacred duty. This duty will be dis- 
charged without fear or favour. 

"I have repeatedly stated that as soon as the raiders have 
been driven out of Kashmir or have withdrawn, and peace 
and order have been established, the people of Kashmir 
should decide the question of accession by plebiscite or 
referendum under international auspices such as those of 
the United Nations. It is very clear that no such reference 
to the people can be made when large bodies of raiders are 
despoiling the country and military operations against them 
are being carried on. By this declaration I stand. . . . " 1 8  

l8 For full texts and details see White Paper on /ammu and 
Kdshrnir, op.cit., pp. 61-67 Also, Security Council Oficial Records. 
ohcit., pp. 90, 92, 94-96, 97; Campbell-Johnson, op.cit., pp. 229-  

230, 245, 2 5 1 .  
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Then, on December 12, Nehru dispatched still another - 

telegram to Karachi, this one saying, "We have given 
thought . . . to the question of inviting the United Nations 
to advise us in this matter. While we are prepared to in- 
vite United Nations observers to come here and advise us 
as to the proposed plebiscite, it is not clear in what other 
capacity united Nations help can be sought. . . . I confess, 
however, that I find myself unable to suggest anything 
beyond what I have offered already; namely, to ask the 
United Nations to send impartial observers to advise us 
regarding the plebiscite." 

With this statement it became apparent that the Kash- 
mir dispute was to be placed by Indian decision before the 
United Nations-not on the basis of a direct intervention 
in the dispute but rather as a request for advice limited to 
the conducting of an eventual plebiscite. The breach be- 
tween the two nations, even on the issue of the nature of 
a United Nations intervention, was only widening. 

Meanwhile in Kashmir the fighting had slowed, partly 
because the Indian troops had blunted the tribesmen's of- 
fensive, partly because winter had set in, which necessarily 
all but immobilized the two contending forces. The slaugh- 
ter of civilians continued, however, and by the end of the 
year some 200,000 Muslims had fled Kashmir to Pakistan. 
Only one region-Gilgit-was not affected by the violent 
struggle. Here the people seized the Maharaja's agent and 
through a bloodless revolution established their own local 
government, which immediately acceded to Pakistan. The 
Karachi government, however, cautiously refrained from 
accepting the act of accession, possibly because it feared 
that such acceptance might imply their approval of a di- 
vision of the state. 

The year 1947 finally drew to a close. Few concerned 
with the awesome problems of the vast Subcontinent were 
loath to see it go. But the coming year offered no prospect 
of relief from the violence of its predecessor. 
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Clearly, Kashmir was now not an issue of territory; it 
was an issue of principle between the second and sixth 
largest nations in the world, India and Pakistan. 

And who could judge the real issue-the rights or the 
wrongs, the wisdom or the foolishness, the logic or the 
illogic of the issue that created Kashmir, the issue of par- 
tition? All that could now be judged was the symbol and 
the product of partition-the problem of Kashmir. And in 
the judgment of this issue the world wanted to know a 
few facts. Principally, it wanted to know the extent to 
which Pakistan was, if not the instigator, at least the silent 
partner, in the invasion of Kashmir by the tribesmen. 

Who Was Responsible? 
Many highly competent and politically neutral corre- 

spondents descended on Kashmir and Punjab and the 
North-West Frontier Province. But even these failed to 
agree. 

Margaret Parton reported to the New York Herald 
Tribune: 

"If Pakistan is giving direct assistance to 'Azad' ('Free') 
fighting forces in Kashmir, evidence is not on the surface to 
be seen by prying foreigners. Below the surface is a mass of 
rumours, contradictions and paradoxes which, during a just 
completed week along the border of Pakistan and Kash- 
mir, have alternately baffled and amused groups of press 
correspondents who followed Liaquat Ali Khan, Prime 
Minister of Pakistan, on his tour of the frontier. 

"During the entire 600 miles trip we saw no raiders' 
bases, no training centers, no stocks of arms and ammuni- 
tion and no Pakistan soldiers slipping off to the Kashmir 
front. Even those reliable 'neutral observers7-British officers 
and civilians-denied the existence of any of those material 
aids which India charges Pakistan is giving the fighters 
in Kashmir. . . . ',19 

l9 New York Herald Tribune, January 24, 1948. 

9 3 
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The London Times on the other hand reported: 
"That Pakistan is unofficially involved in aiding the raid- 

ers is certain. Your correspondeilt has first hand evidence 
that arms, ammunition and supplies are being made avail- 
able to the Azad Kashmir forces. A few Pakistani officers 
are also helping to direct their operations. . . . And how- 

- - 

ever much the Pakistan Government may disavow inter- 
vention, moral and material support is certaiilly forthcom- 
ing. . . . '720 

The New York Times published an interview which its 
correspondent in India, Robert Trumbull, had with a for- 
mer sergeant of the U.S. Air Force, Mr. Haight. He had 
once served with the Azad forces with the rank of brigadier 
general but now denounced them to Mr. Trumbull: 

"I interviewed Mr. Haight clandestinely in Lahore, Paki- 
stan, twelve days ago," Mr. Trumbull wrote, "but I agreed 
to hold his story until he let me know by code telegram that 
he was leaving-the country. This was because theFe had al- 
ready been three attempts on his life, and when I met him 
he felt that his safety in Pakistan was none too secure. He 
was in fact very decidedly 'on the lam7-whatever that may 
mean. . . . Mr. Haight said gasoline-a scarce and strictly 
rationed commodity-was supplied plentifully to the raiders 
by the Pakistan authorities. . . . Mr. Haight also found Pak- 
istan Army personnel running the Azad Kashmir radio sta- 
tion, relaying messages through their own Pakistan Army 
receivers, organizing and managing Azad encampments in 
Pakistan, and supplying uniforms, food, arms and ammuni- 
tion which, he understood, came from Pakistan Army stores 
through such subterfuges as the 'loss' of ammunition ship- 
ments. 

"Although he insisted that the Kashmir fighting broke 
out in rebellion against atrocities committed upon Mus- 
lims by the Hindu Maharaja's Dogra troops, Mr. Haight 
characterized the Azad Kashmir Provisional Government, 

?"The Times (London), January 13, 1948. 
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headed by Sardar Moha~nmed Ibrahi~n Khan (who is now 
in New York), as 'Pakistan puppets.' He also deeply impli- 
cated high Pakistan Government officials, notably the Pre- 
mier of the North-West Frontier P r~v ince . ' ' ~~  

The Indian army's general staff also displayed as evidence 
collections of captured weapons which they were convinced 
were delivered to Kashmir straight from Pakistani army 
stores. They also presented a number of soldiers' record 
books as evidence that regular Pakistani troops were taking 
part in the fighting. 

There is also the known fact that five years later, in the 
summer of 1952, the Khan of Mamdot claimed from the 
Pakistan government the sum of 68,000 rupees which, he 
asserted, as Chief Minister of Punjab at that time, he spent 
out of his own pocket to facilitate the tribesmen's invasion. 

In all the inundation of contradictory reports, mutual ac- 
cusations, and denials, the true picture is difficult to ascer- 
tain. It would appear that the Pakistani central authorities 
did not initiate the tribal invasion. On the other hand it 
would also appear that the Prime Minister of the North- 
West Frontier Province, himself a Kashmiri, and his of- 
ficers did give the tribesmen help. Certainly all Pakistanis 
viewed with open sympathies the struggle of the Kashmiri 
Muslims against the Maharaja and were ready to give them 
all political and moral support. When, however, the Indian 
army was sent to intervene in what up to that time was 
considered to be primarily a civil war, an unknown number 
of Pakistani nationals joined the Azad forces for whom the 
Pakistan government was undoubtedly responsible. Then, 
when the Indian forces succeeded not only in stopping the 
tribesmen at the gates of Srinagar but began to push them 
back toward the borders of Pakistan, the Pakistan govern- 
ment became thoroughly concerned about the outconle of 
the struggle and undoubtedly helped with officers and equip- 
ment. Pakistan became alarmed that the intervention of 

21 The New York Times, January 29, 1948. 
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the Indian army was not to be liiuited to Kashmir. She sus- 
pected that this was the beginning of an Indian onslaught 
against Pakistan herself. And it was this fear which perhaps 
was largely responsible for the extent of Pakistan's partici- 
pation in the struggle, a fear which Liaquat Ali Khan ex- 
pressed in a telegram which he addressed to Nehru: 

"It is a matter for deep regret that even today responsible 
members of the Government of India, including yourself, 
openly declare their intention or hope of bringing Pakistan 
back into the Indian Union well knowing that this could 
be done only through conquest of arms. . . . In other words 
Pakistan's very existence is the chief 'casus belli' so far as 
India is concerned. . . . India never wholeheartedly accepted 
the partition scheme but her leaders paid lip service to it 
merely in order to get the British troops out of the country. 
. . . India is out to destroy the State of Pakistan. . . . The 
fraudulent procurement of the accession of Jammu and 
Kashmir State [is an act] of hostility against Pakistan whose 
destruction is India's immediate ~b jec t ive . "~~  

Jawaharlal Nehru not only emphatically rejected Ali 
Khan's accusations but also hurled the counter-accusation 

4 6 that Pakistan complicity in the Kashmir fighting was an 
act of aggression." 

Once again the real issue had broken through. It was the 
old issue of partition. 

22 White Paper on Jammu and Kashmir, op.cit., pp. 83, 85. 



5.  The united Natione Intervenerr 

ON JANUARY 1, 1948, the Security Council of the United 
Nations was called upon by the government of India to in- 
tervene in the Kashmir conflict. Since that date, for al- 
most seven years, it has devoted countless meetings to the 
issue; it has sent a commission and two representatives to 
the Subcontinent, all dedicated to the task of seeking a 
peaceful settlement to the dispute. But the conflict has not 
been solved. The danger of war between India and Paki- 
stan over Kashmir cannot be excluded and in addition som- 
ber Soviet-Communist activities behind the scene point to 
the possibility that Kashmir might eventually become a 
hub of Communist activities in Southern Asia. 

No full analysis of the deliberations of the Security Coun- 
cil and its commission and representatives will be under- 
taken in this review; instead only the main stream of their 
deliberations and actions will be described. A few of the 
principal documents are presented in the Appendix.' 

In its letter of January 1, 1948, addressed to the president 
of the Security Council, the government of India recalled 
Articles 34 and 3 5  of the Charter of the United Nations, ac- 
cording to which, it stated, "any Member may bring any 
situation, whose continuance is likely to endanger the main- 
tenance of international peace and security, to the attention 
of the Security Council." The letter continued: "Such a 
situation now exists between India and Pakistan owing to 
the aid which invaders, consisting of nationals of Pakistan 

- 

and of tribesmen . . . are drawing from Pakistan for opera- 
tions against Jammu and Kashmir, a State which has ac- 
ceded to the Dominion of India and is part of India. The 
Government of India request the Security Council to call 

For convenience, the United Nations documents are referred to 
in an abbreviated form as used by the UN Secretariat: S refers to 
the Security Council's documents; S.C.O.R. refers to the Security 
Co~ncil Official Records. 
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upon Pakistan to put an end immediately to the giving of 
such assistance which is an act of aggression against India. 
If Pakistan does not do so, the Government of India may 
be compelled, in self defence, to enter Pakistan territory, 
in order to take military action against the invaders. The 
matter is therefore one of extreme urgency and calls for irn- 
mediate action. . . . 7'2 

The Indian complaiilt described the situation in Kash- 
mir, how the fighting had started, how India had accepted 
the accession of the state and sent in troops. It considered 
India's steps fully justified and labeled Pakistan an aggressor. 
It reiterated the pledge, "that once the soil of the State 
had been cleared of the invader and normal conditions re- 
stored, its people would be free to decide their future by 
the democratic method of a plebiscite or referendum which, 
in order to ensure con~plete impartiality, might be held un- 
der international  auspice^.'^ It  requested the Security Coun- 
cil: "(1 ) To  prevent Pakistan Government personnel, mil- 
itary and civil, from participating or assisting i n  the invasion 
of the Jammu and Kashmir State; ( 2 )  To  call upon other 
Pakistani nationals to desist from taking any part in the 
fighting in the Jammu and Kashmir State; ( 3 )  To  deny to 
the invaders: ( a )  access to and use of its territory for opera- 
tions against Kashmir, ( b )  military and other supplies, (c)  
all other kinds of aid that might tend to prolong the present 
struggle.'? 

The President of the Security Council, Mr. F. Van 
Langenhove, the Belgian delegate, appealed inlnlediately, 

11 in a telegram, to both governments to refrain from any 
step incompatible with the Charter and liable to result in 
an aggravation of the situation. . . ."3 He received assurances 
in that sense from both parties in dispute.' But the fighting 
in Kashmir went on. 

* S/628 of January 2, 1948. 
S/636 of January 4, 1948. 
S/639 and S/640 of January 9, 1948. 



The UN Intervenes 

The Security Council met on January 1 5 .  The repre- 
sentative of India was Mr. N. Gopalaswami Ayyangar, one 
of the leading statesmen of India and former Prime hlin- 
ister of the State of Jammu and Kashmir under the Ma- 
haraja rule. I-Ie was assisted by Mr. M. C. Setalvad and 
Sheikh Abdullah, who, it will be remembered, had beell 
asked by the Maharaja at the moment of accession to form 
an interim government. Mr. Ayyangar stressed at the be- 
ginning of his address "the threat to international peace 
and security with which it [the situation in Kashmir] is 
pregnant if it is not solved iillmediately .""He reminded the 
members of the Security Council of the statement made 
by the Governor-General, Lord Mountbatten, upon the ac- 

- 

cession of Kashmir to India, pledging that "the question of 
the State's accession should be settled by a reference to the 
people," and described this statement and policy as "high- 
principled statesmanship." He insisted upon the issue being 
not one of "a dispute about territory" (the implication be- 
ing that Kashmir belonged undisputably to India), but one 
of requiring Pakistan to refrain from giving aid to the in- 
vading tribesmen and to forbid her nationals to take part 
in the fighting in Kashmir. As to the future status of  ash- 
mir, Mr. Ayyangar reiterated, ". . . whether she should with- 
draw from her accession to India, and either accede to Pak- 
istan or remain independent, with a right to claim admis- 
sion as a Member of the United Nations-all this we have 
recognized to be a matter for unfettered decision by the 
people of Kashmir after normal life is restored to t l ~ e m . " ~  

The Pakistan representative requested that deliberations 
be postponed to allow him time to prepare the answer, but 

d 4 the Indian representative declared emphatically, . . . the 
situation does not brook delay."' 

This declaration, read as it is today after a period of al- 
most seven years of little but delays, postponen~ents, and 

S.C.O.R. Third Year, Nos. 1 -15 ,  p. lo. 
Ibid., p. 29. 7 Ibid., p. 31. 
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debate, is not so impressive as it must have been in Janu- 
ary of 1948. 

The Pakistan government first replied in writing to the 
Indian complaint and presented its own counter-~omplaint.~ 
I t  was a lengthy paper consisting of three docun~ents. In 
Document I, replying to India's complaint, Pakistan denied 
giving aid to tribesmen and thereby co~nmitting an act of 
aggression. On the contrary, the Pakistan government "con- 
tinued to do all in their power to discourage the tribal 
movement by all means short of war." I t  admitted though 
that "a certain number of independent tribesmen and per- 
sons from Pakistan are helping the Azad Kashmir Govern- 
ment in their struggle for liberty as volunteers. . . . 7 7  

In Document 11, the Pakistan government raised numer- 
ous counter-complaints of its own: 

1. I t  charged India with widespread genocide against the 
Muslim population, pursued by responsible officials of the 
Princely States and the Union of India in the period pre- 
ceding and following partition. 

2. I t  accused India of having forced by way of arms and 
occupation Junagadh, a predominantly Hindu state with a 
Muslim ruler, into accession to India, though the ruler 
had acceded to Pakistan. "This action on the part of the 
Government of India amounted to a direct attack upon and 
aggression against Pakistan which Pakistan was entitled to 
repel by force," maintained the Pakistan document in an 
obvious attempt to make the Indian accusation boomerang. 

3. It  gave the genesis of the Kashmir case and denied the 
validity of Kashmir's accession to India. It protested against 
Indian forces being sent to Kashmir "without consultation 
with, or even any notice to, the Government of Pakistan 
with which the State had concluded a standstill agreement." 
As to the Indian promise about a plebiscite in Kashmir, 
Pakistan expressed through this document the strong con- 
viction that a plebiscite would be but a farce if it were con- 

s S/646 and Corr. 1 of January 1 5 ,  1948. 
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ducted in the presence of the Indian armed forces and if 
proper conditions were not established to guarantee to the 
people of Kashmir complete freedom to express their will. 

(4)  It protested that India had failed to fulfill various 
agreements reached in connection with the partition, such 
2s division of military stores, cash balances, and other mat- 
ters. 

After summing up its complaints, the government of 
Pakistan in this section of its reply requested the Security 
Council: (1) to call upon the government of India to desist 
from acts of aggression against Pakistan and implement all 
agreements she had signed with Pakistan; ( 2 )  to appoint a 
commission charged with the task of investigating all the 
accusations against 'India, arranging cessation of hostilities 
in Kashmir, enforcing the withdrawal of all outsiders 
whether they came from India or Pakistan, facilitating the 
return and rehabilitation of Kashmiri refugees, establishing 
an impartial administration in Kashmir, and, finally, con- 
ducting an impartial plebiscite. 

In Document 111, the Pakistan government gave detailed 
information on the preceding matters, stressing that "even 
the Kashmir episode in all aspects is but one link in the 
chain of events which has been unfolding itself ever since it 
became .obvious that there was no solution of the Hindu- 
Muslim problem except the partition of India," with which, 
the Pakistanis suspected, India had never been reconciled 
and, as a consequence, harbored hostile intentions towards 
Pakistan. As to Kashmir, the document concluded, "The 
Pakistan Government have not accepted and cannot ac- 
cept the accession of Jammu and Kashmir State to India. 
In their view the accession is based on violence and fraud." 

As both parties presented the issue to the Security Coun- 
cil, the sharply different views of the two nations not only 
on the cause and nature of the conflict but also on the ways 
of solving it became immediately apparent. To  India, the 
cause of the conflict was the tribal invasion and Pakistan's 
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participation in it. She therefore linlited her presentation 
and defense of the case before the Security Couiicil to these 
two acts. To Pakistan, however, the liostilities in Kashmir 
were only a part of the whole picture of unhappy Indo- 
Pakistani relations, and her presentation was therefore an 
exhaustive account of all problenls dividing the two coun- 
tries. 

After the Indian delegate had placed his government's 
complaint before the Security Council, the Pakistan dele- 
gate, the Minister of Foreign Affairs, Sir Zafrulla Khan, 
presented the Pakistan picture. In a speech which for length 
made a record in the annals of the United Nations (it lasted 
five hours) Sir Zafrulla went into the details of the "story 
of Kashmir." He linked it with the generally unsettled situa- 
tion on the Subcontinent, with the comn~unal strife, with 
the political struggle of Kashmiris for freedom. He agreed 
with the Indian delegate in one thing only: "that the situa- 
tion is grave and urgent and needs to be dealt with on the 
basis of immediacy."' 

The Pakistan attitude was summed up by Sir Zafrulla 
Khan when he concluded, "What is to be done? . . . All 
that we want to ensure is this: Everyone who has gone into 
Kashmir should go out: Sikh bands, Rashtriya Sewak Sangh 
volunteers, other people who have gone in, tribesmen, and 
any other people who may have gone in from the Muslim 
side, and men from Pakistan, R4uslims who are Indian 
nationals and who were refugees in Pakistan-everybody. 
They must get out, including Indian troops. . . . 

"Therefore, by whatever means may be necessary, the 
condition to be brought about is this: whether by joint 
administration under the two Governors-General, by joint 
occupation of predominantly Muslim areas by Muslim 
troops from Pakistan and predominantly non-Muslim areas 
in Kashmir by Indian troops, by joint occupation in each 
place, by inviting Commonwealth forces, non-Indian forces 
altogether; or whether through the United Nations-Kash- 

!a S.C.O.R. Third Year, Nos. 1 - 1 5 ,  p. 36. 
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mir must be cleared. Fighting must stop. Kashmir must be 
cleared of everybody. Nor~nal administration must be re- 
stored. l'here should be no kind of pressure, either from the 
Musliill Coilferellce being in power and holding the ad- 
ministratio11 or the National Conference being in power 
and holding the reins of admillistration. No kind of pres- 
sure should be brought upon the people. The people should 
then be invited to express the way in which they want to 
go, and whatever they decide, they should be welcome to 
do it. . . . 9'10 

The Security Council passed a resolution recogilizing the 
urgency of the case and called upon both governments to 
do everything in their power to improve the situation and 
to do nothing that might aggravate it. It agreed to bring 
the representatives of India and Pakistan together to try, 
with the help of the President of the Security Council, "to 
find, as from now, some common ground on which the 
structure of a settlement may be built."" 

A Difficult Start 
Thus the negotiations entered that type of informal con- 

versations which were meant, in the spirit of Chapter VI 

of the United Nations Charter, to seek settlement by direct 
attempts of the parties in dispute, before the Security Coun- 
cil would have to intervene and make decisions. 

Indeed, as a result of these conversations, at least one 
agreement was reached and on January 20, 1948, the Presi- 
dent was able to present "also on behalf of both parties" 
a proposal which was embodied in a Security Council reso- 
lution establishing a three-member commission with the 
task to "proceed to the spot as quickly as possible" in order 
to investigate the facts relevant to the con~plaints of the 
two governments and exercise "mediatory influence likely 
to smooth away diffic~lties."'~ 

It was a highly modest resolution. It made no mention of 

lo Ibid., pp. 119-1 20. l1 Ibid., p. 125. 
l2 S/654 of January 20, 1918. 
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the withdrawal of either the tribesmen or the Indian army, 
or of the plebiscite which supposedly would be dealt with 
at a later stage. But both parties agreed to the resolution, 
and it was adopted by nine votes, with the Soviet Union 
and the Ukraine abstaining. 

It is tragic, in retrospect, that stlch a commission as was 
agreed to was not constituted and dispatched to the Sub- 
continent without delay. Even if it had not been able to 
stop the fighting, in all probability the commission could 
have prevented, through its mere presence in Kashmir, the 
spring offensive and the continuance of large-scale opera- 
tions. But this was not done-and the United Nations 
documents do not offer explanation for the omission-and 
inevitably the bitter wrangling broke out again in an in- 
tensified form. The representatives of both countries re- 
turned to mutually bitter accusations as to what had hap- 
pened between the Hindus and Muslims before, during, 
and after the partition, what had been taking place in Kash- 
mir before and after her accession to India, and as to the 
actual fighting and the horrors of persecution which were 
going on in the state. Both representatives tried to prove 
their points by extensive quotations from the world press. 
The conciliatory and sober spirit of the resolution of Janu- 
ary 20 was buried under piles of speeches and an avalanche 
of poisoned invective. In this debate and in the informal 
consultations which followed, the great gap between the 
two delegations as to the proper means of reaching a solu- 
tion became clearer and clearer. Finally, India presented 
to the Security Council a proposal which indicated some 
concessions concerning at least the eventual plebiscite. 

The Indian delegation proposed that: (1) the fighting 
in Kashmir must stop and the tribesmen and Pakistan na- 
tionals must withdraw; ( 2 )  after restoration of peace, refu- 
gees were to return, law and order must be maintained, 
and the security of the state assured. It declared that India 
was responsible for the defense of the state but would pro- 
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gressively reduce its forces to a strength compatible with 
the external security of, and internal order in, Kashmir; 
( 3 )  Sheikh Abdullah would be Prime Minister; and (4)  
the United Nations Commission should proceed to India 
at once to mediate and supervise the cessation of fighting 
and the termination of military operations. 

As to the plebiscite, the Indian delegation proposed: (1) 

to have a National Assembly elected (apparently under 
Sheikh Abdullah's administration) ; ( 2 )  to constitute, then, 
a National Government; (3)  this government to arrange for 
the plebiscite to be taken under the advice and observation 
of the United Nations; (4)  to have, then, the National 
Assembly frame a new constitution." 

The Pakistan request was in many ways diametrically 
opposed to the Indian proposal. I t  wished to vest in the 
Commission of the United Nations the authority to arrange 
for: (1) the establishment of an impartial interim admin- 
istration in the state; ( 2 )  the withdrawal of all troops from 
Kashmir; ( 3 )  the return of refugees; (4) the holding of a 
free, fair, and unfettered plebiscite.14 

It is important to keep in mind these major points of 
difference in order to judge the subsequent developments. 
It is equally important to keep in mind, however, that both 
parties from the beginning were agreed on one thing-the 
principle that Kashmir's future would finally be settled by 
a plebiscite. The principal cleavage was this: India wished 
the fighting to stop first and before anything else; Pakistan 
insisted upon first reaching an agreement on the plebiscite, 
asserting that the people would stop fighting only if they 
had guarantees that a fair plebiscite was forthcoming. 

Thus, the first stage of the Security Council deliberations 
revealed Pakistan's fears that once the fighting had stopped 
and the military situation had become stabilized, a de facto 
political stabilization would evolve which would mean at 

l3  S.C.O.R., Third Year, Nos. 1-1 5 ,  yp. 266-267. 
l4 Ibid., pp. 267-268. 
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best a partition of the couiltry with India in possession of 
the more important sections, particularly the Vale of Kash- 
mir. 

A long debate before the Security Couilcil ensued. Nine 
members of the Security Council eventually endorsed the 
Pakistan position, the Soviet U~lioil and the Ukraine ab- 
staining from both the debate and voting. All others agreed 
that the problem had to be considered as a whole, that the 
cessation of hostilities could not be treated apart from the 
prospect of the final settlement of the dispute. 

The  Indian delegate made a strong plea. "We seem here 
to be fiddling while Kashmir burns," declared Mr. Ayyangar. 
He reminded the delegates of their condemnation of Yugo- 
slavia, Albania, and Bulgaria for giving assistailce to the 
rebels fighting the government forces in Greece. Now, ar- 
gued Mr. Ayyangar, the tribesmen, who are Pakistani citi- 
zens, were similarly taking part with Pakistan assistance in 
fighting against the lawful government of Kashmir. He  saw 
the situation as similar to that in Greece and was convinced 
that it was the duty of the Security C o ~ ~ n c i l  to stop fighting 
first and to compel Pakistan to make the tribesmen with- 
draw. 

The  Indian delegate maintained that if peaceful meas- 
ures could not prevent the tribesmen from infiltration into 
Kashmir, it was "the obligation of the Government of Paki- 
stan to resort to measures of war against these tribesmen."" 
This, of course, was exactly what the Pakistan Governor- 
General, Jinnah, had proposed to Lord Mountbatten when 
they had met in Lahore in November 1947 in the early days 
of the conflict, providing there was a concurrent withdrawal 
of Indian troops. But the Indian government had refused 
this offer at that time. 

A temporary armistice in the struggle in the Security 
Council took place when, on January 30, 1948, it met under 
the grave impact of the tragedy which had occurred in 

l5 Ibid., p. 301, 
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Delhi two days before. Mahatma Gandhi, the great apostle 
of Hindu-Muslim amity and unity, was assassinated by a 
Hindu fanatic. All present at the Security Council table, 
including Sir Zafrulla Khan, paid moving tributes to his 
greatness. The meeting was then adjourned. 

But the struggle was renewed with vigor at the follow- 
ing scssion. The Indian delegate, feeling that the trend of 
thinking of the Security Council was developing against 
his concept of a solution, stressed the internal nature of the 
problem of administering Kashmir. He advanced an argu- 
ment that neither India nor Pakistan nor the Security 
Council had any jurisdiction about the form and compo- 
sition of the Kashmir government, and he suggested that 
the Security Council had no right even to conduct the 
plebiscite, only "that the plebiscite should be conducted 
under the advice and observation" of the United Nations, 
but "the actual plebiscite, the actual taking of it . . . is a 
matter for the Government and people of the State of 
Jammu and Kashmir."" 

When it was the Pakistan delegate's turn to speak, he 
stuck consistently to Pakistan's original denland for a "fool- 
proof" plebiscite under an impartial administration and 
with no troops on the territory of the state. 

Again, the members of the Security Council supported 
the Pakistan point of view. They attached great importance 
to having the plebiscite conducted by the United Nations 
and under an impartial government. They rejected the In- 
dian contention that the administration and actual conduct 
of a plebiscite was an internal affair for Kashmir. The Ameri- 
can delegate particularly, Mr. Warren Austin, subjected the 
Indian argument to a critical, juridical analysis. He pointed 
to the Kashmir sovereignty being now exercised by India 
as a result of accession, India having pledged herself to a 
plebiscite under United Nations auspices. 

The question as to whether or not a plebiscite on such an 

lo Ibid., pp. 329-3 30. 
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issue and its conduct are actually an internal or interna- 
tional affair was more than once declared by various inter- 
national bodies or conferences to be of an international na- 
ture. The plebiscites over Schleswig, Marienwerder and Al- 
lenstein, Upper Silesia, Klagenfurt, and Soproil were super- 
vised by inter-Allied plebiscite con~missions in 1920 and 
1921. The plebiscite over the Saar territory, in 1935, was 
organized and supervised by the League of Nations Pleb- 
iscite Commission, The Conference at Yalta in February 
1945 made provisions for the composition of the Polish and 
Yugoslav governments and for the conduct of free elections 
in the two countries. It agreed also upon "The Declaration 
on Liberated Europe," which embraced all European coun- 
tries, to assist them in establishing democratic governments 
through the process of free elections. The elections in South 
Korea in ~ a i  1948 were held under the observation of the 
United Nations Temporary Commission. The elections in 
Greece in March 1946 and the plebiscite in September 1946 
took place in the presence of observers representing the 
United States, Great Britain, and France. In the case of 
Germany, the Western powers proposed several times that 
a United Nations commission or other impartial body in- 
vestigate whether conditions existed there which would 
warrant free elections. All these instances point to a legiti- 
mate international interest and intervention in such a tech- 
nically "internal affair" as a plebiscite or election or even 
the composition of a government. 

The debate before the Security Council continued for 
weeks, however, and proposal after proposal was advanced. 
The Canadian, Belgian, and Colombian delegations pre- 
sented draft resolutions or memoranda. They accepted, 
more or less, the Pakistani point of view. Only the Chinese 
representative gave support to the Indian position. He 
pointed to the difficulty of changing Kashmir's administra- 
tion and proposed a progressive withdrawal of the Indian 
army from Kashmir. He further advised the Security Coun- 
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cil to concentrate its work on the machinery of the pleb- 
iscite. 

Still the debate went on. On one occasion, on February 5, 
Sheikh Abdullah spoke. His speech was blunt, direct, and 
devoid of diplomatic language. In that respect it differed 
conspicuously from the polished, subtle, and cultured pres- 
entation of the Indian and Pakistan chief delegates. Sheikh 
Abdullah contested with particular bitterness the proposals 
to change the Kashmir admi~listration in the interests of 
the impartiality of the plebiscite. "There is no power on 
earth which can displace me from the position which I 
have there. As long as the people are behind me I will re- 
main there," he declared, not bothering to offer any expla- 
nation as to how he had discovered that the Kashmiris were 
behind him. "The dispute arises when it is suggested that, 
in order to have the free vote, the administration must be 
changed," he continued. "To that suggestion we say 'No.' "I7 

A few days later, on February 8, the Indian delegation 
asked the Security Council for adjournment, as it had been 
ordered by its government to return immediately to Delhi 
for consultation. The explanation for this unexpected move 
was to be found in the Indian press, which was increasingly 
critical of the Security Council's policy. The Indian govern- 
ment felt that its representatives-had not done too well in 
putting the case before the United Nations and that the 
Pakistani Foreign Minister, "an experienced and popular 
practitioner in United Nations dialectic, who was as suave 
and smooth as the Indian delegates were awkward and an- 
gular," had scored considerable success. Feelings in India 
were aroused, and, according to governmental sources, the 
belief was also spreading "that India has most to hope, 
whether in terms of mediation or even of the veto, from 
Soviet Russia and her  satellite^."'^ 

Most delegates expressed concern at the request for ad- 

17S.C.0.R. Third Year, Nos. 16-35, PP. 23, 25. 
l8 Campbell-Johnson, op.cit., p. 287.  
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journment, remiildiilg the Indian delegate that they had 
been told that the gravity of the situation in Kashmir did 
not allow any delay in decision. The Chinese delegate, how- 
ever, again supported the Indian position and moved a reso- 
lution for adjourninent. 

Meanwhile the Security Coullcil discussed the complaint 
of Pakistan concerning the State of Junagadh. It should be 
stated, without describing in any way the nature of this 
conflict, that both sides used it to streilgthen their po- 
sition on Kashmir. The Pakistan representative pointed to 
the inconsistent attitude of India, which refused to respect 
the validity of the Junagadh ruler's accession to Pakistan, 
and yet insisted upon the legality of the Kashmir Maharaja's 
accession to India. India protested, by the same token, 
against Pakistan's contradictory approach of defending the 
steps taken by the ruler of Junagadh as legally correct, but 
rejecting the validity of the steps taken by the Kashmir 
ruler.lg 

On March 8, after the Indian delegation had returned 
from Delhi to Lake Success, the discussion on Kashmir was 
resumed. Mr. Ayyangar's speech indicated that the consul- 
tations in Delhi confirmed his previous attitude. At this 
juncture the President, who was the Chinese delegate, Mr. 
T. F. Tsiang, volunteered to follow the example of his 
predecessors and as chairman have informal conversations 
with the contending parties. He then submitted a draft 
resolution to the Security C o ~ ~ n c i l , ~ ~  the main feature of 
which was to leave in the hands of the Indian government 
the reconstruction of the Jammu and Kashmir administra- 
tion and to assign the United Nations Commission a mod- 
est and vaguely defined task of mediation. 

In the light of recent developments, particularly the in- 
sistent Indian policy in the United Nations since 1950 

l9 For the discussion of the Junagadh case see S.C.O.R. Third 
Year, Nos. 16-35, pp. 189-209, 322-343; NOS. 36-51, pp. 44-65. 

20 S/699 of March 18, 1948. 
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aimed at unseating the Chinese Nationalist delegation from 
the Security Council, the friendly attitude of Mr. Tsiang 
towards Irldia in the case of Kashmir makes rather pathetic 
reading. 

But if the Indian delegation was willing to accept the 
Chinese proposal in regard to Kashmir, the Pakistani dele- 
gate opposed it and found support for his opposition among 
other members of the Security Council. Sir Zafrulla Khan 
did not find it difficult to prove the partiality of Sheikh 
Abdullah's administratio~l and of any plebiscite conducted 
under such circumstances. He needed only to quote the lat- 
ter's statement made only a few days before: "We shall 
prefer death rather than join Pakistan. W e  shall have noth- 
ing to do with such a co~ntry ."~ '  

Another precious month elapsed before the Security 
Council met again to continue its efforts to bring the Kash- 
mir issue closer to a peaceful settlement. Six delegations, 
including those of the United States and Great Britain, 
presented a draft resolution which was a combination of 
various proposals made before. Individual sponsors of the 
draft characterized it as "our most considered views on the 
best approach we could propose to this problen~," "the best 
advice which completely objective and fairminded thought 
could bring to the difficult problem," "fair, just and neces- 
sary," "the considered judgement of six delegations," "the 
only possible proposal," and "the best that our judgement 
affords." 

The Indian delegate subjected the draft resolution to 
severe criticism. He objected that he found in it no con- 
demnation of Pakistan's aggressive policy. He protested 
against the idea of establishing a coalition government in 
Kashmir which would include "enemies of State or [those] 
in sympathy with the raiders." Who  these enemies of the 
state were had been explained rather fully by Sheikh Ab- 
dullah, who had declared that his cabinet "would be chosen 

S.C.O.R. Third Year, Nos. 36-51? p. 1 2 2 .  
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according to only one criterion, their loyalty to the National 
Conference and their country."" 

The Indian delegate also revealed that "When the whole 
of the State thus comes under one administration . . . India's 
garrisons will need to be planted at her outer frontiers on 
the West of the Jammu and Kashmir State."" This, of 
course, would actually mean stationing Indian armed forces 
over the territory which was now under the actual control 
of the Azad government. 

The UN Resolution 
Despite Mr. Ayyangar's objections, however, on April 21, 

1948, six months after the fighting in Kashmir had started 
and almost four months after the Security Council had un- 
dertaken to settle the dispute, the resolution was carried by 
nine votes against none, with the Soviet and Ukranian dele- 
gations again abstaining." 

The Indian press was highly critical of the Security Coun- 
cil resolution for not having condemned Pakistan as ag- 
gressor, insisting that reports were still coming in of her 
complicity in building the military strength of the Azad 
revolutionaries. Pandit Nehru described the resolution as 
"unreasonable," and declared, "We can neither execute nor 
accept many points."" The government of India sent a 
letter of protest to the United Nations and refused co- 
operation in any implementation of the resolution. 

One month later, however, the Indian representative was 
somehow more conciliatory, "If . . . the Commission is still 
sent out to India . . . the Government of India have already 
stated that they would be glad to confer with it."26 

The Pakistani delegate was not wholly satisfied with the 

22 The Hindustan Times (Delhi), March 7, 1948. 
23 S.C.O.R. Third Year, No. 60, p. 14. 
24 For the text of the resolution, see Appendix I. 
25 New York He~ald Tribune, April 25, 1948. 
2e S.C.O.R. Third Year, No. 74, pp. 6-7. 
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proposal, but his criticism did not imply outright rejection. 
Nevertheless, the governmental circles in Karachi made 

no secrct of their fceling that the original trend of the 
debate before the Security Council, which had been favor- 
able to Pakistan, was importantly modified by the United 
States and Britain out of a strong desire to mollify India. 
Great Britain was subjected to particular criticism for en- 
deavoring to "strike a balance" between two members of 
the Comn~onwealth. Some Pakistani papers indicated that 
the government ought to seek help from the Soviet Union, 
and the opening of diplon~atic relations with Moscow was 
regarded as a happy omen for such policy. 

The resolution of April 21 was of cardinal importance. It 
outlined the Security Council's stand on the Kashmir con- 
flict, recommended the method of its solution, and became 
the principal term of reference for various United Nations 
representatives who ever since have been trying to bring 
about a peaceful and final settlement of the problem. 

The resolution did a number of things. I t  increased the 
membership of the Commission to five and instructed it to 
proceed to the Indian Subcontinent at once to place its 
good offices and mediation at  the disposal of the govern- 
ments of India and Pakistan. I t  recommended to the gov- 
ernment of Pakistan that it secure the withdrawal of tribes- 
men and Pakistani nationals from Kashmir; and to the 
government of India, a subsequent and progressive with- 
drawal of the Indian forces to the minimum strength re- 
quired for maintenance of law and order. It suggested for- 
mation of a coalition cabinet of the State of Jammu and 
Kashmir which would be representative of all major politi- 
cal groups. To  insure freedom and impartiality in an even- 
tual plebiscite, the resolution envisaged that a plebiscite 
administrator be nominated with powers adequate to pre- 
pare and conduct the plebiscite and that measures be taken 
for the return of refugees, for the release of political pris- 
oners, and for political freedom. The Commissio~l was to 
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be allowed to establish observers and it was finally to report 
to the Security Council as to whether the plebiscite was 
free and impartial. 

The main purpose of the resolution was to stop fighting 
and to establish conditions in the state which would allow 
the population to express freely, without threat of physical 
or psychological coercion, their desire to accede to either 
India or Pakistan. Acting under Chapter VI  of the United 
Nations Charter, the Security Council did not direct the 
parties in dispute what to do but only passed a recommen- 
dation. This bound the parties only morally-not juridically. 
The Commission's role, therefore, was one of mediation 
without any right to impose its will. I t  was thus limited in 
its activities, allowed to make contact with the Indian and 
Pakistan authorities and make recommendations carrying 
the weight only of the persuasiveness of its arguments and 
its political prestige. The final issue remained with the gov- 
ernment of India and Pakistan and depended on their good 
will. 

Furthermore, the Security Council avoided taking sides 
in the dispute. It did not, as India requested, condemn Pak- 
istan as aggressor, nor on the other hand did it touch upon 
the legal aspect of Kashmir's accession to India. 

As a matter of fact, the Security Council avoided any 
consideration of the juridical aspect of the accession, a per- 
fectly plausible procedure under Article 96 of the Charter, 
according to which the Security Council "may request the 
International Court of Justice to give an advisory opinion 
on any legal question." I t  would seem to be obvious that 
the handling of the dispute would have been easier had 
the International Court been asked to declare itself on the 
subject. One of the parties would then have been in the 
wrong, and the Security Council would in turn have had a 
stronger moral and political position for the recommenda- 
tion of appropriate measures. The fact that neither India 
nor Pakistan asked for such a juridical finding would also 
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indicate their mutual uiicertainty about the validity of the 
accession. If the question was studied informally by the 
members of the Security Council, their policy not to ask 
the court for such a decision could be interpreted only as 
a failure on the part of some members to understand the 
complexity and seriousness of the Kashmir problem. They 
probably felt that a fair, impartial, and rather mild resolu- 
tion recommending to India and Pakistan certain measures 
and carrying the political and moral prestige of the United 
Nations would be sufficient to bring about a quick and 
peaceful solution of the dispute. 

There is, perhaps, one other explanation. The Securitv 
Council is a political body. I t  may have felt that diplomacv 
and mediation might provide adequate means for settling 
the conflict, whereas a juridical verdict would have put one 
of the parties in dispute in the light of being wrong, with the 
quite possible result that that party would turn politically 
against the United Nations or the sponsors of such a pro- 
cedure. There was, of course, no guarantee that the parties 
would accept and respect the pronouncement of the Inter- 
national Court, but at least the rest of the world would 
clearly know which stand to take in the dispute. 

Another question also poses itself in regard to the Securitv 
Council's actions. W h y  did it not act according to chapter 
VII of the Charter, which deals with threats of war? Both 
India and Pakistan had repeatedly pointed out before the 
Security Council the gravity of the situation, accusing each 
other of acts of aggression. They urged the Council for an 
immediate solution and stressed its urgency. They even 
claimed the right of resorting to war if their interests in 
Kashmir (and Junagadh) were not honored. The Indian 
delegate emphasized the imminence of war between the 
two Dominions, and indeed, fighting in Kashmir was going 
on while the Security Council was deliberating upon the 
issue. 

Whereas provisions of Chapter VI  of the Charter limit 
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the Security Couilcil to acts of negotiation, mediation, con- 
ciliation, and arbitration, Chapter VII entrusts the Security 
Council with the right to enforce its decisions and im- 
poses on all members of the United Nations the obligation 
to abide by these decisions. 

Once again it would seem that the Security Council 
avoided consideration of the Kashmir problem under the 
provisions of Chapter VII because the parties themselves 
invoked Chapter VI  in their requests and the Security 
Council itself failed to recognize the full gravity of the situ- 
ation. I t  is true that in the history of the United Nations, 
the Security Council has always been reluctant to apply 
the provisions of Chapter VII because it has wished to 
avoid an unnecessary sharpening of the issues. Furthermore, 
there is always the greater risk of a Soviet veto under Chap- 
ter VII. But one may speculate that the Soviet representa- 
tive on the Security Council would not have vetoed a reso- 
lution under Chapter VII on Kashmir because Russia did 
not wish to estrange either India or Pakistan. The fact that 
she abstained in all debate and voting on the Kashmir 
dispute at least indicates the possibility that she might not 
have exercised her veto power in this case. On the other 
hand it could be argued that her failure to participate in 
the discussions and the voting on the Kashmir problem 
stemmed from a desire to see the dispute continue. Cer- 
tainly such a rift between two such great nations could only 
be in her interests. I t  could, then, further be argued that 
her failure to use her veto power on the resolution of April 
21, 1948, was due precisely to its obvious lack of resolute- 
ness and to the fact that she could foresee with hope that 
the fighting in Kashmir would continue. Had the conflict 
been approached by the Security Council according to 
Chapter VII with the probability of more resolute action 
offering better hope for an early settlement, Russia might 
have vetoed such a resolution. 

Another reason for the Council's overcautious treatment 
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of the Kashmir conflict might have been its preoccupation 
other explosive situations-in Palestine, Indonesia, 

alld Czeclioslovakia. 
Nevertheless, one must be somewhat critical of the Se- 

curity Council's procedure. It is true that it handled the 
~ashnlir problem impartially, that its reconlmendations 
were just and fair to both parties, that it approached it 
with the skill of experienced diplomacy. But it did not 
handle the situation adequately. Its approach was timid. 
Its evaluation of the situation in Kashmir was far from 
realistic, as was shown only a few weeks later. Tlie prolon- 
gation of the debate, the endless wrangling of the parties, 
the adjournn~ent of the deliberations, the one-month inter- 
vals in the debates were unnecessarv. With even; day that 
passed, the tensions and the politicsl cleavages in ~ashn l i r  
grew, and as they grew the plebiscite which was finally to 
decide the fate of the country became increasingly difficult. 

It is also impossible to understand the delay in sending 
the Security Council Comnlission to the Subcontinent. The 
Comn~ission was established by the original resolution, 
passed on January 20, and accepted by 1ndia and Pakistan. 
True, its described powers were vague, but its mere presence 
in the area might have reduced the intensitv of the fighting, 
already slowed to local skirmishes by the high snows of the 

- 

Kashmir mountains. But with the melting of the snow in 
May and before the long-delayed Conln~ission had arrived. 
fighting had been resunled with full fury. 

When at last the Conlmission was dispatched to India 
and Pakistan, it found the situation politically and militarily 
quite different from what the Securihr Council had thought 
it to be when it had passed its mild and necessarily non- 
committal resolution in April. 
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ELEVEN weeks dragged by after the Security Council reso- 
lution of April 21, before the Commission got to work. 
Meanwhile affairs in Kashmir moved toward all-out war. 
According to a newspaper report based on a most reliable 
and authoritative source, it was only the British govern- 
ment's threat that it would withdraw all British officers in 
their service should Pakistan engage her air force in Kashmir 
that restrained that alleged impulse.' Nor did the attitude 
of the contending nationals toward the Commission make 
its task easier. 

India objected to its being entrusted with the investiga- 
tion of the other complaints which Pakistan had brought 
before the Security Council, namely the accusations of 
genocide, the case of Junagadh, and other matters. Robert 
Trumbull reported, "The Indian press has begun to lay the 
groundwork for the rejection of any recommendations that 
the Commission may make unless they favor India. Dis- 
patches from Kashmir make it plain that the pro-India gov- 
ernment of Sheikh Abdullah is now unwilling to accept 
even an impartial plebis~ite.?'~ The Pakistan press warned 
that the Commission would be received in Pakistan by a 
display of black flags. 

On June 15,1948, however, the Commission did convene 
in Geneva. As finally composed, it consisted of five mem- 
bers: Argentina, nominated by Pakistan; Czechoslovakia, 
nominated by India; Colombia and Belgium, selected by 
the Security Council; and the United States, named by the 
Council's president. It had been my pleasure to be assigned 
as the Czechoslovak member of this group on February 5, 
1948, and the record of the Commission's activities, ob- 

The Hindustan Times (Delhi), August 7 ,  1948. 
The New York Times, June 16, 1948. 
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servations, and conversations herewith presented are largely 
a product of that memorable experience.' - 

The Commission's first act was to prepare its rules of 
procedure, and this was followed by an exchange of letters 
with the governments of India and Pakistan. The early 
days of its deliberations did not seem promising. 

Most of the members were only vaguely informed about 
the dispute, and only the American delegation, led by 
Ambassador J. Klahr Huddle, was properly equipped with 
an expert political, military, and secretarial staff. Each mem- 
ber, therefore, faced the unhappy prospect of fighting his 
way through piles of documents and lengthy speeches, sep- 
arating, where possible, facts from propaganda and finding 
points directly relevant to the issue from masses of in- 
formative background. 

Everyone, however, appeared anxious to get down to work. 
There seemed to be a strong feeling that the long strug- 
gle of the ancient people of the Indian Subcontinent for 
that greatest of all treasures, freedom, should not, at the 
last, be negated by a senseless war. Each member of the 
Commission seemed to feel a personal responsibility to re- 
store freedom and peace to Kashmir. The American dele- 
gate, a seasoned diplomat, spoke with tears in his eyes 
when, opening a session, he pledged all his efforts to the 
noble and honorable task with which he had been entrusted. 

The first few days were given over to such formalities 
as the selection of an official title-itself a precarious task, 

- 

lest in the name some unintentional offense be given to 
India or Pakistan. The name finally chosen was the United 
Nations Commission for India and Pakistan. And concur- 

' Other members of the Commission were: for Argentina, 
Ricardo J. Siri and his alternate Carlos A. Leguizamon; for Bel- 
gium, Egbert Graeffe and his alternate Harry Graeffe; for Colombia. 
Alfredo Lozano and his alternate Hernando Samper; for the United 
States, J. Klahr Huddle and his alternate C. Hawley Oakes. Erik 
Colban served as personal representative of the United Nations 
Secretary-General. 
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rent with such preliminaries were others still less pleasant- 
the inoculations against typhus, cholera, smallpox, diph- 
theria, plague, and yellow fever. Finally, however, on ~ b l ~  
5, the Commission left by chartered plane for Karachi, 
the capital of Pakistan. The plane, a DC-J, carried on both 
wings huge letters: U.N.4 

First Contact 
The Commission stopped in Karachi for a short formal 

visit to pay its respects to Governor-General Mohammed 
Ali Jinnah and the Pakistani government. Mr. Jinnah, 
however, was seriously ill, secluded at Ziarat, a hill station 
in Baluchistan. Although every major decision affecting 
the Commission's work was made by him, it was never our 
pleasure to meet him. He died three months later. 

At first glance, the city of Karachi with its modern 
harbor gave the impression of great industry. But as the 

- 

paralyzing heat of noon descended, we saw that almost all 
movement ceased and a vast calm covered the capital, a 
calm of exhaustion and uneasiness. And on every hand 
were the refugees, thousands of them-eloquent testimony 
to the upheaval which had swept the Subcontinent. 

The Pakistani government offered us Jinnah's residence 
for our accommodation, and the Commission accepted 
the invitation with thanks. For the three days of our visit 
we were well taken care of by an array of servants and 
served excellent food by the maitre d'hbtel, a Russian 
refugee, Mr. Beck. Faithful to his Russian patriotism he 
called his meals beefsteak A la Tolbouhine, melba 1 la 
Stalingrad! 

The visit with Prime Minister Liaquat Ali Khan was 

For details about the Commission activities in the period from 
June 1 5  to September 22,  1948, see Interim Report of the United 
Nations Commission for India and Pakistan; S/i  loo of November 9, 
1948. S.C.O.R. Third Year, Supplement for November, 1948, PP. 
17-144- 
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limited strictly to an official exchange of greetings; the 
word "Kashmir" was not mentioned. Then followed a visit 

the Minister of Foreign Affairs and Commonwealth 
Relations, Sir Zafrulla Khan. He received the Commission 
in a small, modestly furnished house-whether his residence 
or office or both, we never discovered. 

At this meeting Sir Zafrulla gave the Commission a 
three-hour discourse on his concept of the background of 
the Kashmir conflict. His tone was calm, his language pre- 
cise, and, following the best traditions of his English school- 
ing, his narration was broken by good stories. 

Then came the first bombshell. Sir Zafrulla Khan in- 
formed the Commission that three Pakistani brigades had 
been on Kashmir territory since May. He explained the 
measure as an act of self-defense. The Indian army had 
opened a large-scale offensive in the spring. Local - Azad 
forces and tribesmen had been pushed back close to the 
Pakistan border. The Indian army was indeed in sight of 
the canal waters flowing to Punjab. Pakistan could not, 
Sir Zafrulla asserted, sit passively back, unmindful of the 
danger that the Indian army might invade her own terri- 
tory. For these reasons, Pakistan had felt militarily and 
politically justified in reinforcing the defense-line held by 
the Azad forces and the tribesmen. 

The Commission preferred not to express its opinion 
openly about this new and most important element in the 
picture, but to one another the members admitted that the 
presence of the Pakistani troops in Kashmir made of the 
situation something far graver and far more disturbing than 
what it had appeared to be to the members of the Security 
Council at faraway Lake Success. When asked whether 
the government of Pakistan had informed the Security 
Council about the action of its army, the Foreign Min- 
ister answered in the negative, offering as explanation that 
by the time of Pakistan's active intervention in Kashmir 
the United Nations Commission was nominated and was 
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daily expected on the scene. He had now seized the first 
opportunity to acquaint the Commission with this de- 
velopmen t. 

That evening, the government arranged a dinner to 
honor the Commission, but the members soon discovered 
that the "honor" was in name only. No seating arrange- 
ments had been made, and as no one suggested to any of 
the United Nations delegates that he share a table, they 
found themselves sitting at the same table, isolated from 
the more than two hundred guests. Coincidence brought 
them together with the Prime Minister, but no mention 
was made of Kashmir. I t  soon became quite evident that 
the Pakistan government felt most uncertain about the - 

Commission's policy and intent and preferred to wait and 
watch. The press, less diplomatic than members of the 
government, did not disguise its mistrust. 

Three days later we flew to Delhi. The first impression 
was not more promising. The heat struck with merciless 
brutality. The Commission found accommodations in the 
Cecil Hotel and established its office in F'aridkot House, 
some ten miles away. Distances in Delhi are enormous, and 
the Commission went by car twice a day to and from the 
office, winding slowly past the hundreds of sacred cows 
calmly lying in the middle of the streets. In Delhi as in 
Karachi thousands of refugees were lying along the streets, 
hungry and exhausted, more dead than alive, their only 
comfort the monsoon rains which often flooded over the 
city, sending streams of water over their aching bodies. 

The Commission was received by the Right Honorable 
Pandit Jawaharlal Nehru: a thin man, small of figure, with 
a beautiful face, deep, dark eyes, small, refined hands. He 
spoke with us about the economic problems of India, about 
the movement of people away from cities to villages-a 
movement quite the reverse of that in Europe-making in- 
dustrialization difficult. He spoke, too, about the eight 
cultures of Delhi. And as he spoke he seldom raised his 
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head to look into our eyes. Nor did he utter a word about 
Kashmir. 

The Indian papers received the Commission in calmer 
tones than was the case in Karachi, but they offered it only 
"a conditional cooperation." 

An audience with Governor-General Chakravarti Raja- 
gopalachari was a solemn, official event following precise 
rules of diplomatic protocol. Delegates were assembled in 
a semicircle with some fifty guests behind them. The old 
gentleman slowly entered the room, quiet, gentle, almost 
ethereal, his thin figure covered by a white garment like 
that worn by the Mahatma. He welcomed us with his 
palms together as in prayer. 

Then tea was served, and this time we were seated at 
various tables with our Indian hosts. I t  was a pleasant time, 
and as we sat there we sensed a certain satisfaction in see- 
ing these national leaders play the host in this spacious 
governor's palace which for so long had been the seat of 
foreign viceroys. Pandit Nehru came later and exchanged 
a few words with each delegate. But still not a word about 
Kashmir. 

Indignation in Delhi 
The formalities finally came to an end and the real 

work began. On July i j  Sir Girja Shankar Bajpai, Secre- 
tary-General of the Ministry for External Affairs, was in- 
vited to present the Kashmir case before the Commission. 
Sir Girja, a small man with a shy smile, perfect manners, 
and ivory-cut hands, with the English of Shakespeare and 
himself the quintessence of ancient Indian culture and 
Oxford schooling, was a great diplomat of the English 
school. He had served in the British India government and 
during the war had represented India in Washington. 

He reminded the Commission of the dissatisfaction of 
the Indian government with the Security Council proceed- 
ings where "in the four months' debate that had followed, 
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the issue . . . had got lost in a miasma of dialectics." He 
then passed on to the crucial point, one which, since our 
visit in Karachi, was very much in our minds. "Since the 
Council had passed its resolution," he said, "a great change 

- 

had occurred in the situation. . . . Our troops were fighting 
the regular armed forces of Pakistan on all fronts in and 
around Jammu and Kashn~ir State. W e  had abundant evi- 
dence of this. . . . What was in progress today was an un- 
declared war between India and Pakistan." He reproached 
the Security Council for having ignored the moral aspect 
of the Kashmir issue and insisted that the Indian govern- 
ment attached "the highest importance to the declaration 
of Pakistan's guilt and, if this guilt were proved, to Paki- 
stan being directed to do what, seven months ago, we had 
asked the Council that Pakistan should be asked to do. 
Until this matter was settled, there could be no question 
of discussing the details of a plebiscite. . . . If the future 
of Jammu and Kashmir was to be determined by the ar- 
bitrament of the sword, then, without in any way wishing 
to utter a threat, or use the language of menace, I should 
like the Commission, as realists, to recognize that the offer 
of plebiscite could not remain open. If Pakistan wanted a 
decision by force and that decision went against Pakistan, 
it could not invoke the machinery of the United Nations 
to obtain what it had failed to secure by its chosen weapon 
of force. . . .7'5 Sir Girja Bajpai added to this alarming con- 

1 4  clusion, . . . the sands of time are running short; if the 
problem is not resolved by reason, the sword will find the 
solution." 

The Commission was now face to face with the already- 
well-known aspect of the Kashmir problem: India's in- 
sistence that Pakistan be branded as aggressor. But now, 
with the Pakistan army actually taking part in the fighting, 

S.C.O.R. Third Year, Supplement for November, 1948, pp. 126- 

i 27. 
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the insistence came with increased resoluteness and in- 
digna tion. 

Illdividual members of the Commission then held in- 
formal conferences with Mr. Nehru, Ayyangar, and Sir 
Girja Baipai. Their attitudes were identical : condemn Pak- 
istan of aggression; then-and only then-would they be 
willing to consider the implementation of the Security 
Council resolution. The Commission knew that such a pol- 
icy would immediately close the door to any further nego- 
tiations with Pakistan. Moreover, the Commission was 
bound to follow the Security Council directives embodied 
in its resolution of April 21, which deliberately proscribed 
any pronouncement of judgment concerning guilt or the 
juridical validity of accession. 

The Commission had several meetings wit11 high officers 
of the general staff to hear their description of the military 
operations and to examine the material the Indian army 
had captured from the enemy. These nlen dated Pakistan's 
active participation in the fighting back to March. In mo- 
ments of informal conversations these officers did not con- 
ceal their distaste for fighting officers who once had been 
their comrades in the British Indian army, many of whom 
had received common training at Sandhurst. If it were left 
to them, they said, they would stop the fighting immedi- 
ately. But the politicians would not. 

The fact that there were some 300 British officers of 
high rank serving in the Indian army and 700 in the Paki- 
stani army (though none of them in an operational com- 
mand in Kashmir) was highly embarrassing to the British 
government. After all, India and Pakistan were members 
of the Commonwealth. Actually, a withdrawal of British 
officers was often contemplated, but this was offset by the 
knowledge that their presence in India and Pakistan might 
exert at least a calming influence on both belligerents. 

Meanwhile, fighting in Kashmir went on unabated, and 
scores of letters reached the Commission from individuals 
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and organizations reciting stories of atrocities perpetrated 
by both sides against the civilian population. Increasingly 
it seemed unreal to debate about procedural matters and 
details of a plebiscite, hundreds of miles away from the 
area of fighting. The Commission, therefore, explored un- 
officially with the government of India the idea of flying 
to the Kashmir capital, Srinagar. It felt that it might be 
better able to grasp the complexity of the problem if it 
were closer to the country in dispute and that its mere 
presence in Kashmir might diminish the intensity of the 
struggle. However, though Sheikh Abdullah conveyed to 
the members of the Commission through private channels 
his hope of welcoming us very soon in Kashmir, we were 
told politely that the Kashmir issue would be decided, not 
in Srinagar but in Delhi and Karachi. 

Disturbed by the reports of fighting, the Commission 
determined to attempt a first step which seemed to be most 
urgent. It investigated, again informally, the possibility of 
an unconditional cessation of hostilities. I t  further felt that 
a cease-fire would inevitably open an avenue to further nego- 
tiations in a more friendly atmosphere. I t  addressed a 
resolution to both governments, urging them "to take im- 
mediately those measures within their power which can 
improve the situation and to refrain from making or caus- 
ing to be made any statements which might aggravate the 
s i tua t i~n."~ Both governments answered in reassuring terms; 
but the fighting and furious newspaper comments con- 
tinued. 

One evening the Commission was honored at a dinner 
given by Pandit Nehru in the governor-general's palace. 
Some one hundred people were present: members of the 
government dressed in white, grey, or black long coats; their 
wives in richly ornamented saris and wearing precious jewels; 
diplomats, and officers in decorative uniforms. 

The dinner was served according to precise court proto- 

Ibid., pp. 127-1 2 8 .  
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cal and in a typically English social tradition. The British 
elllblem with the writing "Dieu et Mon Droit" still adorned 
the silver dishes. The Soviet Ambassador K. V. Novikov 
looked at his plate with unconcealed curiosity, turning it 
around in his hands. 

In the background an orchestra discretely played nos- 
talgic Indian airs. On the walls of the long dining room 
hung portraits of the former British Viceroys, many of 
them great figures in British history. As they looked down 
from their elevated position at the strange gathering which 
was a mixture of the new life of Indian national sovereignty 
and of old imported British customs, one felt that they 
followed the development with wise understanding and 
approval-that for once a national revolution had not de- 
stroyed the old values, had not indeed torn this very gal- 
lery to pieces. 

Following dinner, we went into the palatial gardens, 
with their spacious soft meadows and glittering fountains. 
The night was mild and humid, and the icy atmosphere of 
official contacts seemed to thaw somewhat in the balmy 
air. It seemed a propitious time to put out feelers on Kash- 
mir, and Pandit Nehru indicated to us that he would like 
to talk the matter over with each delegate, separately, at 
informal lunches or dinners. W e  eagerly agreed and pre- 
pared ourselves for our separate meetings by a thorough 
re-examination of the situation. 

When I lunched with Mr. Nehru, he talked freely and 
fully about the problem. "It does not correspond with our 
mentality to wage wars," he said. "We had the British 
here for 150 years and fought for our independence by 
peaceful means and not by arms. Now that we have 
achieved our goal, we find we must fight against people 
who for so many years have lived here with us. W e  have 
always been for a united India, but when we saw no other 
solution than partition we accepted it. I t  should be so 
natural to have with Pakistan the closest possible coopera- 
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tion. W e  want to cooperate and work towards coopera- 
tion, and one day integration will inevitably come, If it 
will be in four, five, ten years-I do not know. 

"The background of the partition is econon~ic," Nehru 
continued. "We Indians have always advocated political 
freedom and social progress. First, we had to get rid of 
British domination and now we must try to achieve eco- 
nomic prosperity and social progress. Some people have 
been against this policy. But as nobody can possibly stand 
up publicly against the independence of a nation and 
against the prosperity of the broad masses, these people 
had to find other arguments to preserve their privileged 
position. So they used religion. 

"In reality, it is not at all a dispute between religions. 
W e  give to all people full religious freedom. Besides, it is 
impossible to divide the country according to a religion. 
Even now there are still some forty-two million Muslims 
in India. I t  is, then, a struggle between freedom and prog- 
ress and a group of wealthy men. Jinnah abandoned us 
[the National Congress] thirty years ago and founded the 
League-not to defend Islam, as he asserts, but to defend 
privileged materialistic rights. I t  has nothing to do with 
religion; he himself is not a religious man. But there was 
no other solution to this problem in our struggle for inde- 
pendence, so we agreed to the establishment of Pakistan. 

"Pakistan, however, is developing today as an Islamic, 
feudal state. It is backward, reactionary, economically weak, 
administratively disrupted. The army is led by British 
officers. If they left there would be no Pakistani army. We 
have some few British officers, too, but step by step all 
functions are being taken over by our own people. 

"This, then, is the background of our differences with 
Pakistan, and it applies also to Kashmir. I t  would never 
have occurred to us to send an army to Kashmir had she 
not been invaded by tribesmen, supported by Pakistan, 
and exposed to the danger of wholesale pillage and murder. 
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And other parts of our country were in danger too; the 
tribesmen advanced, shouting that they were on their way 
to Delhi. 

"Now the question is to find a solution. W e  have been 
greatly disturbed by the policy of the Security Council - 
which accepted the allegations of the Pakistan delegation, 
though we proved the complicity of Pakistan in the in- 
vasion of Kashmir. You talk about a cease-fire. But Paki- 
stan does not admit having her own army in Kashmir. I t  
means that a cease-fire would apply only to us. W e  must 
insist upon the withdrawal of the Pakistani army and then 
we would be willing to negotiate. I t  must be publicly de- 
clared that her army has withdrawn from Kashmir, with 
the condemnation of Pakistan thus implied. As things now 
stand, the presence of her army in ~ a s h m i r  is not publicly 
known, and we instead of Pakistan are thought of as the 
aggressors. 

"We do not insist upon the right of our army to ad- 
vance and occupy the territory which would be evacuated 
by Pakistan. On the other hand there must not be a 
vacuum there and we shall be satisfied with the recognition 
of the authority of the State over all its territories and 
with the occupation of advanced positions important to 
us strategically and economically." 

Upon my remark that the Prime Minister's original in- 
tent would be carried out only if the Indian army also 
withdrew from Kashmir, Mr. Nehru continued, "We would 
withdraw as the situation permitted; the campaign costs 

- 

US money and people. But we must insist on having our 
army stationed at strategically important posts. 

"And Pakistan must be condemned. I do not require 
any solemn, formal verdict, but a clear declaration about 
the Pakistani army's presence in Kashmir and its with- 
drawal." 

I tried to suggest that a ~eaceful solution of the problem 
depended very much upon the good will of both parties, 
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and I said, "The Comn~ission's possibilities are limited. 
W e  do not overestimate our powers. The success of our 
mission is in your hands; we depend upon your good will. 
If we find a solution it will be to the benefit of the whole 
world, of the United Nations, and above all, of India and 
Pakistan. You have just stressed the distaste with which 
you have taken up arms and your desire to end the con- 
flict. Could you not use the presence of the Commission to 
seek, together with us, a solution? Can you indicate what 
final solution you would have in mind if we succeed in 
arranging a cease-fire?" 

"I have already indicated the solution,'? Mr. Nehru an- 
swered, "and I am going to add: W e  ourselves asked for 
a plebiscite. W e  wish the nation of Kashmir to decide for 
itself. W e  did it spontaneously and not because of Paki- 
stan. But now for almost ten months there has been a war 
going on in Kashmir. The country is devastated, the ad- 
ministration disrupted, the situation different from what 
it was. The preparation for a plebiscite would of course 
require the withdrawal of the Pakistani forces and then a 
prolonged period of adjustment preceding the elections, 
including such necessities as the return of refugees, their 
settlement and the like. It means that the plebiscite could 
not take place before one year after the cessation of hos- 
tilities." 

I attempted to appeal to his inspiring leadership and 
suggested that India might be in a position to make a 
gesture of concession to Pakistan. Pandit Nehru reacted 
vehemently. In a flash of bitterness he leaped onto a chair, 
shouting, "You seem not to understand our position and 
our rights. W e  are a secular state which is not based on 
religion. W e  give to everyone freedom of conscience. Paki- 
stan is a mediaeval state with an impossible theocratic con- 
cept. It should never have been created, and it would never 
have happened had the British not stood behind this 
foolish idea of Jinnah." 



The UN Commission at Work 

My meeting with Nehru was not a profound success. 
0th;r delegates had a similar experience as they talked 
privately with him. He felt strongly about the righteous- 
ness of India's case, was indignant about Pakistan, insisted 
she should be condemned by the United Nations, was 
ready to stop the fighting if Pakistan units withdrew but 
in addition wished the Indian forces to advance to the 
strategic places now under Pakistan control. For the first 
time he revealed skepticism about a plebiscite and expressed 
the thought that he would not be opposed to the idea of 
dividing the country between India and Pakistan. To  one 
delegate he displayed a map on which the Indian border 
stretched far west towards Pakistan, including the crucial 
Valley of Kashmir and even part of West Jammu. 

Meanwhile, two delegates were in consultation with the 
Pakistan Foreign Minister, Sir Zafrulla Khan, exploring 
the possibilities of an unconditional cease-fire.' Sir Zafrulla 
was not impressed by the Indian indignation. Indeed, he 
felt that a better case could be made for Pakistan's assist- 
ance to Azad Kashmir forces, which at least were the 
product of a Muslim population, than could India for the 
armies which she sent to Kashmir at the request of the 
hated Maharaja. He refused the suggestion of an uncon- 
ditional cease-fire and was ready to consider it only if the 
Indian troops also withdrew, if the Muslim population 
was given adequate protection, and if the views of the 
"Azad Kashmir ~overnment"  were taken into considera- 
tion. "Under no circumstances would his government con- 
sider the partition of Kashmir," declared Sir Zafrulla, as 
this would "considerably extend the Kashmir-India frontier 
and would constitute a constant threat to Pakistan."' AS 
he had once placed his confidence in the Security Council 
when it handled the dispute at Lake Success, so also he 

For details see S.C.O.R., Third Year, Supplement for Novem- 
ber, 1948, pp. 87-94. 

Ibid., p. 93. 
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expected the Commission to assume more authority and 
to-take a strong action by phrasing its decisions in terms 
of directions rather than recommendations. 

Certain valuable lessons were learned by tlre Commis- 
sion from its first, though unsuccessful, attempt at a "meet- 
ing of minds." It now could know for certain that the two 
governments would agree on one matter only, namely, that 
neither wished to stop the fighting without certain condi- 

- 

tions which were respectively inacceptable to the other. 
What  was even more important, it now knew that in the 
background of the dispute lay deep mutual suspicions as 
to the motives of each party's policy. In Delhi this suspi- 
cion was evidenced by a pronounced and unconcealed con- 
tempt towards Pakistan, the very existence of which Nehru 
found it difficult to accept. In Karachi it grew from a deep- 
seated mistrust of any move coming from India. On both 
sides there was an absence of that which is the paramount 
prerequisite for negotiation among any group of  countries: 
a semblance of good will. 

I t  soon became apparent that if the Commission wished 
to achieve any results, it must exercise its utmost skill in 
diplomacy. It must demonstrate to the governments of 
India and Pakistan its complete integrity and impartiality, 

- .  

and it must present to them only such proposals as were 
balanced to the point of perfection in all political and 
military aspects, every word of which could be defended 
by unshakable arguments. 

Any student of the case will find from the United Na- 
tions documents that the Commission held a number of 
meetings and a number of official and informal conversa- 
tions with both governments. He would not be able to 
detect in their official language, however, the spirit of the 
Commission's work. Step by step an atmosphere of com- 
plete mutual confidence developed among its members. 
Unhampered by the burden of power politics, refusing to 
apply in the Kashmir dispute the East-West rift which 
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had so often poisoned the work of the United Nations in 
other cases, it proceeded as one body. The delegates lived 
mostly in the same hotels, and if the official proceedings 
indicated meetings of three or four hours' length, the fact 
is that the Kashmir dispute mTas on the agenda from morn- 
ing till late at night: at breakfast, lunch, and dinner. The 
delegates became emotionally attached to the cause of 
Kashmir as if it were their own cause. I had attended many 
international conferences, but 1 had never witnessed any- 
thing like this. 

Perhaps the press in Karachi and Delhi sensed the Com- 
mission's devotion; at any rate it soon became more friend- 
ly toward its endeavors. Also, individual members of both 
governments uttered here and there commendable com- 
ments upon its cautious and impartial attitude. But de- 
spite this, little or nothing was achieved in terms of any 
rapprochement of the diametrically opposed views of both 
parties. Instead, the fighting went on, and the misery of 
innocent people increased. In fact, the situation deterio- 
rated materially from what it had been in the spring when 
the Security Council had passed its resolution. It might 
have been possible ten months before to bring the leaders 
of the Muslim Conference and the National Conference 
together, when the struggle had just begun and the leaders 
on both sides still remembered the days of their common 
fight for liberation from the oppressive rule of the Maha- 
raja. But now their hatred was an abyss between them, 
and their political aims were irreparably divergent; now 
the National Conference linked its fate with India, the 
Muslim Conference with Pakistan. Sheikh Abdullah secret- 
ly indicated his willingness to meet the leader of the Azad 
Kashmir, but the Commission was unable to move in this 
direction, knowing that it would be accused by the gov- 
ernment of India of intrigue. 

Under such circumstances it seemed out of the question 
to contemplate the original directive from the Security 
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Council: the creation of a coalition administration in Kash- 
mir. A new approach would have to be found if the Corn- 
mission was to accomplish its final aim of establishing con- 
ditions in Kashmir which would guarantee freedom of 
plebiscite. But in the meantime if it was at all possible - 

and if any hope of eventual solution was to be retained, it 
seemed imperative to try for a cease-fire arrangement. 

In spite of the Pakistan refusal to stop fighting without 
certain preceding conditions, the delegates now had a feel- 
ing that Pakistan might be persuaded to accept their pro- 
posal. Indeed, in a letter sent later to the Commission, the 
Pakistan Foreign Minister expressed regret that the Corn- 
mission had not actually made a propo~al .~  

Certainly, now that the Indian army was on the offensive, 
advancing closer and closer to her border, Pakistan might 
find it very much in her interest to stop fighting, particu- 
larly if by the establishment of a cease-fire line this ad- 
vance could be terminated. W e  also knew that when the 
case was before the Security Council, India had insisted 
upon cessation of hostilities as a first step. Now that Paki- 
stani troops had entered the conflict, she had acquired, 
however, a considerably different point of view. 

I had once asked Mr. Nehru if he would consider again 
the idea of an unconditional cease-fire order, and he had 
replied, "How can you ask for something like that? It 
means that you are putting us on the same platform with 
the other side-the intruder and the aggressor. I t  is your 
duty, as a Commission, to condemn Pakistan for having 
an army on our soil. You should compel them to with- 
draw. Otherwise, it would be as though a thief had broken 
into my house, and you would then tell him to stay and 
not to move out until some further measure had been 
taken. You treat the thief and the owner of the house as 
equals. First, the thief must get out, and then we can 
discuss further steps." 

Ibid., p. 130. 
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The prospect for any immediate cease-fire arrangement 
had to be abandoned. Nevertheless, all members of the 
Commission felt they must proceed in their mediatory 
efforts. 

Suspicion in Karachi 
The Commission moved to Karachi to get a firsthand 

picture of the situation there and to try to detect the 
mood in Pakistan's governmental circles. As in Delhi, the 
Commission held a number of official and informal meet- 
ings with the Prime Minister, Liaquat Ali Khan; the For- 
eign Minister, Sir Zafrulla Khan; the Minister of Finance, 
Ghulam Mohammed; the government's Secretary-General, 
Mohammed Ali; and other prominent members of the gov- 
ernment. All these conversations were discouraging, adding 
as they did only additional proof of the profound abyss 
which lay between the governments of India and Pakistan. 

One Sunday afternoon I was the guest of Ghulam Mo- 
hammed, now Governor-General of Pakistan. He spoke at 
length about Kashmir and Indo-Pakistan relations. With 
the fire of a fanatic believer he concluded, "For thirty 
years I have been a friend of Nehru, fighting alongside him 
against the British. Now we are free and have our own 
independent countries. But Nehru hates the mere existence 
of Pakistan and wants to destroy us. Well, he can do so. 
He has an army and weapons; we have none. He can march 
to Karachi, come to this house and thrust a dagger into 
my heart. I may die, but I will never surrender, and the 
great idea for which I have lived will live forever. W e  shall 
never give up our Kashmir." 

After a few such conversations, the Commission re- 
luctantly not only abandoned the prospect of any im- 
mediate cease-fire arrangement but alas, and even more 
discouraging, began to doubt the possibility of ever being 
able to arrange an impartial plebiscite. 

It was quite obvious to us that the people of Kashmir 
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were not politically educated to vote and that, u~lder any 
feeling of pressure, they would not express their wish freely. 
Only an almost completely demilitarized country would 
enable them to express thenlselves honestly at the polls. 
But there appeared no hope that India would agree to such 
a substantial demilitarization. Besides, the country was so 
vast and so rugged, villages were spread over such enormous 
distances, that the mere technicality of carryi~lg out the 
plebiscite seemed beyond the scope of reality. 

It was at  this point that the idea of partitioning Kashmir 
began slowly to emerge as at least one line of action. Such 
a partition would be based largely on ethnical principles 
though giving due consideration to economic, geographical, 
and strategic needs. The Con~nlission had no mandate 
from the Security Council even to explore such a possi- 
bility, but we felt by this time that any solution acceptable 
to India and Pakistan would be welcon~ed. 

I spoke at length with Sir Zafrulla Khan about the idea 
of a partition. I told him about the discouraging experi- 
ences we had had in Europe with plebiscites which had 
turned into mere instruments of propaganda, pressure, and 
falsification, and I cited those conducted by Hitler and by 
the Communists. He realized all this but insisted that it 
was up to the United Nations to secure conditions con- 
ducive to a free plebiscite in Kashmir. 

When on another occasion I proposed to Ghulam Mo- 
hammed that he consider the idea of partitioning Kashmir, 
telling him that India was inclined to such a solution, he 
told me that no partition which would give India more 
than East Jammu would be acceptable; all the rest of the 
country, being predominantly Muslim, would have to go 
to Pakistan. 

Once again the Commission was thwarted. There seemed 
to be no line of exploratory investigation that did not run 
into the stubborn resistance of either Delhi or Karachi. SO, 
perhaps out of sheer desperation, the Commission returned 
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once more to its original mission as determined by the 
Security Council. 

We determined to draw up a resolution-no matter how 
rnild-that would be acceptable to both Delhi and Karachi 
and that would, if nothing more, initiate the habit of 
mutual agreement. But from the first we realized one thing: 
that no resolution of any type would be at all acceptable 
to Delhi unless it expressed disapproval of the presence 
of the Pakistan army in Kashmir. 

We also thought that at this point Pakistan was most 
vulnerable, that perhaps we could impress her with that 
vulnerability to the place that she would, though reluc- 
tantly, accept in our resolution some statement of disap- 
proval of the presence of her troops in Kashmir. For this 
reason, we launched an investigation into this phase of the 
problem. 

Sir Ambrose Dundas, the governor of the North-West 
Frontier Province, gave the Commission a three-hour dis- 
course on the tribesmen among whom he had lived for 
twenty-five years. He spoke about their history, their po- 
litical and economic problems, their political organization 
and military passions, their religious zeal and their cru- 
sading spirit. He described the British policy of keeping 
them calm with financial subsidies and militarv vigilance, 
and the policy of the present government of Pakistan to 
pacify them with a spirit of friendliness. He explained their 
invasion of Kashmir as a response to the communal strife 
in Punjab and to the oppression of Muslims in Kashmir 
by the Maharaja. Once it started rolling, this onslaught 
could not be stopped, and any attempt to do so would 
have been met with fury, inviting war with Pakistan. 

He claimed the further necessity of channeling the in- 
vasion by giving the tribesmen gasoline and letting them 
board trains. Pakistan herself was in a stage of administra- 
tive chaos, militarily weak, inundated by millions of refu- 
gees, absolutely unable to resist the fanatical onslaught. 
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General Sir Douglas Gracey, the commander-in-chief of 
the Pakistan army, presented to the Commission a lengthy 
exploration of the military situation and elaborated the 
reasons which had led the government, upon his recom- 
mendation, to the decision to send its army to Kashmir. 
I t  will be remembered that this was the same General 
Gracey who, in October 1947, had refused to follow the 
order of Governor-General Jinnah to send the Pakistani 
army to Kashmir, after the Indian army had come to 
rescue Srinagar from the tribesmen. But when, in May 
1948, the Indian army began to approach the borders of 
Pakistan, he felt she could no longer remain passive. 

The Pakistani army's intelligence service, he reported, 
was in possession of reports indicating that the Indian army 
had been preparing itself for a general offensive with the 
aim of finishing off the Kashmir campaign. The plan was 
to reach strategic places in the northwest and southwest 
areas of the state very close to the Pakistan boundaries. 
These were overpopulated regions, almost loo per cent 
Muslim. 

Had the plan been accomplished, the Pakistani authori- 
ties maintained, it would have meant disaster for Pakistan 
herself. First, the Indian government would have put be- 
fore the whole world the possession of Kashmir as a fait 
accompli. Second, it would have inundated Pakistan with 
an additional several hundreds of thousands of refugees who 
would have further disrupted her chaotic economy. Third, 
it would have placed the Indian army on the long Pakistan 
border and within thirty miles of the strategic railway lead- 
ing from Peshawar through West Punjab to Lahore. Paki- 
stan would then have been at the mercy of India, which, as 
people in Karachi were convinced, desired nothing less 
than to remove Pakistan from the map. Fourth, to weaken 
Pakistan from within, the Indian push toward the north 
would allow the Indian army to reach the boundaries of 
the Pakistani states, Chitral and Swat, and further establish 
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a physical link with the leaders of the anti-Pakistani move- 
ment for independent Pathanistan, with whom the Indian 
government was suspected to be in contact. It  would have 
opcmd the opportunity also for a pincers move~nent against 
Pakistan by India and Afghanistan, the latter having shown 
a suspicious interest in the Pathan movement. Fifth, the oc- 
cupation of the lower waters of three Kashmir rivers flowing 
to Pakistan would have placed India in a position to strangle 
Pakistan economically. 

This latter economic threat was highly important in the 
minds of the Pakistani leaders. The waters of six rivers- 
the Indus, Jhelum, Chenab, Ravi, Beas, and Sutlei-with 
their elaborate systems of irrigation canals had been in- 
dispensable to the agriculture of the Subcontinent. The 
partition brought the river Beas under the complete con- 
trol of India. The Ravi and Sutlej flow through both India 
and Pakistan, but their headwaters are in India. The Indus 
begins in Tibet and flows through Kashmir; the Jhelum and 
Chenab headwaters are in Kashmir. A land of 35 million 
acres had been irrigated by 16 canals before the partition. 
Now the boundary lines cut through both rivers and canals, 
but their waters would still irrigate 19 million acres of land 
in Pakistan. The occupation of these rivers and their dams 
by the Indian army and the eventual diversion of their 
waters through canals would have meant Pakistan's quick 
economic death. 

The Indian government rejected with indignation the ac- 
cusation of having ever planned such a project, pointing 
first to the physical impossibility of diverting these waters 
and to the financial burden of such an idea, and, second, 
to the enormous quantity of these waters, which are more 
than sufficient to satisfy the needs of both countries. 

But the Pakistani government, despite India's denials, 
lived in intense fear that the approach of the Indian army 
to the Pakistan border would spell the end of her inde- 
pendence. T o  avoid this danger, said her leaders, the Paki- 
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stan army was ordered to move to Kashmir and stop the 
advance of the Indian troops. 

The Commission listened sympathetically to this detailed 
explanation. Nevertheless, it explained to the Pakistanis, 
the movement of these troops into foreign territory without 
the invitation of that territory's government was a violation 
of international law; it had seriously aggravated the problem 
and had given India certain rights to complain. These com- 
plaints, it then further explained, must be reflected in any 
Commission findings and, moreover, the Commission would 
necessarily, on the same grounds, have to give some ex- 
pression to the complaint. Having thus prepared Pakistan 
for what was coming, the Commission prepared a resolution 
and adopted it on Friday, August 13. The resolution was 
carried unanimously. 

The Resolution-The First Pillar 
Lack of space does not allow a complete analysis of every 

paragraph of the most important terms of the resolution. It 
will suffice to say that its main purpose was to arrange for 
a cessation of hostilities, to define in broad outlines the con- 
ditions of a truce, and to restate the principle that the final 
fate of the State of Jammu and Kashmir would be decided 
by a plebiscite. Accordingly, the resolution was divided into 
three parts.'' 

In Part I the governments of India and Pakistan were to 
agree upon the issuing of a cease-fire order within four days 
after their acceptance of the resolution. The Commission 
would appoint military observers to supervise the observ- 
ance of the cease-fire. 

In Part 11 both governments were to accept the following 
principles of a truce agreement: (1 ) Pakistan would with- 
draw her troops from Kashmir, "as the presence of troops 
of Pakistan in the territory of the State of Jammu and 

lo For the text of the resolution, see Appendix 11. 
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Kashmir constitutes a material change in the situation since 
it was represented by the government of Pakistan before 
the Security Council. . . . " (This was the slap on the wrist 
the Commission delivered to Pakistan. I t  could hardly be 
labeled a denunciation, but though Nehru later described 
it as at best "feeble" he accepted it as at least an admission 
of the illegal presence of the Pakistani army in Kashmir.) 
( 2 )  The tribesmen and Pakistani nationals would withdraw. 
( 3 )  The territory evacuated by the Pakistani troops would 
be administered by the local authorities under the surveil- 
lance of the Commission. (4)  The government of India 
would begin to withdraw the bulk of its forces from Kash- 
mir after the Commission had notified them that the tribes- 
men and Pakistani nationals had withdrawn and that the 
Pakistani forces were being withdrawn. ( 5 )  Pending the 
acceptance of the conditions for a final settlement of the 
dispute, India would maintain within the lines existing at 
the moment of cease-fire a minimum force to assist local 
authorities in the observance of law and order. 

According to Part 111, both governments were asked to re- 
affirm their agreement that the future of Kashmir would be 
determined in accordance with the will of the people. 

The Commission split into two sections to present its 
proposal simultaneously in Delhi and Karachi and to put 
its services at the disposal of both governments if any ex- 
planations were required. They were required. Every word 
was carefully weighed in both capitals. 

In Delhi the Commission was received by the Prime 
Minister, who put to its members scores of such questions 
as: Will the Indian forces be permitted to occupy stra- 
tegic points? Would not the acceptance of the cease-fire 
give certain legality to the presence of Pakistani troops in 
Kashmir? Did the wording of the resolution imply any 
legal change in the status of the Kashmir government? Did 
the term "law and order" imply security from external ag- 
gression? And the cardinal question: May the government 
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of India suggest any change in these proposals? The answer 
to this final question was "no." 

The Prime Minister also expressed concern about the 
danger of Pakistan's violating the truce. I answered, on be- 
half of the Commission, "Should the eventuality . . . occur, 
the whole weight of the United Nations would be turned 
against P a k i ~ t a n . " ~ ~  The Prime Minister merely raised his 
eyes and smiled with gentle but obvious skepticism. The 
look told us with convincing clarity of the delicate and 
difficult position of a Con~mission representing the United 
Nations, whose prestige had suffered so much from its 
previous failures to solve international disputes. 

However, one week later, on August 20, the government 
of India signified to the Commission its acceptance of thc 
resolution, accompanying it with a number of points of 
interpretation previously agreed upon. Mr. Ayyangar had 
expressed the view privately that "the resolution was a re- 
markable piece of work." 

Meanwhile, another diplomatic struggle went on in Ka- 
rachi between the government of Pakistan and the other 

- 

section of the Commission. It was a more difficult, a harder, 
and a fiercer struggle than in Delhi. Sir Zafrulla Khan har- 

- - 

assed the Commission with a number of questions which 
plainly revealed his suspicion of the Commission's imparti- 
ality and his resentment at what he felt to be the inade- 
quacy of its proposal. He formulated his inquiries in writing, 
and it took several days to prepare an answer.12 

The Commission then spent more than ten days in Ka- 
4 4 rachi, giving oral and written explanations, elucidations, 

and interpretations" of its resolution. Conversations wit11 
Sir Zafrulla lasted hours on end and touched upon almost 
every word and its exact meaning. Every eventuality was 
scrutinized by him. What  would happen . . . ? What would 
the Commission do if . . . ? Did you bear in mind the 

l1 S.C.O.R. Third Year, Supplement for November, 1948, p. 103 
l2 Ibid., pp. 129-1 38. 
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possibility of . . . ? What  is meant by "local authorities"? 
"evacuated territory"? "surveillance"? Could you specify 
the role of military observers? What  do you mean by "the 
future status of the State of Jammu and Kashmir"? and 
hundreds of other questions. They were aimed in part at 
renlovi~lg all doubt or possible misinterpretation, but they 
revealed as well a deep-seated mistrust of India. 

Sir Zafrulla proved to be a master of brilliant juridical 
analysis, and as I was chairman of the Commission at the 
time, he hurled interrogations at me until I was exhausted. 
He assured the Commission of his complete trust in its 
integrity, but suspected India. The Commission could only 
reply that good faith in the intentions of the other party 
is the only possible basis for negotiation and that the Com- 
mission had no power to impose anything, only to mediate. 

A remark that India would be exposed to the moral con- 
demnation of the United Nations, and possibly to even 
graver consequences if she violated the resolution, evoked 
from Sir Zafrulla a reaction similar to that given me by 
Pandit Nehru. I t  was disturbing to say the least to see so 

- 

clearly this lack of belief in the prestige and power of the 
United Nations. But the discussions continued, with oral 
explanations supplemented by lengthy letters? 

Then the Commission met informally (at a tea party in 
order not to cause resentment in India) the leaders of the 
Azad Kashmir government, Chaudhri Ghulam Abbas and 
Sardar Mohammed Ibrahim Khan, to hear their reactions 
to the resolution and to attempt to convince them of its 
fairness. 

Meanwhile the government of India, which had accepted 
the resolution more than two weeks before, began to urge 
the Commission to publish the resolution and the accom- 
panying documentation because of an impending session of 
the Indian Parliament. But nothing could be done until we 

la Ibid., pp. 39-47. 
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had heard from Pakistan, and for that answer wc waited 
with trepidation. 

The answer came on Septeinber 6, 1948.l.' The govern- 
ment of Pakistan accepted the resolution-but it attaclied 
so many reservations, qualifications, and assuillptions that 
the Comnlission had to consider its answer as "tantainount 
to rejection." Again a number of letters were exchanged, 
but they did little to bring Pakistan closer to actual-ac- 
ceptance. Among many objections, Pakistan's main preoc- 
cupation was the absence of detailed guarantees for a free 
plebiscite in Kashmir. Basically the Comn~ission was in full 
agreement with this Pakistani position, but its resolution 
was designed first to stop hostilities and later to negotiate 
about the details of the plebiscite. Pakistan obviously was of 
the opinion that once the fighting had stopped, India would 
be satisfied with a de facto division of Kasllinir (the better 
part of which was in her possession), the situation would 
subsequently become stabilized, and India would then ob- 
struct a free plebiscite. 

The Commission was bitterly disappointed. Its efforts 
seemed frustrated by Pakistan's suspicions of India (sus- 
picions which in the light of present-day developinents inay 
have been justified), but at that time the profound hope of 
reaching some agreement made Pakistan's position seem 
unnecessarily recalcitrant. The Conlmission decided to 
leave the subcontinent and prepare a report for the Se- 
curity Council. 

In retrospect, two questions emerge as to the wisdom of 
the Con~mission's procedure in regard to the resolution. 
The first of these is, Was it wise to have presented the reso- 
lution to the two parties on such a (as a member of the 
Indian government phrased it) "take it or leave it" basis? 
Would it have been better to have presented it as a tenta- 
tive proposal, subject to negotiation and modification? 
Many worthy arguments might be presented for either 

l4 Ibid., pp. 41-45. 
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course of action, but in the minds of the Commission nlern- 
hers the time had coille when coilcrete proposals, carefully 

and based on our best understanding of the prob- 
lem, should be rather unequivocably presented. Any other 

we felt would oilly produce additional wrangling, 
consultations, and postponements-but no action. 

The second question was the product of Pakistan's re- 
action, wllich was tantamount to a rejectioil of the reso- 
lution. Under these circun~stances, was it wise to leave the 
Subcontinent? Should we not remain and try again? Once 
more it could be readily argued either way, but the subse- 
quent developments in Paris would seen] to indicate that 
the decision was a correct one. 

But before we left for Paris one further step seemed im- 
perative-a visit to Kashmir, the area in dispute. 

To Sritzagar at Last 
Part of the Commission left immediately for Srinagar, 

to be joined later by the rest, who, headed by the American 
member, Ambassador Klahr Huddle, had been investigating 
the situation on the Azad Kashnlir side. 

Our UN marked plane flew over the snow-covered Pir 
Panjal mountains. Unlike the rocky, barren hills of Jammu 
lying south of Pir Panjal, on the north an impressive pano- 
rama of fresh meadows, forests, lakes, rivers, and streams 
presented itself. I t  was the fabulous Kashmir Valley. W e  
landed at the Srinagar airport, which only ten months be- 
fore had almost fallen to tribesmen. W e  were accommo- 
dated in one of the Maharaja's guest houses, enjoying, after 
two months of oppressive heat in Delhi and Karachi, the 
refreshing air of Srinagar. 

We went for walks and tried to mingle with the local 
people, but they returned our overtures with anxiety, as if 
afraid to talk to us. The streets of Srinagar were busy, but 
the shops were empty, and one could immediately observe 
that with the war the main source of income, the tourists, 
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had gone. The first evening we took a pleasure trip on Dal 
Lake. Along its shores and on the river were hundreds of 
houseboats, mostly abandoned. Only a few families of for- 
mer British officers and civil servants continued to spend 
their quiet days on the placid waters of the lake, undis- 
turbed by the fury which had so recently surrounded them. 

The time spent in Kashmir was most revealing. The 
Commission used it to good advantage, exchanging views 
with the members of Sheikh Abdullah's government and 
visiting the scene of several battles. 

The contacts with Sheikh Abdullah and his colleagues 
developed slowly. At first they were reluctant to speak up. 
On one point, however, they expressed themselves fully: 
they disliked the fact that negotiations about the fate of 
Kashmir had taken place outside Kashmir and without their 
participation. They resented the fact that the Commission 
had come to Srinagar only after it had passed its resolution. 
Apparently they did not know that their own central gov- 
ernment had discouraged an earlier visit. But after the ice 
was broken, the Kashmiri leaders began to speak with frank- 
ness. 

One evening Sheikh Abdullah gave a reception for the 
Commission in the famous Shalimar gardens. They were 
even more beautiful than legend would lead one to believe. 
The sun bathed the snows of the Himalayas in gold and 
threw a fantastic display of colors over the calm waters of 
Dal Lake. Between the heavy green lawns of the gardens, 
built in a sequence of terraces, elaborate streams of water 
slipped softly from one terrace to another, and throughout 
the garden massed banks of tulips flared in riotous colors. 
The orchestra of bagpipers reminded us of the British past. 

After the party I went for a walk with Sheikh Abdullah. 
He spoke at length about the origin of his movement, his 
fight against the Maharaja, and the problem of accession. 
Here was a Muslim leader who believed, as did India, in a 
noncommunal, secular state but who was aware of the fa- 
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natical devotion of his followers to Islam. What, then, 
should he do? Pakistan was a reactionary country, he said, 
and he was convinced that a union of Kashmir with Paki- 
stan would finally work against the interests of his people. 
They would be better off with India-but what could he 
do if the sentiments of his people pushed them in a di- 
rection against his better judgment? 

Sheikh Abdullah did not conceal his helplessness. "I have 
meditated about four possible solutions to our problem," 
he said. "First or second-accession to India or Pakistan 
through a plebiscite. This could not take place in less than 
three years because of the destruction of the country and 
the dislocation of its population. Even then it would be 
difficult to ascertain impartially the wishes of the people 
scattered over large areas and possibly subjected to intimi- 
dation. Would such a plebiscite be democratic and would 
India or Pakistan accept the verdict? 

"Third, there is a possibility of independence under the 
joint guarantee of India, Pakistan, Afghanistan, China, and 
the Soviet Union. I would be willing to meet the leader of 
Azad Kashmir, Ghulam Abbas, with whom I was once tied 
by bonds of friendship and a common struggle. We had 
been together in prison and often had discussed the future 
of our country. But even should Kashmir's powerful neigh- 
bors agree to give us a guarantee of independence, I doubt 
that it could last for long. 

1 6  There is in my opinion, therefore, only one solution 
open," Sheikh Abdullah concluded. "That is the division of 
the country. If it is not achieved, the fighting will con- 
tinue; India and Pakistan will prolong the quarrel indefi- 
nitely and our people's suffering will go on." 

I asked whether-the conflict could not be settled by wav 
of arbitration. He replied that he personally would be agree- 
able to an attempt,-but was convinced that neither India 
nor Pakistan would agree, and most certainly not on the 
composition of an arbitration committee. 
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It was difficult to judge from his rather n~elancholic rea- 
soning whether Abdullah fully followed the attitude of 
Pandit Nehru. The Indian government had indicated previ- 
ously its willingness to divide Kashmir between India and 
Pakistan. But there seemed to be this important difference 
-that while India seemed ready to divide the co~lntry as 
a realistic solution, Sheikh Abdullah saw in it an act of des- 
peration and last resort. 

W e  knew, however, that Pakistan would refuse to con- 
sider any division of the country which would give the 
Valley of Kashmir with its overwhelming majority of Mus- 
lims to India. She felt she could not abandon the fate of 
the Kashmiris who preferred (the Pakistanis were sure) to 
join Pakistan. And indeed the Comn~ission's experience in 
Kashmir supported this opinion. 

Time and again the individual members of the Com- 
mission and its secretariat were secretly approached, and 
the people-simple, modest, and humble Kashmiris-would 
tell them with tears in their eyes how anxiously everyone 
awaited the arrival of the United Nations Commission. In 
shops, in streets, and through letters written by various 
women, youth organizations, and anonymous individuals, 
the Commission was beseeched to undo the wrongs, to stop 
the political terror and corruption, and to make it possible 
for them to choose freely. 

One morning the government at Srinagar arranged an 
excursion for the Commission to Baramula, a town thirty- 
five miles from the capital. On the way one could see the 
evidences of the tribesmen's savage attack: houses were de- 
stroyed, small villages burned to the ground. Baramula it- 
self was a place of destruction and misery. The Commis- 
sion went from one place to another encircled by the police 
and accompanied by thousands of wretched people. At one 
place a meeting was arranged and someone spoke. Groups 
of people among the crowd responded with "India, Kash- 
mir, Sheikh Abdullah, Zindabad! Long live the union be- 
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tween India and Kashmir!" Anyone who had lived in a 
totalitarian country immediately recognized that the meth- 
ods of organizing a "spontaneous" expression of the masses 
were the same the totalitarian world over. 

At one moment a young man broke the police cordon, 
threw a paper in front of the Commission, and shouted in 
English, "I want to tell you that these people oppress us." 
The police took him away immediately, but one could still 
hear him shouting from among the crowd, "Long live 
Pakistan!" 

This was a disturbing scene for the Commission, which 
had been assured that the people enjoyed political freedom 
in Kashmir. I t  asked its host, the district commissioner, to 
send for the man and to bring him before the Commission. 
A few minutes later a man appeared, but it was quite ob- 
viously not the young man who had spoken to us. When 
this fact was brought to the con~missioner's attention, he 
insisted that it was the same person, but the substitute him- 
self disrupted the attempted deception. "Yes," he said, 
"I am somebody else. My friend is in prison, but it does 
not matter; I can also tell you that we want to join Paki- 
stan." 

On the other hand, back in Srinagar that afternoon we 
received quite a different impression. \Ve attended a service 
at an old mosque where Sheikh Abdullah was preaching 
to several thousand believers. W i l e  small groups of Mus- 
lims prayed, completely submerged in religious devotion. 
Sheikh Abdullah spoke before a microphone from a window 
to some 4,000 who sat quietly in an open space listen- 
ing with rapt attention, their faith and loyalty quite obvious 
in their faces. Nor could we notice any police, so often used 
to induce such loyalty. 

At Srinagar and elsewhere we spoke with Indian officers. 
They had no stomach for the war, nor did they conceal their 
loathing of the Kashmir government. Some of them, whose 
darker skins indicated that they came from South India, 
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showed complete disinterest in the Kashmir conflict, saying 
they never had any sentimental attachment to the country 
or any political understanding of why Kashmir should be 
part of India. 

The Comn~ission was getting well acquainted with the 
situation in the country. A military subcomn~issio~~ prepared 
a detailed study of the military aspect of the Commission's 
work, while another committee of alternates inquired thor- 
oughly into its political and economic phases. The picture 
they acquired was in no way encouraging. 

To  blacken it even more, the death of Mohammed Ali 
Jinnah threw a dark shadow of uncertainty over the entire 
scene. The Indian army marched into Hyderabad, and in 
Palestine the United Nations representative, Count Berna- 
dotte, was assassinated. None of these events contributed to 
the position of the Commission. 

On September 21, 1948, the Commission left Srinagar 
for Geneva to prepare its report to the Security Council, 
which was in session at that time in Paris. I t  left Kashmir, 
deeply disappointed that it had been unable to stop the 
fighting and thereby bring some degree of peace to the suf- 
fering Kashmiris. 

Pakistan's refusal of the Commission's resolution had 
been discouraging, but even more so was the general at- 
titude of both governments towards its efforts. The Prime 
Ministers of both countries would say, "We want to assist 
the Commission," or, "We wish to facilitate your task," 
speaking as though the struggle in Kashmir were exclusively 
a United Nations affair in which India and Pakistan were 
only interested observers. Even more disheartening were 
such opinions as those expressed by the Indian Deputy 
Prime Minister, Sardar Patel, who, after the Commission 
had left the Subcontinent, openly criticized the United 
Nations, declaring that the Kashmir conflict could be solved 
if India could be released from the embarrassment of the 
United Nations investigation, adding to his criticism the 
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shocking comment that the Security Council had become 
an "insecurity council and a disturber of peace."15 

The Com~nission, however, did not give up hope. It con- 
tinued its work in Paris in the optimistic expectation that 
the international atmosphere of Paris, where the General 
Assembly of the United Nations and prominent statesmen 
from all over the world were assembled, would be con- 
ducive to further negotiations. Developments did not fall 
short of these expectations. 

The Con~mission held a number of meetings and re- 
entered formal and informal consultations with the Indian 
and Pakistan representatives in Paris. Its work was for a 
while disrupted by news, submitted by Sir Zafrulla Khan, 
about increased military activities. The Indian government 
denied this report and rejected the Pakistani complaint, but 
the Commission made use of the opportunity to secure 
from both governments their approval for the dispatch to 
the Subcontinent of a military adviser to the Commission. 

The Commission then drafted a proposal, the main pur- 
pose of which was to supplement its resolution of August 
13 by enunciating principles which would govern the en- 
visaged plebiscite. It hoped thus to satisfy Pakistan's request 
for more assurance of an eventual plebiscite. 

Another Resolution-The Second Pillar 
The new proposal, therefore, stated unequivocally, "The 

question of the accession of the State of Jammu and Kash- 
mir to India or Pakistan will be decided through the demo- 
cratic method of a free and impartial plebiscite." I t  also 
made provisions for the nomination of a plebiscite admin- 
istrator who would be "a personality of high international 
standing and commanding general confidence." Though he 
was to be formally appointed by the government of Jammu 
and Kashmir-for the technical reason of not interfering 
with the sovereign rights of that country-it was provided 

l6 The Times (London), October 2, 1948. 
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that he would possess such powers as he would consider 
"necessary for organizing and conducting the plebiscite and 
for ensuring the freedom and impartiality of the plebiscite." 

After the fighting had ceased and the truce agreement as 
envisaged in Part 11 of the resolution was implemented, the 
Commission and plebiscite administrator, in consultation 
with the government of India and the Azad authorities, 
would determine the final disposal of the Indian and Azad 
forces respectively. The purpose of this formulation was to 
bring about a further withdrawal and disarmament of the 
military units in Kashmir to the absolute minimum re- 
quired for the security of the state and below a point that 
could expose the population to the possibility of threat or 
intimidation. 

The proposal then went on to elaborate the principles of 
securing the return of refugees and the freedom of political 
activities during the period of plebiscite preparations and 
actual voting. 

The Commission sent its member for Colon~bia, Mr. 
Alfredo Lozano, and his alternate, Mr. Hernando Samper, 
to the Subcontinent to be at the disposal of both govern- 
ments for any explanation of the proposal. Pandit Nehru 
expressed concern as to whether the proposal did not ex- 
clude the possibility of seeking other methods for ascertain- 
ing the wish of the Kashmir people if the holding of a pleb- 
iscite should prove to be impossible, though he insisted that 
the government of India still adhered to this method. He 
was opposed to the idea of appointing the plebiscite admin- 
istrator before the truce would be fully implemented; he 
did not wish the plebiscite administrator to have powers 
which would imply any right of interference in the ad- 
ministration of the state; he insisted upon large-scale dis- 
bandment and disarming of the Azad forces; he regarded 
appeals to religious fanaticism as going bevond the scope 
of legitimate political activities; he emphasized the supreme 
importance of the maintenance of the security of Kashmir 
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and hinted that adequate Indian forces should remain in 
the country during the plebiscite period. 

Sir Zafrulla Khan wished, on the other side, that the 
$ebiscite administrator be selected "as soon as possible" 
and that the organizing and conducting of the plebiscite 
fall within his exclusive responsibility. 

Despite these reservations, questions, and dissents, how- 
ever, both goveriln~ents finally accepted the proposal and, as 
the first step, ordered a cease-fire in Kashmir effective one 
minute before midnight, January 1, 1949. 

For the first time in fourteen bitter months the Kashmiris 
found relief from the nightmare of killing and were given 
some hope for a peaceful future. Hundreds of homes had 
been destroyed. An unknown number of people had been 
killed, and hatred plagued those who survived. The number 
of refugees had reached overwhelining proportions: 52 5,000 
in Pakistan and the Azad territory (375,000 and 150,ooo 
respectively), and 226,000 in India and on Sheikh Abdul- 
lah's territory (45,000 and 181,000 respectively), among 
them 20,000 widows. 

It would be difficult to describe the feeling of the mein- 
bers of the Commission. The long months of labor, for 
which so frequently the reward had been disappointment 
and frustration, had finally produced at least this one im- 
portant result-had at least brought some peace and prom- 
ise to the suffering Kashmiris. Perhaps, too, this first step 
would open the gates to friendlier collaboration between 
Pakistan and India. Certainly also in their minds was the 
profound hope that this success would strengthen the 
prestige of the United Nations. 

On January 5, 1949, the Commission met at Lake Suc- 
cess to embody its proposal in a formal resolution.'" was 
honored as the chairman of the Coinmission to report to 
the Security Council the happy conclusion of the first part 

la For the text, see Appendix III. 
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of its mission.17 The Con~nlissio~l had held all together 1 1 1 
meetings, and one of its most remarkable achievetlle~lts was 
that all its decisions had been u~la~linlously supported. 

But this unanimous approach to further proble~lls which 
arose in implementing the Commission's resolutions of 
August 13 ,  1947, and January 5, 1949, was not to last. 1 
left the Commission for political reasons, and the Com- 
munist government of Czechoslovakia nominated a delegate 
who almost immediately embarked upon the Soviet-Com- 
munist tactic of disrupting the structure of peace. 

lm~Iementution of the Resolutions 
The Conlmission returned to the Subcontinent on Feb- 

ruary 4, 1949, to implenlent the terms of the cease-fire, pot 
into effect the truce agreement, and prepare the plebiscite. 
Its activities were as strenuous as those of its first mission. 
I t  held another 126 meetings in Delhi, Karachi, Srinagar. 
and Rawalpindi. It negotiated with the Indian and Paki- 
stan representatives officially and conversed with them in- 
formally. I t  travelled extensively in Kashmir and consti- 
tuted subcommissions to study specific problems. But it 
ran into enormous difficulties, which were partly due to its 
own lack of cohesion. The Czechoslovak delegate sabo- 
taged the Comn~ission's efforts, encouraged intrigue anlong 
individual delegates, and reported regularlv to Sheikh Ab- 
dullah on its confidential meetings. 

If the Comn~ission's activities are dealt with somewhat 
briefly it is because their detailed description and analysis 
would prolong this account beyond reasonable limits. 

Before the Con~nlission arrived, the commanders-in-chief 
of the Pakistan and Indian armies had already met on Janu- 
ary 1 5  and arranged, in the presence of the  commission'^ 
military adviser, the details of the cease-fire order. India al- 
ready had withdrawn one squadron of her air force, and 

l7 For details and the Second Interim Report of the UN Com- 
mission see S/i 196, of January lo, 1949. 
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Pakistan had also begun to withdraw. Local adjustments of 
the cease-fire line were agreed upon, and proposals were 

to effect the truce. Agreement also was reached 
011 eschange of prisoners of war." 

\Vhen the Comn~ission met the Pakistan Foreign hIin- 
ister, he was in a position to inform them "that consider- 
able progress lrad already been made in the withdrawal from 
tlre State of Jammu and Kashmir of tribes~nen and Paki- 
stan nationals not fornlallv resident tllerein, who had en- 
tered the State for the purpose of fighting," and "he be- 
lieved that by the nliddle of that month [Februarvl. the 
obligation of the Pakistan Government in this respect 
would have bee11 fulfilled."" e pointed to the necessih 
of defining the terlns "evacuated territory," "local authori- 
ties." and "snrveillancc." as they appeared in the Commis- 
sion's resolution. 

A few days later. the representative of India. Sir Girja 
S. Rnjpai, suggested that "the scope and the meaning of 
the resolutions of August 1 3  and Januanr 5 should he clearlv 
undcrstood." as well as the terms "local authorities." and 
1 1 sur\~eillance.'' Then came the jolt. Hc nanled "the dis- 
banding and disarming on a large scale of the Azad forces 
as an essential condition to be flllfilled before anv plebiscite 
could be held."*O 

This statement heralded new difficulties. The terms of 
the Con~n~ission's proposals. accepted by both governments 
as the basis for the truce, had contain;d no suggestion of 
disbanding or disarn~ing the Aznd forces during the truce 
period. Now India had thrust this new elenlent into the 
picture. Pakistan, disturbed bv the proposal. once again 
questioned India's good will. 

hlean~~~hile.  at Lake Success, a man was hard at work on 
preparatory studies for the co~lducting of a plebiscite in 

'"or details see S.C.O.R. Fourth Year, Special Supplement. No. 
7 .  Annex 47, pp. 169-172. 

l v b i d . ,  p. 2 9 .  Ibid. 
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Kashmir. He had been nominated in March, 1949 by the 
United Nations' Secretary-General, Trygve Lie, after con- 
sultation with the governments of India and Pakistan and 
at the reconlmendation of the Com~nission. 

This man was Fleet Admiral Chester W. Nimitz, the 
former commander-in-chief of the Pacific Fleet and Pacific 
Ocean Areas in World War 11. There could have been no 
better choice. A man of unquestioned integrity, of recog- 
nized international prestige, with a knowledge of and ex- 
perience in administrative and organizational tasks, a per- 
son of charming and modest manners, though with an air 
of authority, Admiral Nimitz accepted the task of plebiscite 
administrator with devotion and thoroughness. He spent 
several months reading the literature on India, Pakistan, 
and Kashmir; he studied the geography of Kashmir; ac- 
quainted himself with the political, cultural, religious, 
health, and economic conditions of the country; he became 
acquainted with the voting rolls and analyzed the technical 
aspects of the envisaged election which was to be the first 
universal and democratic plebiscite in Kashmir. He out- 
lined in full detail the work of the staff which was to assist 
him in his task. Had the governments of India and Paki- 
stan reached agreement on measures to be taken preceding 
the actual carrying out of the plebiscite, Admiral Nimitz 
could have moved to Srinagar to undertake his task without 
delay. 

But, first, Kashmir had to be demilitarized-and this was 
going badly. The two governments were asked by the Com- 
mission to present a plan of their own for the withdrawal 
of their forces. The proposals differed materially. The Com- 
mission then submitted its own proposal, which had been 
elaborated in the spirit of its resolutions. Neither India nor 
Pakistan accepted it. The Commission, trying again to 
reconcile the views of both governments, prepared another 
proposal for the demilitarization of Kashmir as envisaged 
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in the truce agreement and asked for its "unreserved ac- 
ceptance." The answers were again in the negative. The 
Cominission made another attempt by sending its repre- 
sentatives to Delhi and Karachi to discover "on what con- 
ditions they would accept the truce terms." Again it was 
evident that India was principally preoccupied with the 
control of the sparsely populated areas north and northwest 
of Kashmir proper, a control which clearly went beyond the 
stipulations of the accepted resolutions. She also continued 
to insist upon the disbanding and disarming of the Azad 
forces, an act never envisaged at that stage by the Commis- 
sion. Pakistan's final answer elaborated on a number of 
points of the Commission's truce terms, but principally she 
based her rejection upon the fact that India refused to 
reveal the scope and schedule of the withdrawal of her 
troops from Kashmir. 

The Commission tried hard to overcome these differ- 
ences by suggesting a common meeting with the repre- 
sentatives of both governments; but they could not even 
agree upon the nature of the agenda, and the idea of a 
common meeting had to be abandoned. 

After all mediation efforts were exhausted, the Com- 
mission suggested an arbitration of all differences which had 
arisen about the implementation of the truce agreement. 
Fleet Admiral Chester W. Nimitz was proposed as arbitra- 
tor. This move was supported by President Truman and 
Prime Minister Attlee, who sent messages to the Prime 
Ministers of India and Pakistan, urging thein to accept the 
Commission's proposal. Pakistan accepted, but India re- 
jected the proposition of international arbitration. Her con- 
crete objection was that the scope of the arbitration was 
not known in advance and the government of India con- 
sidered that "this procedure [was] novel and without prece- 
dent and could hardly be justified"; she could "only express 
surprise and disappointment at the attitude of the Corn- 
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rni~sion, ' '~~ as it was forgetting the past, namely, the moral 
aspect of the Kashmir conflict. 

This opinion was openly voiced by Pandit Nehru, who 
further declared his surprise "at the intervention of Presi- 
dent Truman and Prime Minister Attlee in the Kashmir 
dispute." Me reminded the world of Pakistan's "unwar- 
ranted aggression against international law," and felt that 
". . . it is not right to sidetrack the basic cause of the con- 
f l i ~ t . ' ? ~ ~  He considered that "Pakistan's perfidy and her part 
in despoiling Kashmir which, in spite of her vigorous denial, 
the Commission itself found true, are sought to be for- 
gotten."28 

And so, once more, all the months of labor and frustra- 
tion were in vain. The resolutions of the Comn~ission of 
August 13, 1948, and January 5, 1949, sorely provided a 
solid basis for the final settlement. But their implementa- 
tion had been defeated once more by the lack of mutual 
trust on the part of the two nations, by their totally dif- 
ferent evaluation of the causes of the Kashmir conflict, and 
especially (for so it must appear after all the Commission's 
efforts) by a lack of good will on the part of India. 

Once again it was the old story. India, clinging to the 
legality of the accession, considered it her right and duty 
to defend Kashmir against the danger of renewed external 
aggression. She persistently refused to disclose to the Paki- 
stan representatives the strength of her army in Kashmir, 
the bulk of which she had agreed to withdraw, this despite 
the fact that in negotiations between the two countries she 
had repeatedly asserted her wish to establish friendly rela- 
tions. Such a procedure could only strengthen Pakistan's 
suspicions as to India's real intentions. 

On the other hand, the problem of disbanding and dis- 
arming the Azad forces proved equally difficult. The Com- 

21 Ibid., p. 143. 
22 From Nehru's speech in Allahabad, September 4, 1949. 
28 From Nehru's speech at Ferozepore, September 18, 1949. 
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resolution of January 5 spoke clearly about this 
phase of demilitarization. It was to be effected as the last 
measure preceding the actual act of plebiscite. But now, in 
the summer of 1949, the situation was much different from 
what it had been at the beginning of the year. The Azad 
forces were reorganized, rearmed, and well-trained. Before, 
they had been loosely knit guerrilla groups; now they were 
a seasoned and well-equipped army of thirty-two battalions. 

India had valid reason to be worried about these Azad 
forces. They were composed of soldiers who once had been 
considered among the best in the British Indian army. In- 
dia could by no means be sure of the ability of the Kash- 
miris who lived in the Indian part of the country to resist 
the Azad people either politically or militarily, though they 
were in a numerical majority at a rate of 2 to 1. Moreover, 
once the Indian army had withdrawn, it would be difficult 
to get them back over high mountains and long distances. 
On the other hand, should the Azad forces suddenly erupt 
into a holy war, Pakistani supplies, weapons, and perhaps 
once again troops could be easily and immediately avail- 
able. 

So the problem of demilitarization was a real one, but 
it should not have presented any great difficulties if there 
had been good will and some mutual confidence. The gov- 
ernment of India did not accept the Commission's pro- 
posal, and its own counterproposal "was, in the opinion of 
the Commission, far from a fulfillment of India's under- 
taking under the terms of the 13 August resol~~t ion."~~ The 
government of Pakistan also had a number of objections to 
the Commission7s plan of demilitarizing the country; never- 
theless it agreed to accept the final judgment of an arbi- 
trator. 

Having exhausted all possibilities of mediation and facing 
the Indian refusal of arbitration, the Commission returned 
from the Subcontinent to present another report to the Se- 

24 S.C.O.R. Fourth Year, Special Supplement, No. 7, p. 50. 
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curity Council and to make a recon~mendation as to further 
procedure. It concluded in solemn and correct terms, "The 
roots of the Kashmir dispute are deep; strong undercurrents 
-political, economic, religious-in both Dominions have 
acted, and do act, against an easy and pronlpt solution of 
this outstanding dispute between India and Pakistan. These 
currents, which at this early stage of national formation are 
often antagonistic, account to a considerable degree for the 
misgivings, reluctance, and hesitancy which the Commis- 
sion felt were often present in the negotiations and which 
restricted both governments in the concessions which they 
might otherwise have been prepared to make to facilitate 
agreement . "" 

The Comnlission considered that in view of the develop- 
ments in the military situation its resolutions were now in- 
adequate and outmoded. It recommended that the entire 
problem be turned over to one person as a mediator, instead 

- 

of to a commission. It further recommended the use of 
arbitration should further attempts of mediation again fail. 

On the whole, the Commission's report was markedly 
critical of the Indian attitude. This was quite different from 
its first report, which had been slightly critical of the Paki- 
stan attitude. But in all fairness it was balanced and im- 
partial. It  was no longer, however, a unanimous report. As 
could be expected, the four members of the Commission 
were burdened with the Soviet-controlled intervention of 
the Communist delegate of Czechoslovakia. He presented 
a minority (one member) report, critical of the whole work 
of the Commission, of the Secretariat of the United Na- 
tions, and, faithful to the Communist pattern, full of abu- 
sive attacks on the American and British  government^.^^ 
This disruptive activity of the Communist delegate was 
enough to justify dissolution of the Commission and the 
transfer of its functions to a single mediator. 

" Ibid., p. 60. " Ibid., pp. 195-204. 
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Commenting on the Commission's work, a British expert, 
Sir Godfrey Davis, wrote, "Good will and devotion . . . 
could do no more. It is true that the Commission failed in 
its final objective, but the devoted labours of the members 
must still be an asset to the cause of peace."" 

Soldiers Guard the Peace 
Of no small importance, at least to the Kashmir people, 

were the cessation of hostilities and maintenance of ar- 
mistice. While political negotiations about further pro- 
cedures were being held in Delhi, Karachi, Srinagar, Rawal- 
pindi, Geneva, Paris, and New York, quiet but strenuous, 
unostentatious but important activities were being carried 
on along the cease-fire line. 

A group of United Nations military observers was dis- 
patched to Kash~nir to assist the Pakistan and Indian mili- 
tary authorities in demarcating the line and to oversee the 
armistice. The first group arrived in January 1949; since 
then, the number has varied from 40 to 60 members. 

In response to the Secretary-General's request, twelve 
members of the United Nations assigned officers from their 
armed forces for service as military observers. Australia, Bel- 
gium, Canada, Chile, Denmark, Ecuador, Mexico, New 
Zealand, Norway, Sweden, Uruguay, and the United States 
were represented by one or more officers in an international 
United Nations team headed by a chief military observer 
with the rank of brigadier to lieutenant-general appointed 
by the Secretary-General. The team established head- 
quarters in Srinagar and Rawalpindi and sent out groups of 
two to strategically important posts on both sides of the 
cease-fire line. The posts were linked together and with 
headquarters by a radio communications network operated 
by United Nations personnel. The task of the observers 
was to be of assistance in the local adjustment of the line 

27 Sir Godfrey Davis, "Kashmir-A So\vereign Statc." The Asiotic 
Review, January, 1951, xLvrr, p. 3 5 .  
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and its final demarcation, and particularly in investigating 
any violations of the truce. Supervising the armistice 
along a line of more than five hundred miles in primitive 
mountainous country req~~ired enormous efforts. The two 
hostile armies facing each other could resume open war at 
the slightest provocation. But the presence of the United 
Nations observers, identified by their arm bands carrying 
the letters UN, contributed considerably to the calming of 
hostile spirits. 

There were several hundred reports of violations of the 
armistice, but with very few exceptions they proved to be 
unfounded or of a civilian, non-military nature. When any 
such report reached the headquarters of the military ob- 
servers, it was passed to the headquarters on the other side. 
Both sides would then send a team of observers to the spot 
to investigate the accusation and if possible settle the 
problem locally. The observers travelled by planes, jeeps, 
horses, and mules; they crossed rivers on "flying boxes," 
and often had to walk, sometimes several days and in high 
snow, to reach the area of trouble. 

As a rule, the investigations revealed that the alleged 
violation had been caused by local people: by cattle thieves 
who respected no cease-fire line, by peasants who crossed 
it for harvesting, by girls involved with lonely soldiers. 

Illustrative not only of the necessity of the observers' 
work but also of its vexations is the case of the soldier seen 
bayoneting and burying a civilian. News of the incident 
spread rapidly. When it came to the ears of the UN ob- 
servers, teams from both sides set out for the spot. For 
seven days they struggled over exhausting terrain to reach 
the place of the incident. Upon their arrival they quickly 
established the facts. What  the soldier had bayoneted and 
buried had been, not a civilian, but a wild dog! 

The case proved rather trivial, but it serves as a vivid 
illustration of the effectiveness of the day-to-day work of 
the United Nations observers. One can easily imagine that, 
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had it not been for the prompt deflation of the word-of- 
mouth report, the rumor might have spread and grown: 
the lone civilian might easily have beconle a group of de- 
fenseless women and children and the simple soldier might 
have grown to a platoon. 

If the results of most investigations are anything but 
sensational, the process of investigation itself is not devoid 
of drama. It often involves danger and the risk of death. 
The Chief of the Military Observer Group, Brigadier Harry 
Angle of Canada, was killed in an airplane crash in the 
treacherous mountain passes of the Subcontinent. Two 
United States officers and a member of the United Nations 
Secretariat lost their lives in the saine accident. One ob- 
server was killed in a jeep accident. Other observers have 
suffered injuries in carrying out their duties. 

There were moments when the truce was in real danger. 
Whenever relations between India and Pakistan deteriorat- 
ed or the endeavors of the United Nations resulted in an- 
other failure, tensions increased in faraway Kashmir. But 
they subsided again, thanks partly to the calming presence 
and the tireless work of these observers. 

This kind of United Nations activity does not lend itself 
to publicity. Newspapers have little to say of such a peace 
mission. But, undramatic as it is, it remains one of the 
most commendable and admirable activities carried on by 
the United Nations. And it continues. For the Kashmir 
dispute has not yet been solved, and the military observers 
continue their seven-year-old task of unselfish, unheralded, 
and unsung devotion to the quiet ways of peace. 

Their peaceful mission has not been always fully nppreci- 
ated, nor have they pursued it in an altogether friendly 
atmosphere. The government of Kashmir accused them of 
several cases of interference in its internal affairs. After 
Pakistan was promised military assistance from the United 
States, in February 1954, Nehru declared concerning the 
eighteen Americans serving on the United Nations group 
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of nlilitary observers that they "can no longer be treated by 
us as neutrals in this dispute and hence their presence ap- 
pears to us in~proper."~' The State Department regarded 
this infornlal request for their withdrawal as a matter be- 
tween tlie Governillent of India and the United Nations, by 
whom these observers had been appointed. The Secretary- 
General, Dag Hammarskjold, ailxious as he was to avoid 
friction, was equally concerned with the principle involved. 
It was his feeling that persons serving the United Nations 
were "denationalized" and apart from their national alle- 
giances. In April, the issue was reported as settled by an 
informal coi~sent of all parties involved that American offi- 
cers on the team of observers would not be replaced after 
the normal term of service of those presently in Kashmir 
had expired. The incident itself is probably of no serious 
significance, but it does illustrate the high tensions that 
evolve from the Kashmir dispute and it reflects more broadly 
Nehru's irritation over the American policy of military help 
to Pakistan. 

27 Indiagram (The Embassy of India, Washington, D.C.) , No. 
4037 March 3, 1954. 
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ON DECEMBER 29, 1949, the Security Council met to con- 
sider what further steps could be taken in the Kashmir 
dispute. For two years the Council had wrestled with the 
problem, but solution seemed far away. True, a cease-fire 
had been achieved, and United Nations military observers 
were now stationed along the line of action to guard the 
armistice. But it was an uneasy peace between two restless 
armies, and behind them loomed India and Pakistan-still 
suspicious, bitter, and resentful, their original convictions 
about Kashmir only better muscled by two years of vig- 
orous exercise. The ultimate destiny of four million people 
was as uncertain as during those fateful days of invasion 
and accession in 1947. 

The deliberations continued against the background of 
renewed tensions between India and Pakistan. For, begin- 
ning in September 1949, the two countries further aggra- 
vated the already precarious situation by engaging in a 
bitter economic war. As a consequence of the devaluation 
of the currency by India, and Pakistan's refusal to devaluate 
her own, the governments refused to trade in coal and jute, 
the two most important materials for their respective in- 
dustries. Old controversies and unsettled problems were 
revived-the disputes over the canal waters, over Junagadh, 
evacuee property, and liquidation of other mutual claims 
raised by the two governments. The problem of the canal 
waters, which flow from India and Kashmir and irrigate vast 
fields in Pakistan, was a nightmare to the Karachi govern- 
ment. It raised vigorous complaints against the government 
of India that it had several times deliberately shut off these 
waters and exposed the Pakistanis to the danger of starva- 
tion. 

The Deputy Prime Minister of India, Sardar Patel, 
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termed the Indo-Pakistan relations as being "capable of 
provoking war," and he wanted "the nation to be prepared 
for the worst."' Pandit Nehru apparently sensed the powder- 
keg character of the situation and therefore proposed a 
joint declaration of the two governments "that they con- 
demn resort to war for the settlement of any existing or 
future disputes between them." T o  this proposal, the Paki- 
stan Prime Minister answered, ". . . there should be tangible 
action to match the spirit of the declaration, since peoples 
and governments are judged by their actions rather than by 
their  word^."^ A number of letters were exchanged between 
them but with no result. 

Then a particularly pressing and painful issue brought 
the two Prime Ministers together. In February 1950 riots 
broke out in East and West Bengal. Hundreds of people 
were killed and thousands sought refuge in India or Paki- 
stan. Finally, on April 8, an agreement on minorities was 
signed. This was followed a few days later by a partial 
agreement on the reopening of trade. But other serious 
problems remained unsolved, and Kashmir was among them. 

The Security Council, burdened with many other and 
more burning issues, seemed satisfied with the cessation of 
hostilities and was reluctant to risk by more resolute action 
any possible protest or overt defiance from either of the 
two principal contenders. Instead it based all further de- 
liberations upon the two resolutions of the commission 
already approved by the governments of India and Pakistan, 
the core of which was the conducting of a plebiscite in 
Kashmir. 

The Negotiations Continue 
The great Canadian statesman, General A. G. L. MC- 
The New York Times, January 5, 1950. 
Government of Pakistan, No War Declaration and Canal 

Waters Dispute. Correspondence between the Prime Ministers of 
Pakistan and India, pp. 1, 4. 
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Naughton, was entrusted, as President of the Security Coun- 
cil, to negotiate informally with the Indian and Pakistan 
representatives. Following these talks, he presented to the 
~bunc i l  a plan whereby both sides would simultaneously 
and progressively demilitarize to the point where the re- 

- 

maining forces would "not cause fear at any point of time to - 

the people on either side of the cease-fire line." The north- 
ern, sparsely populated areas of Baltistan and Gilgit would 
be administered by local authorities, subject to the United 
Nations supervision, and a United Nations representative 
with wide powers would be appointed to carry out the 
Council's decision.' 

Pakistan was ready to accept General h4cNaughton's 
plan with some provisions of minor importance. India, 
however, insisted upon the complete disbanding and dis- 
arming of the Azad forces and the occupation of the north- 
ern areas by the Indian army. 

The Security Council listened once more to lengthy 
speeches by the representatives of India and Pakistan. Re- 
criminations were repeated, reminiscent of the original dia- 

- 

tribes; new accusations were exchanged, and the atmosphere 
was heavy with bitterness and hostility. Sir Benegal N. Rau, 
the Indian delegate, objected to the McNaughton pro- 
posals, saying, "They completely ignore the legal and moral 
aspects of the question; . . . in effect, therefore, in crucial 
respects the new proposals are the old proposals minus 
some of the small concessions previously made to India 
plus certain new concessions made to Pakistan. Is it a mat- 
ter of surprise that India has been unable to accept them 
as they ~ t a n d ? " ~  

~ h r k e  more meetings were devoted to the discussion of 
the McNaughton proposals, which were meanwhile em- 
bodied in the draft resolution sponsored by Cuba, Norway. 
the United Kingdom, and the United States. Eight dele- 

a S/i4  5 3 of February 6, 1950. 
* S.C.O.R. Fifth Year, No. 5, pp. lo, 17. 
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gates out of eleven supported the draft; the Soviet Union's 
Jakob Malik kept quiet, and Yugoslavia expressed doubts. 
India, at that time a member of the Security Council, ex- 
pressed views as a party in dispute but abstained from voting. - 

The resolution was carried on March 14, 1950, by eight 
votes with two abstentions (India and Yugoslavia) and in 
the absence of the Soviet Union, which at that time was 
boycotting the Security Council. It  called upon India and 
Pakistan "to prepare and execute within a period of five 

- - 

months from the date of this resolution a programnle of 
demilitarization on the basis of the principles of paragraph 
2 of General McNaughton7s prop~sal ."~ It further decided 
to replace the United Nations Commission by a repre- 
sentative entrusted with arbitrary powers "to interpret the 
agreements reached by the parties-for demilitarization," in 
case they should agree in this most important matter. It 
also requested this representative to make any suggestions 
which would in his opinion expedite and offer an enduring 
solution to the Kashmir dispute. 

Pakistan accepted the resolution; India reiterated her 
strongly critical position, but also accepted it. One could 
read in India's reluctant acceptance of the Council's draft 
resolution that she recognized the authority of the United 
Nations, and that, faced with the pressure of the world - 
organization and world opinion, she was willing to make 
what she considered to be concessions-a position which 
should have indicated to the Security Council its future 
method of procedure. 

One is also bound to state, at this juncture, that through- 
out the endless deliberations of the Security Council on the 
Kashmir issue, the majority of the council was closer to 
the Pakistan point of view than to that of India. Not only 
were its permanent members-the United States, Great 
Britain, France, and China, with the Soviet Union largely 

S/1469 of March 14, i g  50. For the text of the resolution see 
Appendix IV. 
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neutral-inclined to support a procedure acceptable to 
Pakistan rather than to India, but the elected members 
also, as they served their term, associated themselves with 
this same general position. Included in the roster of these 
elected nations during the 28 months since 1948 were 
Argentine, Belgium, Canada, Colombia, Syria, Egypt, Cuba, 
Ecuador, Brazil, Holland, Turkey, and at a later period 
Lebanon, Greece, Chile, and Norway. Was it because all 
these members, permanent or elected, had some special 
reason to support Pakistan? It would be hard to argue along 
these lines. As a matter of obvious fact, all were well aware 
of the paramount importance of the great Indian democ- 
racy to the cause of peace and freedom, and out of this 
awareness must have arisen basic desires to support India's 
position. But the Council members could not follow the - 

arguments and proposals presented by the Indian delegates, 
ably as they were stated by such prominent Indian leaders 
as Mr. Ayyangar and Sir Benegal Rau. Despite the serious 
charge that Pakistan had at least aided and abetted the 
tribesmen and that she had sent troops to Kashmir, the 
basic position taken by all these representatives largely co- 
incided with Pakistan's insistence that the population of 
Kashmir be given full guarantees of an unfettered oppor- 
tunity to express its desire to be a part of India or Pakistan. 

The world press had up to now reported the Kashmir 
story without taking sides. It usually noted only the Rluslim 
majority of the ~ a s h m i r  population and voiced its expecta- 
tion of an eventual plebiscite. Now, with the problem back 
before the Security Council, world opinion began to be 
critical of India's attitude. Representative of this point of 

- 

4 4 view was the London Economist, which remarked, . . . 
But the whole world can see that India, which claims the 
support of this majority [of the Kashmir people] . . . has 
been obstructing the holding of an internationally super- 
vised plebiscite. From this the world opinion can only con- 
clude that . . . India really has no confidence that the vote 
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would go in its favour."' Pandit Nehru, usually sensitive to 

- 

world opinion, asserted at a press conference that these 
critical comments were only "blatant and lying propaganda 
in the foreign Pre~s . "~  

Sir Owen Dixon Mediates 
The Security Council nominated the prominent Austral- 

ian jurist and member of the High Court of Justice, Sir 
O w n  Dixon, as the United Nations Representative. The 
reaction in India and Kashmir was not calculated to in- 
spire him with self-confidence. The Indian press warned 
that the replacement of the Comn~ission by a representa- 
tive would not change one iota India's basic stand. Sheikh 
Abdullah, referring to the new mediator, declared, "If he 
tries to base his proposals on the McNaughton formula, 
failure is certain."' A special convention of the Kashmir 
National Conference was called on April 18 and passed a 
strongly worded resolution warning the United Nations 
not to bypass the crucial aspect of the dispute, namely that 
Pakistan was the aggressor. 

Sir Owen Dixon arrived on the Subcontinent on May 27, 

1950, accompanied by a member of the United Nations 
Secretariat, Arthur Campbell, who had been associated with 
the Kashmir case from its beginning. He visited the capitals 
of both countries, travelled extensively in Kashmir, and on 
July 2 0  opened a four-day conference in New Delhi with 
the Prime Minister of India, Jawaharlal Nehru, and the 
Prime Minister of Pakistan, Liaquat Ali Kahn. He did not 
leave for the record any document about the day-to-day 
activities, but every scrap of information available and his 
subsequent reportg to the Security Council mark him as a 
great man, a keen observer with a penetrating analytical 
mind and a sense of justice. 

The Economist (London), February 18, 19 50. 

The Times (London), February 7 ,  19 50. 
The Statesman (Calcutta), March 21, 19 50. 

O S/1791 of September 1 5, 1950. 
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Though Sir Owen's report makes no mention of the fact, 
there is no doubt that his work was made intensely diffi- 
cult by the further deterioration of the situation in the Far 
East. The Korean War broke out in June 1950, and the 
Illdian government, which had recognized the govern- 
ment of Communist China, was more than cautious in its 
policy on the Korean affair. More than this, it made elab- 
orate comparisons between the attitude of the United Na- 
tions toward Korea and toward Kashmir. If the North 
Korean Communists had invaded South Korea, they ar- 
gued, so had the Pakistanis invaded Kashmir. Why, then, 
were they not condemned as were the North Koreans? Why 
had the United Nations failed to take action against 
Pakistan? 

Upon his arrival in Delhi from Lake Success, ten weeks 
after the resolution of the Security Council had called on 
both parties to prepare and execute the demilitarization of 
Kashmir within five months, Sir Owen found that nothing 
had been done. "The situation as I found it presented 
strange features," he wrote. "The parties had agreed that 
the fate of the State as a whole should be settled by a gen- 
eral plebiscite but over a considerable period of time thev 
had failed to agree on any of the preliminary measures which 
it was clearly necessary to take before it was possible to set 
up an organization to take 'plebiscite.""' Not too dis- 
mayed, however, he set to work on his own proposal. Par- 
tially because of Indian insistence that Pakistan be declared 
an aggressor and partially because he himself saw in the 
tribesmen's incursion and the advance of Pakistan troops 
onto Kashmir territory an act contrary to international law, 
he asked that the Pakistan troops be withdrawn. This was 
followed by a request to both sides to demilitarize the ter- 
ritory to a minimum of forces (Azad, state troops, Indian 
army, and local militia) consistent with law and order. 

The Prime Minister of Pakistan agreed to take the first 

lo Ibid., p. 3 .  
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step to withdraw the Pakistan army. But Sir Owen's grati- 
fication was short-lived. The plan for demilitarization was 
rejected by India. 

Then Sir Owen attempted to deal with the problem of 
the administration of the Azad territory, suggesting (as had 
his predecessor, the Commission) that the task be assigned 
to the local authorities, namely, district magistrates, whose 
powers would be supervised by United Nations officers. 
India objected. He then turned his attention to the terri- 
tory under Sheikh Abdullah's government, making pro- 
posals to ensure for the Kashmiri population complete free- 
dom of choice in a plebiscite. By now he must have antici- 
pated the answer. India said "NO." She based her opposi- 
tion upon a number of things-the need of assuring the 
defense of Kashmir and of maintaining law and order. But 
she objected most vehemently to any proposal which either 
treated Pakistan as an equal or failed to take into account 
the violation of Kashmir territory by the Pakistanis. 

Patiently Sir Owen Dixon then suggested an alternative 
procedure. He suggested that for the period of the plebi- 
scite a single government for the whole state-a coalitioil 
government composed of the two hitherto hostile parties, 
or a neutral administration by trusted persons outside poli- 
tics, or an executive constituted of United Nations repre- 
sentatives-be organized. Sir Owen's report did not record 
Pakistan's acceptance of his proposals, but the fact was 
implicit. India's reply was in the negative. "None of these 
suggestions commended themselves to the Prime Minister 
of India," Sir Owen almost plaintively reported to the 
Security Council. And then he added, "In the end, I be- 
came convinced that India's agreement would never be 
obtained to demilitarization in any such form, or to pro- 
visions governing the period of the plebiscite of any such 
character, as would in my opinion permit the plebiscite be- 
ing conducted in conditions sufficiently guarding against 
intimidation, and other forms of influence and abuse by 
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which the freedom and fairness of the plebiscite might be 
imperiled."l 

Then Sir Owen came up with another plan, and no one 
reading his report could doubt either his persistence or his 
ingenuity. He tried to ascertain the views of both govern- 
ments on taking a plebiscite region by region, allocating 
each to Pakistan or India according to the result of voting; 
or allotting to either of the two countries areas which un- 
questionably would vote for Pakistan or for India, limiting 
the plebiscite to the Valley of Kashmir. Here, however, he 
encountered sturdy opposition from the Prime Minister of 
Pakistan. India, Pakistan insisted, was committed to a 
plebiscite in the State of Jammu and Kashmir as a whole. 
On the other hand, India indicated her willingness to con- 
sider such a plebiscite, limited to the Kashmir Vallev and 
some adjacent areas. But her suggestions as to which terri- 
tories should be allotted to Pakistan or India, stated Sir 
Owen, "appeared to me to go much beyond what according 
to my conception of the situation was reasonable. . . . "12 

Pakistan refused to budge from her position, though she 
indicated her willingness to straight partition if the Valley 
were allocated to her. This was unacceptable to India. 

As a last resort, Sir Owen Dixon presented both govern- 
ments with another proposal. In broad lines, he called for 
a partition of the country and a plebiscite for the Valley, 
itself completely demilitarized, conducted by an administra- 
tive body of United Nations officers. This proposal Pakistan 
rejected but reluctantly accepted Sir Owen's further sug- 
gestion that the two Prime Ministers meet with him to 
discuss the issue. However, wrote the now thoroughly frus- 
trated Sir Owen, "The Prime Minister of India answered 
by telegram expressing an emphatic refusal to agree to any 
such provis i~n."~~ 

All avenues of mediation exhausted, Sir Owen Diron 

l1 lbid., p. 16. l 2  Ibid., p. 19. l8 Ibid., p. 23. 
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left the Subcontitlent on August 2 3, 1950. 111 the concluding 
part of his report he wrote, patient and thoroughly mod- 
erate man that he was, "There is I believe on the side of 
India a conception of what ought to be do~le to ascertain 
the real will of the people which is not that tacitly assumed 
by me. Doubtless it is a conception which Pakistan does 
not share."14 

Sir Owen Dixon's failure was certainly through no fault 
of his own. His approach had been thoughtful, his alterna- 
tive proposals many and varied, his authority unquestion- 
able. But the method of mediation in this dispute had re- 
vealed its own aridity. The concluding part of his report 
indicates something of the despair which this hard-working 
and conscientious man must have felt. There was no hope, 
it indicated, of solving the problem of Kashmir by agree- 
ment. So perhaps all that could now be done was the di- 
vision of the country along the cease-fire line. This would 
bring about stabilization and peace, albeit forced and un- 
easy, a peace born of appeasement, a peace which neglected 
entirely the justice of determining from the people involved 
their will for their nation. 

One cannot criticize Sir Owen's motives in his concluding 
recommendation. He appeared skeptical of the ability of the 
United Nations to force upon India any just solution. On 
the other hand, he felt strongly that the United Nations 
could not be a party to any compromise which would cast 
any doubt on its integrity. Any solution short of a com- 
pletely free plebiscite would, in his opinion, be such a com- 
promise. Unable to achieve agreement on a plebiscite, he 
wearily concluded that the only course open was for the 
United Nations to toss the responsibility for any further 
development in Kashmir back to the parties concerned, 
India and Pakistan. And perhaps, at least for the Kash- 
miris themselves, there was some value in the temporary 
armistice. 

l4 Ibid., p. 26. 
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But one may criticize his conclusions, for the assunlptions 
u110n whicli they are based are dangerous. The nationalist 

in Pakistan were increasingly impatient with the 
United Nations efforts, and from time to time cries of 
settling the problem by means of the sword were heard 
from the Azad people and from Pakistani extremists. There 
was no assurance that these cries would quiet, should the 
Security Council resign itself to failure. On the contrary, 
people well acquainted with the situation were afraid that 
the Council's failure would tend to guarantee a renewal of 
war. Besides, had the Security Council adopted Sir Owen 
Dixon's recommendation, it would have been a humiliating 
admission of its own impotence, another grave blow to the 
prestige and authority of the world organization. 

As a matter of fact, even the immediate deadlock in the 
Kashmir negotiations had a serious effect on Indo-Pakistan 
relations. The press of both countries resumed their sharp 
attacks, each blaming the other for Sir Owen's failure. 
Articles appeared asking for the withdrawal of the Kashmir 
case from the Security Council, and some extremists called 
for the withdrawal of India and Pakistan from the United 
Nations. 

The world press, as a whole, spoke critically of India's 
reaction to Sir Owen Dixon's proposals. The London Times, 
always cautious in comments on international affairs, and 
more particularly on Commonwealth relations, wrote, "Likc 
most great men, Nehru has his blind spot. In his casc it is 
Kashmir, the land of his forebears which he loves 'like a 
woman.' Because he is not amenable to reason on this sub- 
ject, but allows emotion to get the better of cominon sense. 
Kashmir remains a stumbling block in the path of Indo- 
Pakistan friendship. So long as it is so India's inoral standing 
is impaired, her will to peace is in doubt, and hcr right to 
speak for Asia is questioned by her next-door neighbour. 
Critics may well ask, if self-determination under United Na- 
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tions auspices is valid for Korea [as India advocates], why 
is it not valid for Kashmir?'"" 

And so, with India and Pakistan still at each other's 
throats, with the world press increasingly critical, and with 
the very authority of the United Nations at stake the Se- 
curity Council did not follow Sir Owen Dixon's advice of 
"hands off" and wearily decided to resulne its study of the 
Kashmir dispute. 

The Cornnzonwealth Mediates 
But five long months were to elapse before active con- 

sideration took place. One of the reasons for the delay may 
have been the meeting of the British Comn~onwealth Prime 
Ministers in London in January 1951, and the hope that 
perhaps this group might handle what was obviously an 
intra-Commonwealth quarrel. But the British government 
was extremely cautio~ls about showing any initiative in that 
direction. A number of communications had been ex- 
changed between Delhi and Karachi and London on the 
subject, but the British were aware of a deep-seated suspi- 
cion on the part of India towards anything coming from 
His Majesty's government, and were apparently anxious to 
avoid taking sides in the conflict. Even so, the Indian gov- 
ernment accused the British of giving unjustified support 
to Pakistan. 

At the January 1951 meeting the Prime Ministers did 
discuss informally the conflict for seven hours, but only 
because Liaquat Ali Khan had warned that he would not 
attend the meeting if it by-passed the Kashmir problem. 
Nothing was achieved, however, the main issue continuing. 
to be how to demilitarize Kashmir in the period preceding a 
plebiscite without exposing her to the danger of "external 
aggression." 

Three proposals were suggested by the Australian Prime 
Minister, Robert Gordon Menzies: (1) to station Corn- 

l5 The Times (London), September 6,  1950. 

1 7 6  
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rnonwealth troops in Kashmir; ( 2 )  to have a joint Indo- 
Pakistan force there; ( 3 )  to entitle the plebiscite admin- 
istrator to raise local troops. Pakistan accepted any of the 
tllree propositions. India refused them all." Pandit Nehru 
explained later to the Indian Parliament, on February 12, 
1951, that he could not agree to the presence of the Com- 
monwealth forces because of suspicions arising out of the 
recent past and those growing out of current international 
tensions; that the second solution would place Pakistan, 
the aggressor, on an equal footing with India; and that al- 
though the third proposal could be considered, India must 
still be responsible for the security of the state and would 
continue to station troops in Kashmir. 

Frank P. Graham Mediates 
So on February 21, 1951, the Security Council once again 

faced the diplomatic battle of Kashmir. The representa- 
tive of Great Britain, Sir Gladwyn Jebb, reminded the 
Council that "developments in Asia the ten months since 
this question was last debated by the Council have clearly 
demonstrated the urgent need for removing the obstacle to 
cooperation and mutual assistance between the govern- 
ments of India and Pakistan. Never was it more necessary, 
indeed, than it now is for the two great peace-loving states 
to give practical evidence that these issues which divide 
them, great and troubling though they are, are still ca- 
pable of adjustment in accordance with the purposes and 
principles of the organization to which both belong."" 

The delegations of Great Britain and the United States 
submitted a draft resolution on February 21 and another 
slightly modifying draft a month later? This proposal re- 
affirmed the two original resolutions of the Comn~ission of 

' T h e  Times (London), January 17, 1951. 
l7 s/pv. 532 ,  p. 3. 
l8 S/2oi7/Rev. 1 of March 21, 1951. For the text of the resolu- 

tion see Annex V. 
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August 13,1948 and January 5, 1949 accepted by India and 
Pakistan, and in fact stressed their mutual acceptance of 
a plebiscite. Once more it appointed a United Nations 
representative to effect, after consultation with the govern- 
ments of India and Pakistan, the demilitarization of Kash- 
mir within three months and in case of failure to report 
to the Security Coullcil points of difference between the 
parties in regard to the interpretation and execution of the 
Commission's resolutions. It called upon the parties to ac- 
cept, in case of failure, arbitration by an arbitrator or a 
panel of arbitrators appointed by the President of the In- 
ternational Court of Justice after consultation with the 
parties. 

The preamble of the resolution expressed concern with 
the internal development in Kashmir, where Sheikh Ab- 
dullah was preparing elections for a Constituent Assembly 
allegedly entitled to decide the question of the final ac- 
cession of the state. (This and other internal developments 
in Kashmir during the period of this long diplomatic 
struggle are described and analyzed in another chapter.) 

The Anglo-American proposal was followed by eight long 
meetings. In addition to the sponsor-delegations, the repre- 
sentatives of Brazil, the Netherlands, Turkey, Ecuador, 
France, and China supported it warmly and convincingly, 
and the resolution was carried on March 30 by eight votes, 
with the Soviet Union, Yugoslavia, and India abstaining, 
the latter on the basis of Article 27, paragraph 3 of the 
Charter, of "being a party in dispute." One month later, 
Dr. Frank P. Graham was appointed the United Nations 
Representative. 

Pakistan accepted the resolution. India rejected it, prin- 
cipally because of the new proposal for arbitration. Pandit 
Nehru and his followers in Kashmir declared that they 
would not permit the fate of four million people to be 
decided by a third person. 

But this was overclouding the issue. It had never been 
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recommended, nor can one seriously believe that Nehru 
actually thought it had been, that the final fate of Kashmir 
should be decided by a tribunal. The resolution continued 
to insist, and both parties to the dispute had agreed, that 
the final fate of Kashmir would be settled in one way- 
by plebiscite. The Security Council, its Commission, and 
Sir Owen Dixon had repeatedly on every occasion confirmed 
this agreement. I t  was only the extent and procedure of the 
state's demilitarization which was to be submitted to arbi- 
tration, should the parties again fail to agree. 

At this point India cannot escape criticism. It is true that 
seldom in the history of international relations do countries 
readily submit their quarrels to a tribunal, although such a 
procedure is by no means unique. The United States, for 
example, up to 1914 had submitted 86 cases to international 
arbitration. Furthermore, the United Nations Charter, 
which binds India as well as all other signatories, states in 
paragraph 1, Article 33, "The parties to any dispute . . . 
shall, first of all, seek a solution by negotiation, enquiry, 
mediation, conciliation, arbitration, judicial settlement. . . . ? ? 

One could therefore expect that a country of such un- 
disputed greatness, led by a man of Nehru's stature and 
integrity, would have reacted more favorably to such a valid 
and, under the Charter of the United Nations, recom- 
mended technique of international cooperation. 

On one occasion Nehru had thoroughly endorsed a policy 
proposed by the National Congress when it had still hoped 
for a united India, to have all disputes concerning minori- 
ties, i.e., Hindu-Muslim relationship, "referred to arbitra- 
tion to the League of Nations or the International Court 
at The Hague or any other impartial body mutually agreed 
upon."19 Certainly such a policy as this goes far beyond the 
technicality of the mere interpretation of an international 

- 

agreement. Indeed, it goes far beyond the compass of na- 

l9 Nehru, The Unity of India, op.cit., pp. 366-367. 
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tional sovereignty; it constitutes, in fact, a material infringe- 
ment upon the sovereign rights of a country in internal 
jurisdiction. But it would seem that it is one thing to be a 
great leader of a national movement in opposition to foreign 
rule, meditating theoretically on principles and policies, and 
another to be a statesman operating under the compulsions 
of internal political pressures. 

Even so, the leaders of the Republic of India cherished 
the high ideals of solving international disputes by means 
of arbitration. Article 51 of the Constitution states, "The 
State should endeavour to . . . (c )  Foster respect for inter- 
national law and treaty obligations in the dealings of or- 
ganized peoples of one nation; ( d )  Encourage settlement of 
international disputes by arbitration." 

Pandit Nehru himself, at the beginning of 1950, sug- 
gested a "No War Declaration" with Pakistan, in which 
specific mention was made of settling all disputes "through 
recognized peaceful methods such as negotiation, or by re- 
sort to mediation or arbitration. . . ." When, however, 
Liaquat Ali Khan made the more concrete proposal that 
the Kashmir dispute be arbitrated as well as other Indo- 
Pakistan issues, Nehru replied that the Kashmir dispute was 
"a non-justiciable and political issue and cannot be disposed 
of by reference to a judicial tribunal."'O 

1ndia again based her whole stand on Kashrnir upon the 
conviction that Kashmir was already a part of India, against 
which Pakistan had been an aggressor. She expressed thor- 
ough indignation that this important fact had been ignored 
by the Security Council, by the Commission, and by Sir 
Owen Dixon. 

This was not quite the fact, of course; both the resolu- 
tion of the Commission and the recommendation of Sir 
Owen had given concrete expression to its disapproval of 
the Pakistani army's presence in Kashmir. On the other 

20 Government o f  Pakistan, No W a r  Declaration, op.cit., p p .  1, 

20. 
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hand, if India felt so strongly that the aggressiveness of 
Pakistan in Kashmir was the heart of the dispute, why had 
she not asked the Security Council to deal with it according 
to Chapter VII of the Charter, which is concerned with 
"Acts of Aggression"? Why had she invoked only Chapter 
VI concerning "Pacific Settlements of Disputes"? This may, 
of course, have been a serious error in political judgment on 
her part which she was now attempting to correct. But it - 
is highly questionable whether, having decided to follow 
one procedure, India could now legitimately insist that the 

- 

Security Council could proceed only on the basis of the 
assumption of Pakistan's "act of aggression." But finally, 
and it would appear decisively, India had already accepted 
as the basis for the solution of the Kashmir dispute the 
Commission's resolutions which contained no direct con- 
demnation of Pakistan, and by so doing had forfeited the 
right to fall back on such arguments as Pakistani "aggres- 
sion." 

One would be more readily inclined also to understand 
the moral motives which underlie the Indian attitude to- 
ward the Kashmir conflict if they emanated from principled 
policy applicable to any international situation. But if India 
seriously considered Pakistan to be an aggressor in Kashmir, 
how could she decline to see an act of clear-cut aggression 
in the participation of Chinese troops in the war against the 
United Nations in Korea? In the case of Kashmir, the basic 
premise of India's charge against Pakistan-that Kashmir 
was a part of India-has never been ruled upon by the 
United Nations. But in the case of Korea, the United 
Nations had openly condemned the aggression of the North 
Korean Communists; it had called upon its members to as- 
sist the victim of aggression; and wlien the Chinese forces 

- - 

joined in the invasion, it passed a resolution branding China 
as aggressor. Nevertheless, India refused to vote for the 
resolution, and Pandit Nehru called the move unwise, de- 
claring, "It was clear it wouldn't help to call a country an 
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aggressor when you intended having dealings with it in 
order to reach settlement by negotiation and the two ap- 
proaches are directly opposed t~ each other."" 'I'here is 
apparently some inco~lsistency between this attitude and 

- 

his continued insistence that Pakistan be named as an ag- 
gressor in Kashmir, a dispute which he has always declared 
should be settled by negotiation. 

Under these circun~stances, the failure of the Security 
Council's resolution of March 30 was almost certain. Nehru 
condemned the resolution as "highly objectionable," "a 
challenge to India's self-respect." At a press conference, 
he stated that the United States and Great Britain "have 
completely lost the capacity to think and judge anything. 
. . . No organization and no country has any business to 
interfere with what is done in Kashmir by India or the 
Kashmir people. . . . So far as we are concerned, we will 
tolerate no nonsense about Kashmir come what may. . . . 
The whole thing is a fantastic nonsense."22 

In Kashmir, demonstrations were arranged against the 
United Nations, and placards like "Graham, don't come 
and confound confusion" were displayed. Sheikh Abdullah 
went ahead with his plan to have his Constituent Assembly 
confirm "the final accession of Kashmir to India." Nehru 
advanced a legal theory that would confound most students 
of international law. "The Republic of India," declared 
Nehru, "inherited the position left behind by the British 
Government. Apart from accession, it has to be remembered 

- 

that India today is a continuing entity, taking over all the 
rights and liabilities of the old India. . . . These rights and 
responsibilities included the protection of not only the In- 
dian States that have acceded to us, but also other states 
that had not acceded to Pakistan. Thus, irrespective of ac- 
cession, we would have had the obligation to protect the 
people of Kashmir against aggression. Kashmir has at no 

21 From Pandit Nehru's speech in Parliament, February 12, 1951. 
22 The Hindu (Madras), June 12, 19 51. 
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time been recognized as a state under international law, but 
has been an integral part of India. Partition made no dif- 
ference to our responsibilities in regard to Kashmir as long 
as it did not deliberately accede to Paki~tan."~' 

Regardless of Nehru's juridical arguments, his attitude 
continued to display how deeply he felt his policy on Kash- 
mir to be right and just and to explain his intransigeance 
and indignation on the last resolution of the Security Coun- 
cil. 

The atmosphere awaiting Dr. Graham on the Subconti- 
nent could scarcely have been worse. The two countries 
were again in the grip of tensions which culminated in the 
concentration of troops in West and East Punjab. The Paki- 
stani press hurled new insults against India. New resolu- 
tions called for iehad, holy war. The World Muslim Con- 
ference met in Karachi in February 1951 and among many 
decisions adopted a resolution urging all Muslim govern- 
ments to support at the United Nations the cause of the 
people of Kashmir, "whose ties with the people of Pakistan 
no power on earth can break."14 The Grand Mufti of Jerusa- 
lem, known for his doubtful role during World War 11, 
visited Azad Kashmir in March 1951 and called for jehad. 

Three religious leaders of Iran, Iraq, and Maghreb, visiting 
1 4  Pakistan on a later occasion, declared in an interview, . . . 

the Muslim masses the world over are solidly behind the 
Government and people of Pakistan in the latter's demand 
for a just and speedy solution of the Kashmir issue."*' 

Many journalists from Arab countries visited Pakistan and 
the Azad government towns, spoke at meetings, and ex- 
pressed in their newspapers the complete solidarity of the 
Middle-East Muslims with the struggle of Pakistan for 
Kashmir. 

From time to time the Pakistani press grew bitter at 

23 From Nehru's speech in the Parliament? March 28, 1951. 
24 The Times (London), February 1 5, 19 5 1. 
25 Dawn (Karachi), March 12, 1952. 
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what they described as the noncommittal attitude of the 
British and Americans toward the Kashnlir disputc and tllcir 
pampering of India, and advocated a shift in foreign policy 
towards the Soviet Union. "If Pakistan's foreign policy 
should take the direction that increasingly is being advo- 
cated here, the United States will have lost one sure friend 
in South Asia," reported Robert Trumbull from Karachi.16 

Oddly enough, in India the seeming detachment of the 
Soviet Union in the Kashmir dispute received the approval 
of the Indian press. "To the Soviet's credit it may be said 
that it has so far taken little interest in the strategic and 
political possibilities of Kashmir-further proof that it is 
undue Anglo-American interest which provokes Soviet in- 
tervention anywhere," wrote National Herald.27 

During the summer of 1951 India and Pakistan reached 
the very brink of an all-out war. Pakistani cities staged 
blackouts. Pandit Nehru accused Pakistan of concentration 
of troops in West Punjab, with aggressive intentions, and 
of gross violation of the truce in Kashmir. 

Liaquat Ali Khan protested against the concentration of 
Indian troops in Kashmir and East Punjab along the Paki- 
stan border. The two Prime Ministers exchanged a number 
of telegrams accusing each other in barbed language of 
hostile  intention^.^^ The U.S. Secretary of State, Dean Ache- 
son, conferred with the Ambassadors of India and Pakistan 
and expressed to them "his country's concern over the dan- 
ger and tension developed in the situation. . . . 7'29 

Still later, in his 1952 New Year's message, Jawaharlal 
Nehru warned Pakistan, ". . . if Pakistan by mistake in- 
vades Kashmir, we will not only meet them in Kashmir, 

26 The  New York Times, September 1 5 ,  1 9  5 1. 
27 National Herald (Lucknow), March 3 1, 1 9  5 1. 
28 Government of Pakistan, India's Threat to Pakistan. Corres- 

pondence between the Prime Ministers of Pakistan and India. 
Whi te  Paper. 

The  New York Times, August 9, 1 9  5 1. 
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but it will be a full-scale war between India and P a k i ~ t a n . " ~ ~  
It was in this atmosphere that Dr. Frank Graham was to 

atteinpt to effect the demilitarization of Kashmir. His mis- 
sion was limited to this particular task, which was the es- 
sential prerequisite to a free plebiscite. The Security Coun- 
cil requested him to report in three months the result of 
his work. Three years have now passed, and Dr. Graham 
has not been able to report success. 

Dr. Frank P. Graham has been United States senator 
from North Carolina, president of the University of North 
Carolina, defense manpower administrator in the Depart- 
ment of Labor, and member of the United Nations Com- 
mittee of Good Offices for Indonesia. Above all, Dr. Gra- 
ham is a man of deep humanitarian understanding, coura- 
geous optimism, rare patience, perseverance, and a belief 
in the good faith and good will of men. Only a man of 
these qualities could have continued in his task through 
such weeks and months of frustration without losing hope. 

Dr. Graham, accompanied by Miguel A. Marin and El- 
more Jackson of the United Nations Secretariat and by the 
experienced military expert, General Jacob L. Devers, car- 
ried on extensive activities in an attempt to bring the parties 
in dispute to an agreement on the demilitarization of Kash- 
mir. Dr. Graham travelled to and negotiated in Delhi, Ka- 
rachi, Srinagar, Geneva, Paris, New York; he studied in de- 
tail all aspects of the demilitarization; he sent question- 
naires and submitted numerous proposals to the two gov- 
ernments; he drafted and redrafted his own plans of de- 
militarization. Five reports have been submitted to the Se- 
curity Council," and still, at the Council's request, his ef- 
forts continue. 

His work has revealed a painstaking, relentless effort to 

30 The Hindu (Madras), January 2, 19 52. 
S/2 375 of October 1 5, 1951; S/2448 of December 19, 19 5 1; 

S/2611 of April 22, 1952; S/2783 of September 19, 1952 S/2967 
of March 27, 1953. 
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narrow, step by step, the differences betwcen the govern- 
ments of India and Pakistan. After a thorough investigatioll 
of their attitude he defined his own plan in twelve pro- 
posals. Most of them were of a general nature and did llot 
present serious obstacles to acceptance. I'innlly, however, 
he reached the point where inevitably the govcrn~nellts of 
India and Pakistan had to take a stand on his two rllost 
crucial proposals: the time for the induction into office of 
the plebiscite administrator, Fleet Admiral Chester Nimitz, 
and the scope of the demilitarization of Kashmir. 

On the first point, Pakistan insisted on Admiral Nimitz's 
taking the office as soon as possible; India considered this 
premature, asserting that the den~ilitarizatio~l must first be 
carried out. On the second point, Dr. Graham had to face 
insurmountable, though now thoroughly familiar, obstacles. 

The United Nations representative first proposed, as a 
basis for discussion, that 12,ooo to 18,000 soldiers be re- 
tained on the Indian side, plus the local state militia of 
6,000 men; and j,ooo to 6,000 Azad soldiers on the Paki- 
stani side, plus 3,500 scouts in the northern area. Then, he 
modified this proposal, suggesting 18,000 and 6,000 men 
respectively. 

Neither of his proposals was acceptable to India. She 
insisted that 21,000 soldiers was an absolute minimum and 
refused to include in this figure the state militia. In addi- 
tion, she insisted on the complete demilitarization of the 
Azad Kashmir and the substitution of the present armed 
forces there by a civil force of 4,000 men (one-half armed 
and one-half unarmed), this force to be con~posed of 2,000 

followers of the Azad government and 2,000 men normally 
resident in the Azad territory who were not followers of the 
Azad government. 

This of course was an entirely new element, never before 
considered. It would have meant in essence that the pro- 
posed plebiscite would be carried out in Sheikh Abdullah's 
territory in the presence of 27,000 soldiers friendly to India 
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alld Abdullah; and on Azad territory, in the presence of 

4, 000 men of a civil force, only partially armed, and one 
half of whom would be recruited presumably from refugees 
living under Sheikh Abdullah's administration. 

Pakistan considered the number of soldiers left in Kash- 
mir still too high but indicated she was ready to accept 
Dr. Graham's proposal. When the Security Council, on 
December 23, 1952, passed a resolution" urging the gov- 
ernments of India and Pakistan to agree within thirty days 
on the demilitarization of Kashmir on the basis of Dr. 
Graham's proposal, India once more refused and once more 
Pakistan accepted the resolution. 

Nevertheless, the negotiations between the representa- 
tives of India and Pakistan were resumed, first in New York 
and then, in February 1953, in Geneva. Dr. Graham's zeal, 
which by now could be termed nothing less than mission- 
ary, led him to present another six suggestions on both the 
manner of demilitarization and the time of the induction 
of the plebiscite administrator into office. Among these he 
reiterated his previous proposal that the Azad troops be 
limited to 6,000 men. On the other hand, he met India's 
request and increased the number of Indian soldiers to 
21,000. He attached added importance to the induction of 
the plebiscite administrator into office, as he assumed that 
in the last analysis it would be for him and for the United 
Nations representative to determine later, in accordance 
with the procedure envisaged in the resolution of January 
5, 1949, after the implementation of the truce agreement, 
the final disposal of the rest of the armed forces on both 
sides. 

This proposal broke against the insurmountable oppo- 
sition of both governments, and the conference finallv dis- 
sipated in a mood of resignation. Dr. Graham found-him- 
self precisely where Sir Owen Dixon had been in Septem- 
ber 1951. In the conclusion of his fifth report to the Se- 

32 S/z88 3 of December 24, 19 52. 
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curity Council, he expressed the hope, ". . . may the leader- 
ship of over 400,000,000 people, with the good will and as- 
sistance of the United Nations, join in negotiating and re- 
porting an agreement on Kashmir and thereby light a torch 
along the difficult path of the people's pilgrimage toward 
peace."33 

Once more a thoroughly frustrated negotiator had ar- 
rived at the same conclusion as Sir Owen: that the ina- 
bility of the two parties to agree under United Nations 
mediation left no solution except that they agree between 
themselves! It is difficult to envisage that any torches lighted 
under these circumstances would be for the purpose of il- 
luminating the path to peace. 

Dr. Graham's methods differed somewhat from Sir Owen 
Dixon's approach. Sir Owen, having presented proposals 
which led directly to the crux of the problem, moved swiftly 
and when they were not accepted put the blame where he 
believed it belonged. After three short months of negotia- 
tions, he assumed the role of the realist, and gave the whole 
thing up. Dr. Graham, on the other hand, chose the method 
of the patient mediator, who listened, ascertained the 
points of disagreement, and, until his fourth report, ab- 
stained from recommendations of a concrete nature. He 
worked first on questions of minor importance in the hope 
that agreement on these might induce a habit of agreement 
conducive to the settlement of the more crucial problem 
of demilitarization. When he had arrived in Delhi on his 
first mission in the summer of 1951, "he did not even once 
refer to the Security Council's resol~tion, '~ in the words of 
Mr. Nehru. "It was as if the resolution was not there."34 
Undoubtedly it was there, but also in Dr. Graham's mind 
was the knowledge that this resolution had already been 
rejected by the government of India. When he succeeded, 

33 S/2967 of March 27, 1953' P. 21. 

34 Pandit Nehru's speech in the House of the People, February 
12, 1952. 
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one and one half years later, in bringing the parties together 
again in Geneva to discuss the problem of demilitarization, 
he did not even then refer to the Security Council's last 
resolution urging India and Pakistan to come to an agree- 
ment in thirty days. Once again he was aware that the 
government of India had already rejected this resolution. 

Dr. Graham's methods can be evaluated properly only 
against the background of his knowledge of the attitude of 
responsible Indian and Pakistani officers and, above all, the 
happenings in Kashmir. He knew that Mr. Gopalaswami 
Ayyangar, the Minister of Defense and one of the most in- 
fluential leaders in India, had declared on the eve of Dr. 
Graham's arrival in the Subcontinent, "Kashmir is in India 
and is going to remain in India."85 

He knew that the Kashmir Deputy Prime Minister, 
Bakshi Ghulam Mohammed, had declared that the Kash- 
mir people had already made up their mind to join India 
and "no power on earth could swerve them from their 
chosen path."3e 

All of these pressures Frank Graham knew and under- 
stood as he proceeded with his mission, and, peaceful spirit 
that he was, he studiously avoided any possible statements 
or proposals that would increase these antagonisms or de- 
stroy his mission. But even so, his every step was prejudged 
-his mission hopeless. 

The Indian press treated his mission in a conciliatory nay 
only so long as-he remained on the level of inquiry concern- 
ing the problems of demilitarization; as soon as he presented 
concrete proposals they became reserved and mistrustful to 
the point of stating that "the failure of his negotiations was 
a foregone conclusion" and ". . . the failure . . . will causc 
small surprise," and "it is not entirely his, Graham's, fa~~lt .??" 

35 The Hindu (Madras), June 26, 19 5 1. 

36 P.T.I. (Press Trust of India), August 11, 1951. 
37 Hindustan Standard (Delhi) , September 26. 19 52; The Times 

of India (Delhi), September 26, 1952; Delhi Express, Septe~i~ber 
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If the Indian press, of which only a few examples are 
quoted here, was exerting public pressure upon its govern- 
ment, the Pakistani governmental representatives and the 
press were increasingly indignant and restless about the pro- 
longed negotiations, which they viewed only as unnecessary 
procrastination. They felt, perhaps with some justice, that 
although they had accepted almost all the proposals of Dr. 
Graham, the United Nations had let them down. Their 
statements grew increasingly bellicose. 

Sardar Ibrahim, then Prime Minister of the Azad gov- 
ernment, threatened in the summer of 1951 that the Kash- 
mir issue would not be  settled at Lake Success, "but will be 
decided only on the battlefield."" In September 1952 he 
criticized the United Nations inactivity, accused the Paki- 
stan government of "dilly-dallying," and called for resump- 
tion of "liberation" fighting. Thus the Pakistan government 
faced serious internal difficulties in keeping the Azad forces 
patient and quiet during this continually prolonged period. 
The president of the Sind Provincial Muslin1 League, Mo- 

4 4 hammad Ayub Khurro, declared in the Parliament, . . . if 
no immediate action is taken in the Kashmir issue there 
might be an upheaval of revolution in Pakistan which might 
be difficult for the Government to control."39 The Azad 
government warned that, "Azad Kashmiris themselves . . . 
would be responsible for the liberation of their brethren 
across the cease-fire line and the war would be this time 
fought to the bitter end, irrespective of circum~tance."~~ 
The Prime Minister of Pakistan, Khwaja Nazimuddin, de- 
clared, ". . . there is a limit to our patience," and he prom- 
ised, ". . . God willing we shall never rest until we have 
liberated the people of Kashmir."" At the annual confer- 
ence of the Muslim League, the most powerful political 
party in Pakistan, a resolution under the chairmanship of 

3s The Hindu (Madras), June 26, 1951. 
3e The New York Times, March 28, 1952. 
40 Ibid., September lo, 1952. 41 Ibid., August 15, 1952. 
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the Prime Minister appealed to the government to liberate 
the Kashmiri people "by all possible means" and to Paki- 
stan to be "prepared for an all-out str~ggle."'~ 

On October 24, 1952, a "Kashnlir Day" was observed 
throughout Pakistan, and scores of ineetings were held and 
resolutions passed urging action, condemning the "dilatory 
policy" of the United Nations, asking for Pakistan's with- 
drawal from the United Nations, and warning that "the 
Muslim World may be forced to revise its attitude towards 
the United Nations." 

Whatever may have been the purpose of the avalanche 
of these threatening statements-whether to put pressure on 
the Pakistani government, or on the Indian government, 
or on the Security Cooncil, or on Dr. Graham-they were 
certainly a clear and convincing expression of the indigna- 
tion and resentment of the Pakistani people over the failure 
to bring the Kashmir issue closer to the final solution. That 
there has yet been no outbreak of armed hostilities offers 
some hope for peace, but all informed observers believe 
that the situation continues to be grim; that the powder 
keg of the Kashmir issue, which threatens so dangerously 
the welfare of Pakistan and India as well as the peace of the 
world, might yet explode without warning. 

Perhaps it is this deadly possibility, plus his own opti- 
mism, that has kept Dr. Graham from succumbing to what 
would be an easily understandable exasperation over the 
frustrations of his prolonged efforts to mediate. Dr. Gra- 

- 

ham's patience and persistence arouse admiration. But there 
is another side of the coin. This is that the endless negoti- 
ations have allowed for profound political changes in Kash- 
mir which not only are dimming the hope that an im- 
partial plebiscite will ever take place but also are implying 
serious dangers to the cause of peace and denlocracy. 

42 Ibid., October 1 5 ,  1952. 
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Bilateral Negotiations 
Now, of course, another event has taken place which 

vitally affects the United Nations role in the Kashmir dis- 
pute. Whether from lack of good will, or out of the weari- 
ness of the people directly involved in the Kashmir pro- 
crastination, or more probably because of the dissatisfaction 
of both parties in dispute with the United Nations policy, 
the governments of India and Pakistan in 1953 decided to 
excuse the United Nations from active participation in the 
issue, and to try again, as they did in 1947' to prepare the 
solution in bilateral negotiations. In the spring of 1953 
Mohammed Ali, the Ambassador of Pakistan to the United 
States, was appointed Pakistan's Prime Minister. He made 
several optimistic statements on the Kashmir problem and 
stressed the necessity of establishing close and friendly re- 
lations between India and Pakistan. The latter statements 
were reciprocated by New Delhi. 

In June 1953 Mohammed Ali and Jawaharlal Nehru dis- 
cussed the Kashmir issue informally in London, where they 
met on the occasion of the coronation of Queen Elizabeth. 
Then, on July 25, Nehru paid a visit to Karachi, where the 
problem was discussed, among other questions, in general 
terms. Further negotiations were envisaged. The press of 
both countries was friendly as it had never been before. 

On August 9, however, Sheikh Abdollah was abruptly 
dismissed from office and Ghulam Mohammed Bakshi was 
nominated Prime Minister of Kashmir (the event is de- 
scribed in detail in the following chapter). Once again Mus- 
lims were killed in the Vale of Kashmir. I t  was as though 
a stroke of lightning had shattered the promising atmos- 
phere of Indo-Pakistani relations. 

Mohammed Ali rushed to Delhi, partly because he wished 
to avert the danger of a violent outburst of indignation on 
the part of the Pakistanis, partly because he probably 
wanted to use the events in Srinagar to convince Nehru of 
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the necessity of an early settlement of the Kashmir dispute. 
After four days of consultations, the two Prime Ministers 

issued a joint press communiquk on several matters con- 
cerning the Indo-Pakistani unsettled problems. The part 
on Kashmir read: 

"The Kashmir dispute was specially discussed at some 
length. It was their firm opinion that this should be settled 
in accordance with the wishes of the people of that State 
with a view to promoting their well-being and causing the 
least disturbance to the life of the people of the State. 

"The most feasible method of ascertaining the wishes of 
the people was by fair and impartial plebiscite. Such a pleb- 
iscite had been proposed and agreed to some years ago. 
Progress, however, could not be made because of lack of 
agreement in regard to certain preliminary issues. 

"The Prime Ministers agreed that these preliminary is- 
sues should be considered by them directly in order to ar- 
rive at agreements in regard to this. These agreements would 
have to be given effect to and the next step would be the 
appointment of a plebiscite administrator. 

"In order to fix some kind of a provisional time-table, it 
was decided that the plebiscite administrator should be 
appointed by the end of April 1954. Previous to that date 
the preliminary issues referred to above should be decided 
and action in implementation thereof should be taken. 
With this purpose in view Committees of Military and 
other experts should be appointed to advise the Prime Min- 
isters. 

"On the plebiscite administrator's formal appointment 
and induction into office by the Jammu and Kashmir Gov- 
ernment he will examine the situation and report on it. He 
will then make such proposals as he thinks proper for prep- 
arations to be made for the holding of a fair and impartial 
plebiscite in the entire State and take such other steps as 
may be considered necessary therefor.'p4s 

43 APP (Associated Press of Pakistan), August 20, 1953. 
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The communiqut marked a new phase in the long at- 
tempt to solve the Kashmir problem; in a way it marked 
too its new treatment. It confirmed the old agreement to let 
the people of the entire State of Ja~llxnu and Kashmir de- 
cide their future by a free and impartial plebiscite, but it 
also meant that the problem of demilitarization ("certain 
preliminary issues") would be considered by the govern- 
ments of India and Pakistan directly upon the advice of 
their experts and without direct assistance from the United 
Nations. It further envisaged their in~plementation prior to 
the appointment of a new plebiscite administrator to suc- 
ceed Fleet Admiral Nimitz, this to take place by the end 
of April 1954. 

Strangely enough, the communiqut did not mention the 
United Nations, though certainly the Kashmir dispute re- 
mains on its agenda. Unfortunately, however, the proverbial 
ink of the communiquk had hardly dried when its wording, 
instead of strengthening Indo-Pakistani friendship, freshly 
established and still fragile, provoked critical reaction 
among the rightist parties in India and among almost all 
papers in Pakistan. The Azad leaders even declared at a 
press conference in Karachi that "It has been natural for 
Bharat [India] to devise some means to blanket her stark 
misdeeds and to camouflage the real situation in the Valley. 
It is our considered opinion, which we express with con- 
siderable pain, that the Delhi Agreement has been used to 
serve exactly this end, and no other. . . . It has not brought 
the plebiscite a bit nearer than it was in 1949."" 

Fleet Admiral Nimitz was improperly involved in the 
sharp exchange of views on the Delhi agreement of August 
20. Nehru expressed preference for a national from a 
smaller European or Asian country, to avoid involving both 

11 India and Pakistan in power politics. In any case," he de- 
clared somewhat undiplomatically, "the fact of the Nimitz 
nomination as administrator by the United Nations is now 

44 Dawn (Karachi),  August 29, 1953. 
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an historical memory and I have almost forgotten about it." 
The Pakistanis, however, insisted on Nimitz' retention and 
branded Nehru's attitude as "deliberate shock tactics de- 
signed to drive a wedge between Pakistan and the United 
 state^."'^ As the newspaper war continued, Jawaharlal 
Nehru and Mohammed Ali exchanged several letters, which 
have not as yet been published, on the "preliminary issues," 
as envisaged in the Delhi agreement. 

Four months passed before expert representatives of In- 
dia and Pakistan met to advise their Prime Ministers 011 the 
most important preliminary issue, the denlilitarization of 

- 

Kashmir. The meeting could not have taken place under 
less favorable circumstances. On the initiative of Nellru, a 
campaign was in progress against the negotiations concern- 
ing American military assistance to Pakistan. Nehru de- 
clared in the House of the People that these negotiations 
might affect the solution of the Kashmir problem. Indeed, 
the experts' conference in Delhi towards the end of De- 

- 

cember 19 5 j ended without having made any tangible 
progress. They have not met since. The Prime Minister of 
Pakistan requested in a number of letters a meeting with 
the Prime Minister of India, but with no success. Nehru 
declared on various occasions that the Delhi agreement had 
been reached in the context of a situation which now was 
altered by Pakistan's acceptance of American military help. 

The two Prime Ministers did see each other at the Co- 
lombo Conference of India, Pakistan, Ceylon, Burma, and 
Indonesia toward the end of April, and Mohammed Ali 
tried to have the Kashmir issue put on the agenda, but failed 
against Nehru's opposition. The latter declared that the 
problem could not be solved in a few hours if it had escaped 
solution for seven years. So the awaited month of ~ b r i l  
passed and no "preliminary issue" was solved, no plebiscite 
administrator was appointed. People who believed and 
hoped that the solution of the problem might be facilitated 

45 The New York Times, August 29, 195 3.  
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by keeping the United Nations out of the picture could not 
be encouraged by the outcon~e of one year of bilateral 
negotiations. 

No supporter of the United Nations could be pleased 
by Delhi's and Karachi's decision to by-pass, though per- 
haps only temporarily, the world organization. But the 
United Nations, unlike national governments, is not con- 
cerned with prestige in matters of procedure, and it would 
wholeheartedly welcome any solution which would come 
out of the bilateral negotiations between India and Paki- 
stan. However, the United Nations cannot give up in its 

- 

major responsibility in maintaining peace ainong the na- 
tions, and it must be ready to reassullle without delay its 
role of mediation should the bilateral approach fail. 

In any therapy, when the disease persists, there comes a 
time for a change of treatment. 

What  Next? 
Why, for example, should not the Kashmir conflict be 

taken off the agenda of the Security Council and passed on 
to the General Assen~bly, whose recommendations carry 
the authority and moral support of the majority of its sixty 
members? The General Assembly could appeal to India and 
Pakistan to demilitarize Kashn~ir according to those pro- 
posals already endorsed by the Security Council resolution 
of December 23, 1952, and to proceed with the plebiscite 
as it had been agreed upon under the resolution of the 
United Nations Commission. 

Is it not perfectly proper and plausible that the General 
Assembly could simultaneously, or in case of the failure of 
such a recommendation, ask the International Court of 
Justice for an advisory opinion on the legal validitv of 
Kashmir's accession to India? 

Certainly the General Assembly could appeal to Pakistan 
and India to accept arbitration on at least the process and 
scope of the demilitarization of Kashmir and on the inter- 
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Dretation of other clauses of the United Nations Commis- 
1 

sion's resolutions, in case of further disagreement between 
the parties in dispute. 

Or, the General Assembly could propose to the disputing 
parties to station United Nations troops along the Kashmir- 
Pakistan border on Pakistan's territory, thus allowing the 
State of Jammu and Kashmir to be completely demilita- 
rized. The United Nations units could be composed of 
nationals of the countries which are neither politically nor 
geographically directly concerned with the issue. This could 
exclude also nationals of the five permanent members of the 
Security Council. 

It might be very difficult for Pakistan to accept this pro- 
posal, but while it would relieve India of any concern over 
the defense of Kashmir against the danger of an external 
aggression, it would also meet Pakistan's aim of complete 
demilitarization of the country and the assurance of real 
freedom for a plebiscite. 

It is, of course, entirely possible (perhaps probable) that 
such suggestions would likewise encouilter opposition-per- 
haps rejection. But behind these proposals would be the 
moral weight of both the individual and collective nations 
of the world, one portion of which, at any rate, can hope 
for nothing good from any further prolonging of this strug- 
gle. It is reasonable to expect that a fair resolution would be 
carried by an overwhelming majority of the General As- 
sembly, perhaps only with the exception of the Soviet bloc 
and one of the parties in dispute. At least the world would 
know where each member of the United Nations stands. 

There are, of course, other peaceful ways of solving the 
- 

Kashmir dispute as long as the wishes of the Kashmir peo- 
ple are respected and their freedom of expression fully as- 
sured. But all of these are predicated upon the presence of 
good will. Without it, even the most ingenious proposal 
is condemned to failure. 



8. The ~ a s h m i r  Scene Changes 
SEVEN YEARS have passed since India and Pakistan began 
their struggle for the State of Jammu and Kashnlir. The 
world press, which once heacllined the dispute, now reports 
it only sporadically. Only the press of India and Pakistan 
retell the whole story on every possible occasion. But though 
few correspondents now cover the scene as once they did, 
life in Kashmir goes on under its burden of strife. The 
parties in the divided areas continue to entrench themselves 
until today Kashmir is in effect two countries, led by two 
governn~ents, their policies and aims irreconcilable. 

Should a plebiscite take place now, the pent-up bitterness 
of seven years would drive the members and followers of 
the losing side from the country. All are aware of this, and 
with little question it is this fact that makes the prospect of 
a plebiscite remote. For the party which has the more serious 
reason to be fearful of the result of a plebiscite-the govern- 
ment in Srinagar-has been doing everything in its power 
to delay this day of reckoning. I t  has been working hard to 
change the conditions of life under the Maharaja and to 
bring some relief to the poverty-stricken masses. Indeed, it 
has introduced some healthy economic reforms. But as the 
process goes on, it becomes simultaneously apparent that 
Kashmir is on the road to a radical left-wing totalitarian dic- 
tatorship. 

Before we examine this pattern further-it is a familiar 
one in the twentieth century-let us review the situation 
briefly. Since those October days of 1947, the State of 
Jammu and Kashmir has been split into two parts. The 
western and northern part adjacent to Pakistan, to Afghani- 
stan, to Sinkiang, and, for a short strip of territory, to the 
Soviet Union, consists of the Azad region, Gilgit, northern 
Ladakh, and Baltistan. The other part consists of the Vale 
of Kashmir, a part of Jammu, and a part of Ladakh. 
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The Azad Government 
The Azad territory has an area of 5,000 square miles and 

a population of 700,000 plus some 200,000 refugees. I t  is 
overwhelmingly Muslim, since the pre-war non-Muslim 12.5 
per cent minority has been reduced to 2 per cent. The tem- 
porary capital is Muzaff arabad. 

The country is governed by the Azad Kashmir govern- 
ment, which is in charge of all affairs of a local nature. The 
postal and telegraph systems and defense are in the hands 
of the Pakistan goverilment, which exercises these functions 
through a Ministry of Kashmir Affairs, established at the be- 
ginning of 1949. Foreign affairs are also the concern of the 
government of Pakistan. The  armed forces are under the 
command of the Pakistani general staff; they are con~posed 
of units of the Pakistani army and local Azad troops. The 
tribesmen withdrew in 1949. 

The government is con~posed of five members headed by 
the Supreme Head of the Azad Kashmir government. In 
March 1948 this title was conferred upon Ghulam Abbas, 
the old warrior of freedom for the Kashmir people. He held 
this position as well as that of the presidency of the A11 
Jammu and Kashmir Muslim Conference until Decembcr 
195 1, when he resigned for reasons never publicly explained. 
It would seem, however, that he and his younger colleague, 
Sardar Mohammed Ibrahim, the talented and radical leader 
who had raised the banner of revolt in Jammu in the spring 
of 1947 when Ghulam Abbas was in prison, felt consider- 
able dissatisfaction with what they considered the timid 
policy of the Pakistani government on Kashmir. On several 
occasions both Abbas and his young Prime Minister had 
pressed for a vigorous military action, and when it was 
not forthcoming they apparently resigned in protest. Both 
continue to be very active in the Muslim Conference, how- 
ever, taking part in its meetings and criticizing both the 
Azad government for its lack of democracy and the Paki- 
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stan government for its lack of resoluteness. The Azad gov- 
ernnlent is now headed by Colonel Sher Ahmed Kllan. 

Both the driving and the controlling force bchind the 
Azad government is the All Jalllillu and Kashmir Muslim 
Conference. It deternlines the policy of the goverilmeilt 
and ilominates its nlen~bers, who, in tur~i,  are respo~lsible 
to the Conference for their actions. In 1949 it claimed a 
membership of zjoo,ooo people. It holds annual general 
congresses, and in March 1952 one thousaild delegates par- 
ticipated at its gathering. Its leading body is the Working 
Committee of 19 members. 

The Muslim Conference is the only party in Azad Kash- 
mir and in that sense is in fact no more democratic than its 
opposite number, the National Conference. There have been 
no electioils in the country. But all observers who visited 
the Azad territory or who have studied the conditions there 
are agreed on its vast and popular following. Its main aim 
is to unify Kashmir and to unite with Pakistan. Unlike the 
National Conference, the Muslim Conference has never 
indicated that it would be willing to consider the alterna- 
tive of establishing an independent Kashmir. 

Under the Azad government administration the old sys- 
tem of feudalism was abolished, though no radical land re- 
form was introduced. In April 1949 land revenues were cut 
by 50 per cent and some others were discontinued. In Oc- 
tober 1951 the land tax was 4 annas (about 7.5 cents) to 1 

rupee (about 30 cents) per kana1 (8 kanals equals one acre). 
The country raises few agricultural products. Its chief ex- 
port is timber, the forests being owned by the government. 
Industry is very small, employing only some 20,000 workers. 
About 400 cooperatives functioned in the country at the 
end of May 1953. 

With the financial help of the Pakistani government the 
Azad government has devoted considerable effort to the 
construction of roads and public buildings and to the im- 
provement of education and social and medical services. It 
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maintains the Oriental College at Muzagarabad, 12 high 
schools, 37 middle schools, and 492 elementary schools. It 
also supports 8 hospitals, 22 village dispensaries, and 6 mo- 
bile medical units, but it is in dire need of doctors and 
nurses. It runs several refugee camps. The Pakistan Red 
Cross operates 6 hospitals in Azad Kashmir. Health centers 
and dental clinics are established in the more important 
towns, and new ones are being planned. Some ~oo,ooo'dol- 
lars are spent a year for medical services. All this indicates 
a very low standard of living, and much remains to be done. 
Only recently, in May 1954, at a press conference in Ka- 
rachi, critics of the Azad Kashmir government, Sardar Mo- 
hammed Ibrahim among them, raised vigorous protest 
against bribery, corruption, and embezzlement in the gov- 
ernmental circles. They also accused the Ministry of Kash- 
mir Affairs of pursuing a policy of colonialism in the Azad 
territory. They urged the government to conduct democratic 
elections in the country. Perhaps as a concessio~~ to these 
popular pressures, the Azad Kashmir government in June 
promised (without specifying any date however), general 
elections based on adult franchise. 

The northern areas consist of a vast expanse of 54,000 
square miles with a scattered population living in remote 
villages, hidden in valleys or lying at the gateways to various 
mountain passes. They are politically controlled in only the 
vaguest way by the Pakistani government through a political 
agent. The actual political power is exercised by local chief- 
tains, and police functions are fulfilled by some 3,500 scouts. 
The area is essentially, though mildly, agricultural in nature. 
Life is primitive, and such political aspirations as exist have 
been satisfied by the allegiance of the population to Paki- 
stan. According to some sources, there has been some in- 
filtration of Communist agents in Gilgit from the Soviet 
Union and from Communist Sinkiang. In April of 1953 
Sir Zafrulla Khan protested to the Chinese government 
against violations of Sinkiang-Gilgit borders. 
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In Gilgit there are only 8 schools-one of them a middle 
school-one civilian and one veterinary hospital, and 14 

dispensaries. In Baltistan and northern Ladakh there are 
only 33 schools and 3 hospitals. The Pakistan government 
endeavors to maintain regular air communication with 
these faraway mountainous regions and for that purpose 
has constructed an air strip at Gilgit proper, at Skardu, 
and at Chilas. Gilgit could be reached before only on foot 
in a 12-day journey from Peshawar, in the North-West 
Frontier Province. Now the 250 miles may be traveled daily 
by air transport. The old caravan route has also been 
widened for jeeps, which can make the trip in four days.' 

In general, one wo~lld say that the western and north- 
western areas of the State of Jammu and Kashmir form part 
of Pakistan, tied with her by the strong links of Islam, 
though this has not as yet found expression in any formal 
act. Legally they continue to be part of the State of Jammu 
and Kashmir. Their individual regions enjoy rights of wide 
autonomy, but they are far from being democratic. This 
can be partly explained as a consequence of the old feudal 
traditions of their primitive society and partly by the neces- 
sities of the war. But the internal organization of the Azad 
territory is not the problem. Rather, it is that as the years 
go by, the people continue to seethe with anger over their 
enforced separation from their fellow countrymen on the 
other side of the cease-fire line. I t  is in this respect that the 
policy of their leaders, if it is not extraordinarily wise and 
prudent, may have far-reaching and disastrous consequences 
for the free world. 

It is in the other half of this divided State of Jammu and 
Kashmir, which is under the Srinagar administration, that 
the internal political development gives reason for real in- 
ternational concern. 

The foregoing paragraphs are based on information from Pak- 
istani governmental sources. 
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New Kashmir 
In 1944, four years before Sheikh Abdullah came to 

power, the National Conference prepared its political pro- 
gram, embodied in a document called New Kushmir. First 
pblished as a booklet, its cover was decorated with the red 
flag and white plough2 which has since become the national 
flag of Kashmir. The declaration is often referred to as the 
Magna Charta of the Kashmiri people and it has become 
the bible of Kashmir's economic life. 

In the Introduction, Sheikh Abdullah declares that the 
National Conference fights "for the poor, against those who 
exploit them; for the toiling people of our beautiful home- 
land against the heartless ranks of the socially privileged. . . . 
The history of freedom movements . . . had only one lesson 
to teach-that freedom from all forms of economic exploi- 
tation is the only true guarantee of political democracy. . . . ? ? 

Then Abdullah continues, "In our times, Soviet Russia 
has demonstrated before our eyes, not merely theoretically 
but in her actual day-to-day life and development that real 
freedom takes birth only from economic emancipation." 

New Kashmir contains a proposal for a constitution, a 
national economic plan, and a women's charter. The con- 
stitution lists and guarantees the basic human and political 
rights: equality of all citizens; freedom of conscience and 
worship, of speech, press, assembly, street processions; in- 
violability of the person; and a universal, equal, direct suf- 
frage by secret ballot. In that respect it does not differ 
from the best constitution of any democratic country. But 
for that matter, neither does it vary from the constitutions 
of those Communist countries which, having inscribed 
these human and political rights in their basic constitu- 
tional law, have violated them daily. 

The constitution proposed by New Kashmir also guar- 
antees to all citizens the right to work, to rest, and to have 

New Kashmir, Kashmir Bureau of Information, New Delhi. 
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material security in old age, sickness, and in case of loss 
of capacity to work. It guarantees the right to education 
and equal opportunity for all children. I t  guarantees the 
right of personal property, within the limits of an economy 
planned by the state. 

The country's highest organ, according to New Kashmir, 
is the National Assembly with usual legislative powers but 
also with the jurisdiction to represent the state in external 
relations; to organize the defense of the state; to prepare 
the national economic plan; and to develop executive ac- 
tivities which are as a rule pursued by governments. The 
Council of Ministers is responsible to the National As- 
sembly, and the ruler is the constitutional head of state. 
Judges are independent of the government in fulfilling their 
duties. 

"The econon~ic life of the State shall be determined and 
7 7  directed by the National Economic Plan . . . , continues 

the New Kashmir program. "Cooperative enterprise sho~~ld  
be stressed as opposed to destructive competition. Market- 
ing and trade must not be spontaneous but controlled and 
organized." This means, in agriculture, the abolition of 
landlordism, assignment of land to the tiller, cooperative 
association of peasants, people's control of forests, organized 
cultivation according to a plan, better utilization of land; 
developnlent of culturable waste, of animal husbandry; or- 
ganization of fruit cultivation; development of bee-keeping, 
of fish cultivation; utilization of timber, fuel and grazing 
wealth of the forests. A national agricultural council is en- 
visaged to execute and supervise the national agricultural 
plan. 

Then follows the peasant's charter, assuring him of the 
right to work on the land, freeing him from debts, and 
guaranteeing to him numerous material, social, and health 
facilities. 

A chapter on industry stresses the principle that industrial 
advancement is the key to a progressive standard of living. 
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All key industries are to be in the hands of the people's 
government, and therefore the large private capitalist is to 
be abolished, private monopoly forbidden, and forests, im- 
portant industries, and mineral deposits to be worked only 
by the state. "Private small-scale enterprise will be allowed 
only in strict conformity with the need of the National 
Plan, and will be subject to supervision by the National In- 
dustrial Council." 

The chapter on industry then includes the worker's char- 
ter, according to which every citizen has the right to demand 
work from the state, consistent with his honor and self- 
respect, the right to a higher standard of living than the 
mere subsistence level, the right to associate in trade unions, 
freedom to change occupation, an annual fortnight's leave 
with full pay, insurance, free medical facilities and educa- 
tion. 

The problem of transport and distribution is another part 
of the New Kashmir program. The government is to take 
care of both. To  safeguard the health of its citizens New 
Kashmir includes a national health charter; to foster edu- 
cation it plans the activities and the tasks of the national 
educational council; to develop housing it proposes to es- 
tablish a national housing council. Banking, currencv, and 
finance matters are nationalized under the control of the 
national economic council. 

New Kashmir concludes with the women's charter, which 
assures the Kashmir woman "her just and rightful place in 
society" in the political, social, economic, legal, educational, 
and cultural life of the country. 

New Kashmir offered, obviously, a detailed program in all 
spheres of life. The historic events of 1947 gave Sheikh 
Abdullah the opportunity to implement it. 

The Lion of Kashmir 
It has already been related how Sheikh Abdullah had 

been released from prison a few weeks before the struggle 
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for Kashmir began and how, in October 1947, he had been 
named Head of the Emergency Administration by the Ma- 
haraja, once his fiercest enemy. In March 1948 the Maha- 
raja was "advised" to end the emergency administration 
and nominate Sheikh Abdullah Prime Minister of Kashmir. 
The State Assembly was dissolved because its Muslim mem- 
bers represented exclusively the "enemy" party, the Muslim 
Conference. The Maharaja, living in an enforced exile in 
Bombay, lost all authority over internal affairs. As a result, 
Abdullah and his associates became the real and only rulers 
of the country. 

The Kashmir people had every right to expect that their 
popular leader would live up to his promises. To  them he 
was "the Lion of Kashmir"; to detached observers, a demo- 
crat and socialist. However, as years went by, his policy cast 
increasing shadows over the enlightened scene of his theory. 

In 1947, before Kashmir was invaded, Sheikh Abdullah 
had called for the freedom of his country, before its acces- 
sion to either India or Pakistan. In 1948, when he became 
Prime Minister, he declared that he would accept the will 
of his people. In May 1949, addressing himself in Srinagar 
to Pandit Nehru, he said, "I want you to believe that Kash- 
mir is yours. No power in the world can separate us. Every 
Kashmiri feels that he is an Indian and that India is his 
h~meland ."~  From time to time he clamored for complete 
independence for Kashmir, and on other occasions he de- 
clared that independence was not a practicable idea. 

In March 1952 he stated, ". . . neither the Indian Parlia- 
ment nor any other Parliament outside the State has any 
jurisdiction over our State. . . . No country-neither India 
nor Pakistan-can put spokes in the wheel of  our progress."' 

A few days later he envisioned Kashmir as a bridge be- 
tween Pakistan and India which "can again be reunited and 

"he Statesman (Calcutta), May 31, 1949. 
Delhi Radio, Indian Information Service, March 31, 1952. 
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become one country."' But two days later he considered re- 
lations between India and Kashmir "irrevocable and no 
force on earth can render us asunder."" Back to warn the 
Indian government, he declared "that the existence of Kash- 
mir did not depend on Indian money, trade, or defence 
forces, and he did not expect any strings to be attached to 
Indian aid. Threats and taunts would not intimidate him 
into servile submission."' 

In actual fact, he led Kashmir step by step farther away 
from India. One of his political rivals has characterized him 
as a "communalist in Kashmir, a Communist in Jammu, 
and a nationalist in India."" 

The story of Sheikh Abdullah is a sad and sorry one. It 
is the story of a patriot, once passionately devoted to his 
people's welfare, but one whose patriotism was too shallow 
to reject the temptations of power. Once a fighter, he 
turned into an opportunist and, worse, a dictator who at 
the end found himself entangled in the web of his own 
methods and policy. 

One-Party System 
There are several political parties in the State of Jammu 

and Kashmir. Most of them, however, exist only on paper 
or function as a small group of intelligentsia. These are the 
Kisan Mazdoor Conference (in Kashmir), the Kashmir So- 
cialist Party, the Democratic Socialist Party (in Jammu), 
the Kashmir Democratic Union (a small exiled group in 
New Delhi around Prem Nath Bazaz), and the Sikh Akali 
Party. One party of importance is the Praja Parishad (in 
Jammu), the only one which is in any real sense the oppo- 
sition party to the one in power-the All Jammu and Kash- 
mir National Conference. 

The Hindu (Madras), April 1 2, 19 52. 
Ibid., April 14, 19 52. 

The Times (London), April 26, 19 52.  

* Pandit Premnath Dogra, from his statement in Madras. The 
Hindu (Madras), October 15,  1952. 
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In truth the National Conference is the only effective 
political party in Kashmir, with local organizations in a]- 
most every village. Although on the surface co~lsiderabl~ 
progress has been achieved in local self-government, in re- 
ality it is the local National Conference organizatio~l which 
decides everything: who is going to be elected to what of- 
fice, who will get a job, who will receive the supplies which 
it alone distributes. 

Tlte Statesman, a prominent India11 newspaper which 
consistently supported Sheikh Abdullah's policy, observed 
in March 1949, "There are signs of establishment of a police 
State-futile notices in restaurants forbidding political con- 
versations when everybody talks politics; more 'Public 
Safety' prisoners than are healthy. . . ."' Some eighteen 
months later, Sir Owen Dixon' observed during his mission 
that "the State government was exercising wide powers of 
arbitrary arrest."1° 

Such strict police measures would be justified in a period 
of war, and one would also understand that no freedom of 
action could be permitted for the members of a party which 
advocated accession to Pakistan even before the actual pleb- 
iscite campaign took place. But all observers who have had 
the opportunity to visit Kashmir recently agree that the rule 
of political persecution still continues and that the police 
terror perpetuates itself, though fighting has been stopped 
for six years. 

There are two government-owned radio stations in the 
country, but with the exception of a few wealthier families 
and high state officials there are no privately owned sets. In- 
stead, the government has established a community broad- 
casting system by installing 218 listening posts in Kashmir 
and 150 posts in Jammu. For lack of electric current the sets 
are on batteries which are regularly serviced from Srinagar 
and Jammu town. The sets are under the control of the 

The Statesman (Calcutta), March 1, 1949. 
lo S/i 791 of September 1 5, 1950, P. 24. 
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local orga~lizatioil of the National Conference, all "tuned to 
radio Kashmir, fixed and sealed," as a governmental publi- 
cation quite candidly and perhaps naively announced." 

A Field Publicity Organization carries on 
a program of audio-visual education, the chief features of 
which are five vans, rigged with public address equipment, 
that travel from one village to another voicing for the most 
part political propaganda. There were in 1949 four daily 
newspapers in Srinagar, two English-written weeklies, and 
about twenty-five weeklies printed in the vernacular lan- 
guage. The total circulation of the dailies is reported to be 
about ioo,ooo copies; they are also reported to be essentially 
government-controlled or under strict censorship. 

The government attaches great importance to education, 
and much has been done in this field. New schools have 
been opened, some 60 of them for children from three to 
five. In addition to the older The Prince of Wales College 
at Jammu, now called Gandhi Memorial College, a univer- 
sity was established in 1948 at Srinagar. 

The government has set up a Textbook Advisory Board 
to prepare new textbooks for all kinds of schools, to be writ- 
ten in the spirit of New Kashmir. The government sources 

- - 

claim that up to 1950, 2,790,500 volumes of these textbooks 
have been published. Refresher courses have been organized 
to indoctrinate "New Teachers" in the spirit of New Kash- 
mir. "A network of social education centers has been spread 
over the entire area of the State to educate public opinion 
in the ideology of New Kashmir," wrote Sheikh Abdullah.12 

The Land Reform 
The government introduced the most radical and far- 

reaching reforms in agriculture following its declared pol- 

l1 \ammu and Kashmir, 1947-1950. Printed a t  the Ranbir Govern- 
ment Press, 1951, P. 3 2 .  

l2 Sheikh Mohammad Abdullah, Jammu and Kashmir. Printed a t  
the Ranbir Government Press, p. 5. 
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icy of the "land to the tiller." The total cultivated area in 
the state was about 2,200,000 acres, most of which belonged 
to the Maharaja or his feudal vassals. The landlords rented 
the land to peasants under medieval conditions of exploita- 
tion. There were, generally speaking, three classes of such 
economically privileged persons: iagirdars, rnuafi dars, and 
mukarraries. 

The jagirdars owned vast areas of land, jagirs, and were 
paid by the tenants partly in crops, partly in cash. The 
muafidars, who were individuals such as pandits and faqirs, 
or institutions such as mosques and temples, received part 
of the land revenue. There were 396 jagirdars and muafidars 
in the state collecting 5 56, 3 1 3 rupees annually. 

The mukarraries received cash payments from the state 
- 

treasury under various religious and nonreligious titles. 
There were 2,347 mukarraries in the state drawing 177,921 
rupees a year. All these privileges were abolished by Sheikh 
Abdullah's government with the exception of some grants 
allotted to the religious leaders for church purposes. 

The government also enacted laws for the protection of 
tenants. They could no longer be ejected from the land; 
a moratorium was declared on their debts; and they could 
have reinstated their rights in mortgaged property.13 Previ- 
ously the tenants had had to provide seed and agricultural 
implements and give the landlord 50 per cent of the crop. 
Now he was allowed to retain three-fourths of the produc- 
tion of rice, wheat, and oil-seeds, and two-thirds of the pro- 
duction of cotton and pulses and other agricultural products. 

In April 1949 a committee was set up to prepare a plan 
for the transfer of land to the peasants. Eighteen months 
later, the Big Landed Estates Abolition Act superseded 
most of the preceding temporary measures and legalized a 

l3 The Tenants (Stay of Ejectment) Ordinance, S. 2004 (1947)- 
-The Tenancy (Amendment) Act, S. 200  5 ( 1948) .-The Realization 
of Debts (Temporary Stay) Ordinance, S. 2006 (1949) .-The Dis- 
tressed Debtors' Relief Act, S. zoo6 (1949) .-The Restitution of 
Mortgaged Properties Act, S. 2006 (1940). 
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sweeping land reform. The landlord was allowed to keep 
llot more than 160 kanals ( 2 0  acres) of agricultural land, 8 
kanals (1 acre) of land for residential use or vegetable 
gardening, 4 kanals (V2 acre) as residential site, and l o  
kanals (1.2 5 acres) of orchards-altogether 182 kanals 
(22.75 acres). Also, it was stipulated that the landlord must 
work on his land; otherwise it would be expropriated. Ex- 
tremely interesting was the provision for the confiscation 

4 4  of the property of enemy agents," these agents being 
largely defined as persons who had expressed a desire for 
Kashmir to join Pakistan. 

This expropriated land was to be transferred in full 
ownership to the maximum of 160 kanals ( 2 0  acres) to the 
tenant, who was to pay the government a regular land tax 
and a temporary special tax, known as the "land develop- 
ment cess." All lands which were not under cultivation or 
not rented and in excess of 182 kanals were transferred to 
the government for redistribution or for collective farming. 
For the expropriated land the government was to pay to 
the former owner for the first year after expropriation an 
amount equal to 3/4 of the land revenue of the expropriated 
land, for the second year 2/3, and for the third year and 
subsequent years 1/2 of such land revenue, these sums never 
to exceed 3,000 rupees a year. The tiller is not allowed to 
transfer the newly acquired property without governmental 
permission. No one other than a Kashmir citizen is entitled 
to acquire land. If a proprietor or tiller dies without heir, 
or transfers the land or any interest therein in contravention 
of the law, or sublets it continuously for two harvests, he 
loses the right of ownership, which lapses to the govern- 
ment. 

In most cases the government failed to receive the land 
tax from the peasants for the simple reason that they had 
110 cash with which to pay. As a logical consequence, for- 
mer owners rarely had any indemnity paid to them-for 
precisely the same reason. On March 26, 1952, the Con- 
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stituent Assembly relieved itself of this embarrassment by 
deciding to confiscate all landed estates without any con,- 
pensation. 

The land reform laws changed drastically the agricul- 
tural and social structure of Kashmir. The feudal system 
was abolished, landlordism disappeared, and thousands of 
peasants living before in virtual slavery became landholders. 
According to Kashmir government sources, by the end of 
March 1953, 188,775 acres of land were transferred to 1 53,- 
399 tillers. This would indicate that each peasant therefore 
received an average of 1.23 acres of land under this pro- 
gram. In fact, however, many landless peasants received con- 
siderably less than the average, because many local officials 
were given more and better land, sometimes even above the 
maximum of 2 0  acres. 

The government also established collective farms on 
lands which were not distributed among the peasants. Col- 
lective farms have been established at such places as Gopal- 
pora, Shalteng, and Harwan, and by April 195 3, 87,500 acres 
of land were government-owned. 

The government endeavored to increase the production 
of land by repairing old irrigation canals and constructing 
new ones. The Awantipura Canal was built at the cost of 
8 million rupees to irrigate more than 4,000 acres, as well 
as to increase electrification. 

All these measures seem impressive, freeing as they do 
the Kashrniri peasant from the unbearable burden of com- 
plete economic dependence on the landlord. They signaled 
a new era of peasant emancipation. However, on second 
thought one finds that in practice there is a striking similar- 
ity between these measures and the agricultural policy of 
Communist countries. The former proprietors are not guar- 
anteed any indemnity, even in principle, though lack of 
funds may have justified a moratorium on paying the in- 
demnity for some years. The peasant is not allowed to sell 
his land. He is given such a small strip to cultivate that as 
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soon as his first enthusiasm has paled, he comes face to face 
with the hard fact that he simply cannot live on its pro- 
duction. Meanwhile, in the vicinity of his one-acre "field" 
a collective farm is established and is given various privileges, 
technical and financial, which he does not enjoy. Under the 
circumstances, then, he is led to realize that it is often 
better to join the collective farm than to toil on his oun 
property. Exactly the same method was applied in Com- 
munist Poland, Hungary, Bulgaria, and Yugoslavia. I t  is un- 
likely that this could be coincidental, nor does it seem un- 
founded to assume that the member of the Land Reforni 
Committee, Ghulam Sadiq, got his inspiration for this 
policy from his fellow comrades. 

The practice of collecting taxes in kind and of obligatory 
redemption of agricultural products has been widely criti- 
cized. "Government officials are harassing cultivators and 
petty landholders to procure mujawaza [taxes in kind] and 

4 4 surplus food grains," wrote a newspaper in Srinagar. . . . 
From the complaints which are being received from the 
kisans [peasants] of various areas, it is evident that in pro- 
curement of mujawaza . . . and surplus paddy, the poor 
kisans are being subjected to inhuman treatment. Some- 
times they are forced to sell all of their belongings in order 
to pay government taxes. A number of complaints depict 
very horrible conditions. I t  appears that human feelings and 
gentlemanliness are being sacrificed at the altar of barbar- 
ity as if law is helpless before these corrupt and barbaric 
officers. Money is being illegally extorted from poor people 
in every town and village. The  local officers were resorting 
to all sorts of irregularities in order to deprive petty land- 
owners of their produce. Mujawaza has been realized fro111 
kisans of Badgam tehsil [district] twice or thrice. The Reve- 
nue officials have made the life of the cultivators extremely 
miserable. . . . The Police have even surpassed the Revenue 
authorities in barbarities. In one case a tehsildar [district 
official] had issued warrants of arrests for a person and 
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when on payment of mujawaza his warrants were cancelled, 
the police refused to let him off without receiving [a] bribe 
which the poor fellow could not pay and had to remain in 
prison. In Kulgam tehsil one old woman had to sell her cow 
in order to pay mujawaza. . . . The government is not pay- 
ing any attention to redress the grievances of the people 
whose demands have failed to evoke ariy interest in govern- 
ment quarters."" 

Another report evaluating practical aspects of the land 
reform stated, "Ironically enough, the beneficiaries [of the 
land reform] themselves have yet to reap the full advantage 
out of their ownership which is currently operating more as 
a liability than as asset; for the cancellation of agricultural 
indebtedness, with the stroke of a pen, has left a serious 
void in the rural credit system which the regime has been 
unable to fill, with the result that more often than not, the 
new owner has no money to buy a bullock or agricultural 
implements with."15 

Thousands of people heavily indebted to moneylenders 
profited from the government policy of investigation of the 
nature of debts. Debt Conciliation Boards disposed in less 

- 

than three years of 48,000 applications; debts were scaled 
down by about 80 per cent, from 11.1 million to 2.43 mil- 
lion rupees.16 

Kashmir economy was dealt a heavy blow when its chief 
source of income, forestry, was disrupted by the division of 
the country. Timber which once was economically floated 
down the rivers to Pakistan now had to be transported by 
trucks on the road to Pathankot in India. The government 
claims, however, to have restored the timber trade to the 

l4 AI-Haque (Srinagar), as quoted in Kashmir Atfairs (Rawal- 
pindi) , Vol. v, No. 1 2 ,  March 21, 195 3 ( 5 months later, on August 
14, further publication of Al-Haque was banned). 

l q h e  Hindustan Times (Delhi), May 23, 1953. 
l6 Indiagram, No. 218, May 21, 1953 (Washington, D.C.: l3-n- 

bassy of India). 
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extent that in 1949 it yielded 5.5 million rupees to the state 
treasury in co~nparison with 2.9 million in 1947. 

The Policy of Nationalization 
Considerable governmental support was given to the silk 

industry through the importation of silkworn1 eggs which 
were distributed among rearers and through three govern- 
ment-owned silk-weaving factories. Other industries include 
manufacture of wool, sports goods, drugs, matches, and 
carpets. The available sources of information do not indi- 
cate which of these factories are government-owned, but 
they all depend on governmentally distributed supplies and 
marketing. 

Special attention is given to cottage industries, such as 
hand-loon1 weaving, hosiery, furniture, ceramics, paper 
manufacturing, embroidery, and papier-mbcht. Artisans of 
these industries are organized into industrial societies, In- 
ducos. The government owns two printing houses, Ranbir 
and Partab Government Press. 

In the program of reconstruction old public buildings, 
bridges, and roads were repaired, new buildings and tele- 
phone lines were erected. Several projects are in the stage 
of planning. 

Great emphasis is put on the cooperative movement, 
"with the object mainly of bringing the entire village life 
within its fold."17 The purpose of cooperatives is to scale 
down the debts of the members, spread the reduced debt 
over a number of years, lease the expropriated land to the 
members, finance crops, supply daily commodities, and fa- 
cilitate the marketing. In 1948 there were 222 multipurpose 
cooperative societies in the country with 25,673 members; 
in 1949 the figures rose to 347 and 56,499 respectively. Sta- 
tistics for 1950 give the figures of 1,731 agricultural coopera- 
tives, 386 purchase and sale cooperatives, and 378 non-agri- 

l7 lammu and Kashmir, 1947-50, op.cit., p. ix. 
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cultural credit cooperatives. Basically, this policy would be 
sound and of great help to poor peasants whose association 
in cooperatives would substitute for their financial misery. 
But in practice it turned into an instrument of the National 
Conference party politics. Moreover, as the government it- 
self had to admit in the summer of 1953, the cooperatives 
completely collapsed because of "corruption and maladmin- 
istration" of governmental officials. 

All foreign trade is done through the governmental Kash- 
mir Peoples' Cooperative Society, K.P.C.S. I t  is handled by 
Emporia, with depots in New Delhi, Bombay, Simla, Luck- 
now, Madras, and Calcutta. Nationalized bazaars are or- 
ganized for trade within the country. 

The transport is managed by the government's Transport 
Department, which owns some 500 vehicles, most of which 
operate on the mountainous road connecting Srinagar and 
Jammu town with India. All commodities and other sup- 
plies are distributed by the Supplies and Control Depart- 
ment. Food is rationed, and its distribution is under gov- 
ernmental control. 

The Kashmir Chamber of Commerce (still mostly of 
Hindu membership) submitted in the spring of 1953 a 
memorandum to the government in which it asked for im- 
mediate abolition of state trading; effective decontrol of all 
commodities; introduction of free and healthy competition 
in purchase, distribution, and sale; removal of restrictions on 
private transport; and cancellation of existing monopolistic 
licenses in favor of a few individuals and firms. I t  asserted 
that the "absence of free competition in transport has en- 
abled the government to charge arbitrarily, thereby increas- 
ing the price level by about 50 per cent more so far as 
freight is concerned and throwing scores of people depend- 
ing on private transport to penury and starvation." The 
president of the Chamber described the "miserable plight 
of the people of Kashmir as a result of the 'dreadful' con- 
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trols and State trading run by certain departments of the 
government."18 

One of the important sources of income used to be the 
- 

tourist trade. It gave a living to boatmen, cooks, artisans, 
owners of ponies. In the old days some jo,ooo tourists 
visited Kash~nir every year, providing an income for some 
200,000 people. This source of revenue has dropped con- 
siderably. In 1949, 3,700 visitors came to Kashmir, of whom 
only 426 were non-Indians; in 1950 the figure rose to 5,3 5 5. 
In July 1954 Indian sources reported, however, that, up to 
that date, 21,000 tourists had already visited Kashmir. 

The state's finances had been necessarily unbalanced, the 
budget for 1952-1953, for example, being in deficit by 
700,000 rupees. The financial year 19 54-19 5 5, however, 
claimed a budget surplus of 48 million rupees. This probably 
could not be achieved without material help from ~ndia,  
from which, according to a statement of Bakshi Ghulam 
Mohammed, Kashmir has received since the signing of the 
instrument of accession, in October 1947, 86.15 million 
rupees.'%41so7 the government, paralleling the Indian Five 
Year Plan, prepared a plan of its own for the period 1951- 
1952 to 1955-1956. It provides for loo million rupees ex- 
penditure, of which the Kashmir government is to provide 
30 million and the rest is expected to be met by the govern- 
ment of India. The main undertaking is to construct a tunnel 
through the Banihal Pass at an elevation of 7,000 feet. One 
and a half miles in length, it will be the longest tunnel in 
Asia and will cost 30 million rupees. Fifty-six million rupees 
are also earmarked for the construction of roads and canals 
as well as for flood control and hydroelectric plants. 

Undoubtedly, many of these projects will remain on pa- 
per for a long time, their principal importance having been 

Is Hindustan Times (Delhi) , May 2 ,  19 5 9 
l9 The Hindu W e e k l y  Review (h ladras)  and T11c S t u t c s i i z ~ r ~  

(Calcutta), April 5, 1954. 
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their propaganda value. Even so, the changes, especially in 
agriculture, have been remarkable. It would be wrong to 
judge them according to Western standards and principles 
of economic liberalism. It nlay well be that the task of rais- 
ing the standard of living of a primitive society must be 
based upon active intervention by the state in economic 
and social affairs and the assumption of responsibility for 
planning and ilnplen~enting production. Such a society often 
has no spontaneous incentive to improve living conditions; 
usually it lacks capital and frequently will not admit foreign 
investment. But if the government completely ignores those 
guarantees of political rights which it solenlnly gives to its 
citizens, if it introduces a one-party system, and if it monop- 
olizes all means of education and cultural enlightenment, it 
inevitably becomes a totalitarian dictatorship with all power 
concentrated in the hands of a few leaders. 

If one compares the program and policy of the Commu- 
nist satellites in Europe with New Kashmir and the practices 
of the Kashmiri government, one cannot escape the con- 
clusion that Kashmir has already reached the first step to- 
ward communization. 

Drifting from India 
Simultaneously with these political and economic trends, 

Kashmir has also undergone radical development in her 
constitutional position. Principally through the shrewd 
maneuvering of Sheikh Abdullah and his associates, she has 
succeeded in securing privileged rights within the Republic 
of India which no other Indian state enjoys. 

It will be remembered that according to the promise 
given by Lord Mountbatten as Viceroy of India and by 
Nehru's government, the Princely States were assured of re- 
taining all powers and asked to hand over to the central 
government only foreign affairs, defense, and communi- 
cations. These provisions were stipulated in detail in the 
instruments of accession signed by the Maharajas. But al- 
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most inevitably the Princely States soon found themselves 
stripped of all powers and their states amalgamated within 
individual provinces of the Indian Union. 

Kashmir, however, did not fuse with the Indian Union, 
but retained rights of autonomy. The  Maharaja of Kashmir 
in one sense followed the fate of his princely colleagues, but 
he was deprived of his powers, not by the government of 
India, but rather by his own Prime Minister, Sheikh Ab- 
dullah. The  Maharaja, partly because he was unable to 
exercise his prerogatives from exile and partly as a protest 
against Sheikh Abdullah's policy, issued on June 20, 1949 a 
proclamation through which he turned over to his son, the 
Yuvarai Shri Karansinghji Bahadur, all his princely rights. 
From that time until the summer of 195 3 it was Sheikh Ab- 
dullah's systematic policy, using this son as a figurehead, to 
keep and maintain Kashmir autonomy against any infringe- 
ment by the Indian government. 

In September 1949 the National Conference met in Sri- 
nagar. Celebrations were held, meetings organized, and reso- 
lutions passed. The  Prime Minister of India, Jawaharlal 
Nehru, was present. "During the entire celebration when 
Srinagar wore a festive appearance with flags . . . the In- 
dian National Flag was conspicuous by its absence. The  
State Flag of the ruling dynasty has practically disappeared. 
. . . The flag of the National Conference which has been 
adopted as the State flag is perhaps rightly flown all over 
the place," wrote an Indian newspaper.*' The  meeting 
passed a resolution reaffirming the National Conference de- 
cision not to accept any limitation on Kashmir autonomy. 
I t  expressed faith in the New Kmhmir program and ap- 
pealed "to the freedom-loving peoples of the whole world, 
to the indivisible fraternity of all true democrats in all lands 
to lend their moral and material support to our cause." 
Significantly enough, it also stated that "nobody will . . . 

20 The Hindu (Madras), September 29, 1949. 
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deny that ugly communal elements keep raising heads in 
India. . . . , 721  

Many politicians in New Delhi expressed dissatisfaction 
with these manifestations of Sheikh Abdullah's independ- 
ent-mindedness and pointed to the fact that it was Indian 
money which was footing the bills for this Kashn~ir govern- 
ment, which now, with the assistance of these same grants, 
was drifting away from its Indian protector. The Indian 
govcrnn~ent attempted several times, but with no success, 
to convince Sheikh Abdullah to fall in line with other 
Princely States and merge with India. 

On October 17, 1949, the Constituent Assembly in Delhi 
passed a new article of the Constitotion, according to 
which constitutional provisions concerning the Princely 
States do not apply to the State of Jammu and Kashmir 
and stating further that certain specified matters can be 
legislated by the Indian Parliament only in concurrence 
with the state's g~vernment.~'  The spokesman of the Indian 
government, G. Ayyangar, who defended the amendment in 
the face of opposition from several quarters, expressed the 
hope "that in due course Jammu and Kashmir will become 
ripe for the same sort of integration as has taken place in 
the case of other  state^."^^ If Mr. Ayyangar had expected 
to woo the Kashmiris with such generosity of spirit, he was 
sadly disappointed. Sheikh Abdullah, now even more firmly 
entrenched in power, only reaffirmed his position and his 
policy of autonomy from India. 

The young Maharaja-Regent on occasion attempted to 
slo~v down the policy of radical reforms. But Sheikh Ab- 
dullah always moved with vigor. On one occasion particu- 
larly he warned the Maharaja that not only would he never 
be allowed to return to Kashmir but also that if his son 
persisted "in seeking the advice of reactionaries and corn- 

'' Ibid., September 24, 1949. 
2 z  Art. 2 38,370 of the Constitution of India. 
" From G. Ayyangar speech in the Parliament, October 17, 1949. 
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munalists, I can only tell him . . . that his future will not 
be far different from that of his father."" 

By eliminating the Maharaja from any voice in Kashmir 
affairs, Sheikh Abdullah's government followed the policy 
of giving to its own position an appearance of legality and 
democratic procedure. In October 1950 the General Coun- 
cil of the National Conference passed a resolution asking 
for elections for a Constituent Assembly which would de- 
termine "the future shape and affiliations of the State of 
Ja~nmu and Kashmir." As could have been expected, Paki- 
stan's Foreign Minister, Sir Zafrulla Khan, raised a protest 
with the Security Council against this policy, which in his 
view prejudiced the final determination of whether Kashmir 
would join India or P a k i ~ t a n . ~ ~  The  Security Council af- 
firmed in its resolution of March 30, 1951 that the con- 
veiling of a Constituent Assembly and any action con- 
cerning the future of the state would not be in accordance 
with the previous agreement on plebi~cite.~' The Indian 
government, though insisting that the Constituent Assem- 
bly could not be physically prevented from expressing its 
opinion about the future of Kashmir, declared that it would 
not be bound by this opinion. 

The government of Sheikh Abdullah was not discouraged 
by the Securitv Council resolution. In May 1951 the Yuvaraj 
issued a proclamation convoking a Constituent Assembly 
on the basis of free elections by all citizens of the state over 
21 years of age by means of a direct and secret ballot. The  
elections were prepared in the summer of 1951 and were 
held in September and October on three consecutive dates. 
People were to elect 75 deputies, 45 of whom were to rep- 
resent Kashmir and Ladakh, and 30 Jammu. In Kashmir 
and Ladakh the elections, if they can be so called, were 
fairly simple. Forty-three candidates were elected unop- 

24 The Hindu (Madras), April 8, 19 51. 
25 S/i942 of December 14, 19 50. 

S/zoi7/Rev. 1 of March 30, 1951. 
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posed one week before the election date, and two inde- 
pendent candidates withdrew under pressure later. There - 
was actually no balloting. In Jammu the authorities rejected 
the nomination papers of the Praja Parishad, the opposition 
party, in 1 3  constituencies on the pretext that they were 
not properly presented or, as the leaders of the party put 
it, "on the flimsiest grounds and under pressure from the 
g~vernrnent."~' Thus, before the election date Sheikh Ab- 
dullah was assured of 58 friendly members in the Constitu- 
ent Assembly. Three days before the elections in Jammu, on 
October 12, the Praja Parishad announced a boycott of the 
elections and accused the government of "illegal practices 
and official interference, wholesale rejections of Parishad 
nomination papers.'728 This gave to the National Conference 
another 1 5  seats. The last two contestants dropped out at 
the last moment. Before the polling began, therefore, 
Sheikh Abdullah's followers were sure of the full 75 seats. 
No dictator could do better. Nehru stated that he was "sure 
that the way people had voted showed clearly that they 
were with the National Conference and with India."*' 

The Constituent Assembly met on October 31, 1951. 

Its chairman declared, ". . . Kashmir was not interested in 
the United Nations, which was the victim of international 
intrigues. The path of Kashmir and U.N. lay in different 
directions. . . . I t  is well known that the National Confer- 
ence had gone to the people of the State with a programme 
of accession to India and this programme of accession had 
been ratified by every single adult voter of the State.7730 
Nehru sent to the opening session of the Assembly greetings 
and best wishes. 

A few days later, on November 20, the Constituent AS- 
sembly passed "The Jammu and Kashmir Constitution Act, 

27 The Times of India (Bombay), September 27, 19 5 1. 

The Times (London), October 1 3, 19 51. 
2Q The Hindu (Madras), October 19, 1951. 

Ibid., November 1, 1951. 
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(J 5 1 ," which stripped the Maharaja of virtually all powers, 

allowing him to act only on advice of the government, 
which, in turn, was made responsible to the Assembly. The 
law reaffirmed the principle of Kashmir's autonomy in all 
affairs with the exception of defense, foreign affairs, and 
communications. Sheikh Abdullah, now assured "constitu- 
tionally" of a supreme position in the state, opened a politi- 
cal offensive. 

In March 1952 he appealed to the Azad people to make 
"positive efforts" to liberate themselves "from the present 
Pakistani rulers whose attempt always is to mislead you and 
keep you away from knowing the true facts about us." He 
promised them to "continue our efforts to liberate 

Sheikh Abdullah also opened his guns against India. To  
put his position on autonomy beyond doubt he made a 
speech on April lo  at Ranbirsinghpura in Jammu in which 
he criticized India for comn~unalisn~ and warned against ap- 
plying the Indian Constitution to Kashmir in all respects. 
He qualified these attempts as "unrealistic, childish, and 
savouring of lunacy," and added, "No one can deny that 
communal spirit still exists in India. Many Kashmiris are 
apprehensive as to what will happen to them and their 
position if, for instance, something happens to Pandit 
N e h r ~ . ? ' ~ ~  

The speech caused an uproar in India, and Nehru, who 
otherwise had been giving public and continuous support 
to the policy of his long-time friend, declared he didn't like 
it either, especially its tone. Although Sheikh Abdullah 
tried to appease ~ e h r u  with another speech, this one more 
carefully worded, he nevertheless refused to come to Delhi 
for several months. He did send his emissaries to prepare 
the ground for an agreement which would stipulate the 
privileged autonomous position of Kashrnir in the Indian 
Union. 

31 The National Standard (Bombay), hflarch i 2 ,  19 52. 

32 The Hindu (Madras), April i 2 ,  i 9 52. 
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On July 24, 1952, Jawaharlal Nehru announced in the 

House of the People the terms of an agreement which he 
had signed with Sheikh Abdullah after a week of negotia- 
tions. The agreement gave to Kashmir special rights wl~icl~ 
no other constituent unit of India en joys. 

It was agreed that the hereditary ruler would be re- 
placed by a Head of the State who would be elected for 
a term of five years by the Constituent Assembly and "rec- 
ognized" by the President of India. In all other states of 
India, this function is held by governors who are nominated 
by the President. Fundamental rights that are guaranteed 
by the Indian Constitution apply to Kashmir, subject to the 
provision that they will not encroach upon the program of 
land reform, including the expropriation of land without 
compensation, nor must they hamper the state's measures 
concerning its security. The government of India further 
agreed that the Kashmir legislature "shall have the power 
to define and regulate the rights and privileges of the perma- 
nent residents of the State, more especially in regard to the 
acquisition of immovable property, appointments to services 
and like matters." This means that although Kashmiris en- 
joy the same rights as Indian citizens all over India, Indian 
citizens have no right to acquire land in Kashmir. 

The jurisdiction of the Indian Supreme Court was to be 
limited, as regards Kashmir, to inter-state disputes, to the 
fundamental rights which were applied in the state, and to 
matters of defense, foreign affairs, and communications. 
The government of India also wished the Supreme Court 
to be the final court of appeal in all civil and criminal cases, 
but Sheikh Abdullah wanted to leave the question open. 

The national flag of India was to be recognized by the 
State of Jammu and Kashmir as supreme, but the Kashmir 
state flag was to be maintained. In financial matters, the 
government of India would have preferred an integration, 
but Sheikh Abdullah wished again to reconsider the matter. 

The most important provision of the agreement between 
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Sheikh Abdullah and Jawaharlal Nehru concerned the 
emergency powers of the President of India. According to 
Article 352 of the Constitution, the President has the right 
to declare a state of emergency in case of invasion, external 
danger, or internal disturbances. The  agreement provided 
that in the latter case the President's power can be applied 
in Kashmir only "at the request or with the concurrence of 
the government of the State." This would mean that in 
case of a violent uprising in Kashmir, the President of India 
would have no right to declare a state of emergency and 
to intervene unless the Srinagar government asked him to 
do so. 

The Nehru-Sheikh agreement met with severe criticism in 
some Indian newspapers and parliamentarian circles. They 
were concerned both with the fate of the Hindus in Jammu 
and with the privileged position Sheikh Abdullah had man- 
aged to carve out for himself. They wished to see the state 
integrated with India as were all other constituent units of 
the Republic. Pandit Nehru, however, defended the agree- 

- 

ment against the critics, pointing to the necessity of having 
confidence in Abdullah's friendship towards India and of 
acting in good faith. In this he was to be within one year 
gravely disappointed. 

Sheikh Abdullah now set to work to put the agreement 
he had signed with Nehru into force. First, he wished to 
solve the problem of the headship of the state. The func- 
tion was offered to the Regent-Maharaja, Yuvarai Karan 
Singh, apparently in an attempt to ease the transfer of a 
hereditary rule to an elected Head of State and to alleviate 
the misgivings of the Hindu minority in the state. The  op- 
posite was achieved. Many Hindu leaders visited the Yuvarai 
and advised him not to accept the new function. They ex- 
pressed to him the fear that he would serve only as a 
puppet for the Sheikh's policv. Their statements were pub- 
lished in the Jammu and Indian papers and once more 
stirred up the spirit of opposition. Nehru had to visit Srina- 
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gar in September to counterbalance this opinion, advising 
the Yuvaraj to accept the office. 

On November 12, 1952, the Constituent Assembly in 
Srinagar formally adopted an amendment to the Constitu- 
tion replacing the Maharaja rulership by the function of an 
elected Head of State, Sadar-i-Riyasat. Two days later the 
twenty-one-year-old Yuvaraj, Prince-Regent, was elected to 
the okce. "His Highness" became Mr. Karan Singh. His 
election was then forn~ally recognized by the President of 
India. This act brought to fulfillment the abolition of the 
hereditary rule of the hated Dogras, a tyranny which had 
cursed the State of Jammu and Kashnlir since 1846. 

Separatism in lammu 
No one could realize that the fanfares of Abdullah's vic- 

tory over the medieval rule of the Maharaja and over the 
control of the central government in Delhi carried the first 
undertones of his political doom. Lack of coherence be- 
tween individual regions of the state now found a serious 
outlet in Kashmiri politics. 

The opposition party in Jammu, the Praja Parishad, ap- 
peared only to be waiting for an opportune moment. Its 
field was limited to eastern Jammu, where the majority of 
the population, after the expulsion and escape of many 
Muslims, is Hindu and Sikh. Economically it represented 
that group of wealthy people who, as the Maharaja's ac- 
tive s~lpporters, once enjoyed the privileged position of land- 
lords but who have been dispossessed by the land reform, 
and of government officials and businessmen. Politically, 
however, it found its principal support in the great majority 
of the non-Muslims who were becoming increasingly wor- 
ried about Abdullah's tendency to draw the State of Jammu 
and Kashmir away from India. In the Jammu district alone, 
the Praja Parishad had 16,000 members while the National 
Conference had 6 ,000 .~~  

" The Times of India (Bombay), September 12, 1952. 

2 2 6  
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The platform of the Praja Parishad dates back to the be- 

ginning of 1949. Soon after the fighting stopped, the Hindus 
began to worry about their fate under the Abdullah govern- 
ment. In March 1949 Mihir La1 Chattopadhaja, a member 
of the Indian Constituent Assen~bly, addressed a report to 
the government of India based on his visit to Jammu. He 
stated that all Hindus were convinced that in a plebiscite 
go per cent of the Muslims would vote for Pakistan and 
that the Ilindus, who once had been supported in their po- 
sition by the Maharaja, were concerned about his gradual 
elimination from power.34 

The Praja Parishad led several demonstrations against 
Sheikh Abdullah's government; and the more apparent his 
policy of estrangement from India became, the more viru- 
lent grew the Hindu opposition. The demonstrations were 
always suppressed and many people arrested. In February 
1952, after a particularly violent outburst, a curfew was im- 
posed on Jammu town for 72 hours, the army was called 
in to break up the demonstration, and a government com- 
munique described the situation as "extremely critical." The 
chairman of the Praja Parishad, Premnath Dogra, was 
among the hundreds who were arrested?" 

The movement was not halted, however, and when the 
Nehru-Abdullah agreement was signed in the summer of 
1952, it reached a climax. Its leaders demanded full merger 
of the state with India, and they threatened that, should 
this not be achieved, they would detach Jammu from Kash- 
mir and make it an integral part of India. They found some 
support among a few members of the Indian Parliament 
but were openly and severely rebuffed by Jawaharlal Nehru. 
Sheikh Abdullah pointed to the seriousness of the situation 
in a broadcast on September 1, 1952. According to him, the 
whole noncommunal structure of the state was in danger. 

34 Dawn (Karachi), March 30, 1949, reprinting the report pub- 
lished in Calcutta's Nation, March 19, 1949. 

35 The Hindu (Madras), February i z, 1952. 
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In December 1952, according to the government's admis- 
sion, another wave of den~onstrations precipitated the ar- 
rest of nearly 500 persons, and 213  rioters wcre sent to 
prison. 

At the beginning of 19 5 3 Robert Trnmbull reported, 
". . . dissatisfaction . . . is erupting into almost daily violence 
with mob demonstratio~ls against authorities. Five hundred 
demonstrators-unofficial sources put the figure highcr- 
have been arrested within recent weeks, and several persons 
have been killed in clashes with the police."" Among those 
arrested was Premnath Dogra, who was sentenced to 18 
months at hard labor. 

Separatism in Ladakh 
These feelings were not limited to Jammu. They found 

similar expression in Ladakh, though not in such a violent 
and organized form since there the Buddhist population is 

- 

widely scattered and of a rather passive, peaceful temper. 
On the other hand, such unrest is particularly dangerous 
because of Ladakh's proximity to Communist Tibet and 
Sinkiang. 

Ladakh, as noted before, is divided into two parts, the 
northern being Pakistan-held and the districts (tehsils) of 
Leh and Kargil, Indian-held. The people of Ladakh live in 
appalling poverty. For centuries it has been isolated from 
the outside world, dependent entirely on the will of its Bud- 
dhist leaders, the lamas. Land was the property of the 
church and was rented to the peasants under most ex- 
ploitative conditions. Ninety per cent of the Ladakhis were 
in heavy debt, paying 2 5  per cent interest. Porters, cooks, 
owners of ponies and mules, and local merchants used to 
draw some income from caravans passing through the cap- 
ital, Leh, on their way along the rugged trails from India to 
Yarkand in Sinkiang and Lhasa in Tibet. With the com- 
munization of China and Tibet, however, and as a come- 

36 The New York Times, February 2 ,  19 5 3. 
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quence of the Indo-Pakistan dispute over Kashmir, this 
trade has been brought to a standstill. Were it not for the 
Indian army, which garrisons at  Leh, the Ladakhis would 
find a rupee a rare sight indeed. 

The government of Sheikh Abdullah, which technically 
was responsible for Ladakh, was trying to bring some meas- 
ure of improvement to the almost hopeless condition of its 
people. A high school was opened at Leh and a few ele- 
mentary schools were founded; telephone communications 
were established (mainly for military purposes), forests 
taken away from the church, and some other development 
undertaken. Plans have been prepared for the construction 
of roads and for irrigation and basic medical services, but 
they remain on paper for lack of funds. There is no elec- 
tricity in the country, and the price of kerosene oil is be- 
yond the means of the would-be c u ~ t o r n e r . ~ ~  

Land reform has made little progress in Ladakh. Figures 
differ on the scope of the land distribution, but probably no 
more than io,ooo acres have been affected. The major part 
remains in the hands of monasteries, since the government 
in Srinagar does not dare to move against this stronghold 
of political and economic power. 

The Buddhist leaders showed resentment against the Sri- 
nagar policy. They objected to the centralizing tendencies of 
the Abdullah government and complained that Ladakh was 
left without economic help. The Buddhist Ladakhis would 
not wish to join Pakistan, but at the same time they re- 
sented being "governed" from Srinagar. As do the Jammu 
Hindus, they prefer to be autonomous within India. The 
problem of the Kashmir Muslims is to them both remote 
and of small concern. 

The lamas in Leh play their own political game on the 
chessboard of competing interests in this crucially exposed 
area. Spiritually, they owe allegiance to the Dalai Lama at 

37 For details see Sheikh Mohammad Abdullah, Ladakh Today, 
Kashmir Bureau of Information, New Delhi, 1952. 
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Lhasa, but at the same time they are aware of the fate of 
their superior, who yielded to Chinese Com~nunist control. 
So to keep their precarious position i11 bala~lce they flirt 
with the government in Srinagar, opposing at the same time 
such policies as land reform. Attempts at pressure from 
Srinagar are answered with coy hints that "across the border 
lies Tibet-perhaps here lies their destiny." 

The Head Lama of Ladakh, Kushuk-Bakola, is a member 
of the Constituent Assembly in Srinagar, but from time to 
time he likes to assert his independent position and to pro- 
mote the slogan "Ladakh for Ladakhis." Towards the end 
of 1949, however, he saw the Conlmunist shadow sliding 
over Tibet. He then declared that "the people of Ladakh 
were growing anxious about the security of their land and 
their culture and religion. This menace from outside is 
threatening not only Ladakh but the whole of Jammu and 
Kashmir State,"38 and pleaded with Srinagar for appropri- 
ate defense measures. When, however, he began to realize 
his position between the "devil" of land reform and the 
"deep blue sea" of a Communist rule in Tibet that might 
engulf him, he began to put increased emphasis on the 
claim of autononly within India. But should this fail, he 
warned in June of 1952, Ladakh may seek political union 
with Tibet "as a last course left to us."30 

The Communists have been watching the situation in 
Ladakh with keen interest. As early as 1947 Robert Trum- 
bull reported that according to an American visitor to 
Ladakh there had been some pro-Russian activity developed 
at Leh and a few agents from Sinkiang were arrested there." 
Other reports have also appeared in other newspapers from 
time to time about Chinese Communists infiltrating in 
these areas. 

Justice William 0. Douglas recorded in his admirable 

3s The Hindu (Madras), November 1 1, 1949. 
3 V h e  Christian Science Monitor, June 27, 1952. 
4 0  The New York Times, October 29, 1947. 
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book the conversation he held with the Head Lama of 
Ladakh on the subject of Communist activities. There was 
no Communist activity in Ladakh, the Lama told him, and 
the Soviet Union showed little interest in the happenings 
in the country, and yet he expressed concern over events in 
the making. "The Communist strategy in the Buddhist 
world is first to get control of the church. That requires not 
propaganda but control of the ecclesiastical hierarchy," he 
said. "The Communists will use every means to get control 
of the wealth of the monasteries. My fear is that they will 
succeed. . . . The monasteries will then becolne so poor that 
they cannot carry on their work, or they will become de- 
pendent on the Comn~unist government for their financial 
support. . . . The Dalai Lama is the spiritual head of the 
Mahayan school of Buddhism, which embraces China, 
Japan, Mongolia, Nepal, Tibet, Ladakh, Bhutan, Lahul, 
Sikkim, and Spiti. Buddhists in these countries look to him 
as Catholics look to the Pope in Rome. If the Communists 
control the Dalai Lama, they are in a fair way of controlling 
that part of the world."" 

People who have observed the methods of the Commu- 
nist governments which brought the Orthodox Churches to 
subservience in Russia, Yugoslavia, Rumania, and Bulgaria 
would not be prone to underestimate the seriousness of the 
predictions made by the Head Lama of Ladakh. When con- 
sidered in conjunction with other factors, they appear all 
the more alarming. To  the poverty-stricken people of 
Ladakh, for whom there is small hope for immediate im- 
provement, the apparent economic activity in near-by Com- 
munist Sinkiang must be attractive. On top of this, the 
border between China and Ladakh is not internationally 
defined-an open invitation to plot and intrigue. And if help 
were needed, all Ladakhis know that the Indian military 
bases are hundreds of miles away. 

41 William 0. Douglas, Beyond the High Himalayas. Doubleday 
and Company, New York, 1 9 5 2 ,  pp. 21 3-214. 
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At the very moment, therefore, that Sheik11 Abdullah was 
reviewing with satisfaction the autonomous status he had 
wrested from the central government ill Delhi for his coun- 
try, his hands were full with the separatist te~ldencies in 
Jammu and the centrifugal trend of thinking in Ladakll. 
His own policy appeared to have heaped upon him a series 
of incongruities and contradictions. 

Here was a Hindu as Head of State in a predo~ninantl~ 
Muslim country, with even the Hindu minority opposed tb 
the policy which had produced him. Here was his govern- 
ment, claiming to represent the entire nation, but with two 
segments of it, the Jammu Hindus and the Ladakh Bud- 
dhists, clamoring for separation from Kashmir and for in- 
tegration with India. Here was the Sheikh himself, claiming 
to be the uncontested leader of the Kashmir Muslims, while 
in spite of the benefits he had brought to the people, the 
all-pervading force remained the spirit of Islam, a spirit 
which continued to demand unification with their Muslim 
brothers. 

All these contradictions and incongruities soon found an 
explosive outburst which buried their symbol and product, 
Sheikh Abdullah himself. The agreement which he had 
brought triumphantly to Srinagar proved to be a year later 
his political grave. 

The Misery of Victory 
Soon after he had begun to implement his summer agree- 

ment with Nehru, Sheikh Abdullah was accused of ignor- 
ing those sections which confirmed Kashmir's ties with In- 
dia. The opposition elements in Jammu and Ladakh gath- 
ered new strength, and in the spring of 1953 there burst out, 
more particularly in Jammu, an open and well-organized 
action. 

The Praja Parishad led demonstrations in various towns 
in Jammu, and its leaders organized sabotage in factories 
and the blowing up of bridges and governmental buildings. 
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Police detachments from Indian Punjab had to be called 
upon to assist the local police in maintaining law and order. 
Demonstrators were arrested in the hundreds. Nehru termed 
the movement "most pernicious and malignant" in its "nar- 
row, bigoted, reactionary and revivalist approach,"" and 
pointed to its dangerous repercussions. In this evaluation he - 
was probably correct, but in spite of this, the movement, as 
a foreign observer put it, ". . . has gone deep into the rural 
areas where the masses take part in Parishad processions and 
demonstrations and stubbornly endure police baton charges 
and tear-gas  attack^."'^ 

Similarly in Ladakh, the Head Lama revived his tactic of 
looking toward Ladakh's autonomy within India and of 
flirting with Tibet. In an interview he stressed, "It should 
be clear . . . that there shall be no place for us in a virtually 
independent Kashmir. The only bond that linked Ladakh 
with Kashmir in the past was the Maharaja. With the abo- 
lition of hereditary rulership, that bond has, however, 
broken." He complained against the Kashmir police for 
perpetrating atrocities on Ladakhi peoples, "many of whom 
have begun to look towards changes in Tibet as a solution 
of their ills." In the spring of 1953 he pleaded "for complete 
integration with India," but at the same time did not fail 

- 

to mention that the "Ladakhis were distinct people from 
Kashmiris-racially, linguistically, and c~lturally."'~ 

Sheikh Abdullah chose to face these growing threats of 
disintegration by a policy of blowing both hot and cold. Me 
was prepared to make some concessions to the separatists, 
but simultaneously he tightened the police regime and even 
threatened to break away from India. 

42 From Jawaharlal Nehru's speech in the House of the People; 
The Hindu (Madras), April 2 6 ,  19 5 3. 

la The Times (London), January 24, 1953. 
l4 Quotations are in sequence from U.P.I. as quoted in Kushmir 

Affairs (Rawalpindi) , No. 49, December 6, i 9 52; The Times (Lon- 
don), December 24, 1952; Times o f  India (Bombay), April 30, 
l953. 
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The Basic Principles Committee of the Constituent As- 

sembly was instructed to study the idea of extending auton- 
omy to each proviilce of the state. A plan was prepared to 

- 

establish five autono~llous regions: the Vale, Jammu, Gilgit, 
Ladakh, and a region consisting of the districts of Mirpur, 
Rajaouri, Poonch, and Muzaffarabad (though it must be re- 
membered that Gilgit, part of Ladakh and of the last com- 
posite region, are under the pro-Pakistani administration). 
The Vale and Jammu would each have a separate legislature 
and a council of ministers for local affairs. Ladakh would be 
ruled centrally with an elected advisory district council. The 
state's name would be "Autonomous Federated Unit of the 
Republic of India."'5 Subsequent events prevented Ab- 
dullah from materializing this atomization of Kashmir. 

The proposed reform failed to reconcile the opposition 
forces. Rather, they were encouraged by the happenings 
in India. Three comn~unalist parties, Hindu Mahasabha, 
Jan Jangh, and Ram Rajya Parishad solidarized themselves 
with the Praja Parishad p movement and opened a nation- 
wide campaign of satyagraha for full incorporation of Kash- 
mir within India. Their strength should not be over- 
estimated, as they have been more vocal than popular 
among the Indian people; and yet even Jawaharlal Nehru, 
who has been courageously combating the ugly communal- 
ist elements in Indian politics, could not ignore their voice 
altogether, the more so since his own party, the National 
Congress, has not remained entirely deaf to their cries. 

The leaders of Jan Sangh went so far as to appeal to their 
followers to organize militant groups, jathas, and to "march 
to Jammu." Abdullah answered by repressive measures in 
Jammu and by deliberately relaxing his vigilance in the Vale 
of Kashmir. In May of 1953 he issued an ordinance for- 
bidding, under imprisonment, any person to enter the state 
without special permit. He issued a-ban on public meetings. 
TWO papers were suppressed and others were put under 

4 T h e  Hindu (Madras),  April 2 7 ,  1953. 
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strict censorship. Meanwhile, in the Vale of Kashmir an 
opposition group, Kashmir Awami Conference, was allowed 
to come into existence within the ranks of the National 
Conference. Workers, stricken by unen~ployment and hun- 
ger, organized protest meetings, and pro-Pakistani elements, 
encouraged by the happenings in Jammu and by Abdullah's 
wavering attitude in Srinagar, managed for a short while 
to demonstrate in larger numbers. 

The news of a for thcon~in~ meeting between the Prime 
Ministers of India and Pakistan gave a new impulse to every 
group engaged in the struggle for power in Kashmir. Each 
pressed its position in the hope that it might influence the 
outcome of the meeting. 

The President of the con~n~unalist party Jan Sangh, Dr. 
S. P. Mookerjee, demonstratively traveled in May to Jammu 
and was arrested. The following month he died in prison in 
Srinagar of a heart attack. Rumors about the circumstances 
of his death added new fuel to political passions, which 
were already running high. 

Sheikh Abdullah, in a speech made in June, reminded the 
public that back in the fateful fall months of 1947 he had 
pleaded for "freedom before accession." Exposed to in- 
creasing pressure from several quarters in his own country 
and compelled to witness passively the negotiations between 
Delhi and Karachi, he protested that "a decision about 
Kashmir cannot be taken behind closed doors without ap- 
proval of the people of Ka~hrnir."~' As he had done before 

- - 

on various occasions, he again hinted at the idea of inde- 
pendence. In the Indian papers appeared the draft of a new 
Kashmir constitution which called for independent Kash- 
miri armed forces and left to India responsibility only for 
Kashmir's foreign affairs. 

In this policy of ascertaining his independent position, 
Sheikh Abdullah presumably relied on the undivided sup- 
port of his political party, the National Conference. He was 

l6 The Hindu (Madras), June 16, 195 3.  
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profoundly convinced of the incontestability of his leader- 
ship. In this estimation he proved to be fatefully wrong. 
There were in the Srinagar government and in the ~a t iona l  
Conference some leaders who showed more pro-Indian in- 
clinations than Abdullah and who were against his policy 
of drifting away from India. They were led by Abdullah's 
right-hand man, Bakshi Ghulam Mohammed. 

Bakshi was the chief organizer of the National Confer- 
ence, and in the government he was Deputy Prime Min- 
ister and Home Minister. In this latter capacity he was the 
chief of police in Kashmir. Bakshi had embraced Christi- 
anity in his school years but later returned to Islam, and 
since the nationalist riots in 1931 he was closely associated 
with Sheikh Abdullah. His brother is a wealthy military 
contractor, and other relatives occupy important positions 
in the economic life of Kashmir. Bakshi found it profitable 
to be in charge of state supplies, public works, and trans- 
port. A popular wit has given to his wide interests and 
associations a name-the Bakshi Brothers Corporation. 
Paradoxically, he prided himself on having once whipped a 
black marketeer on the streets of Srinagar. His ambition 
has been power-if possible with comfort. The increasing 
rift between India and his superior, Sheikh Abdullah, of- 
fered Bakshi the opportunity to realize more of both than 
he had previously enjoyed. 

Nehru flew to Srinagar in May and attempted to patch up 
the differences in the government, but apparently with no 
success. "I invited Sheikh Abdullah to come to Delhi," 
Nehru explained at  a later occasion. "In fact, even when 1 
was in Europe I had sent word that he should be invited. 
On returning, I invited him. He did not come; then he said 
he would come a little later. Later again, this invitation was 
repeated by telephone, by letter. Ultimately he did not 
come. Meanwhile-in fact, before I had come back-Sheikh 
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Abdullah and some others began speaking in a way which 
seemed strange to me and distressed us greatly."47 

If Abdullah declined to visit New Delhi, his deputy, 
Bakshi, went. So did the Head of State, Mr. Karan Singh. 
In the same period, at the beginning of July, the three 
Hindu communalist parties heeded Nehru's repeated ap- 
peals and called off the satyagraha agitation for complete 
integration of Kashmir with India, with the explanation 
that the "movement has achieved the purpose of impress- 
ing on the government and on the country the urgent ne- 
cessity of tackling the problem in an objective manner."48 
There is no proof of any connection between the behind- 
the-scene happenings and this sudden change in their 
policy, but the coincidence is conspicuous. 

When a country is thrown into a turmoil of political 
uncertainties and confusion, suspicions and intrigues, then 
fantastic combinations mushroom. Kashmir was not spared 
from such an experience. Rumors soon had it that Sheikh 
Abdullah was now ready to save of his policy what he 
thought to be available and what was dearest to his heart: 
the Vale of Kashmir. He was suspected of planning a ses- 
sion of the Constituent Assembly, which, instead of rati- 
fying the accession of the State of Jammu and Kashmir 
to India, would declare the Vale of Kashmir independent. 
On top of these reports came the highly inflammaton, 
rumors that the United States was backing the idea of 
Kashmir independence and that Sheikh Abdullah had been 
encouraged in it when Adlai Stevenson had visited Srinagar 
in May. Indeed, Robert Trumbull reported (as did Reuters) 
that even the governments of India and Pakistan were be- 
lieved to have come to an agreement on the solution of 
the Kashmir dispute. Accordingly, the Kashmir Valley 
would gain independence, possibly guaranteed by both 

47 From Jawaharlal Nehru's speech in the House of the People, 
September 17, 19 5 3. 

48 The Hindustan Times (Delhi) , July 8, 19 5 3 .  
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countries, and the rest of the state would be partitioned 
between them roughly along the present cease-fire line. It 
was rumored, without official verification, that John Foster 
Dulles supported a solution of this nature? 

The Pakistani Prime Minister denied the reports as "mis- 
chievous and false." The government of India denied them 
too. The American Ambassador to India, George V. Allen, 
and Adlai Stevenson himself denied any interference in the 
Kashmir situation. Jawaharlal Nehru declared later, some- 
what vaguely, "Now, a great deal has been said, much has 
been said about foreign interference in Kashmir. These 
kinds of charges are often made, and if there is a modicum 
of truth in them that is greatly exaggerated as expressed it 
becomes a little difficult to deal with them. In a matter of 
this kind it is not easy for me to state every fact that may 
come in our knowledge, before the House, but, broadly 
speaking, I would say in the course of the last few weeks, 
in the course of the last few months and sometime more, 
hard cases of this type of interference have come before 
us-individual interfelence. I t  would not be correct to call 
it governmental interference, but individuals have not be- 
haved properlv, because again you must remember the basic 
fact that ~ash rn i r  is a highly strategic area."60 

In the other camp of the struggle for Kashmir, on the 
Azad side, it was re-emphasized that "no solution other than 
the holding of an impartial plebiscite in Kashmir and 
Jammu State would be acceptable to the people."5* 

The scene was now complicated enough to climax the 
tragic drama of Kashmir. The two factions of the National 
Conference split openly and supported their differences in 
public meetings. Vehemently the independence-minded 
Sheikh Abdullah warned that "the communal happenings 

49 The New York Times, July 5, 1959 
From Jawaharlal Nehru's speech in the House of the People, 

September 17. 1953. 
61 D m n  (Karachi), July 16, 195 3. 
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of last year have shaken the foundation of this [Indo-Kash- 
miri] relationship," and at the beginning of August he 
made "the astounding statement that Kashmir's initial ac- 
cession to India was forced on her because of India's refusal 
to give any help without the State's accession." With equal 
vehemence the more pro-Indian Bakshi declared that "Kash- 
rniris would defend at the cost of their lives the State's ac- 
cession to India and a special position granted to Janlmu 
and Kashmir in the Indian Con~titution. '~~' 

The cup of suspicion over Abdullah's intentions must 
have overflowed when he, according to a disclosure made 
later by a Pakistani newspaper, prepared a speech in Urdu 
and sent it to New Delhi for translation. In the prepared 

- - 

text he expressed his views on the definiteness of accession, 
"Though the accession of Kashmir to India is complete in 
all aspects it is conditional and temporary in the sense that 
the people of the State have to ratify it. Therefore, it is 
not final." He also questioned the Delhi agreement stating 
that it was "transitory and temporary." But more than that, 
he was now suddenly ready to admit that Kashmir was geo- 
graphically so situated that her prosperity depended on trade 
with both India and Pakistan, that her people had cultural 
relations with both the West (Pakistani) and the East 
(Indian) Punjab and the North-West Frontier Province, 
and that "the rivers and roads of Kashmir lead to Pakistan. 
The nearest railway station to Kashmir is Rawalpindi. Kash- 
mir traders use Karachi as their port." He criticized the 
Praja Parishad agitation, which was supported "n~onetarily 
and morally in India," and declared that the Kashmir Mus- 
lims were forced to ponder whether they could rely on In- 
dian promises. He admitted that the National Conference 
had lost to some extent its hold on the Muslims. "The 
Muslims and not non-Muslims of the State have to take a 

6 2  The quotations are in sequence from The Hindustan Times 
(Delhi) , July 24; The Hindu Weekly Review (hladras) , August lo; 
The Hindustan Times, July 27, 195 3. 
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decision in regard to the accession of the State to India," 
stated Abdullah. "Because non-Muslims could not even 
think of any alternative, I do not have to assure Hindus and 
Sikhs that their future will be safe in India because to say 
that is unnecessary. In this respect I have been misunder- 
stood. Whenever I have tried to secure their just rights for 
the Muslims or voiced their views about their future in 
India my friends labelled me as a 'communalist.' . . . But, 
unfortunately, the Praja Parishad agitation, on the one 
hand, has created doubts in the minds of Muslims and, on 
the other the Muslim middle class is finding out that 
whereas accession to India has opened to Hindus and Sikhs 
various doors of progress, Muslims have become a frog in 
the well. In departments which are under the direct control 
of the Government of India there has been not only no 
progress towards better representation of Muslims but there 
has been actually decline in this representation." 

Sheikh Abdullah intended to conclude his speech with 
these questions: "1. Is there no possibility of any change in 
Kashmir's relationship with India in view of the interna- 
tional situation? 2. Will all of the people of the State ir- 
respective of religious and cultural differences enjoy the 
same rights and opportunities under this relationship? 3. 
Is it possible to overcome the natural and geographical ob- 
stacles facing the State and obstructing its progress and 
prosperity even while maintaining this relationship?7753 

This was another Abdullah from the one of five years or 
even one year ago. He never gave the prepared speech. It 
was confiscated and counteraction followed immediately. 

Events then moved swiftly toward a cloak-and-dagger de- 
nouement. On August 7, three members of the govern- 
ment, led by Bakshi, accused Abdullah in a memorandum 
of making arbitrary decisions, of being responsible for de- - - 

terioration in the administration, despotism, inefficiency, 
and wanton wastage of public resources. "You have tended 

53 Civil and Military Gazette (Lahore), February 3, 1954. 
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to act in a manner that has generated uncertainty, suspense, 
and doubt in the minds of the people of the State in gen- 
eral and of those in Jammu and Ladakh in particular," 
stated the memorandum. "All these factors have combined 
to strengthen the disruptionist forces seeking the disintegra- 
tion of the State. . . . You have arbitrarily sought to precipi- 
tate a rupture in the relationship of the State with India. 
. . . Under these circumstances, what seems inevitable is 
that interested foreign powers may well take advantage of 
and exploit the situation for their own selfish purpose. . . . 
You have connived in all these unfortunate happenings and 
thus strengthened and encouraged the forces of disruption." 
The memorandum informed Sheikh Abdullah, in conclu- 
sion, that the cabinet had lost the confidence of the people.54 

The memorandum was submitted to the Head of the 
State, who suggested an emergency meeting of the govern- 
ment. Abdullah refused the request and, probably sure of 
his unshakable leadership, went to Gulmarg, a beautiful 
summer spot, to spend the weekend there. 

In the early hours of the morning of August 9 a Shake- 
spearean-styled drama developed in the legendary Mahara- 
ja's palace. The Head of the State, the son of the Maharaja 
who had been exiled by Sheikh Abdullah in 1947, now 
avenged his father. He dismissed Abdullah and nominated 
Bakshi as Prime Minister. Abdullah, resting at Gulmarg, was 
arrested and taken to prison. Thus ended, at least tempo- 
rarily, the meteoric political career of the man who began 
as a national revolutionary, "the Lion of Kashmir," who 
thought as a socialist, acted as a dictator, maneuvered as a 
petty Machiavellist, and finally succumbed at the hands of 
his lifelong associates by arms which he had often used him- 
self. 

The new Prime Minister, immediately upon taking the 
oath of office, went before the microphone to make a policy 
statement. He stated that Abdullah's independence policy 

64 The Times of India (Bombay), August lo, 19 5 3. 
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had "naturally the connivance and support of interested 
foreign powers who have all along been resisting the exer- 
cise of the right of the people of the State to freedoin and 
self-determination. . . . An 'independent' Kashmir under 
the influence of imperialist power will be a great threat 
to the freedom and independence of Indian and Pakistani 
people. In view of the geographical position of the State, 
such independence is bound to involve us in a bitter and 
violent international controversy and another Korea may be 
staged here, as a result of the armed conflict between in- 
terested powers." He then had words of praise for India 
with which Kashmir had established "indissoluble links." 
He indicated, however, that the key to the governmental 
crisis was "the deep economic discontent of the masses of 
the State." He disclosed shortcomings which in a totalitarian 
country often remain concealed from the public, to be 
brought to light only in time of a violent change of govern- 
ment as something of a scapegoat. He, of all people, the 
principal of "Bakshi Brothers Corporation," blamed the 
corruption of Abdullah's administration for the failure of 
its agricultural policy. He admitted that the local authorities 
behaved arbitrarily, that cooperatives became a symbol of 
tyranny, that the bureaucracy in education caused great 
hardships.55 

The abrupt change in the Kashmir government and the 
detention of Sheikh Abdullah was received in some quar- 
ters with shock and amazement, in others with satisfaction. 
Jawaharlal Nehru, on August lo, made a statement in the 
House of the People in which he explained that the govern- 
ment of India had been informed about the crisis in Srina- 
gar, "but our advice was neither sought nor given." He un- 
derstood that Abdullah, his political friend of twenty years, 
had been detained "in the interest of the peace of the State, 

I 

which was threatened in various ways." Nehru7s words dis- 
closed the dilemma of choosing between personal friend- 

5 5  Ibid., August 1 1, 1953. 
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ship and political interests. He solved the painful difficulty 
in favor of what he considered to be in the interests of his 
country and of Kashmir. 

If the public in India was in general bewildered by the 
disappearance of Sheikh Abdullah, the three communalist 
parties were enthusiastic and saw in the change the first step 
towards the complete integration of Kashmir with India. 
However, the Kashmiri people, supposedly the beneficiaries 
of the change, were enraged. Thousands of them demon- 
strated against the new government and for Abdullah. Hun- 
dreds were arrested and many were killed (figures given by 
vario~is sources vary from 30 to 800). 

In Pakistan the happenings in Srinagar prompted a wave 
of indignation. Large meetings were organized and extrem- 
ists called again for jehad, holy war. In Karachi Fatima 
Jinnah, the sister of the late founder of Pakistan, led a 
procession of demonstrators who in a resolution appealed 
to "the Pakistanis to volunteer their services and join their 
Kashmiri brethren in their righteous cause and fight for 
freedom."" The newspapers accused India of having over- 
thrown Sheikh Abdullah, until then a Quisling in the opin- 
ion of the Pakistanis but now, through a twist of history 
which did not lack its somewhat comical aspects, almost a 
martyr in the struggle of the Kashmiri Muslims. 

As could have been expected, Indo-Pakistani relations 
underwent a profound shock. They had greatly improved in 
the spring of 1953 after the new Pakistani Prime Minister, 
the youthful Mohammed Ali, had made several gestures of 
friendship to India and personally to Nehru. Now, how- 
ever, they once again reached a dangerously low ebb. 

It was in and because of this atmosphere of tension and 
new outbursts of newspaper attacks that hlohammed Ali 
rushed to Delhi. On August 2 0  the two Prime Ministers 
signed a joint communiqu~ (referred to and analyzed in the 

D m n  (Karachi), August 17, 19 5 3. 
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preceding chapter) in which they reaffirmed the previous 
agreement to have a plebiscite in Kashmir. 

Thus the danger of open hostilities was averted, but the 
confirmation of the plebiscite agreement quickly revived the 
old disruptive voices in Kashmir and India. Bakshi in Srina- 
gar paid lip service to the Delhi agreement of August 20, 
but almost immediately thereafter stated that Kashmir was 

- 

an integral part of India and "no power on earth can sep- 
arate the two countries." The Head Lama of Ladakh con- 
curred: "Plebiscite or no plebiscite, Ladakh has made its 
choice, and its decision to accede to India is irrevocable.'' 
The communalist parties in India thundered in almost iden- 
tical language that "the accession of the State to India was 
final and irrevocable and there was no question of holding 
a plebiscite to determine its future status." They called the 
Delhi agreement "a colossal blunder" which "is bound to 
end in disaster and loss of both Jammu and Kashmir to 
India." They provoked new incidents in Jammu. Even the 
leader of the Praja Socialist Party of India, Dr. R. Lohia, 
declared that "the Kashmir problem would not be solved 
by plebi~cite."~' 

In Kashmir the new Prime Minister lost no time in 
strengthening his hold on the government. Without any 
apparent difficulties he sent to prison Abdullah's political 
friends who remained faithful to their old leader in the days 
of crisis. He reshuffled various committees of the National 
Conference. T o  gain some respite from the enraged Kash- 
miris he dealt quickly, as every shrewd politician would do, 
with the most pressing grievances. He partially restored free 
trade, eased food rations, abolished import duties on salt, 
raised governmental wages, and promised investigation of 
corruption and nepotism and reforms in education. He ex- 
pected the government of India to foot the bill. Indeed, in 

The quotations in sequence from The Times of  India (Born- 
bay), August 24, 27, 24, 1953; The Hindustan Times (Delhi), 
September 8; The Times of  India, September 2,  1953. 
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December 1953 it advanced a loan to Kashmir of 14.49 
million dollars. 

In the redistribution of portfolios in the now five-member 
government, Bakshi reserved for himself a wide range of 
responsibilities embracing political, police, trade, judiciary, 

- 

economic, tourist, militia, and labor fields." 
A National Conference meeting convened in September 

and, attended by several hundred delegates, passed a resolu- 
tion which condemned the policy of Sheikh Abdullah, but 
confirmed the policy of New Kashmir and of accession to 
India, while preserving Kashmir's autonomous status. I t  op- 
posed ally association with "the ruling clique in Pakistan'' 
and her "reactionary and feudal policy." It attacked foreign 
powers which were using Pakistan "to bring pressure on 
India to yield to their persuasion." At the beginning of 
October Bakshi won a unanimous vote of confidence from 
the Constituent Assembly. 

As the year 1953 drew to a close, Bakshi appeared to be 
well established in power in Srinagar. In large part he fol- 
lowed the path of his predecessor. He continued Abdullah's 
dictatorial methods and apparently was far from eager to 
have the Kashmiri people decide their fate freely. He en- 
joyed the confidence of Jawaharlal Nehru, who strangely 
enough shut his eyes to the totalitarian methods applied 
in Kashmiri politics-methods which he would not use or 
tolerate in India herself. 

Assured of Nehru's support and of the subservience of the 
purged Constituent Assembly, Bakshi now moved toward 
what he considers the final step of Kashmir's integration 
with India. This was to be materialized by ratification of 
Kashmir's accession to India and by clarification and im- 
plementation of the Delhi agreement of July 1952, which 
Abdullah had been accused of sabotaging. 

For the text of the governmental order published in the Jammu 
and Kashmir Gazette see The Statesman (Calcutta), September lo, 
l953. 
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On February 6, 1954, after Bakshi's return from ~011su l t~ -  

tions in Delhi, the Collstituent Assembly ratified the acces- 
sion. Of the seventy-five member Assembly, sixty-four were 
present and voted unanimously; of the eleven absent mem- 
bers, six were under detention." Bakshi acco~npanied the 
act with a triumphant speech in which he expressed con- 
fidence, without bothering to support it by facts, that the 
Azad Kashmiris would accept the decision of the Consti- 
tuent Assenlbly, if they did not live "the lives of prisoners" 
and were not "victinls of tyranny." I-Ie further repeated the 
conviction that Kashmir had "irrevocably acceded to India 
more than six years ago and today we are only fulfilling the 
formalities of our unbreakable bonds with India.'7Go 

At the same session which ratified Kashmir's accession 
to India, the Basic Principles Colnmittee reported on the 

- 

regulations concerning the relations between the govern- 
ment in Delhi and Srinagar. The report stated that "in order 
to enable the Centre [the government of India] to dis- 
charge its responsibilities, which devolve upon it under the 
Constitution, those provisions of the Constitution of India 
which may be necessary for this purpose should be made ap- 
plicable to the State in an appropriate manner. While pre- 
serving the internal autonomy of the State, all obligations 
which flow from the fact of accession and also its elabora- 
tions as contained in the Delhi agreement should find ap- 
propriate place in the Con~ t i t u t i on .~~ '~  

As a practical consequence of the report, in which the 
government of India apparently acquiesced, the customs 
barrier was removed onPApril I 3 ,  and thereby Kashmir be- 
came economically an integral part of India. The govern- 
ment of India agreed to pay to Srinagar 2 million rupees a 
year for the loss of customs revenue. To  demonstrate the 

59 The Statesman (Calcutta), February 17, 1954. 
Indiagram (The Embassy of India, Washington, D.C.), No, 

388, February 9, 1954. 
The Hindu Weekly Review (Madras), February 8, 1954. 



The Kashmir Scene Changes 

solidity of Kashmiri-Indian relations, Dr. Rajendra Prasad, 
the President of India, visited the country in April. In a 
statement in Jammu he declared that "history and mutual 
understanding had cemented the ancient ties between Kash- 
lnir and India to such an extent that any break in the rela- 
tionship was in~onceivable.' '~~ One month later, on May 14, 
1954, the President, under Article 370 of the Indian Consti- 
tution, issued an order endorsing the relationship between 
the Republic of India and Kashmir as it had been formu- 
lated in the Delhi agreement and adopted by the Constitu- 
ent Assembly in Srinagar. Most of the provisions of the 
Indian Constitution now apply also to the State of Jammu 
and Kashmir. Exception is made in regard to the position 
and function of the Head of the State and the rights to 
acquire immovable property in the state and to employment 
and settlement therein. These rights are left to the authority 
of Kashmir's legislature to safeguard the interests of the 
state's permanent residents. Also, the state legislature, for 
reasons of security, is empowered for a period of five years 
to impose restrictions on basic political rights otherwise 
guaranteed by the Indian Constitution. The Kashmir land 
reform has been confirmed and special status has been given 
to the Kashmir High Court, from which the right of appeal 
to the Supreme Court of India is limited to certain cases in 
civil and criminal proceedings. The Presidential order im- 
plies both further strengthening of India's hold on Kashmir 
and recognition of a privileged position of Kashmir within 
the Indian Republic. 

None of these moves was calculated to alleviate the anx- 
ieties and indignation in Karachi and on the Azad side. 
The act of ratification was obviously against the spirit and 
letter of the Security Council resolution of March 30, 1951 
(S/1469) and against the spirit of the Nehru-Mohammed 
Ali agreement of August 20, 1953. Indeed, Mohammed Ali 

Indiagram (Embassy of India, Washington, D.C. ) , No. 4 3 1 ,  
April 13, 1954. 
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condemned it as "an insult to the United Nations" and 
appealed to Nehru to repudiate it. The Indian Prime Minis- 
ter considered such a request as "manifestly absurd"; in 
his view the Constituent Assembly's decision "represented 
the wishes of the elected people in Kashmir." He, however, 
confirmed that it "did not come-it cannot come-in the 
way of our observing our international commitments in re- 
gard to a p lebis~i te ."~~ 

Few people in Pakistan found consolation in Nehru's 
commitment to plebiscite-a commitment which he had 
put on record so often in the past. On the contrary, many 
again urged an early settlement of the dispute. The Azad 
leader, Ghulam Abbas, declared at a public meeting that 
the people should depend solely on their own efforts and 
not look to the United Nations or any other international 
power for the liberation of Kashmir. "We are now con- 
vinced beyond doubt," he stated, "that India is not for a 
plebiscite. She is afraid of the result." One of the leading 
chiefs of the tribesmen warned, "Thirty-two lakhs of tribes- 
men [are] ready to stake their all for Pakistan and their 
Muslim brethren in Kashmir," and at a meeting at Pesha- 
war a resolution was passed appealing to the government of 
Pakistan to remove all restrictions on the tribesmen from 
opening a front in Kashmir." Bellicose speeches were again 
pronounced in the Pakistani parliament. 

Perhaps these threats and outbursts are only outlets for 
an uncontrolled anger; perhaps they are instruments of 
~olitical pressure. No one can predict with assurance what 
they mean. Undoubtedly, however, they do illustrate the 
potential gravity of the Kashmiri nightmare, which may one 
day burst into reality, into a horror of killing and bloodshed, 
over which governmental authority may have no control. 

6 9  Ibid., No. 399, February 2 5, 1954. 
64 Kashmir Affairs (Rawalpindi) , Vol. VI, No. 1 1 (no date) ; 

Dawn (Karachi), February 22, 1954; Kashmir Atfairs, Vol. VI, No. 
14, April 3, 1954. 



9. Communist Harvest 

DURING the long seven-year struggle for Kashmir, one dan- 
gerous fact seems to have escaped the notice not only of 
the rest of the free world but of the two major participants 
themselves: the serious danger that, to quote the old 
proverb, "while the lion and the tiger fight each other, the - 

jackal may run off with the prize." 
The political dangers arising from the dispute, the con- 

tinuing threat of open warfare between India and Pakistan, 
the heavy economic burden of maintaining armies in the 
disputed area-all these are apparent and are sufficient cause 
for a grave and continuing concern. 

But apparently unseen, unrecognized, is the equally dan- 
gerous fact that in this atmosphere of instability, of eco- 
- 

nomic and political uncertainty, Kashmir is being subjected 
to a systematic process of communization. With all of its 
economic misery, its internal corrosion, its religious feuds, 
and its geographic proximity to Communist sikkiang and 
Tibet, Kashmir offers an ideal ground for subversive designs. 
The evidence of the last few years points to the fact that 
neither the Soviet representative at  the United Nations nor 
the Communist Party of India has overlooked its potenti- 
alities. 

Indeed, the first Kashmiri revolt of centuries, which oc- 
curred in the early 1930's (see page 17), has been ascribed 
by some writers to "Bolshevik influence."' But the Soviet 
writer I. Mazdur disclaims "the honor" and asserts that the 
upheavals were organized by bourgeois elements and were 
of a bourgeois-religious character. "There is no evidence 
from the material at [our] disposal of any participation of 
the revolutionary Indian organizations in the Kashmir in- 
surrection," writes Mazdur. "Only the Communist Party 
of India leading the struggle of peasantry can bring them 

Sir William Barton, The Princes of India, Nisbet & Co., Lon- 
don, 1934, p. 127. 
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to the possession of land and liberation from feudal and 
imperialistic oppression," he concludes." 

Whatever may be the truth of the political background 
of these initial acts of discontent, they undoubtedly did 
serve notice that there was a revolutionary potential in 
Kashmir. In any case, when in May 1946 Sheikh Abdullah 
launched a "Quit Kashmir" campaign aimed against the 
Maharaja (see page 2 2 ) )  the Com~nu~lists this time were 
full of praise for such revolutionary fervor. "After the Sec- 
ond World War," wrote the foremost Soviet specialist on 
India, A. M. Diakov, "a national movement in Kashmir de- 
veloped the program of doing away with the Maharaja, of 
turning Kashmir into a democratic republic, of giving to the 
people of Kashmir the right of self-determination." Sheikh 
Abdullah was to him "a man of progressive, democratic opin- 
ions."3till later, in 1951, Diakov evaluated the endeavors of 
the National Conference in more concrete terms. "Till 
1946," he wrote, "the National Conference was under the 
leadership of bourgeois elements which stood close to the 
'leftist' wing of the All India National Congress. In 1946, 
however, the Kashmiri peasants accepted a plan according-to 
which workers joined actively in. Under the influence of the 
masses the National conference accepted a democratic 
p r~gram."~  The Azad leaders assert that the "Quit Kashmir" 
program was Communist in origin and led by agents from 
Russia. 

When Abdullah opened his campaign of "freedom before 
accession" upon his release from prison in September of 

- - 

1947, the Bombay monthly, Communist, supported his dec- 
larations with a significant comment: "It is imperialism7~ 

Revoliutsionyi Pod'ern v Indii. Sbornik, Moskva: Partiinoe 
izdatel'stvo, 1933. I. Mazdur's study on the revolt in Kashmir, pp. 
167-182; quotations, p. 182. 

A. M. Diakov, Natsional'nyi Vopros i Angliiskii Imperialism v 
Indii, Ogiz, 1948, pp. 107, 195. 
' A. kl. Diakov, Indien und Pakistan, Kultur und Fortscl~ritt, 

Berlin, 1951, P. 22. 
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game to disrupt the great democratic movement led by the 
National Conference. . . . There is no doubt that the Na- 
tional Conference would defeat these disruptive efforts by 
$acing in the forefront the issue of ending the present 
autocratic regime and establishing a fully democratic gov- 
ernment in accordance with its pr~gramme."~ 

After Sheikh Abdullah had been installed in power as the 
Prime Minister of the State of Jammu and Kashmir, the 
Soviet journalist 0 .  Orestov, who had witnessed these 
events, wrote about them, "This [National] Conference, 
headed by Sheikh Abdullah, had always been in the lead 
in the people's struggle against the British colonizers . . , 
and it had the ready following of the population." After 
the tribesmen had been repelled from Srinagar, the city, 
according to Orestov's description, was flooded with red 
flags, a red rosette on every breast, and the central square 
was renamed Red Square. Though "Sheikh Abdullah's 
government, brought to power on the rising tide of a truly 
popular movement, had proved impotent in the face of 
the Indian reactionaries . . . nevertheless, in Kashmir, this 
friendship [for the Soviet Union] and the people's interest 
in the life of the Soviet Union are particularly great."' 

The events of the next few years clearly indicate that this 
burgeoning of Communist interest in Kashmir was well 
founded. For the policy of the National Conference which 
came to power with Sheikh Abdullah was almost tailor- 
made for Communist infiltration. 

As early as the end of 1948, it was reported by The States- 
man that "Communist activity . . . has been on the increase 

Communist, October 1947, as quoted in Rajbans Krishen, 
Kushmir and the Conspiracy against Peace, People's Publishing 
House, Bombay, 19 51, pp. 3-4. 

0. Orestov, "The War in Kashmir." New Times (Moscow), 
No. 40, September 29, 1948, pp. 24-30. 
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in Kashmir for some time and a marked change in their 
attitude towards the National Conference and the present - 
administration is noticeable. Though small in number 
Communists have already gained a toe-hold in the State. A 
number of them are working with the National Conference 
Committees here and there. The Communists are, however, 
stated to be very critical of this organization and the State 
Government which is run by the National Conference, al- 
though criticism has been subdued and indirect. It is also 
understood that Communists have got into local labour 
unions and similar organizations. I t  is commonly believed 
here that two prominent Communist leaders of India 
managed to enter Kashmir? 

Another newspaper reported, "Having lost their face in 
Hyderabad, the Communists it appears have now concen- 
trated their attention on Kashmir which according to them 
is yet the weakest link in the Indian Union. I have reasons 
to state that for some weeks past, Communists have been 
organizing themselves in the s tate  at top speed to fish in 
troubled waters. A few days back, prominent leader Sardar 
Kulvir Singh, is said to have been in Kashmir on a 'secret 
mission.' According to reports current here even Comrade 
Ranadive, General Secretary of the Communist Party of 
India, was in Kashmir recently."' 

The process of infiltration quickly placed Communist 
sympathizers in high governmental positions and within the 
circle of leadership of the National Conference. Chief 
among these was and is Ghulam Muhammad Sadiq. Until 
1951 he was Minister of Development, then the President 
of the Kashmir Constituent Assembly, and more recently 
also the Minister of Education. 

Sadiq, 45 years old, comes from a rich family. He studied 
at the Aligarh University and practiced law at Srinagar. In 
1934 he entered the Muslim Conference, but three years 

The Statesman (Delhi edition), December 31, 1948. 
Amrita Bazar Patrika (Calcutta), December 3 1, 1948. 
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later contacted the Communist leaders in Punjab, Abdul- 
lab Safdar and Fazal Elahi Qurban, and took part in anti- 

activities. He then followed Sheikh Abdullah 
and participated at the foundation of the National Con- 
ference in 1939. 

He played a prominent role in Abdullah's "Quit Kash- 
mir" movement and as a consequence was jailed. When 
the country was invaded by the tribesmen, he displayed 
both his energy and his administrative ability. He quickly 
organized the National Militia, the Women's Defense 
Corps, and the National Cultural Front. He has beconle 
undisputed leader of the labor institutions. In the sumnler 
of 1950 he organized demonstrations in Srinagar in sup- 
port of the Stockholm Peace Congress. In the fall of 1952 

he organized a People's Peace Congress in Jammu, and 
more recently joined the Communist chorus in accusing the 
United States of waging germ warfare in Korea. He has 
been most active in disseminating, through governmental 
channels and through the National Conference, Commu- 
nist propaganda materials. He maintains close contact with 
the Communist leaders in India. In the Kashmir issue he 
has frequently used the most violent language about "the 
Anglo-American imperialists" and has had highly gratify- 
ing words to say about the Soviet Union. 

The other members of the government with Con~munist 
leanings were Durga Parshad Dhar, Deputy Home Minister, 
and Girdari La1 Dogra, Finance Minister, both former 
lawyers and long associates of the Prime Minister. 

The Revenue Minister, Mirza Mohammad Afzal Beg, a 
man of peasant origin, was the leading spirit behind the 
land reform in Kashmir. Though not a Communist, he fell 
undoubtedly under their influence. In his book On the Way 
t o  Golden Harvests, in which he analyzed the class interests 
of the working masses and the irreconcilability of the cap- 
italist and socialist systems, he wrote, "Insofar as the State 
of Jammu and Kashmir is concerned, we have decided to 
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own that system which gives no quarter to production for 
private profit, where no private inanip~~latio~l can bring 
about economic crisis, endangering the life of millions. 'rl1is 
decision of ours is only an implelnentation of the pro1nises 
which the standard bearer of freedom's forces [Sheikh Ab- 
dullah] had held out to the people froin time to time. 
Building a socialist order is our objective. . . . The capitalist 
system is the biggest barrier to human progre~s."~ He main- 
tained, however, that the Kashmir governnlent believed "in 
changing the social system by a process of evolution. We 
wish to bring it about pea~efully."'~ Events have indicated, 
however, that they have failed to practice what they preach, 

The Communist party's chief agent in Kashmir is Niran- 
jan Nath Raina, who owns the New Kashmir Book Shop in 
Srinagar and publishes a weekly, Azad. In Jammu the chief 
agent was Dhanwantry, under whose guidance was published 
a daily, Shamshere. Still another Communist, B. P. L. Bedi, 
is considered to be the author of the National Conference 
program, New Kashmir, and was the e'minence grise behind 
the Abdullah government. His European wife, Freda, sat on 
the governmental committee for the preparation of school 
textbooks. 

Sadiq and other Communist members or fellow-travelers 
do not speak of themselves as Communist party adherents. 
Instead, they are all prominent leaders of the National Con- 
ference. But whether members or sympathizers, they have 
exerted decisive influence upon the policy of the govern- 
ment and the National Conference without committing 
themselves to public and official responsibility for govern- 
ment measures. This ambiguous arrangement gives them 
the advantage of claiming the credit if the government in- 
troduces, for instance, the land reform, and of free criticism 
if it fails. 

Mirza Mohammad Afzal Beg, On the W a y  to  Golden Harvests. 
Government of Jammu and ~a&mir,  pp. 4, 5. 

lo Ibid., p. 58. 
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The Communists use the government propaganda chan- 
nels for their own ideological purposes and at the same time 
exploit the dissatisfaction of the masses. Their techniques 
of dissension are familiar. Most of them support Kashmir's 
union with India; a few of them preach accession to Paki- 
stan; and still others cried till recently for the independence 
of Kashmir. In Jammu they abuse the separatist tendencies 
of the Hindus, incite the people against the Indian army, 
and feed the general dissatisfaction of the population. 

The Communist position in the labor movement is re- 
ported to be strong. Ghulam Sadiq organized a Central 
Labor Union (Mazdoor Sabha) with which are affiliated 
the Government Transport Association, the Government 
Sericultural and Silk Labor Union, the Jammu Turpentine 
Labor Union, and the Rent Payers Association. The Tele- 
graph Employees Union is also under Communist influence. 
In Kashmir alone there are ioo,ooo members of these labor 
organizations, including not only workers but peasants. 

Communists have infiltrated the Students Federation, 
the Democratic Youth League, the Cultural Front, and are 
in control of the Progressive Writers' League, which pub- 
lishes a monthly, Kung Posh. 

Sanctuary of Isolation 
The National Conference and its Communist associates 

did not at  all like the United Nations intervention in the 
Kashmir conflict. Not only might its mediation lead to the 
plebiscite, the result of which could deprive them of all 
their labors, but also they preferred to pursue their policy 
in a sanctuary of isolation from any international attention. 
The Soviet Union in the Security Council and the Com- 
munist Party of India developed, therefore, a well-con- 
certed policy of undermining the mediatory efforts of the 
United Nations with the aim of eliminating them alto- 
gether. The National Conference joined in the campaign 
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on the local Kashmiri scene while continuing its policy of 
communization. 

In Security Council discussions of the Kashmir conflict, 
the Soviet representative for a long time remained aloof, 
He showed no interest in bringing the fighting in Kashmir 
to an early end. He let the British and American representa- 
tives pursue the thankless efforts toward reconciliation. 
When the resolution came to a vote on April 21, 1948, Mr. 
Gromyko and his Ukrainian colleague, Mr. Tarasenko, ab- 
stained. Nor did the Soviet Union declare its own views on 
the subject, apparently to preserve freedom of future action. 
One might easily speculate also that it was not in the inter- 
ests of Soviet policy to bring about an early settlement of 
the Kashmir conflict; the Soviets preferred its continuation 
in the hope that the two young countries, Pakistan and In- 
dia, already so preoccupied with other grave problems, 
would be exhausted. 

But the attitude of the National Conference, influenced 
as it was by Communist members, was quite outspoken. It 
declared openly on April 22, 1948 that the Security Coun- 
cil resolution was "yet another feature of power politics on 
which the Security Council has embarked ever since its 
inception." The General Secretary of the National Confer- 
ence, Maulana Syed Masoodi, declared, "In regard to the 
Kashmir issue the imperialist powers like America and Brit- 
ain had made out Pakistan as the innocent party. This was 
being done to further their own ends with a view to establish 
bases here for the coming war." Sheikh Abdullah, too, spoke 
about "imperialist powers" which "saw Kashmir only as a 
neighbour of Russia and therefore an essential base in the 
encirclement of Russia for future aggression."" 

The pro-Communist Bombay weekly, Blitz, ~ublished on 
June 9, 1948 a special issue, "Great Conspiracy," in which 
G. K. Reddy, the author, "proved" that the invasion of 

l1 Rajbans Krishen, op.cit., pp. 19, 20. 
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Kashmir was planned and supported by the British and 
American governments. He had somewhat mysteriously 
served as the Azad Kashmir government director of public 
relations, but he escaped and brought the information on 
the "great conspiracy" to the paper. 

The Comm~tnist People's Age evaluated the United Na- 
tions Commission report to the Security Council as "the 
culmination of the nefarious intrigues of the British and 
American imperialists against the democratic mass move- 
ment of Kashmir and Jammu. The policy that was being 
pursued by them till now through the instigation of w& 
and intervention in Kashmir and Jammu with the help of 
Pakistan reactionaries, mainly the annihilation of the demo- 
cratic mass movement and the enslavement of their people, 
and the setting up on this soil of Anglo-American war- 
bases directed against the Socialist Soviet Union and the 
democratic forces in China, would now be attempted to be 
carried forward to completion through 'peaceful' means 
and under cover of the 'free and impartial' plebiscite that 
will now be held under the direction of the military and 
political agents of American imperialism, masked as the 
UNO Commission officers."12 

The Communist writer Rajbans Krishen devoted a book 
to the task of "proving" that the United Nations, its Com- 
mission, and its representative, Sir Owen Dixon, acted on 
order of the Anglo-American warmongers and wished to 
liquidate Sheikh Abdullah's progressive movement and to 
establish in Kashmir, with the help of Indian and Pakistani 
capitalists, a military springboard for an attack on the Soviet 
Union.13 Only the Czechoslovak Communist member of the 
Commission, 0 .  Chvle, deserved the author's praise for hav- 
ing uncovered the big plot against Kashmir's den~ocracy. 

l2 Ibid., p. 38. 
l3 Rajbans Krishen, op.cit. (The book was extensively quoted and 

highly praised in izvestia (Moscow), on February 6, 19 5 3, in an 
article, "Anglo-Amerikanskie proiski v Kashmire.") 
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In the fall of 1949 the annual session of the National 

Conference passed four resolutions. Their language was re- 
vealing. One resolution referred to the world tensions as 
"the direct consequence of the basic tussle between the 
forces of progress and reaction on the global scale." It re- 
called the adoption, in 1944' of the New Kashmir program, 
which was the "National Charter of the People's Demand." 
I t  quoted the resolution of the National Conference ses- 
sion in Srinagar, in 1948: "After mature consideration of 
the issue it [the National Conference] is definitely of the 
opinion that Kashmir with its unflinching faith in New 
Kashmir and with the very advanced outlook of the fun- 
damental issue cannot find its proper place in Pakistan, 
which today has become the main citadel of reaction and 
decaying feudalism. . . ." Another resolution contained this 
self-explanatory statement, "The history of the creation of 
Pakistan as an imperialist maneuver for weakening the free- 
dom movement surging in the Indian Subcontinent and 
for undermining the anti-imperialist forces in Asia through 
the division of India lends further strength to our misgiv- 
ings and doubts." The resolution referred to "the machina- 
tions of warring imperialism" and it confirmed the National 
Conference leaders' "total refusal to be made the spring- 
board of power politics or to be reduced to pawns in inter- 
national racketeering." Another resolution expressed belief 
in "the principle that the concept of freedom all the world 
over is indivisible and that the fighters for true democracy 
are linked together with a bond of fellowship which rec- 
ognizes no boundaries." Another resolution reiterated the 
National Conference's "worthy participation in the his- 
toric resurgence of the people of the East and working 
masses of the world." 

Scores of speeches made by the Kashmiri and Com- 
munist leaders revealed the same pattern which has become 
such a familiar trademark. The American and British poli- 
cies were always inseparably linked with the devilish forces 
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of imperialism, conspiracy, capitalism, intervention, oppres- 
sion, exploitation. The Sheikh's government was called 
Awailli Rai-People's Government; there were Peace Bri- 
gades, I'eople's Guards, People's New Kashmir. The right 
of self-determination was put forward as an ideal to which 
the United Nations, controlled as it is by the Anglo-Ameri- 
can imperialists, was opposed. Only the true democrats and 
the working masses could understand and help the true 
democracy in Kashmir. 

It has become one of the major tragedies of our age 
that Communists have stolen the terms "democracy," 
4 L peace," "self-determination," and "freedom," which for 
centuries have been the powerful sources of inspiration to 
mankind in its struggle for a better world and better life, 
and have twisted their meaning and used them as mere 
instruments of policy. This method of grand deceit has 
reached the point that one begins to reach for his gun 
whenever these voices speak of peace; that one is never 
so worried about another violently expansionist move as 
when its proponents speak about self-determination; that 
when they speak of democracy, one is prepared to witness 
the extremes of totalitarian dictatorship. Kashmir has un- 
happily become an admirable training ground for these 
ominous exercises in Communist semantics. 

This travesty of freedom, democracy, peace, and self- 
determination as understood by the government in Srinagar 
found an experienced and well-coached actor in the repre- 
sentative of the Soviet Union on the Security Council. Fol- 
lowing attentively the development in Kashmir, the Soviet 
Union eventually abandoned the tactic of abstaining from 
the debates on the issue. Time had finally worked to the 
advantage of Soviet policy. Four years had passed, the con- 
flict was unsettled, and the internal situation in Kashmir 
pleased the Soviets. The Constituent Assembly was elected, 
4 4 truly democratic," all its members belonging to Sheikh 
Abdullah's party. Now Moscow considered it opportune to 
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intervene actively in the Security Council's deliberations on 
the Kashmir dispute. 

"The United States and the United Kingdom have been 
. . . particularly active in the discussion of this matter . . . ," 
declared Jacob Malik in January 1952, and continued, with 
cynicism characteristic of Soviet policy: "The United States 
and the United Kingdom are continuing as before to inter- 
fere in the settlement of the Kashmir question, putting 
forward one plan after another. All these plans are failing 
[as they] . . . are of an annexionist, imperialist nature, be- 
cause they are not based on an effort to achieve real settle- 
ment of the Kashmir question. . . . The purpose of these 
plans is interference by the United States and the United 
Kingdom in the internal affairs of Kashmir, the prolonga- 
tion of the dispute between India and Pakistan on the 
question of Kashmir, and the conversion of Kashmir into a 
protectorate of the United States and the United Kingdom. 
. . . Finally, the purpose of these plans . . . is to secure the 
introduction of Anglo-American troops into the territory 
of Kashmir and convert Kashmir into an Anglo-American 
colony and a military and strategic base." He accused the 
American and British governments of taking "all steps to 
ensure that no opportunity should be given to the people 
of Kashmir themselves to decide their future without ex- 
ternal pressure and without Anglo-American interference," 
of depriving "the people of Kashmir of the right of self- 
determination." He branded the United Nations repre- 
sentative, Dr. Frank Graham, as an agent of the Pentagon. 
Finally, he stated that the solution of the Kashmir problem 
"can be achieved if that status [of Kashmir] is determined 
by a Constituent Assembly democratically elected by the 
Kashmiri people."14 

The pro-Communist Blitz characteristically put the re- 
sponsibility for the United Nations failure "squarely and 

l4 S.C.O.R. Seventh Year, 570th meeting, January 17th~ 1952 '  
pp. 13-18. 

2 6 0  
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solidly on the shoulders of Frank Graham himself . . . as 
responsible for the sabotage of a nearly agreed plan of de- 

4 4 militarization." Later it said of Dr. Graham, . . . behind 
his renewed efforts lies the brain of wily Churchill and the 
dollar strength of America, coupled with willing stooging of 
Pakistai~ to sabotage the Asian nationalist aspirations vis-i- 
vis Western imperialist strategy of aggression."15 

The unexpected and sudden intervention of Malik in the 
Security Council caused something of a sensation in the 
circles of the United Nations. Its explanation could be re- 
lated to the fact that India was in the midst of an election 
campaign and Malik's statement was meant to help the 
Indian Communists. I t  was indirectly addressed to the gov- 
ernment of Pakistan as a warning not to seek Anglo-Ameri- 
can support. Above all, it was aimed at endorsing the policy 
of Sheikh Abdullah, who was in Paris at that time and had 
the opportunity to inform the Soviet representative that 
"self-determinzttion" and "democracy" were well on the way 
in Kashmir. Had Malik had a grain of political honesty, 
he would have admitted that the United States and Britain 
have for all these years followed exactly the aim for which 
he pleaded, namely, the right of the Kashmiri people to a 
free, democratic determination of their own fate. 

The Soviet newspapers and the Soviet broadcasts beamed 
at Central Asia immediately picked up the theme and 
opened a campaign against the Anglo-American imperial- 
ists. The Indian Communist leaders and the Kashmiri poli- 
ticians developed a well-concerted action. 

The Communist leader in Kashmir, Ghulam Sadiq, de- 
clared, ". . . the time has come for India to withdraw the 
Kashmir question from the Security Council . . . [as] the 
Kashmiris realized that the talk of fair plebiscite was a mere 
smoke-screen behind which the Anglo-American powers 
were planning to enslave the Kashmiris. Nothing will suit 

l6 Blitz (Bombay), January 12, 19 5 2; March 8, 19 5 2. 
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them better than the fagade of trusteeship in Kashnlir be- 
hind which they can build war bases against our neigh- 
bo~rs."~"heikh Abdullah, it must be noted, did not ap- 
prove of Sadiq's demand to withdraw the case of Kashmir 
from the United Nations, aware as he was that such was 
not possible. But, apparently encouraged by Malik's inter- 
vention, he hinted about Kashmir independence and the 
international in~plications of the problem. In a press inter- 
view which he gave upon his return from Paris he declared, 
". . . we are going to exercise this right [to decide the future 
of the country] to the fullest measure and at the earliest 
opportunity. . . . The feeling abroad now is that this ques- 
tion is not simply a Hindu-Muslim business, but that it 
contains as its basis high principles of politics. This ques- 
tion received added importance on this occasion as a result 
of the intervention of the Soviet delegation in the debate 
after nearly four years of silence." Should the Kashmiri 
people not ratify the accession to India this would not 
mean, according to Sheikh Abdullah, "that as a matter of 
course Kashmir becomes part of Pakistan. . . . It would 
regain the status which it enjoyed immediately preceding 
the accession [i.e., independence]. Let us be clear about 
it."17 The Times of India pointed to this development 
which may "lead ultimately to an independent Kashmir, 
which may come in the orbit of influence of India, Pakistan, 
or the strongest third neighbour, the USSR."18 

Another Moscow ritual, the Peace Congress, held with 
such fanfare in various parts of the world, also took place 
in Kashmir. I t  was staged in Jammu in September 1952, 
and expressed in a resolution "grave concern at the manner 
in which the Kashmir issue has been handled by the United 
Nations [which] instead of helping [solve] the problem 
paved [the] way for drawing Kashmir, India and Pakistan 

l6 Delhi Express, January 1, 19 52. 

l7 The Hindu (Madras), March 26, 1952. 
l8 The Times of India (Bombay), February 15, 1952 .  
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into the orbit of a third world war. . . . The people of 
Jammu and Kashmir alone have the right to decide their 
destiny and no foreign power has the right to intervene in 
our internal affairs, no matter under what cover they may 
be operating."lD Ghulam Sadiq, addressing the Peace Con- 
ference, declared, "The Anglo-American bloc does not want 
peace in the world and it wants to control all the strategic 
places of the world and Kashmir is one of them."20 

Another Peace Conference, on a large international scale, 
met a month later in Peking. The delegate of Pakistan, Pir 
Sahib of Manki Sharif, and of India, Dr. Saifuddin Kitchlew 
(who was awarded Stalin's Peace Prize in December 1952 ) , 
issued a joint statement in which they accused the United 
Nations of having seriously widened the gulf between India 
and Pakistan. "The unmistakable purpose of the Anglo- 
American Powers in the Kashmir dispute is to intensify 
Indo-Pakistan conflict with a view to making both countries 
subservient to them," read the declaration. "The situation 
endangers the sovereignty of both countries and makes 
them a prey to imperialist demands for war bases and can- 
non fodder." The statement asked for the right of the 
Kashmiri people "to determine their future destiny freely 
on the basis of equality and fairness, without hindrance, 
fear or favour." I t  is not without significance that the state- 
ment spoke about the future destiny of Kashmir witllout 
mentioning whether she would join India or Pakistan. 
When the declaration was read before the session of the 
Peking Peace Conference, both leaders "embraced each 
other to the applause of 400 delegates. . . . 7'21 

In December 1952 the Soviet representative at the Se- 
curity Council, Mr. V. Zorin, picked up again the theme of 
Anglo-American imperialist policy on Kashmir and pleaded 
for the right of the Kashmiri people to elect a Constituent 

ID Tribune ( Ambala) , September 9, 19 52. 

20 Delhi Express, September 8, 19 52. 
21 The Pakistan Times (Lahore), October 20, 1952. 
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Assembly and decide freely their fate. He condemned the 
recommendations of the United Nations as interference in 
Kashmir's internal affairs and serving the imperialist inter- 
ests to turn Kashmir into a strategic base.22 

When the Kashmiris demonstrated in August 1953 
against the governmental coup in Srinagar, Bakshi and the 
Communists launched a series of accusations against the 
United Nations military observers for their alleged encour- 
agement of the den~onstrators and their distribution of 
money and food among them. 

I t  must therefore be noted that the Delhi agreement of 
August 20, which took the Kashmir issue at least tempo- 
rarily out of the hands of the United Nations, unwittingly 
served the years-long agitation of the Communists. Indeed, 
the Soviet newspapers welcomed the agreement as a victory 
over the "Anglo-American imperialist forces."23 

Following the instruction of its Central Committee, local 
organizations of the Communist Party of India observed 
"Kashmir Day" on August 30 and passed resolutions asking 
for the "immediate expulsion of the UN representatives 
and other imperialist agents" from Kashmir. The Com- 
munist leader in the House of the People, A. K. Gopalan, 
appealed "for the creation of an atmosphere in Kashmir 
conducive to the State's final accession to India," and sug- 
gested "that all UN observers should be asked to leave 
Kashnlir State before the plebiscite is held." P. Rama- 
murthy, member of the Politbureau, declared that the party 
was of the opinion "that the best interests of the people of 
Kashmir lay in their union with India. That would help 
strengthen the democratic movement in both c~untries."~' 

Sadiq accused the United Nations observers "of liaison 

22 S/PV 61 1, December 2 3, 1952, pp. 61-64. 
23 Pravda (Moscow), August 22, 1953; New Times (MOSCOW), 

No. 36, September 2, 1953. 
2 4  The Statesman (Calcutta), September 1 and 20, 195 3; The 

Times of India (Bombay), September 19, 1953; The Hindustan 
Times (Delhi), September 7, 1953. 
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activities between pro-Pakistani elements in Kashmir and 
interested foreign powers outside" and declared that the 
Kashmir government would refuse the appointment of Fleet 
Admiral Chester Nimitz as plebiscite administrator, with 
the implication that he was a "nominee of an imperialist 

At its third congress in January 1954, the Communist 
Party of India urged in a resolution the withdrawal of the 
Kashmir issue from the United Nations, alleging that it was 
being exploited "to create division between India and Paki- 
stan." 

The Zig-Zag Tactics 
The peculiar nature of the relations between the central 

government of India and the gover~lment of Kashmir has 
long presented the Communists with a wonderful oppor- 
tunity "to fish in troubled waters." They encouraged Sheikh 
Abdullah in his policy toward possible independence, and 
yet they wished to be prepared for any other possible so- 
lution. 

When Abdullah, in the summer of 1952, managed to 
sign the agreement with Jawaharlal Nehru, which in fact 
launched him on the road towards independence, the Com- 
munist Party of India welcomed the agreement. A. K. Go- 
palan not only supported the government in its action but 
also suggested that the Kashmir policy of land reform be 
applied to the rest of India. The Jammu Comn~unist leader, 
Dhanwantry, expressed at a public meeting the belief that 
the future of Kashmir was safe only with India. "In this 
respect we wholeheartedly support the Nehru Govern- 
ment," he stated, and added that he wished the Kashmir 
case might be withdrawn from the United  nation^.^' In- 
terestingly enough, he also pleaded for the separation of 

25 The Hindustan Tiines (Delhi) , October 26, 1953. 
26 Ibid., August 26, 1952. 
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Jammu from Kashmir, on the linguistic basis, as he ex- 
plained. 

I t  seems safe to assume that the Communist Party of 
India hoped that the privileged position of Kashmir would 
attract the attention of other Indian states and would lead 
to a weakening of the political structure of the Republic. 
In some of them the Communists have considerable 
strength. Then, too, a request to extend the Kashmir-mod- 
eled land reform to the whole of India could be expected to 
attract additional support. Moreover, the Nehru-Abdullah 
agreement sharpened the Indo-Pakistani tensions over 
Kashmir. On the whole, it could not have served the Com- 
munists better. 

When the crisis in Indo-Kashmir relations reopened in 
the spring of 1953, the Communists joined the rightist ele- 
ments in their disruptive activities in Jammu, though in 
Srinagar they continued to give support to Abdullah. This 
policy, contradictory as it was, gave them the double bene- 
fit of corroding the political structure of the state and at 
the same time of enjoying the freedom of political agitation. 
While all public meetings in Jammu were forbidden and il- 
legal gatherings were severely dispersed, the field of politics 
was open to the Communists. The Democratic Youth 
League held a three-day convention at Jammu town in May 
and the Communist leader from India, Professor H. Muk- 
kerji, while criticizing the communalist Praja Parishad, de- 
clared that the people's grievances were justified. The party 
was gaining ground. A correspondent reported that the Na- 
tional Conference "has seemingly made no conscious effort 
to plant itself securely in Jammu. Instead, organization- 
ally, it has abdicated in favour of the Communists whose 
bread is buttered by official patronage and whose nest is 
feathered by discontent. Thus the entire space between the 
regime and the Parishad is allowed to be tenanted by the 
Reds.??27 

27 Ibid., May 23,  1953. 

2 6 6  
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In high politics in Srinagar, the Communists supported 
Abdullah's drive towards wide autonomy. It can be assumed 
that they reasoned that it would be a serious setback for 
them if Kashmir should join Pakistan, where she would be 
tightly knitted within Islamic society and offer limited pos- 
sibilities to their policy. But to establish a semi-independent 
Kashmir with the glittering hope of turning it at an oppor- 
tune moment into an Outer-Mongolia on the Subcontinent, 
appeared to be their bold dream. Yet with characteristic 
opportunism, when Abdullah in his speeches gave the im- 
pression that he was about to bring their dream to realiza- 
tion, they suddenly switched to the bandwagon of the win- 
ning and pro-Indian Bakshi. Abdullah was jailed and the 
Comn~unists remained in the government. In November 
their position was even strengthened; Ghulam Sadiq, the 
President of the Constituent Assembly, was nominated 
minister in charge of education, public health, information 
and broadcasting. Thus in the Kashmir government, three 
out of five ministers (Ghulam Muhammad Sadiq, Girdari 
La1 Dogra, the Minister of Finances, and Syed Mir Quasim, 
the Minister of Revenue) and heads of several important 

- 

departments are now Communists or fellow-travelers. 
It does not appear difficult to interpret the abrupt change 

in Communist policy in Kashmir. Trained in realistic ap- 
praisals of political situations, the Communist leaders held 
a rather dim view of the possibility of declaring Kashmir's 
independence at that time-in the presence of the Indian 

- 

army. More than that, when rumors reached their ever- 
suspicious ears that the United States was supporting the 
idea, the very rumor seemed to be enough to convince 
them that the Abdullah policy was now for them a very 
risky move-one immediately to be abandoned. Indeed, 
Abdullah, for six years their protector and protkgt, was 
now branded as a traitor and a lackey of American im- 
perialists. 

Joining the chorus of individual speakers who attacked 
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the alleged intervention of the United States in Kasllmir 
affairs (some of the Indian newspapers did not lag behind 
in these attacks), the Coilln~unist Party of Iildia now ex- 
pressed in a resolution an emphatic opposition to the idea 
of an independent Kashmir. I t  warned against the danger 
of occupation of the strategic Valley of Kashmir by the 
American military forces and called upon "the democratic 
forces of Kashmir and Jammu to save the people from 
these new designs of imperialists and their conscious sup- 
porters and misguided votaries." The resolution also sup- 
ported a qualified accession of Kashmir to India, declaring, 
"By limited accession, not only the State is united in friend- 
ship with India" but it also retains "its own status of virtual 
independence within the framework of the Indian Union."28 

When the Prime Ministers of India and Pakistan con- 
firmed in the Delhi agreement the policy of having a plebi- 
scite in Kashmir, the Con~munists welcomed the agree- 
ment. At first thought this appeared rather strange; for 
nothing would serve the Comillunist plans less than a final 
and peaceful solution of the thorny Kashmir conflict. Such 
a position might be interpreted as only an attempt to turn 
necessity into a virtue, but more probably it reflected their 
hope that the Delhi agreement would not lead to any solu- 
tion of the conflict, but rather, if not implemented, that 
it might actually lead to a deadly dangerous deterioration 
of the relatioils between India and Pakistan. 

International Implications 
Seven years ago, in October 1947, the Kashmir conflict 

began as a purely Indo-Pakistani problem. Eventually both 
sides agreed to its solution by way of a free plebiscite. They 
still appear to agree on this democratic procedure. But 
since the conflict's inception, many things have happened 
in Kashmir and on the international scene which have 
taken it out of the realm of local politics and have pro- 

28 The Times of India (Bombay), August 1, 19 5 3.  
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jetted it into the field of the global East-West struggle. 
It is, of course, utter nonsense to accuse the United 

States and Great Britain of planning to establish in Kash- 
mir military bases against the Soviet Union and China. If 
they have had any devious military schemes, "they have 
been singularly unsuccessful," as Sir Gladwyn Jebb once 
dryly remarked. Their only interest in Kashmir has been to 
see the conflict settled peacefully, well aware that such a 
solution would strengthen their own cause, well aware also 
that the continuance of the conflict aids the elements of 
disruption and expansion. 

Not everyone concerned with the Kashmir problem has 
seen the American and British policy in this light, however. 
Even Nehru, while not questioning their motives and in- 
tentions, has often been openly critical of their advice and 
of what he has called "foreign interference." Sensitive as 
he is to American policy, he has been, on the other hand, 
very anxious to avoid any suspicion in Moscow about the 
situation in Kashmir. 

When explaining to the House of the People his critical 
attitude towards the maintenance of Fleet Admiral Nimitz 
as plebiscite administrator, Nehru frankly stated, "He was 
appointed as plebiscite administrator about more than four 
years ago . . . much has happened in those three or four 
years. . . . W e  must try to isolate [the question of Kash- 
mir] from big power politics. . . . It will not be fair to any 
of the big powers to ask them to supply a representative 
as a plebiscite administrator, however admirable he may 
be, because that would be embarrassing and needlessly 
creating suspicion, not in my mind necessarily, but in some 
other big power's mind."" 

The nationality of the plebiscite administrator is, how- 
ever, only a symbolic illustration of the East-West impli- 
cations of the Kashmir conflict. Of more serious import 
were the events of the winter of 1953, which dramatically 

29 From Nehru's speech, September 17, 1953. 
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revealed the relationship of the problem of Kashmir to the 
East-West struggle. For whereas India continued to insist 
with increasing vehemence upon a course of policv inde- 
pendent of the global conflict, it was during this winter 
that Pakistan initiated a course of action which clearly re- 
vealed her willingness to become an active participant in 
the free world's defense against Communism. It was then 
that Pakistan opened negotiations with the United States 
for military assistance; India was vehemently opposed, and 
inevitably the issue of Kashmir was immediately drawn 
into this clash of policy. 

A meeting of the National Conference passed a resolo- 
tion protesting against the idea of An~ericail military help 
to Pakistan. Bakshi declared that "America might arm 
Pakistan or help her in any other way but Kashmir will 
never form part of Pakistan"; and Sadiq seconded, "Pak- 
istan leaders want to ruin Kashmir but we want to make 
it clear to them that we are vigilant and shall not allow 
them to deprive us of our freedom."" The Kashmiri lead- 
ers renewed the cries that the United States planned to 
secure bases in Gilgit, and Nehru warned at the press con- 
ference that "it is not open [to Pakistan] to do anything 
on Kashmir territory, least of all to give bases."31 

Both the United States and Pakistan governments denied 
the reports about negotiations which would provide for 
establishment of military bases anywhere in Pakistan, but 
the news about the envisaged armament of Pakistan with 
American assistance was sufficient enough to throw another 
dark shadow on the Kashmir dispute. Already Nehru de- 
clared in one of tens of speeches he made against this as- 
sistance that the Kashmir problem had been discussed 
between him and Mohammed Ali in August and an agree- 
ment reached "on the basis of a certain situation" but "the 

30 The Hindu Weekly  Review (Madras), November 30, 19 5 ? .  
31 Indiagram (The Embassy of India, Washington, D.C.), No. 

333, November 18, 1953. 
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whole context in which those agreements were made will 
change if military aid comes from A m e r i ~ a . " ~ ~  

In the light of all these international implications, the 
solution of the Kashmir dispute appears even more com- 
plex than ever before, but it also imperatively requires an 
early settlement. 

From Sinkiang and Tibet, Kashmir is exposed to ever- 
increasing pressure. Its rugged and hilly borders are ideal 
for infiltration. From the other side it is exposed to the 
relentless hostility of the Azad and Pakistan governments 
which will not-in fact cannot-give up their demand for 
a plebiscite or another satisfactory solution. Should they 
conceivably attempt to do so, the pressure of their people 
would forbid it, a pressure which increases with each post- 
ponement of the plebiscite, constantly threatening a re- 
sumption of hostilities. 

These two forces, the Pakistani-Azad and Communist- 
Chinese, as diametrically opposed as they are to each other, 
squeeze the unhappy Kashmir between them. Here in the 
soil of uncertainty, in the darkness of intrigue, in an air 
heavy with hate and suspicion and fear, the fungi of Com- 
munism flourish. Only an impartial plebiscite or other simi- 
larly democratic solution to the problem can put an end to 
the danger of a conflict between India and Pakistan and at 
the same time restore to Kashmir the possibility of an 
openly administered democratic life. For should Kashmir, 
as a result of a just solution, go to Pakistan, she would in all 
certainty become a full inember of Pakistan societv; should 
Kashmir go to India, her government would deal with the 
subversive activities there in the same fashion that it has 
done in India. Nothing is worse for Kashmir herself, for 
Pakistan or for India, than to have the present situation in- 
definitely prolonged. Only one cause profits from the con- 
tinuation of the dispute: the cause of Communism. 

s2 From Nehru's speech in the House of the People, December 
2 9 7  19 5 3- 
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10. The ~ o u b l e  Shadow 
THE Kashmir situation, packed as it is with explosive ten- 
sions between India and Pakistan and with Conlmu~~ist 
subversion, constitutes a direct threat to the peace of the 
Subcontinent and a danger to the peace of the world, A 
portion of the danger lies in the fact, however, that the 
- 

government of India refuses to recognize that threat. 
When at the beginning of 1954 the question of Amer- 

ican military help to Pakistan was publicly debated, Ja- 
waharlal Nehru raised the argument that such help would 
turn the Subcoiltineilt into a "war area." But the fact is 
that the Communist ideological dictates and global strategy 

- - 
in political warfare make any region potentially a war area. 
As to Kashmir, she has been to the Con~munists one 
among many theaters of political and military warfare ever 
since the inception of the conflict. To  them a divided 
Kashmir is another divided Korea, another divided Indo- 
China, another divided Germany, another divided Austria. 
If Kashmir were united through democratic process and 
under democratic rule, the Comnlunist spearhead, ai~ned 
as it is today against the Subcontinent, would be blunted, 
and this area would enter the sphere of the free world. No 

- 

one realizes these international implications of the Kashmir 
conflict better than the Communists. 

The government of India has pursued a policy inde- 
pendent of the ideological and power struggle between the 
forces of democracy and of Communism because it does 
not see the danger to its country in the same way as does 
the West. Jawaharlal Nehru shares with the West deep 
convictions on personal freedom, political den~ocracy, and 
the rule under-law. He is equally profoundly convinced 
that the best way to combat Communism is to combat 
poverty through economic and social reforms; and he is 
engaged in a colossal experiment in democracy on the home 
front. But at the same time he sees no danger to India 



The Double Shadow 
from without and he is sure that any closer tie with the 
rest of the free world may only provoke Moscow and Pe- 
king, perhaps with disastrous effects on India. 

Nellru's attitude toward the Kashmir situation is colored 
by these beliefs about combating Communism and about 
the non-aggressive nature of the Soviet and Chinese policies. 
And because he underestimates the outside threat to India, 
he does not recognize the utter necessity of settling the 
Kashmir conflict. Nehru has persisted in this attitude to- 
ward Russia for many years. In one of his books ile asked 
himself, "Who might be the aggressor against India?" And 
he answered, "Soviet Russia is definitely out of the picture 
so far as aggression goes; she seeks a policy of international 
peace, and the acquisition of Indian territory would fulfill 
no want of hers." He considered Soviet foreign policy as 
"consistently one of peace" and "of fulfilling international 
obligations and supporting the cause of democracy abroad."' 
One can understand such a judgment made as it was in 
1938 against the backdrop of the world scene at that time; 
nor should such a judgment be used as a yardstick of the 
wisdom of Nehru's present attitude. But his present re- 
liance on a non-aggressive Soviet foreign policy, against the 
backdrop of the past fifteen years, is something else again. 
For, since 1939 many countries-Latvia, Lithuania, Estonia, 
Poland, East Germany, Hungary, Rumania, Bulgaria, Yugo- 
slavia, Albania, Czechoslovakia, Northern Korea, and China 
-have been communized in a fashion which does not 
commend itself to the principles of international peace 
and to the cause of den~ocracy. In none of them, with the 
exception perhaps of China, was such communization the 
result of a spo~ltaneous search on the part of their peoples 
for a revolutionary solution to their economic and social ills, 
but, rather, a result of direct political or military Soviet 
intervention. 

So far as her own security is concerned, India does not 

Jawaharlal Nehru, The Unity of India, op.cit., pp. 24, 116. 
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appear to be impressed by this record of Soviet war-time 
and post-war policy. Her refusal to see the Soviet aspect 
of the internatioilal in~plicatio~ls of the Kashmir conflict is 
a logical outgrowth of her basic nsscssmeilt of Soviet in- 
tentions. One can, however, grasp the full gravity of this 
conflict only if it is analyzed against the broader back- 
ground of Communist interest in the Subcontinent. In this 
connection, a brief survey of Czarist and Soviet policy to- 
wards South Asia is revealing and enlightening. 

The Lessons of History 
The lessons of history caution against hasty conclusions. 

Indeed, they raise serious doubts as to the practical possi- 
bility of a large-scale Soviet invasion of the Subcontinent. 
Yet, the old Czarist dreams of conquering India indicate 
at least a traditional desire of the Russian Empire to ex- 
pand in that direction. 

It can be assumed that the British, while ruling in In- 
dia, were better acquainted with the Czarist threat to the 
Subcontinent than any other people. There were actually 
two schools of thought among British statesmen, distin- 
guished members of the Indian Civil Service, and scholars. 
One proposed to deal with the Russian danger by pursuing 
a "forward policy"; the other minimized the threat and 
recommended a policy of cooperation with Czarist Russia 
and of applying in the border regions of India a strategy 
of "masterly inactivity." Others even welcomed Russian 
expansion in Central Asia as a Christian missionary work. 
But all seemed fully aware of at least the possibility of 
Russian expansion in Afghanistan, Persia, and China, ex- 
posing India to the very real threat of encirclement. The 
British policy in the nineteenth and the first decade of the 
twentieth century was directed towards the specific goal 
of preventing this encirclement. I t  pushed the direct mili- 
tary control of India towards the North-West Frontier 
Province in occupying strategic positions; it tried to pacify 
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the restless Pathan tribes. With the Russian danger in 
mind, the British waged the two Afghan Wars (1839-1842 
and 1879-1881 ), and another in 1919; they helped the 
Afghan rulers to consolidate their power, with an eye to 
establishing a solid buffer state between Russia and India; 
they tried to strengthen, similarly, the hand of the Shahs 
in Persia and took the southern regions under military 
control in 1907. They observed with keen interest the de- 
velopments in autonomous Sinkiang and endeavored to de- 

- 

velop commercial contacts with this region. They stationed 
British Imperial troops in the northern area of the Princely 
State of Jammu and K a ~ h m i r . ~  

There are few original sources which reveal the specific 
intentions of Czarist policy concerning India, but few 
would argue that St. Petersburg was unaware of her stra- 
tegical and economic importance. In 1722, the founder 
of modern Russia, Peter the Great, after he had reached 
the Gulf of Astrabad on the Caspian Sea, pointed towards 
India and was reported to declare ". . . from there [Astra- 
bad] to Balkh and Badakshan with pack-camels is only 
twelve days' journey and on that road to India no one can 
interfere with He planned also the conquest of Cen- 
tral Asia and ordered one of his commanders, Prince Be- 
kovich, to prepare an expeditionary India-bound force 
which would penetrate into India from Central Asia. 

In 1791, the Empress Catherine studied plans for the 
invasion of India via Bokhara and Kabul. France under 
Napoleon and Russia under Czars Paul and Alexander I 
had at one time common reasons to cast their eyes on 

* For detailed information, see Archibald R. Colquhoun, Russia 
Against India, Harper and Brothers, New York, 1900. Francis Henry 
Skrine, The Expansion of Russia, Cambridge University Press, 1904. 
W. E. Baxter, England and Russia, Swan Sonnenschein, London, 
1885. William Digby, India for the Indians-and for England, 
Talbot Brothers, London, 1885. Demetrius Charles Boulger, Eng- 
land and Russia in Central Asia, W. H. Allen, London, 1879. 

'A.  R. Colquhoun, op.cit., pp. 7-8. 
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India, namely to weaken their common enemy, Great 
Britain. Paul wrote, "The French Republic and the Em- 
peror of Russia must send a combined force of 70,000 men 
to the borders of India. . . . The two governments have 
resolved to unite their forces in order to liberate India from 
the tyrannical and barbarous yoke of the English." In 1801, 
he wrote to one of his generals, Orlov, ". . . You will there- 
fore proceed to India. . . . I entrust this expedition entirely 
to you and your army. . . . This enterprise will cover you 
with glory, and according to your deserts, you will earnPmy 
special good-will. You will acquire riches and treasures, and 
will affright the enemy in his heart. I send you maps-as 
many as I have-and remain, your well-wisher, P a ~ l . " ~  The 
maps extended only to Khiva and Oxus, and General Or- 
lov's expedition was withdrawn by Paul's successor, the 
Czar Alexander. 

In 1808, one year after the Tilsit Treaty, Napoleon tried 
to reestablish the spirit of Russian-French friendship. He 
made offers to Alexander I which were meant to restore 
the Czar's confidence in the French Emperor, which had 
been considerably shattered by his maneuvering in regard 
to Turkey. He wrote to the Czar, "If an army of 50,000 

men with Russians, Frenchmen, and perhaps a few Austri- 
ans were to make its way into Asia, through Constantinople, 
it woold not reach the Euphrates without making England 
tremble. . . . I am ready in Dalmatia; Your Majesty is ready 
on the Danube. One month after we have made our ar- 
rangements, the army might be on the Bosphorus." The 
Czar reacted to this glittering offer, saying, "When we 
have settled things in Turkey and India, this will force 
England to make ~ e a c e . " ~  Napoleon's invasion of Russia 

Edward H. Sutherland, Russian Proiects Against India. Reming- - 
ton and Co., London, 1885, pp. 34, 36, 38. 

H. Butterfield, The Peace Tactics of Napoleon. Cambridge Uni- 
versity Press. 1929, p. 352,  as quoted from Sbornik, LXXXVIII, 456- 
458; Louis Fischer, The Life of Mahatma Gandhi, Harper and 
Brothers, New York, in the Notes to Chapter XXII, p. 582, mentions 
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put an end, however, to the plans of a Russian-French ex- - 
pedition into India. 

In the nineteenth century several Czarist generals elab- 
orated plans for the invasion of India. They considered the 
gradual penetration of Central Asia as a steppingstone to 
still further advances. General Perovski understood his 
march to Khiva, in 1839, as the first step to "shake India." 
General Duhamel presented a project to Czar Nicholas in 
1854, and General Khrulev prepared another plan the fol- 
lowing year. In 1878, General Skobelev elaborated a de- 
tailed invasion of India by three columns, one of which 
would advance in the direction of Chitral and Kashmir. 
The project was published in 1883. It considered the idea 
of an invasion through Kashmir as a militarily feasible op- 
eration. This opinion was fully shared by another Russian 
officer, V. T. Lebedev, who devoted a book to the military 
aspects of an invasion of 1ndia.We described the situation 
in Kashmir and concluded, ". . . it will be easy to arrange 
an uprising in Kashmir as the population suffers under the 
burden of heavy taxes." He emphasized also the strategic 
importance of Chitral and Gilgit, giving detailed plans for 
the invasion of these provinces. 

The Russian historian, A. E. Sneserev, told Louis Fischer 
that despite all these plans, "the Czarist Government never 
looked upon an invasion of India as a serious matter and 
only permitted the military governors in Turkestan to toy 
with the idea."' This may be true and yet the impressive 
recurrence of military planning and preparation would sug- 
gest that the idea of an invasion of India failed to mate- 
rialize for reasons other than Russian disinterest. It  is more 
probable that constant interruptions from European sources 

copying from the Czarist archives in h4oscow Napoleon's letters to 
the Russian emperors Paul and Alexander I. 

V. T. Lebedev, V Indiu, Voenno-statisticheskii i strategiiskii 
otcherk. Projekt budushchego pohoda, S. Petersburg, 1898. 
' Louis Fischer, The Soviets in World  AfJairs. Princeton Univer- 

sity Press, 1951. vol. I, p. 420. 
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postponed serious Russian attention to India. Tlle inter- 
ruptions were nlany and successive: Catherine the Great, 
by war against the Turks for Cri~ilea and by preparations 
for the division of Poland; Paul and Alexander, by tile 
Napoleonic Wars; Nicholas, by the Crimean War; Alex- 
ander 11, by the Balkan War, in 1877-1878. As to Central 
Asia, the Czarist Empire expanded systenlatically in the 
second half of the nineteenth century until, in 1891, it 
reached the Pan~irs, the borderland of India. 

A similar policy of gradual Czarist penetration was pur- 
sued in Sinkiang. Ever since 1870, when the Russians suc- 
ceeded in consolidating their position in Central Asia, their 
influence in Sinkiang has been on the increase. This prov- 
ince, never under effective control of the central Chinese 
government and with access to the Chinese mainland only 
through Russian territory, became increasingly dependent 
economically upon trade with Russia. Hard on the heels 
of commercial privileges in Sinkiang came pressure by the 
St. Petersburg government for political advantage. 

In both areas then, in the Middle East and in Northern 
China, Czarist policy reflected its traditional interest in 
expanding towards the Persian Gulf and the Arabian Sea 
and towards Chinese Turkestan respectively. Inevitably it 
came into conflict with British positions and interests. 

To  put an end to this unsettled and dangerous situation, 
and to free their hands to face the German threat in Eu- 
rope, the two nations, on August 31, 1907, signed the "Con- 
vention between Great ~ r i t a i n  and Russia relating to 
Persia, Afghanistan, and Tibet." Though formulated in 
cautious terms, the Convention meant, for all practical 
purposes, the partition of Persia between Russia and Great 
Britain, the recognition by Russia of Afghanistan to be "en 
dehors de la sphere de l'influence Russe," with the impli- 
cation that Afghanistan lay within the British sphere of 
influence, and the obligation of both Great Britain and 
Russia to respect the territorial integrity of Tibet, under 
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Chinese suzerainty, and to abstain from intervening in its 
internal affairs.' 

The position of Sinkiang was not mentioned in the Con- 
vention. This oinission might be due to a feeling on the 
part of the British that thev could afford to overlook Rus- 
sian economic penetration of the province, satisfied that 
they had prevented further expansion of Russia in the 
Middle East and the spreading of her influence in Tibet. 
That they had principally the securib of India in mind 
appears beyond doubt. 

The State of Jammu and Kashmir was like a wedge 
thrust into Czarist possessions in Central Asia. Its stra- 
tegic importance was obvious. In 1880. the hlaharaja. Sir 
Partab Singh, was accused of having been in treasonable 
correspondence with Russia, but the letters he allegedly 
exchanged with St. Petersburg proved to have been forged;' 
The British Crown, however, though not taking the ac- 
cusation seriously, did not want to be exposed to any pos- 
sible risk in view of increased Russian activities in the area 
of the Pamirs, and consequently established a council to 
rule over Kashmir. Only in 1905 was the Maharaja reestab- 
lished with full powers. 

A Double-Barrelled Weapon 
World War  I and the Bolshevik revolution brought dra- 

matic changes in the nature of traditional British-Russian 
rivalry in the vast areas of the Middle East and South 
Asia. Both the war and the revolution gave new impetus 
to the upsurge of nationalism and anti-foreignism. The 
Arab countries clamored for the self-rule which had once 
been promised them but never delivered. Persia and Af- 
ghanistan were eager for an opportunity to get rid of Brit- 

' For the text of the Convention see British and Foreign State 
Papers, 1906-1907, vol. c. Compiled and edited by Richard W. 
Brant and W. Maycock, London, 191 1, pp. 556-559. 

William Digby, Condemned Unheard-the Government o f  
India and H .  H .  The Maharaja of Kashmir. London, 1890. 
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ish influence. The national sentiments of the temporarily 
established union of the IJindu-Muslim front found an 
outlet in the Khilaphat movelnellt and the first waves of 
non-violence and non-cooperation in India. China disinte- 
grated into a maelstrom of fighting war lords. The entire 
situation was almost tailor-made for a Communist thrust. 

If the British had been previously only slightly con- 
cerned about the intentions of the Czars toward India and 
had felt satisfied by her blunting of Russian penetration 
on her flanks, they became truly alarmed at the new double- 
barrelled weapon which appeared on the scene of power 
politics and which fitted so snugly into Russian hands: the 
ideological weapon of revolting nationalism and Com- 
munism. But Soviet Russia was herself in the grip of a 
civil war, and the Bolshevik government's existence was 
threatened by the armies of the Whites supported by the 
Western Allies in the first years of its power. Her principal 
remedy, therefore, was to weaken Great Britain in the 
Middle East and Asia. Toward this end the ideological 
weapon served as a powerful instrument. National senti- 
ments and agitation offered the Soviet leaders a great op- 
portunity. 

In one of its first acts, on December 3, 1917, the Coun- 
cil of People's Commissars appealed to the "Muslims of 
the East, Turks, Arabs and Hindus" to throw off the yoke 
of imperialism and help the Russian revo1~1tion.l~ At the 
beginning of September 1920, the Third International or- 
ganized the First Congress of the Peoples of the East in 
Baku. Delegates of many nationalities and religious groups 
gathered at this big show, all of them linked together by 
the common tie of their hatred of England. There were 
thirteen representatives in Baku from India and one, named 
Agaria, was elected to the Presidium of the Congress. 
Third International was represented by its Chairman, Grig- 

lo Soviet Documents on Foreign Policy. Selected and edited by 
Jane Degras. Oxford University Press, 1951, vol. I, pp. 15-17. 
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ory Zinoviev, and by Karl Radek. Zinoviev voiced an anx- 
iously awaited sentiment when he addressed the session, 
saying, ". . . we want to free all nations, all working people, 
regardless of the color of their skin, regardless of their be- 
ing white, black or yellow.'? He had a special word for In- 
dia, which was "so mercilessly grabbed by the English 
capital." I-Ie appealed to the excited and passioilate lead- 
ers, "Conlrades! Brothers! The time has come when you 
can begin to organize the forthcoming national holy strug- 
gle against the usurpers and oppressors. The Con~munist 
International turns today towards the nations of thc East 
and tells them: Brothers! W e  invite you to a holy war first 
of all against English imperialism." Radek cliinaxed his 
appeal, "Long live a Red East which together with the 
working Europe creates a new culture under the banner of 
Con~munism."" These were still the times of bold appeals 
for a "permanent revolution,'? and the Baku Congress 
vibrated with these words. The dclegates fell into a de- 
lirium of enthusiasm and brought back to their homes the 
fires of a revolutionary fervor lighted at Baku. 

In Persia, the Soviets maneuvered shrewdly to expose 
British policy. They declared null and void the Russian- 
British convention of 1907, renounced the extraterritorial 
rights and various economic privileges in Persia, transferred 
the Russian assets to the "Persian people," and, after ini- 
tial complications connected with the Allied intervention 
in the Russian civil war, withdrew the Red army from 
Northern Persia. These gestures of magnanimity did not, 
however, prevent them from attempting to establish a So- 
viet Republic of Ghilan, in 1920-1931. They gave support 
to the nationalist and anti-British moveillent led by Riza 
Khan, who, however, later disappointed them by establish- 

l1 Pervyi S'ezd Narodov Vostoka. Baku, 1-8 Sentiabr 1920, Steno- 
grafskicheskie otcherti. Izdatel'stvo Ko~nunisticl~eskogo Internatsion- 
ala, 1920, Petrograd, pp. 34, 46, 48, 72. 
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ing friendly relations with London after he had been 
crowned Shah towards the end of 1925. 

King A~nanullah of Afghanistan, who had special rea- 
sons for hating the British (they had seilte~lced him to 
death during the war), was highly praised in an official 
comn~unication by Lenin because the Afghan nation was 
"heroically defending itself against foreign oppressors." In 
another letter Lenin promised to join Afghanistan in the 
struggle, "against the inost rapacious imperialistic govern- 
ment on earth-Great Britain," and said he was ready to 
give Afghanistan "military aid against England. . . . '~12 I* 
February 1921, both countries, Persia and Afghanistan, 
entered into a treaty relationship with the Soviet Union. 

In 1921 the flames of Asiatic nationalism momentarily 
slackened, and the Soviet government's need for imports 
and for credits from the West prevailed over their policy 
of openly encouraging revolutions abroad. In a commercial 
treaty with Britain, signed March 16, 1921, the Soviet 
government promised to abstain, "from any attempt by 
military or diplomatic or any other form of action or propa- 
ganda to encourage any of the peoples of Asia in any form 
of hostile action against British interests or the British 
Empire, especially in India and in the Independent state 
of Afghanistan.'"' 

Despite this official attitude, however, the Soviet gov- 
ernment continued to press, secretly, its direction of Com- 
munist revolutionary activities on the Subcontinent, sup- 
porting organized terrorist groups with money and arms. 

The Third International on the Scene 
Mahendra Partab, an Indian revolutionary, was in the 

l2 Louis Fischer, op.cit., vol. I, pp, 285, 286. 
l3 Great Britain, Foreign Office, Agreement between Great Bri- 

tain and Russia for the Resumption of Trade and Commerce be- 
tween the Two Countries (Cmd i207), British and Foreign States 
Papers, vol. cxrv (1921)' London, H.M. Stationery Ofice, 1924, 

P- 374. 
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service of the Soviet government as early as the end of 
1917. He travelled throughout Central Asia a ~ l d  helped or- 
ganize revolts in Kazan, Tashkent, Bokhara, and later 
worked from Kabul. Another Indian revolutionary was 
Barakatullah Khan. 

A nucleus of the future Communist Party of India was 
created in 1920 in Berlin, a city which appeared to be an 
ideal place for the illegal activities of political exiles. Mos- 
cow was within easy reach, as was London to the West, 
where British Communists followed with great attention 
and a helping hand the development in India. Moreover, 

- 

Germany, stripped as she was of colonies, no longer car- 
ried the stigma of imperialism. So it was that in Hamburg, 
an Indian group led by M. N. Roy published the paper, 
The Vanguard of Indian Independence. 

To further the subversion of the Subcontinent, Tashkent 
was established as a training center for professional revolu- 
tionaries and as the seat of an ~ssociation of India, and 
a school was founded at Samarkand in 1920 which was 
attended by 3,500 "experts," of whom 931 were Hindus." 
These experts were then sent to India, well provided with 
money. The Soviet Minister at Kabul, Raskolnikov, gave 
special attention to the tribesmen in Waziristan and to the 
situation in the North-West Frontier Province among 
other things sending arms to the tribesmen. 

"The Russian Minister at Tehran has been the most 
tireless, though not always the most successful, operator 
in this field [of anti-British activities]. He has housed 
Indian seditionists within his hospitable walls, and has sped 
them on their mission to India," stated a British document 
listing a number of instances of Soviet activities aimed 
against British rule in India.'' 

l4 J. CastagnC, Les Musulmans et la politique des Soviets en Asie 
centrale. Les Indes et Egypte vues de Russie. Editions Ernest 
Leroux, Paris, 1925, pp. 78-82. 

l5 Correspondence between H.M.'s Government and the Soviet 
Government. Cmd 1869, p. 7. 
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The Third International cherished high hopes about 

Commullist upheavals in India. It established an Islamic 
and an Indian section to study the situation and to direct 
revolutionary activities on the Subcontinent. Soviet experts 
published treatises about the problem, harping particularly 
on colonial and national issues.'" 

In his address, on November 22, 1919, before the Second 
All-Russian Congress of the Comlnuilist organizations of 
the nations of the East, Lenin analyzed the political situa- 
tion in Asia and gave to the delegates detailed illstructions 
on how to spread the flames of the revol~tion. '~ 

In May, 1920, he greeted the Indian Revolutionary As- 
sociation on the occasion of "the proclamation of the 
worker-peasant republic" and appealed to the Indian revolo- 
tionaries "fighting heroically for their freedom" to maintain 
the solidarity of the Muslim and non-M~~slirn elements. 
"Only then, when the Indian, Chinese, Korean, Japanese, 
Persian, Turkish workers and peasants stretch out their 

- 

hands each to the other and march together toward their 
common goal of liberation, only then will be assured de- 
cisive victory over exploiters. Long live free Asia!"18 

The Second Congress of the Third International, held 
- 

in Moscow in the summer of 1920, passed an elaborate thesis 
on "the National and Colonial Questions," - presented by 
Lenin, with a special supplementary statement on China 
and India. 

Stalin was reported to have declared, in June 1921, before 
the Executive Committee of the Third International, "The 
general guiding purpose of the Eastern Secretariat [of the 
Third International] in all its work lies in exerting pressure 
upon the political authority of the capitalist Powers of 

l6 M. P. Pavlovitch-Volonter (Vel'tman) , Voprosy Kolonial'noi 
Politiki i 32 internatsional, Moskva, 1920. Tivelj, Puti i Perspektivi 
Indiiskoi Revoliutsii. Novyi Vostok, Kniga I, Moskva, 1922. 

l7 V.  I. Lenin, Sochinenia, 4th ed., Gosudarstvennoe izdatel'stvo 
politicheskoi literaturi, 1950, vol. 30, pp. i 30-141. 

Is Ibid., p. 116. 
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Western Europe through their colonies. . . ." In the Soviet- 
Afghanistan treaty of February 1921, which in articles 4 
and 5 made provisions for establishing Soviet consulates in 
Eastern Afghanistan, he saw an instrument, ". . . through 
which the Com~nunist International maintains direct com- 
munications further South with British India. . . ." The 
Communist leader Eliava was able to report on the same 
occasion, ". . . we are already taking the offensive against 
foundations of capitalism in India itself."lD 

At the Third Congress of the Comintern, in the sum- 
mer of 1921, Lenin declared, "[In British India] the rev- 
olution grows the more quickly, the more notably stands 
up the industrial and railroad proletariat on the one side 
and the more brutal becomes the terror of the English on 
the other. . . . '?20 In  his last article published in Pravda on 
March 4, 1923, he based his conviction of the inevitable 
victory of Communism over capitalism on the rapid eman- 
cipation of the Asiatic nations and concluded, "In the last 
analysis, the upshot of the struggle will be deter~nined by 
the fact that Russia, India, China, etc., account for the 
overwhelming majority of the population of the globe."" 

The British government protested in several diplomatic 
notes against these violations of the Trade Agreement of 
March 16, 1921. The Soviet government rejected the charge 
and protested against being identified with the Third Inter- 
national. The British brought the exchange of correspond- 
ence to a climax when Lord Curzon, on May 2, 1923, sent 
an ultimatum to Moscow: the situation must be remedied 
or the Trade Agreement would be cancelled. The Soviet - 

government gave partial satisfaction to London and re- 
iterated its pledge not to interfere with British policy in 

l9 A Selection of Papers dealing with the relations between 
H.M.'s Government and the Soviet Goveritment, 1 9 2 1 - 1  9 2 7 .  Cmd 
2 8 9  5 .  

20 Lenin, op.cit., pp. 430-431. 
V. I. Lenin, Selected Works. Two-volume edition. Lawrcnce 

and Wishart, London, 1947, vol. 2, p. 854. 
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Asia. Then it made the grand gesture: "Further, in view of 
complaints which have been made," read the official state- 
ment, "the Soviet Government undertakes not to support 
with funds or in any other form persons, or bodies, or 
agencies, or institutions whose aim is to spread discontent 
or to foment rebellion in any part of the British Empire . . . 
and to impress upoil its officers and officials the full and 
continuous observance of these conditions."" 

This declaration, signed on June 4, 1923, was indeed 
observed for a little while as the Soviet governinel~t rec- 
ognized the utter necessity of maintaining trade with Brit- 
ain. Besides, the events in China were promising enough 
from the Soviet point of view to command Moscow's full 
attention. Before too long, however, the Soviet govern- 
ment fell from grace and returned to the policy of direct- 
ing the activities of Indian Communists, much of the work 
being done through the Colonial Department of the Com- 
munist Party of Great Britain. One of its principal weapons 
was to draw the attention to the Muslims on the Subcon- 
tinent to the now autonomous, predominantly Muslim 
regions of Tadjikistan and Turkestan, declaring, in the 
words of Pravda in May 1925, "The people of Tadjikistan 
are the outposts of the new culture in the eyes of millions 
of men who constitute the masses of the Orient and who 
are of the same origin but who have been so far enchained 
by imperiali~m."'~ 

In 1926 Soviet hopes for a revolution in South Asia were 
running high. The Chinese Communists cooperating with 
the Kuomintang, as had been "advised" by the Soviet rep- 
resentative, Borodin, held key positions in the government. 
Nikolai Bukharin had the vision of things to come, "In the 
event of the further victorious advance of the Canton 
armies, it is not Utopia to assert that a victorious Chinese 

22 Command Paper 2895, p. 24. 
23 Pravda (Moscow), May 7 ,  1925, as quoted in J. Castagni, 

op.cit., p. 62. 



The Double Shadow 

revolution will find an immediate echo in the neighbouring 
colonial countries-India, Indonesia and Dutch India. All 
this makes China a mighty center of attraction for the 
colonial periphery."" The  vision, however, failed to ma- 
terialize. Chiang Kai-shek ousted Borodin from China in 
1927 and turned against the Communists. But the Moscow- 
directed Communist activities in India continued.'" 

At the Sixth Congress of the Third International, in the 
summer of 1928, the revolutionary campaign in the colonial 
countries was intensified. The  Communist parties were 
called upon to establish strong leadership and to lead the 
proletariat in a class struggle, not only against the British 
imperialist rule, but also against the "liberal-national bour- 
geoisie."'" M.  N. Roy, the first Indian Communist leader, 
wrote later, after having become their fiercest opponent, 
"The resolutions of the Communist International regard- 
ing India since 1928 were the height of ~ t u p i d i t y . " ~ ~  The  
Communists failed completely to realize the popular 
strength of the All-India National Congress, against which 
any opposition was bound to be unsuccessful. 

The Soviet theoreticians saw in the Indian situation a 
classical Marxist field for a class struggle. O n  one side was 
the foreign capitalist linked with feudal exploitation, on 
the other the enslaved masses of the Indian proletariat. The  
bourgeois movement led by the National Congress was, in 
their view, made ineffectual by its lukewarm attitude toward 
British rule. They expected a steady strengthening of the 
proletariat through its open and systematic struggle against 
both foreign imperialism and the local bourgeois national- 
i s t ~ . ' ~  "The historic meaning and world-wide significance 

24 Command Paper 289 5 ,  p. 47. 
25 Command Papers 2682, 2874. 
28 Komunisticheskii Internatsional v Dokumentah, 1919-1932. Ed. 

Bela Kun. Partiinoe Izdatel'stvo, Moskva, 193 3. 
27 M. N. Roy, The Communist International. Radical Democratic 

Party Publication, Bombay, 1943, p. 48. 
28 A. Pronin, Klassovaia Borba i Konstitutsionnye Reformi Britans- 

kogo Imperializma v Indii. Moskva, 1934. 
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of the periocl 1920 to 1930'' lay for them "in the fact that 
the proletariat has begun the struggle for the liegelnolly in 
the national-libera tiilg n~ovement."'" 

Stalin himself, claborating on his theory of a proletarian 
revolution breaking off the chains of the imperialist world 
at its weakest link, hopefully expected, "It is not iillpossible 
that this may be in India . . . because there we find a young 
and militant revolutionary proletariat in alliance wit11 the 
movement of national liberation."30 

However, the actual development in India, as elsewhere, 
was a grave disappointinent to the Thircl International. 
The leadership, unable to produce satisfactory revolution- 
ary zeal, found the masses unresponsive to its appeals for 
a class revolution. Consequently, the Seventh Congress of 
the Comintern, in the summer of 1935,  reversed its strategy 
and called for the creation of Popular Fronts in coopera- 
tion with democratic parties. The Indian Communists 
were severely criticized- by the Chinese member of the 
Presidium of the Executive Committee of the Third Inter- 
national, Wang Ming, for sectarianism and for not having 
allied themselves with the masses. They were ordered to 
create a Popular Front with the National Congress and the 
Socialist Party and enter their ranks." 

The Communist Party of India Fails 
If the Soviet leadership considered India as an ideal field 

for a Comnlunist revolution, it must have been thoroughly 
disappointed by the poor performance of the Indian Com- 
munists all through the interwar period. Chiefly responsible 
for its ineffectiveness was the membership of the party in 
the years following World War  I. I t  was made up mostly of 

29 A. J. Shtusser, Marks i Engels ob indii. Gos~~darstvennoe Izda- 
tel'stvo, Moskva, 1930, p. 7. 

Joseph V. Stalin, Foundations of Leninism. International Pub- 
lishers, New York, 19 32, P. 34. 

31 Contre la guerre et le Fascisme: L'Unitk. R6solutions et Di- 
cisions. Bureau d'Editions, Paris, 19 3 5, pp. 30-3 3. 
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intellectuals suffering from dogmatism, sectarianism, and 
factioilalism. They failed to recognize the strength of a 
well-knit organization and blind discipline, and they did 
not follow thc duty of "descending" to the masses. Some 
strikes were organized in 1923 in Bombay, Bengal, and the 
United Provinces, but the leaders were arrested and put on 
trial in 1924 (the Cawilpore Conspiracy Case) . In 1928 the 
Communist Party led workers into another strike, and its 
leaders were again sent behind bars (the Meerut Con- 
spiracy Case). In 1930, a Draft Program of Action asked 
for a violent overthrow of the Indian government and the 
establishment of a Soviet government. Four years later, 
all party organizations were banned and the Communist 
leadership went underground. The following year the In- 
dian Communists followed Moscow orders and in consider- 
able numbers entered the All-India National Congress, 
with as many as fifty Communists in leading party positions 
in 1942. 

World War  I1 presented new opportunities to the Indian 
Communists, but it also presented them (as it did Com- 
munists all over the world) with some delicate problems. 

Stalin Follows the Czars' Path 
After twenty years, the Soviet government was tempted 

to indulge in the traditional Czarist expansionist dreams 
in the Middle East and in South Asia. As Napoleon with 
Czar Paul and Alexander I had contemplated the invasion 
of India as a deadly blow to their chief enemy, England, 
SO in 1940 Adolf Hitler and Joseph Stalin were, in their 
thoughts, carving out huge slices of foreign territories for 
themselves. When Vyacheslav Molotov paid an official visit 
to Berlin in November 1940, Ribbentrop laid before him 
the grand plan of the division of the world between Ger- 
many, Japan, Italy, and Russia. Russia was offered to look 
for "possible Soviet aspirations in the direction of British 
India." In a draft agreement prepared by Ribbentrop, the 
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Secret Protocol No. 1, paragraph 4, read, "The Soviet 
Union declares that its territorial aspirations center south 
of the national territory of the Soviet Union in the direc- 
tion of the Indian Ocean."32 Molotov seems not to have 
been convinced by Ribbentrop's repeated allegations that 
Great Britain was already beaten on the battlefield. He saw 
clearly that the German Foreign Minister wished to embroil 
the Soviet Union in a war against Britain, as Napoleon had 
a hundred and forty years before. He was more anxious to 
clear away the misunderstandings which arose out of the 
interpretation of the now notorious agreements signed by 
Germany and Russia on the eve and at the beginning of 
World War  11, than to indulge in future dreams of ex- 
pansion. He was disturbed by German activities in Finland 
and the Balkans. 

Back in Moscow, Molotov became increasingly eager to 
come to an agreement with Berlin, the more so as there 
were unmistakably heavy clouds accumulating on the ho- 
rizon of Soviet-German friendship. So, in the spring of 
1941, he proposed to sign the draft agreement, but mak- 
ing such an act conditional upon the clarification of the 
situation in Finland and Bulgaria. In the final draft agree- 
ment, also, reference to the Indian Ocean was to be omitted 
and it was to read, ". . . the area South of Batum and Baku 
in the general direction of the Persian Gulf is recognized 
as the center of the aspirations of the Soviet Union."33 

The Soviet government thus realistically appraised the 
situation. I t  certainly did not wish to estrange Germany, 
but at the same time it did not wish to provoke Great 
Britain. And it felt that an eventual occupation of Iran 
would not necessarily cause open hostilities with anyone. 
Once the Soviet Union was in possession of the Persian 
Gulf, however, it believed that it would be able to strike 

32 Nazi-Soviet Documents, 1939-1941, edited by R. J. Sontag and 
J. S. Beddie. Department of State, 1948, pp. 251, 257. 

33 Ibid., p. 259. 
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from this strategical center in several directions, including 
India. 

It was not through any virtue of Moscow that the agree- 
ment was never signed. By spring 1941, the preparations of 
the German army to attack the Soviet Union were far 
advanced. 

The Party Uses the Opportunity 
The Indian Communists did not appear to be disturbed 

by the policy of cooperation between the motherland of 
Communism, the Soviet Union, and Nazi Germany. But 
on June 22, 1941, the day of the German invasion of Russia, 
the situation changed. Great Britain, and through her, 
British India, became allies of the Soviet Union. For a 
few months the Communists were confused, maintaining 
the rather difficult thesis that British participation in war 
was imperialist, Soviet participation just and correct. Only 
when the Japanese opened an all-out attack on South-East 
Asia did the Communists in India declare the struggle as 
a people's war and appealed for a maximum war effort. 

This was a period of great opportunity for them, the more 
so as the National Congress leaders were in jail for their 
anti-war agitation. In July 1942 the Conlmunist leaders were 
released from prison and the party was recognized again as 
a legitimate organization. Its ranks grew and its organiza- 
tion was strengthened. Its headquarters were located in 
Bombay. P. C. Joshi became the Secretary-General. Al- 
though it never attracted vast numbers, its membership rose 
from 2,000 in 1942,9,000 in 1943, 2 5,000 in 1944, to ~o,ooo 
in 1945. More important was the fact that the character of 
its membership was no longer predon~inantly intellectual 
but was now largely made up of workers and peasants. In 
1945, 36 Per cent of the party members were peasants, 2 6  

per cent workers, 11 per cent students, and 5 per cent 
women, the remainder belonging to the intelligentsia. The 
party became active not only in India but in such Pri~icely 
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States as Gwalior, Baroda, Travancore, Cochin, Mysore, 
and Hyderabad. 

The party exercised decisive control over the All-India 
Students Federation, which in 1943 claimed 52,000 men,- 
bers; various women's organizations, with 41,000 members; 
Children Brigades, with 9,000 members; Friends of the 
Soviet Union, Progressive Writers Association, India's Peo- 
ple's Theatre Association, and above all the All-India Trade 
Union Congress, which in 1945 had a membership of 432,- 
ooo persons and in 1951 claimed a membership of 706,000 
workers. Since 1944, increased attention was also given to 
the organization of peasants. Out 'of 2 5  members of the 
General Council of the All-India Peasant Association- 
Kisan Sabha-22 were Communists. The party managed 
to infiltrate the ranks of the National Congress, though its 
Popular Front program suffered a defeat in 1942 when it 
changed its attitude towards the war, while the Congress 
leaders continued their opposition. The Communists made 
little headway in the Muslin1 League, except in P ~ n j a b . ~ ~  

The policy of the Coillmunist Party of India toward an 
independent Pakistan was one of vacillation. An enlarged 
plenum of its Central Committee passed a resolution in 
September 1942 "On Pakistan and National Unity," in 
which it rejected the idea of a separate Pakistan. Instead, 
it asked for a united India composed of a great number 
of autonomous nationalities: Pathans, Punjabis, Sikhs, 
Sindhis, Hindustanis, Rajasthanis, Gujerathis, Bengalis, etc., 
each with the right of secession. When, however, toward 
the end of the war, the idea of an independent Pakistan was 

3 4  For more detailed information, see The Communist Party of 
India, Office of Strategic Services, R & A No. 2681, August, 1945; 
M. R. Masani, "The Coinmunist Party in India," Pacific Affairs, 
Vol. xx~v, No. 1, March 1951, pp. 18-38 Ruth Fischer, "The Indian 
Communist Party," Far Eastern Survey, Vol. XXII, No. 7, June 1953, 
pp. 79-84. Merrill C. Goodall, "Soviet Policy and India: Some Post- 
war Trends," Journal of International AfJairs, vol. VIII, No. 1, 1954, 
PP. 43-51. 
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approaching the actual final stages, the Indian Communists 
supported it, envisaging that the withdrawal of the British 
would create a perfect situation for them to fish in troubled 
waters. But the Mountbatten Plan of Partition and the 
statesmanship of the Indian and Pakistani leaders marred 
these expectations, and the Indian Communists and their - 

Moscow masters did an about-face, charging that partition 
was an imperialist maneuver and labeled its acceptance by 
the National Congress as betrayal of the Indian people.36 

This was the signal for the Indian Communists to revive 
their program of class struggle and terrorist activities. By 
the beginning of 1948, their membership had risen to 
90,000. Joshi was demoted and replaced by the radical, B. T. 
Ranadive. Under his leadership, the party organized shock 
brigades, strikes, and acts of sabotage; villages were raided, 
houses destroyed, bridges blown up, factories burned, trains 
attacked, banks robbed, roads barricaded, and busses set 
on fire. All these activities were perpetrated mainly in 
Hyderabad and West Bengal.16 In the Telengana districts 
of Hyderabad the party succeeded, following the Chinese 
Communists' example of the 1930's~ to form its own govern- 
ment-patri sarkar-with its own army. It was reported to 
comprise some 4,000 villages which were under the admini- 
stration of "People's Independent Committees." Another 

- 

Communist stronghold was in the neighboring districts of 
Andhra in Madras, now a separate state in the Republic of 
India, and in the eastern state of TripuraSs7 

The government of India and some state governments 
struck mercilessly against the terrorist activities of the partv. 
Many Communist leaders were arrested, and politically the 

35 Krizis Kolonialnoi Sistemi. Izdatel'stvo Akademii Nauk SSSR, 
Moskva, 1949; see A. M. Diakov study, pp. 87-123. See also Com- 
munist Party of India, political thesis, adopted at the Second Con- 
gress, Calcutta, February 28 to March 6, 1948, pp. 31-33. 

3e Communist Violence in India. Issued by the Ministry of  Home 
Affairs, Government of India, 1949. 

Karaka, op.cit., pp. 167-1 69. 
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strategy of violence proved to be a failure. The Executive 
Con~n~i t tee  was forced once again to reconsider its policy. 
It decided, following Moscow's order, to return to the idea 
of a more gradual build-up of strength by allying itself with 
the peasantry and workers in cooperation with other or- 
ganizations and parties. The experience of the Chinese 
Con~munist Party became an example. Ranadive was po- 
litically liquidated in October 1951  and the less radical 
A. K. Ghosh became the party's Secretary General. Then 
the party went through a period of crisis, the right and 
left wing fighting each other. The National Congress and 
the Socialist Party recaptured the support of workers who, 
during the war years, had been attracted by the Commu- 
nist-controlled All-India Trade Unions Congress. Now this 
organization lost many of its members to the Indian Na- 
tional Trade Union Congress and the socialist Hind Maz- 
door Sabha. The party returned to solicitation of members 
from the ranks of intelligentsia. This policy of a softer ap- 
proach showed its success in the elections held from Novem- 
ber 1951 to February 1952. The party did not put up candi- 
dates in all states but rather concentrated its efforts in some. 
As a result, although they had no remarkable success in the 
over-all picture (gaining only 6 million, about 5 . 5  per cent, 
of all votes, 27 seats out of 497 in the House of the People, 
and 12 seats in the Council of States), they did achieve 
considerable local success in Hyderabad, Travancore- 
Cochin, Madras, Orissa and PEPSU (the Patiala-East Pun- 
jab States Union). 

In June 1952 Dr. Satyanarain Sinha, a member of the 
Indian Parliament, spoke out bitterly against the Commu- 
nist Party of India. He accused it of subversive activities, 
directed by the Cominform. He spoke with authority-Dr. 
Sinha had once been a captain in the Soviet army and had 
worked for the Comnlunist movement. He submitted docu- 
ments revealing that the Soviet expansionist ~ l a n s  included 
India and that the Indian party was serving as a fifth 
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column to organize insurrections in India. He asserted that 
many Indian Co~nnlunists were being trained in the Cornin- 
form centers in Prague and Leipzig, from whence were 
directed the terrorist activities of the party in India. He 
specifically charged that the violence in the Telengana dis- 
tricts was actually directed through radio conlmunications 
from these centers. He warned that government offices, in- 
cluding the Ministry of Defense, were infiltrated by Com- 
munists. To  prove all his points, Dr. Sinha submitted docu- 
ments to the Privileges Committee of the Parliament, 
which, however, has not as yet published the results of its 
investigation. 

At its congress in Madura at the beginning of January 
1954 the Communist Party of India re-elected A. K. Ghosh, 
who had just returned from a six-month stay in Moscow, as 
its Secretary-General. It  confirmed the policy of a united 
front seeking cooperation of all groups standing for "de- 
xnocracy and peace." I t  extended support to Nehru's gov- 
ernment in its policy of peace and econonlic reforms. The 
propaganda value of this resolution was probably thwarted 
a month later when copies of a secret document were 
disseminated, according to which the congress reaffirmed 
the party commitment to armed revolutioil in India.38 

The Party in Pakistan 
The Communist Party of India, which had functioned 

since the 1920's for the whole Subcontinent, recognized the 
consequences of the partition in its own organization only in 
March 1948, when its offices and organizations were divided 
into the Communist Party of India and the Communist 
Party of Pakistan. The party in Pakistan had made small 

The New York Times, February 2, 1954. For detailed informa- 
tion see Marshall Windmiller, "Indian Communism Today." Far 
Eastern Survey, vol. XXIII, No. 4, April 1954. Cornmunist Con- 
spiracy in India. Private proceedings and secret documents of the 
third congress of the CPI. The Democratic Research Scrvice, Born- 
bay, 1954. 
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inroads into the Muslin1 League, but it has been very 
active, though in a semi-clandestine way, in West Punjab, 
particularly in Lahore, Sind, and East Pakistan. It co~ltrols 
the Pakistan Federation of Trade Unions, whicli thougll 
small nunlerically is well organized. It uses for its own 
purposes the Association of Progressive Workers of Paki- 
stan and the Pakistan-Soviet Cultural Association. It is very 
active among students. The Co~llmunist leaders, Syed Sajjad 
Zaheer, the Secretary General of the Party, and Faiz Ah~ned 
Faiz, an influential intellectual and poet, were involved in 
a military plot which was intended to establish, with help 
from "a certain foreign country," a Co~nmuilist govern- 
ment in Pakistan. The plot was discovered in March 1951, 
and the two Coillillunist leaders were sentenced to four 
years in prison in January 195 j. 

Throughout 195 3 Communist prospects in Pakistan were 
brighter than at any time before. A severe economic crisis, 
caused by food shortage and a fall in commodity prices on 
world markets, has made the Communists' work easier. 
The elections in East Pakistan in March 1954 not only 
brought a crushing defeat to the Muslin1 League and vic- 
tory to the un i ted-~ron t ,  but they also demonstrated Com- 
munist strength. According to sollle estimates, up to 70 out 
of 309 seats of the Assembly went to Con~munist or pro- 
Communist  candidate^.^^ Strikes and political disorders 
which followed the electioils and which cost several hun- 
dreds of lives were, the governmental circles claimed, insti- 
gated by Communist elements. The Con~munist party was 
banned, first in East Pakistan (July 5 )  and then in all other 
provinces (July 24). The government also imposed restric- 
tions on the moviment of Soviet diplomats. 

All in all, the Communist parties of India and Pakistan 
may not as yet represent any immediate danger, but the 
econoinic situation and the appallingly low standard of liv- 

39 See Richard L. Park, "East Bengal: Pakistan's Troubled Prov- 
ince." Far Eastern Survey, vol. XXIII, No. 5, May 1954. 
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ing, which for some years to come cannot be appreciably 
improved even by the best government, offer to the Com- 
munists a favorable field for their operations. Thus it is that 
although the threat may yet be somewhat remote, all ob- 
servers agree that the situation is no cause for comfort, the 
more so as it must not be considered separately from what 
is happening on the other side of the border, in Soviet Cen- 
tral Asia, in Sinkiang and Tibet. 

On the Borders of India 
The last Soviet Five Year Plan, as scanty as is reliable in- 

formation about it, did reveal plans for a concentration of 
capital investment and the construction of railroads in Cen- 
tral Asia. The Kuznetsk industrial area has been connected 
with the Uzbekistan and Kazakhstan Republics close to 
the Sinkiang province. What  may be considered as a normal 
and legitimate activity for the development of the economic 
potentialities of these isolated regions may likewise carrv 
serious strategic implications concerning Communist policv 
in South Asia. 

The Soviets have always given great attention to the hap- 
penings in Sinkiang. Soon after World War I they entered 
the path of penetration opened by the Czars in the second 
half of the nineteenth century by helping various war-lords 
fight each other for the control of Sinkiang. In 1933 they 
even sent Soviet soldiers into the country. They established 
good trade with Kashgar, the capital. The consular rep- 
resentation was not interrupted even in the period when 
diplomatic relations between the Soviet Union and China 
were severed, between 1927 and 1932. 

Soviet activity in Sinkiang has been greatly intensified 
since the victory of the Communists in China. At the be- 
ginning of 1950 groups of Soviet officers, instructors, tech- 
nicians, and economic experts were reported to have arrived 
in the Kashgar area to explore the possibility of exploiting 
its considerable resources of iron, oil, tin, lead, coal, copper, 
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wolfram, and gold. They set up a number of joint Soviet- 
Chinese con~panies for that purpose and organized the 
construction of airfields on the edge of the Sinkinng-Kash- 
mir-Soviet border. Kashgar was being developed as a major 
military base. An atomic energy plant or a test site was 
reported to be constructed in Sinkiang and the ato~llic 
scientist, Bruno Pontecorvo, was believed working there. 
A railway across Sinkiang, connecting Soviet Turkestan with 
Central China, has been under construction. In 1952 one 
million Chinese were ordered to move to the province. In 
the fall of 1953 the Chinese government refused to accord 
recognition to the Consulate General of India and Pakistan 
at Kashgar, with the explanation that Sinkiang was closed 
territory and, as such, no foreign mission could be per- 
mitted to function there. 

Developments in Tibet appear to be even more serious. 
According to reliable intelligence reports, in the summer 
of 1950 (even before the Chinese conquest of this largely 
unknown country), groups of Soviet experts in the guise 
of Buddhist pilgrims infiltrated Western Tibet to survey 
the area of Lakes Manasarowar and Rakas for the construc- 
tion of airfields. They found the area strategically ideal; 
from there, planes passing through the valleys could easily 
reach Delhi. The lakes offer good bases for seaplanes and 
Lake Rakas freezes solidly in the long winter months to 
offer a good landing field. The agricultural nature of 
the region would permit the feeding of a great number of 
people without the necessity of supplies from the outside. 
Vast resources of raw materials hitherto unknown appear 
to be there, among them, uranium, northeast of Lake 
Manasarowar. 

There is a constant influx of military equipment to West- 
ern Tibet, and some 20,000 Chinese soldiers, mainly sta- 
tioned along the Indian border, are there at the moment, 
the final aim being 200,000 soldiers. Mao Tse-tung de- 
clared in November 1952 that it was his pvernrnent's aim 
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to raise the Tibetan population from its present two or 
three millions to ten millions. In February 1953 an in- 
creased military build-up was reported from Tibet, as was 
intensive constructio~l by slave labor of an airfield in the 
vicinity of Lhasa, and another at Lharingo in Eastern Tibet. 
Three big military roads are under construction across Tibet; 
one from Sinkiang to Kudok, in Northwestern Tibet, along 
the Kashmir border, is completed. The other part will fol- 
low the old caravan route to Lhasa. All this is-taking place 
close to the India-Nepal-Tibet 850-mile border-the Mc- 
Mahon Line-which, though demarcated in 19 14, was 
never accepted by China." "The Tibetan ~nerchants say 
that Chinese military maps in Lhasa show Sikkim, Bhutan 
and Kashmir's northernmost province of Ladakh as part 
of Tibet. . . . Chinese officers and men are attending special 
classes in Hindi, Urdu, and Nepalese in a military school 
set up in a garden house . . . in Lhasa."" 

On the other side of the boundary is the Kingdom of 
Nepal, the isolated Princely States, Sikkim and Bhutan, 
and Communist-ridden Assam; their strategic position 
obviously is rather precarious. The long boundaries are 
open to invasion via a number of caravan routes. The old 
dream of an impregnable Himalayan barrier has been dis- 
pelled by modern weapons and modern warfare. The popu- 
lation on the Indian side shares with the Tibetans the 
affinity of a common Buddhist religion; and in the north, 
from Sinkiang over Soviet Turkestan to Afghanistan, 
stretches a belt of Muslims, cherishing the same religious 
beliefs as the Muslims on the Subcontinent. They are 
mostly tribesmen, capable of the most formidable guerrilla 
warfare. The country is ideal for such a war, and a common 
religion is the best pretext for ideological infiltration. 

40 See Robert Trumbull, The New York Times, November 22, 23, 

24, 1950 and December 28, 19 5 3; Reuter's Report in The New York 
Times, February 3, 1953. 

41 Civil & Military Gazette (Lahore), February 24, 1953. 
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It is true that so far India has not been exposed to any 

open diplomatic or military pressure from the Soviet Union 
or China, although in the latter case the occupation of 
Tibet caused some apprehension in New Delhi. Most prob- 
ably the Soviet government has coilsidered it advantageous 
to its over-all program of disintegrating the solidarity of 
the free world to cultivate for the time being Indian friend- 
ship; and the Chinese government has been preoccupied by 
the paramount need of solidifying its position at home. Also, 
both governments concentrated their expansionist efforts 
in other directions, in Korea and Indo-China. Rightly, a 
political friend of Nehru remarked at  a closed meeting in 
the winter of 1951 to a group of students of international 
affairs, "We realize that as long as you Americans keep the 
Chinese Communists busy in Korea, we do not feel their 
pressure in Burma." 

Speaking at the celebration of the thirty-second anni- 
versary of the October Revolution, G. Malenkov considered 
it important to remind the world of Lenin's prediction 
"that the outcome of the world struggle between capitalism 
and communism depended in the long run on the fact that 
Russia, India and China comprised the gigantic majority 
of the population being drawn with exceptional rapidity 
into a struggle for its liberation." T o  Malenkov, "The vic- 
tory of the Chinese democracy has opened a new page 
in the history, not only of the Chinese people, but of all 
the peoples in Asia oppressed by the  imperialist^.'^ Some 
competent students of the Soviet Union have been of the 
opinion that Malenkov had then given expression to his 
convictions on the importance of Asia overriding, at least 
for the time being, the importance of Europe. Certainly, 
the experience of the last five years would tend to support 
the notion that Soviet emphasis is on Asia. Faced with the 
necessity of consolidating its conquests in Eastern and Cen- 
tral Europe and with the growing active defense of NATO, 

42 The New York Times, November 7, 1949. 
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the Soviet Union is increasingly turning its attention toward 
the power vacuum of Asia. 

Expansionist powers have always moved into militarily 
undefended spaces, and it is no reflection on the fighting 
spirit of the Indian and Pakistani forces to state that they 
would be no match for the combined strength of a Chinese 
and Soviet onslaught, facilitated, as it would be, from with- 
in by the disruptive activities of the Communist fifth 
column and the almost paralyzing hostility that now exists 
between India and Pakistan. Indeed, one does not need 
to think in terms of an open attack, but rather in terms of 
spasmodic infiltration and the subjugation of exposed areas 
close to the Soviet-Chinese boundaries. 

Should such a threatening situation arise, any hope that 
India and Pakistan under the circumstances of the Kashmir 
tensions would help each other borders on illusion. Rather, 
one might fear, any weakening of the internal or interna- 
tional position of one power would be viewed by the other 
with feelings of relief, if not satisfaction. And yet it appears 
so obvious that any such attitude ignores the lessons of 
modern history. 

How many European nations have expended their ener- 
gies in petty quarrels with each other over fragments of 
territory and thus, their eyes fixed on today's annoyances, 
have neither seen nor been able to resist the real threat that 
eventually engulfed them? Still another lesson of history 
needs to be read. How many of these nations thought to 
buy peace by being neutral, by sitting on the fence. How 
many sought "peace in our time" through appeasement? 
Can any doubt that all who did, and with them the whole 
world, paid for their errors in the excruciating currency of 
war? Such is the melancholic warning of history. 

Pakistan appears to have accepted the evidence of our 
times, as dreary as it may be, that democratic countries can 
survive the manifold Soviet and Chinese expansionist de- 
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signs only if they are united and nlilitarily strong. She re- 
quested military assistance froin the United States and is 
ready to do her share in the defense of the exposed area of 
South Asia and the Middle East. India, on the other hand, 
professes not to see the imminence of any Communist 
threat. For her Prime Minister "it is not easy to imagine even 
any aggression . . . from that great country China. . . ." He 
insists that if India finds "it comfortable to sit on the fence, 
we will continue to sit on the fence."43 Not only therefore, 
has India rejected even the idea of military help from any 
country, but she has also expressed great alarm over Paki- 
stan's policy. Jawaharlal Nehru has declared on numerous 
occasions that military assistance to Pakistan from the 
United States "will disturb, without fail, the entire balance 
of powers"; "the cold war will come right up to our borders"; 
"the whole country [of Pakistan] becomes a [military] 
base"; "it is a step not only toward war, but a step which 
will bring war right to our doors"; it "is likely to create con- 
ditions which facilitate and encourage aggression"; it causes 
"insecurity, uncertainty and instability"; it is calculated to 
"help spread the climate of war." Such condemnations, as 
harsh as they are, are understandable, if we remember that 
they come from a statesman who is not disturbed by present- 
day Commlinist policy and who is so deeply convinced that 
he serves the peace of his country best by-keeping it aloof 
from commitments to the collective cause of security. Re- 
cently Nehru went even a step further in his foreign policy 

- 

by recommending to the world certain principles which 
would, in his opinion, assure peaceful coexistence of the 
Communist and democratic camps. 

Toward the end of June 1954, on the occasion of the 
visit to India of Chou En-lai, the Prime Minister and For- 
eign Minister of the People's Republic of China, Nehru and 
his guest subscribed in a joint communiqut to the principles 

43 Indiagram (Embassy of India, Washington, D.C.), NO. 403, 
March 3, 19 54; The New York Times, February 1 1, 19 54. 
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of nlutual respect of territorial integrity, non-aggression and 
~lon-interference to guide relations betweell India and China. 
'I'he two Prinle Ministers expressed belief that these prin- 
ci~lcs, if applied in international relatioils generally, "would 
forin a solid foundation for peace and security."" 

As one reads this estinlable enunciation of principles 
which in theory commend themselves to the conduct of 
foreign affairs of any country, one is reminded that the So- 
viet Union solen~nly pledged before, during and after World 
War 11, to every one of its neighbors that it would respect 
these very same principles. It should also be remembered 
that it violated each and every one as the opportunity arose. 
This policy has become indeed a pattern of conquest for 
totalitarian regimes, and for their neighbor states a pattern 
of doom. For one by one, as the small states embraced the 
false hope of security through agreements with powerful 
dictatorships, their only real hope for security, that of last- 
ing solidarity with powerful democracies, was shattered. 
This pattern of conquest is all too recent and all too familiar 
to give any ring of reliability to similar proposals, coming 
from a nation with the record of Conlmunist China. The 
State of Jammu and Kashmir, its boundaries with China 
undefined, its administration exposed to Communist sub- 
version, may yet become an agonizing testing ground for 
China's respect for principles of territorial integrity, non- 
aggression and non-interference. 

Kashmir may have started as a local issue between India 
and Pakistan, and Prime Minister Nehru may now thor- 
oughly dislike what he considers improper foreign interven- 
tion in the dispute. However, the truth of the matter is that 
today because of the constant, unjustifiable postponement 
of the solution of the conflict, the Kashmir problem has 
played havoc with the crucial relations between India and 
Pakistan and it has been irretrievably thrust onto the scene 

44 The New York Times, June 29, 1954. 
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of world politics. Without question it has coiltributed ma. 
terially to the dangerous and, under the circumstances, al. 
most inevitable estrangement in the orieiltation of their 
foreign policies. Kashmir has become a veritable powder 
keg for the whole of Asia. 

Whatever the future nlay have in store, the free world 
shares with India and Pakistan not oilly ~0111111011 ideals but 
also co111111011 respoilsibility for the fate of deillocracy aild 
it awaits with trepidation the solutioil of the Kashmir prob- 
lem. Its own security nlay depend on such a settlement. 
Even as Jawaharlal Nehru, in the interests of his own coun- 
try's peace and security, feels justified, and rightly, to be 
actively concerned with the interilational inlplications of 
the problen~s of faraway Korea, South Africa, Sudan, Tu- 
nisia, Morocco, and Kenya, so do other countries share, for 
the same compelling reasons, an equal interest ill the final 
solution of the vexing question of Kashmir. 

The once distant home of the fabulous Maharaja, where 
gay beds of tulips border the flowing fountains of the gardens 
of Sl~alimar, has become by the mutations of inodern times 
a grim threat to the peace of a free society. As long as this 
is true, the free world cannot but remain concerned with the 
problems and the people of Nehru's ancestral home. 







Appendix I 
Resolution of the Security Council of April 2 1 ,  1948: 

The Security Council, 
Having considered the complaint of the Government of 

India concerning the dispute over the State of Jammu and 
Kashmir; 

Having heard the representative of India in support of 
that complaint and the reply and counter-complaints of 
the representative of Pakistan; 

Being strongly of the opinion that the early restoration of 
peace and order in Jammu and Kashmir is essential and 
that India and Pakistan should do their utmost to bring 
about a cessation of all fighting; 

Noting with satisfaction that both India and Pakistan 
desire that the question of the accession of Jammu and 
Kashmir to India or Pakistan should be decided through 
the democratic method of a free and impartial plebiscite; 

Considering that the continuation of the dispute is likely 
to endanger international peace and security, 

Reaffirms the Council's resolution of 17 January; 
Resolves that the membership of the Commission estab- 

lished by the resolution of the Council of 20 January 1948, 
shall be increased to five and shall include in addition to 
the membership mentioned in that resolution, representa- 
tives o f .  . . and . . . and that if the membership of the Com- 
mission has not been completed within ten days from the 
date of the adoption of this resolution the President of the 
Council may designate such other Member or Members of 
the United Nations as are required to complete the mem- 
bership of five; 

Instructs the Commission to proceed at once to the 
Indian Subcontinent and there place its good offices and 
mediation at the disposal of the Governments of India and 
Pakistan with a view to facilitating the taking of the neces- 
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sary measures, both with respect to the restoration of peace 
and order and to the holding of a plebiscite, by the two 
Governments, acting in co-operation with one another and 
with the Commission, and further instructs the Commis- 
sion to keep the Council informed of the action taken under 
the resolution, and to this end, 

Recommends to the Governments of India and Pakistan 
the following measures as those which in the opinion of 
the Council are appropriate to bring about a cessation of 
the fighting and to create proper conditions for a free and 
impartial plebiscite to decide whether the State of Jammu 
and Kashmir is to accede to India or Pakistan. 

A. RESTORATION OF PEACE AND ORDER 

1. The Government of Pakistan should undertake to use 
its best endeavours: 

( a )  to secure the withdrawal from the State of Jammu 
and Kashmir of tribesmen and Pakistani nationals not 
normally resident therein who have entered the State for 
the purpose of fighting and to prevent any intrusion into 
the State of such elements and any furnishing of material 
aid to those fighting in the State; 

( b )  T o  make known to all concerned that the measures 
indicated in this and the following paragraphs provide full 
freedom to all subjects of the State, regardless of creed, 
caste, or party, to express their views and to vote on the 
question of the accession of the State, and that therefore 
they should co-operate in the maintenance of peace and 
order. 

2. The Government of India should: 
(a)  When it is established to the satisfaction of the 

Commission set up in accordance with the Council's resolu- 
tion of 20 January that the tribesmen are withdrawing and 
that arrangements for the cessation of the fighting have be- 
come effective, put into operation in consultation with the 
Commission a plan for withdrawing their own forces from 

3 0 8  
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Jammu and Kashmir and reducing them progressively to 
the minimum strength required for the support of the civil 
power in the maintenance of law and order: 

( b )  Make known that the withdrawal is taking place 
in stages and announce the completion of each stage; 

(c)  When the Indian forces shall have been reduced to 
the minimum strength mentioned in (a )  above, arrange in 
consultation with the Commission for the stationing of the 
remaining forces to be carried out in accordance with the 
following principles: 

( i )  That the presence of troops should not afford any 
intimidation or appearance of intimidation to the in- 
habitants of the State; 
(ii) That as small a number as possible should be re- 
tained in forward areas; 
(iii) That any reserve of troops which may be included 
in the total strength should be located within their pres- 
ent base area. 
3. The Government of India should agree that until such 

time as the Plebiscite Administration referred to below 
finds it necessary to exercise the powers of direction and 
supervision over the State forces and police provided for 
in paragraph 8, they will be held in areas to be agreed upon 
with the Plebiscite Administrator. 

4. After the plan referred to in paragraph 2 (a) above has 
been put into operation, personnel recruited locally in each 
district should so far as possible be utilized for the reestab- 
lishment and maintenance of law and order with due re- 
gard to protection of minorities, subject to such additional 
requirements as may be specified by the Plebiscite Ad- 
ministration referred to in paragraph 7. 

5. If these local forces should be found to be inadequate, 
the Commission, subject to the agreement of both the 
Government of India and the Government of Pakistan, 
should arrange for the use of such forces of either Dominion 
as it deems effective for the purpose of pacification. 
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B. PLEBISCITE 

6. The Government of India should undertake to ensure 
that the Government of the State invite the major political 
groups to designate responsible representatives to share 
equitably and fully in the conduct of the administration 
at  the Ministerial level, while the plebiscite is being pre- 
pared and carried out. 

7. The Government of India should undertake that there 
will be established in Jammu and Kashmir a Plebiscite 
Administration to hold a plebiscite as soon as possible on 
the question of the accession of the State to India or 
Pakistan. 

8. The Government of India should undertake that 
there will be delegated by the State to the Plebiscite Ad- 
ministration such powers as the latter considers necessary 
for holding a fair and impartial plebiscite including, for 
that purpose only, the direction and supervision of the 
State forces and police. 

9. The Government of India should, at the request of 
the Plebiscite Administration, make available from the In- 
dian forces such assistance as the Plebiscite Administration 
may require for the performance of its functions. 

lo. (a )  The Government of India should agree that a 
nominee of the Secretary-General of the United Nations 
will be appointed to be the Plebiscite Administrator; 

( b )  The Plebiscite Administrator, acting as an officer of 
the State of Jammu and Kashmir, should have authority 
to nominate his assistants and other subordinates and to 
draft regulations governing the plebiscite. Such nominees 
should be formally appointed and such draft regulations 
should be formally promulgated by the State of Jammu 
and Kashmir; 

(c)  The Government of India should undertake that 
the Government of Jammu and Kashmir will appoint fully 
qualified persons nominated by the Plebiscite Administra- 
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tor to act as special magistrates within the State judicial 
system to hear cases which in the opinion of the Plebiscite 
Administrator have a serious bearing on the preparation 
for and the conduct of a free and impartial plebiscite; 

( d )  The terms of service of the Administrator should 
form the subject of a separate negotiation between the 
Secretary-General of the United Nations and the Govern- 
ment of India. The Administrator should fix the terms of 
service for his assistants and subordinates; 

(e)  The Administrator should have the right to com- 
municate directly with the Government of the State and 
with the Commission of the Security Council and, through 
the Commission, with the Security Council, with the Gov- 
ernments of India and Pakistan and with their representa- 
tives with the Commission. It would be his duty to bring 
to the notice of any or all of the foregoing (as he in his 
discretion may decide) any circumstances arising which 
may tend, in his opinion, to interfere with the freedom of 
the plebiscite. 

11. The Government of India should undertake to pre- 
vent, and to give full support to the Administrator and his 
staff in preventing, any threat, coercion or intimidation, 
bribery or other undue influence on the voters in the plebi- 
scite, and the Government of India should publicly an- 
nounce and should cause the Government of the State to 
announce this undertaking as an international obligation 
binding on all public authorities and officials in Jammu 
and Kashmir. 

12. The Government of India should themselves and 
through the Government of the State declare and make 
known that all subjects of the State of Jammu and Kashmir, 
regardless of creed, caste or party, will be safe and free in 
expressing their views and in voting on the question of the 
accession of the State and that there will be freedom of 
the Press, speech and assembly and freedom of travel in 
the State, including freedom of lawful entry and exit. 
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13. The Government of India should use and should 
ensure that the Government of the State also use their 
best endeavours to effect the withdrawal from the State of 
all Indian nationals other than those who are normally resi- 
dent therein or who on or since 1 5  August 1947 have eo- 
tered it for a lawful purpose. 

14. The Government of India should ensure that the 
Government of the State release all political prisoners and 
take all possible steps so that: 

( a )  All citizens of the State who have left it on account 
of disturbances are invited, and are free, to return to their 
homes and to exercise their rights as such citizens; 

(b)  There is no victimization; 
(c) Minorities in all parts of the State are accorded ade- 

quate protection. 
15. The Commission of the Security Council should at 

the end of the plebiscite certify to the Council whether 
the plebiscite has or has not been really free and impartial. 

C. GENERAL PROVISIONS 

16. The Governments of India and Pakistan should each 
be invited to nominate a representative to be attached to 
the Commission for such assistance as it may require in 
the performance of its task. 

17. The Commission should establish in Jamnlu and 
Kashmir such observers as it may require of any of the 
proceedings in pursuance of the measures indicated in the 
foregoing paragraphs. 

18. The Security Council Commission should carry out 
the tasks assigned to it herein. 

Resolution of the Commission of August I 3, 1948: 
The United Nations Commission for India and Pakistan, 
Having given careful consideration to the points of view 
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expressed by the representatives of India and Pakistan re- 
garding the situation in the State of Jammu and Kashmir, 
and 

Being of the opinion that the prompt cessation of hostili- 
ties and the correction of conditions the continuance of 
which is likely to endanger international peace and security 
are essential to implementation of its endeavours to assist 
the Governments of India and Pakistan in effecting a final 
settlement of the situation, 

Resolves to submit simultaneously to the Governments 
of India and Pakistan the following proposal: 

PART I 

Cease-fire order 
A. The Governments of India and Pakistan agree that 

their respective High Commands will issue separately and 
simultaneously a cease-fire order to apply to all forces under 
their control in the State of Jammu and Kashmir as of the 
earliest practicable date or dates to be mutually agreed upon 
within four days after these proposals have been accepted 
by both Governments. 

B. The High Commands of the Indian and Pakistani 
forces agree to refrain from taking any measures that might 
augment the military potential of the forces under their 
control in the State of Jammu and Kashmir. 

(For the purpose of these proposals forces under their 
control shall be considered to include all forces, organized 
and unorganized, fighting or participating in hostilities on 
their respective sides.) 

C. The Commanders-in-Chief of the forces of India and 
Pakistan shall promptly confer regarding any necessary local 
changes in present dispositions which may facilitate the 
cease-fire. 

D. In its discretion and as the Commission may find 
practicable, the Commission will appoint military observers 
who, under the authority of the Commission and with the 
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co-operation of both Commands, will supervise the observ- 
ance of the cease-fire order. 

E. The Government of India and the Government of 
Pakistan agree to appeal to their respective peoples to as- 
sist in creating and maintaining an atmosphere favourable 
to the promotion of further negotiations. 

PART I1 

Truce agreement 
Simultaneously with the acceptance of the proposal for 

the immediate cessation of hostilities as outlined in Part I, 
both Governmellts accept the following principles as a 
basis for the formulation of a truce agreement, the details 
of which shall be worked out in discussion between their 
representatives and the Commission. 

1. As the presence of troops of Pakistan in the territory 
of the State of Jammu and Kashmir constitutes a material 
change in the situation since it was represented by the 
Government of Pakistan before the Security Council, the 
Government of Pakistan agrees to withdraw its troops from 
that State. 

2. The Government of Pakistan will use its best en- 
deavour to secure the withdrawal from the State of Jammu 
and Kashmir of tribesmen and Pakistani nationals not 
normally resident therein who have entered the State for 
the purpose of fighting. 

3. Pending a final solution, the territory evacuated by 
the Pakistani troops will be administered by the local au- 
thorities under the surveillance of the Commission. 

1 .  When the Commission shall have notified the Gov- 
ernment of India that the tribesmen and Pakistani nationals 
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referred to in Part 11, A, 2 hereof have withdrawn, thereby 
terminating the situation which was represented by the 
Government of India to the Security Council as having 
occasioned the presence of Indian forces in the State of 
Jammu and Kashmir, and further, that the Pakistani forces 
are being withdrawn from the State of Jammu and Kash- 
mir, the Government of India agrees to begin to withdraw 
the bulk of its forces from that State in stages to be agreed 
upon with the Commission. 

2. Pending the acceptance of the conditions for a final 
settlement of the situation in the State of Jammu and Kash- 
mir, the Indian Government will maintain within the lines 
existing at  the moment of the cease-fire the minimum 
strength of its forces which in agreement with the Com- 
mission are considered necessary to assist local authorities 
in the observance of law and order. The Commission will 
have observers stationed where it deems necessary. 

3. The Government of India will undertake to ensure 
that the Government of the State of Jammu and Kashmir 
will take all measures within its power to make it publicly 
known that peace, law and order will be safeguarded and 
that all human and political rights will be guaranteed. 

1. Upon signature, the full text of the truce agreement 
or a communiqut containing the principles thereof as 
agreed upon between the two Governments and the Com- 
mission, will be made public. 

PART I11 

The Government of India and the Government of Paki- 
stan reaffirm their wish that the future status of the State 
of Jammu and Kashmir shall be determined in accordance 
with the will of the people and to that end, upon accept- 
ance of the truce agreement, both Governments agree to 
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enter into consultations with the Commission to determine 
fair and equitable conditions whereby such free expression 
will be assured. 

Appendix 111 
Resolution of the Commission of Ianuary 5, 1949: 

The United Nations Co~nmission for India and Pakistan, 
Having received from the Covernmcnts of India and 

Pakistan, in communications dated 23 December and 25 

December 1948, respectively, their acceptance of the fol- 
lowing principles which are supplen~entary to the Com- 
nlission's Resolution of 1 3 August 1948: 

1. The question of the accession of the State of Jammu 
and Kashmir to India or Pakistan will be decided through 
the democratic method of a free and impartial plebiscite; 

2. A plebiscite will be held when it sliall be found by 
the Comnlission that the cease-fire and truce arrangements 
set forth in Parts I and I1 of the Con~n~ission's resolutio~l 
of 13  August 1948 have been carried out and arrangeineilts 
for the plebiscite have been completed; 

3. ( a )  The Secretary-General of the United Nations will, 
in agreement with the Con~mission, nominate a Plebi- 
scite Administrator who shall be a personality of high 
international standing and commanding general con- 
fidence. He will be formally appointed to office by the 
Government of Jammu and Kashmir. 
( b )  The Plebiscite Administrator shall derive from 
the State of Jammu and Kashmir the powers he con- 
siders necessary for organizing and conducting the 
plebiscite and for ensuring the freedom and impartial- 
ity of the plebiscite. 
(c) The Plebiscite Administrator shall have authority 
to appoint such staff of assistants and observers as he 
may require. 
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4. ( a )  After ilnplementation of Parts I and I1 of the 

Commission's resolution of 1 3  August 1948, and when tlle 
Conlnlission is satisfied that peaceful conditions have been 
restored in the State, the Commission and the Plebiscite 
Administrator will determine, in consultation wit11 the 
Government of India, the final disposal of Indian and State 
armed forces, such disposal to be with due regard to the 
security of the State and the freedom of the plebiscite. 

( b )  As regards the territory referred to in A.2 of 
Part I1 of the resolution of 13  August, final disposal 
of the armed forces in that territory will be determined 
by the Commission and the Plebiscite Ad~ninistrator 
in consultation with the local authorities. 

5. All civil and military authorities within the State and 
the principal political elements of the State will be re- 
quired to co-operate with the Plebiscite Administrator in the 
preparation for and the holding of the plebiscite. 

6. (a )  All citizens of the State who have left it on ac- 
count of the disturbances will be invited and be free 
to return and to exercise all their rights as such citizens. 
For the purpose of facilitating repatriation there shall 
be appointed two Commissions, one composed of nom- 
inees of India and the other of nominees of Pakistan. 
The Commission shall operate under the direction of 
the Plebiscite Administrator. The Go~ernnlents of 
India and Pakistan and all authorities within the State 
of Jammu and Kashmir will collaborate with the 
Plebiscite Administrator in putting this provision into 
effect. 
(b)  All persons (other than citizens of the State) 
who on or since 1 5  August 1947 have entered it for 
other than lawful purpose, shall be required to leave 
the State. 

7. All authorities within the State of Jammu and Kasll- 
mir will undertake to ensure, in collaboration with the 
Plebiscite Administrator, that: 
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(a )  There is no threat, coercion or intimidation, 
bribery or other undue influence on the voters in the 
plebiscite; 
( b )  No restrictions are placed on legitimate political 
activity throughout the State. All subjects of the State, 
regardless of creed, caste or party, shall be safe and 
free in expressing their views and in voting on the ques- 
tion of the accession of the State to India or Pakistan. 
There shall be freedom of the press, speech and as- 
sembly and freedom of travel in the State, including 
freedom of lawful entry and exit; 
(c)  All political prisoners are released; 
(d )  Minorities in all parts of the State are accorded 
adequate protection; and 
(e)  There is no victimization. 

8. The Plebiscite Administrator may refer to the United 
Nations Commission for India and Pakistan problenls on 
which he may require assistance, and the Com~nission may 
in its discretion call upon the Plebiscite Administrator to 
carry out on its behalf any of the responsibilities with which 
it has been entrusted; 

9. At the conclusion of the plebiscite, the Plebiscite Ad- 
ministrator shall report the result thereof to the Comn~ission 
and to the Government of Jammu and Kashmir. The Corn- 
mission shall then certify to the Security Council whether 
the plebiscite has or has not been free and impartial; 

lo. Upon the signature of the truce agreement the de- 
tails of the foregoing proposals will be elaborated in the 
consultations envisaged in Part I11 of the Commission's 
resolution of i j  August 1948. The Plebiscite Administra- 
tor will be fully associated in these consultations; 

Commends the Governments of India and Pakistan for 
their prompt action in ordering a cease-fire to take effect 
from one minute before midnight of 1 January 1949, pur- 
suant to the agreement arrived at as ~rovided for by the 
Commission's resolution of 1 3  August 1948; and 
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Resolves to return in the immediate future to the Sub- 

continent to discharge the responsibilities imposed upon it 
by the resolution of i j  August 1948 and by the foregoing 
principles. 

Resolution of the Security Council of March 14, 1950: 
The Security Council, 
Having received and noted the reports of the United 

Nations Commission for India and Pakistan, established 
by the resolutions of 20  January and 21 April 1948 

Having also received and noted the report of General 
A. G. L. McNaughton on the outcome of his discussion 
with the representatives of India and Pakistan which were 
initiated in pursuance of the decision taken by the Security 
Council on 17 December 1949 

Commending the Governments of India and Pakistan for 
their statesmanlike action in reaching the agreements em- 
bodied in the United Nations Commission's resolutions of 
13 August 1948 and 5 January 1949 for a cease-fire, for the 
demilitarization of the State of Jammu and Kashmir and 
for the determination of its final disposition in accordance 
with the will of the people through the democratic method 
of a free and impartial plebiscite and commending the 
parties in particular for their action in partially implement- 
ing these resolutions by 

(1  ) The Cessation of hostilities effected 1 January 1949; 
( 2 )  The establishment of a cease-fire line on 27 July, and 
( 3 )  The agreement that Fleet Admiral Chester W. 

Ninlitz shall be Plebiscite Administrator, 
Considering that the resolution of the outstanding dif- 

ficulties should be based upon the substantial measure of 
agreement on fundamental principles already reached, and 
that steps should be taken forthwith for the demilitariza- 
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tion of the State and for the expeditious determination of 
its future in accordance with the freely expressed will of 
the inhabitants, 

1. Calls upon the Governments of India and Pakistan 
to make immediate arrangements without prejudice to their 
rights or claims and with due regard to the requirements of 
law and order, to prepare and execute within a period of 
five months from the date of this resolution a programme 
of demilitarization on the basis of the principles ofi para- 
graph 2 of General McNaughton's proposal or of such 
modifications of those principles as may be mutually agreed; 

2. Decides to appoint a United Nations Representative 
for the following purposes who shall have authority to per- 
form his functions in such place or places as he may deem 
appropriate : 

(a)  T o  assist in the preparation and to supervise the 
implementation of the programme of demilitarization re- 
ferred to above and to interpret the agreements reached by 
the parties for demilitarization, 

(b) T o  place himself at the disposal of the Govern- 
ments of India and Pakistan and to place before these Gov- 
ernments or the Security Council any suggestions which, 
in his opinion, are likely to contribute to the expeditious 
and enduring solution of the dispute which has arisen be- 
tween the two Governments in regard to the State of 
Jammu and Kashmir, 

( c )  T o  exercise all of the powers and responsibilities de- 
volving upon the United Nations commission by reason 
of existing resolutions of the Security Council and by reason 
of the agreement of the parties embodied in the resolutions 
of the United Nations Commission of 13 August 1948 and 
5 January 19497 

(d)  T o  arrange at the appropriate stage of demilitariza- 
tion for the assumption by the Plebiscite Administrator of 
the functions assigned to the latter under agreements made 
between the parties, 
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(e)  To  report to the Security Council as he may con- 
sider necessary submitting his conclusions and any recom- 
mendations which he may desire to make; 

3. Requests the two Governments to take all necessary 
precautions to ensure that their agreements regarding the 
cease-fire shall continue to be faithfully observed, and calls 
upon them to take all possible measures to ensure the crea- 
tion and maintenance of an atmosphere favourable to the 
promotion of further negotiations; 

4. Extends its best thanks to the members of the United 
Nations Commission for India and Pakistan and to General 
A. G. L. McNaughton for their arduous and fruitful 
labours; 

5. Agrees that the United Nations Commission for India 
and Pakistan shall be terminated, and decides that this 
shall take place one month after both parties have infor~~led 
the United Nations Representative of their acceptance of 
the transfer to him of the powers and responsibilities of the 
United Nations Commission referred to in paragraph 2 

(c) above. 

Appendix V 
Resolution of the Security Council of March 30, 1951: 

Having received and noted the report of Sir Owen Dixon, 
the United Nations Representative for India and Pakistan, 
on his mission initiated by the Security Council resolution 
of 14 March 19 50; 

Observing that the Governments of India and Pakistan 
have accepted the provisions of the United Nations Com- 
mission for India and Pakistan resolutions of 13 August 
1948 and 5 January 1949 and of the Security Council reso- 
lution of 14 March 1950, and have re-affirmed their desire 
that the future of the State of Jammu and Kashmir shall 
be decided through the democratic method of a free and 
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impartial plebiscite conducted under the auspices of the 
United Nations; 

Observing that on 27 October 1950 the General Council 
of the "All Jammu and Kashmir National Conferencew 
adopted a resolution recommending the convening of a 
Constituent Assembly for the purpose of determining the 
"future shape and affiliations of the State of Ja~nmu and 
Kashmir"; observing further from statements of responsible 
authorities that action is proposed to convene such a Con- 
stituent Assembly and that the area from which such a 
Constituent Assembly would be elected is only a part of 
the whole territory of Jammu and Kashmir; 

Reminding the Governments and Authorities coilceriled 
of the principle embodied in the Security Council resolu- 
tions of 21 April 1948, 3 June 1948 and 14 March 1950 
and the United Nations Comnlission for India and Pakistan 
resolutions of 1 3  August 1948 and 5 January 1949, that the 
final disposition of the State of Jammu and Kashmir will 
be made in accordance with the will of the people expressed 
through the democratic method of a free and impartial 
plebiscite conducted under the auspices of the United Na- 
tions; 

Affirming that the convening of a Constituent Assembly 
as recommended by the General Council of the "All Jammu 
and Kashmir National Conference," and any action that 
Assembly might attempt to take to determine the future 
shape and affiliation of the entire State or any part thereof 
would not constitute a disposition of the State in accord- 
ance with the above principle; 

Declaring its belief that it is the duty of the Security 
Council in carrying out its primary responsibility for the 
maintenance of international peace and security to aid the 
parties to reach an amicable solution of the Kashmir dis- 
pute and that a prompt settlement of this dispute is of 
vital importance to the maintenance of international peace 
and security; 
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Observing from Sir Owen Dixon's report that the main 

points of difference preventing agreement between the par- 
ties were: 

( a )  The procedure for and the extent of demilitarization 
of the State preparatory to the holding of a plebiscite, 
and 
( b )  The degree of control over the exercise of the func- 
tions of government in the State necessary to ensure a 
free and fair plebiscite; 
The Security Council, 
1 .  Accepts, in compliance with his request, Sir Owen 

Dixon's resignation and expresses its gratitude to Sir Owen 
for the great ability and devotion with which he carried 
out his mission; 

2. Decides to appoint a United Nations Representative 
for India and Pakistan in succession to Sir Owen Dixon; 

3. Instructs the United Nations Representative to pro- 
ceed to the Sub-continent and, after consulation with the 
Governments of India and Pakistan, to effect the demili- 
tarization of the State of Jammu and Kashmir on the basis 
of the United Nations Commission for India and Pakistan 
resolutions of 1 3 August 1948 and 5 January 1949; 

4. Calls upon the parties to co-operate with the United 
Nations Representative to the fullest degree in effecting the 
demilitarization of the State of Jammu and Kashmir; 

5. Instructs the United Nations Representative to re- 
port to the Security Council within three months from the 
date of his arrival on the Sub-continent. If, at the time of 
this report, he has not effected demilitarization in accord- 
ance with paragraph 3 above, or obtained the agreement of 
the parties to a plan for effecting such demilitarization, 
the United Nations Representative shall report to the 
Security Council those points of difference between the 
parties in regard to the interpretation and execution of the 
agreed resolutions of 1 3  August 1948 and 5 January 1949 
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which he considers must be resolved to enable such demili- 
tarization to be carried out; 

6. Calls upon the parties, in the event of their discus- 
sions with the United Nations Representative failing in 
his opinion to result in full agreement, to accept arbitra ti011 
upon all outstanding points of difference reported by the 
United Nations Representative in accordailce with para- 
graph 5 above; such arbitration to be carried out by an  
Arbitrator, or a panel of Arbitrators, to be appointed by 
the President of the International Court of Justice after 
consultation with the parties; 

7. Decides that the Military Observer group shall con- 
tinue to supervise the cease-fire in the State; 

8. Requests the Governments of India and Pakistan to 
ensure that their agreement regarding the cease-fire shall 
continue to be faithfully observed and calls upon them to 
take all possible measures to ensure the creation and main- 
tenance of an atmosphere favourable to the promotion of 
further negotiations and to refrain from any action likely 
to prejudice a just and peaceful settlement; 

9. Requests the Secretary-General to provide the United 
Nations Representative for India and Pakistan with such 
services and facilities as may be necessary in carrying out 
the terms of this resolution. 
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i 3, 1948, 141-142; accepts 
resolution, 142; and attitude 
of Indian officers, 149-1 50; 
accepts UNCIP resolution of 
January 5,  1949, 153; and 
implementation of cease-fire 
order, 1 54-1 5 5; and disarma- 
ment of Azad forces, 1 5 5, 186; 
rejects UNCIP plan of de- 
militarization, 156; rejects pro- 
posal on arbitration, 1 57-1 58; 
UNCIP report critical of, 160; 
and violation of armistice, 
162; deterioration in Pakistani 
relations with, 165, 183, 184; 
McNaughton proposal criti- 
cized by, 167; accepts with 
qualification Securitv Council 
resolution of   arch i 4, i g 50, 



Index 
i 68; world press critical of, 169, 
175; and reaction to Dixon's 
mediation, 170, 17 1-1 7 3; com- 
pares Kashmir and Korea11 
conflicts, 171; rejects Austra- 
lian proposal on demilitariza- 
tion, 177; rejects Security 
Council resolution of March 
30, 1951, 178; and omission 
to apply Chapter VII  of UN 
Charter, 181; rejects Graham's 
demilitarization plan, 187; re- 
jects Security Council resolu- 
tion of December 23, 1952, 
187; and direct negotiations 
with Pakistan, 192-194 

and Kashmir relations with, 
206-207, 21 8 ff; and Kashmir 
budgets, 217; and Kashmir 
autonomy, 220, 2 2  3, 224-22 5; 
Kashmir's place in Constitu- 
tion of, 220; Constituent As- 
sembly and attitude of, 221; 
and Ladakh's relations with, 
229, 2 30; reportedly agrees 
with partition plan, 237; 
denies reports, 2 38; Abdullah 
questions accession to, 238- 
2 39; and Abdullah's dismissal, 
243; endorses ratification of 
accession, 247; and foreign . . - 

policy of, 270, 302-303; op- 
poses US military help to 
Pakistan, 270; czarist plans 
on, 273 ff, 277; Soviet direc- 
tion of Communist activities 
in, 283; and Third Interna- 
tional, 284 ff; Stalin's evalua- 
tion of revolutionary poten- 
tialities in, 288; in Soviet- 
German plans of expansion, 
289-290; Consulate in Sin- 
kiang discontinued, 298; re- 
lations with China, 303 

India Act, of 1919, 35; of 1935, 
38- 39 

Indiagram (Washington, D.C.) , 
164 n., 214 n., 246 n., 247 n., 
270 n. 

Indian Independence Act of 
l947, 44 

Indian National Trade Union 
Congress, 294 

Indian Revolutionary Associa- 
tion, 284 

India's People's Theatre Associa- 
tion, 292 

Indonesia, 1 17 
Indus River, 7, 139 
industry, and New Kashmir, 205; 

governmental support and 
control of, 2 1 5  

International Court of Justice, 
ignored in Kashmir conflict, 
1 14-1 i 5; and arbitration, 178, 
179; and possibility of its use, 
196 

Iqbal, Sir Muhammad, 38, 45 
Iran (Persia), 9, 274; partitioned 

between Russia and Britain 
in 1907, 278; Soviet post- 
WW I policy toward, 281 

Islam, 8, 75 
Ismay, Lord, visits Srinagar, 58 

Jackson, Elmore, member of UN 
Secretariat, 18 5 

Jagirdars, and land reform, 210 

Jahangir, Emperor Salim, 3, 11 

Jammu, 5, 131, 136, 145; in- 
vaded by tribesmen, 75; elec- 
tions in, t t 1, 222; separatism 
in, 226-228; Praja Parishad 
agitation renewed in, 2 3 2-2 3 3; 
Abdullah plans autonomy of, 
2 34; Con~munists exploit sep- 
aratism in, 255; position of 
Communists in, 266 

Jammu town, 7; administration 
of, 21; curfew in, 227; Peace 
Congress in, 253, 262 

Jan Sangh party, supports Praja 



Index 
Parishad, 234, 235; calls off 
agitation, 237 

Janak Singh, Prime Minister of 
Kash~nir, 60 

Jebb, Sir Gladwyn, 177, 269 
Jhelum River, 7, i 39 
Jinnah, Mohammed Ali, visits 

Kashmir, 21; on hiuslilll na- 
tional individuality, 26-27; at  
the Round Table Conference, 
37; differences with Nehru, 
38; Iqbal's opinion of, 38; on 
Congress Cabinets' resignation 
in 1939, 39; and his policy 
during WW 11, 39; attitude 
toward Mountbatten Mission, 
45; reported plan of assassina- 
tion of, 52; appeals for peace, 
53; orders to send troops to 
Kashmir, 87; proposes solu- 
tion of Kashmir conflict, 88- 
89; does not meet UNCIP, 
120; Nehru critical of, 128, 
130; death of, 150  

Jinnah, Fatima, 243 
Joshi, P. C., Secretary-General 

of CPI, 291; demoted, 293 
Junagadh, Princely State, 48, 63, 

165; before UN, i oo, i i o 

Kabul, 275, 283 
Kak, Pandit, Prime Minister of 

Kashmir, 56, 60 
Kanishka, Emperor, i o 
Kapurthala, Princely State, 6 3 
Karaka, D. F., Indian writer, 

73 "a, 74 n., 292 ". 
Karan Singh Bahadur, Yuvarai, 

Prince-Regen t, 2 19; Abdullah 
warns, 220-2 2 1; and convoca- 
tion of Constituent Assembly, 
221; elected Head of State, 
225; visits Delhi, 237; Ab- 
dullah dismissed by, 241 

Kargil, 228 

Kashgar, 7, 297, 298 
Kashmir, boundaries, 5-6; popu- 

lation, 6; strategic importance, 
9; national character of popu- 
lation, 9; number of refugees 
from, 153 

Kashmir Affairs ( Rawalpindi ) , 
214 n., 233 n., 248 n. 

Kashmir Awami Conference, 2 7 5 
Kashmir Democratic ~ n i o c  

207 
Kashmiri Pandits Conference, 17 
Kashmir Socialist Party, 207 
Kashmir Valley, see Vale of 

Kashmir 
Kathua, 60 
Kazakhstan, Soviet Republic of, 

297 
Kazan, 283 
Khilafat movement, 280 
Khiva, 276 
Khrulev, General, 277 
Kisan Mazdoor Conference, 207 
Kisan Sabha, 292 
Kitchlew, Dr. Saifuddin, Indian 

delegate at  Peking Peace Con- 
ference, 263 

Kohn, Hans, on nationalism, 30, 
3 

Kripalani, Acharya J. B., visits 
Kashmir, 59 

Krishen, Rajbans, Indian writer, 
251 n., 257 

Kulvir Singh, Sardar, Commu- 
nist leader, 252 

Kun, Bela, 287 n. 
Kung Posh (Srinagar ) , 2 5 5 
Kushuk-Bakola, Head Lama of 

Ladakh, and his vacillating 
policy, 230; on Communist 
strategy, 2 3 1; on relations with 
Kashmir, 2 3 3; against plebis- 
cite, 244 

Ladakh, 5, 9; elections in, 221; 



Index 
separatism in, 228-2 3 1; and 
proximity to Tibet and Sin- 
kiang, 228; land reform in, 
2 29; Abdullah plans autononly 
of, 234; relations with Kash- 
mir, 233 

land reform, in Azad territory, 
200-201; in Kashmir, 209-2 14; 
extent of, 2 11-2 i t ;  and Indian 
constitution, 224; in Ladakh, 
229; see also agriculture 

Lawrence, Sir Walter R., 1 5  n. 
Lebedev, V. T., 277 
Leguizamon, Carlos A., alternate 

member (later chief delegate) 
of UNCIP for Argentina, 
119 n. 

Leh, 228, 229 
Lenin, V. I., encourages Afghan- 

istan in anti-British policy, 
282; analyzes revolutionary 
potentialities in Asia, 284, 285 

Lharingo, 299 
Lhasa, 9, 228, 299 
Liaquat Ali Khan, accepts 

Nehru's suggestion on UN 
supervised plebiscite, 90-9 1; 

charges India with hostile 
intentions, 96; and first con- 
tact with UNCIP, 120-121; 
UNCIP negotiations with, 
i 3 5 ;  and Commonwealth 
meeting, 176; and arbitration, 
180; protests against troops 
concentration, 1 84 

Lockhart, General R. M., 86-87 
Lohia, Dr. R., leader of Praja 

Socialist Party, on plebiscite, 
244 

Lozano, Alfredo, member of 
UNCIP for Colombia, i 19 n., 
1 5 2  

Lucknow, Emporium in, 216 
Lucknow Pact, 35 

Madras, 294; Emporium in, 216 

Madura, CPI congress at, 295 
Mahajan, Mehr Chand, Prime 

Minister of Kash~nir, 60 
Maharaja of Kashmir, evades 

solution of Kash~nir issue, q6- 
58; plays for time, 6964; i t -  
tempts to suppress revolt in 
Jammu, 66-67; charges Paki- 
stan with responsibility for 
unrest, 68-69; ieaves sr;nagar 
before tribal threat, 80; ex- 
plains standstill agreement, 81; 
charges Pakistan with viola- - 
tion of standstill agreement, 
81; accedes to India, 81-87; 
lives in exile, 206; transfeis 
his powers to son, 219; 
stripped of powers, 222-22 3; 
and relations between Ladakh 
and Kashmir, 233 

Malenkov, G., 300 
Malik, Jakob, 168; accuses 

United States and Britain of 
interference, 260 

Manasarowar, 298 
Manki Shariff, Pir Sahib of, 

Pakistan's delegate at Peking 
Peace Conference, 263 

Mao Tse-tung, 299 
Marin, Miguel A., member of 

U N  Secretariat, 185 
Masani, M. R., Indian writer, 

292 n. 
Masoodi, Maulana Syed, General 

Secretary of National Confer- 
ence, 256 

Mazdoor Sabha, 255 
Mazdur, I., Soviet writer, denies 

Communist influence in revolt 
of 1930's~ 249-250 

McMahon line. 200 

McNaughton, ~ e h d r a l  A. G. L., 
conducts informal negotia- 
tions, 166-1 67; proposal made 
by, 167 

Meerut Conspiracy Case, 289 



Index 
Menon, V. P., reports on tribal 

invasion, 80 
R1lenzie, Robert Gordon, de- 

~nilitarization proposed by, 
176-177 

Messervy, General Sir Frank, 
8 5-86 

~ i r p u r ,  5. 55, 75. 234 
Mohammed Bin Kasim, q 
Mohammed, Ghulam,   over nor- 

General of Pakistan, conver- 
sation with, 1 3 5-1 36 

Molotov Vyacheslav, 289, 290 
Mookerjee, Dr. S. P., president 

of Jan Sangh party, imprison- 
ment and death of, 235 

Morley-Minto reforms, 34 
Mountbatten of Burma, Lord, 

44; his speech before the 
Chamber of Princes, 48; and 
his visit to Maharaja, 55-57; 
and accession, 78-79, 80, 83; 
Jinnah meets with, 88-89? 106; 

Muafidars, and land reform, 210 

Mukarraries, and land reform, 
210  

Mukkerji, H., Indian Commu- 
nist leader, 266 

Muslim Conference, see All- 
Jammu and Kashmir Muslim 
Conference 

Muslim-Hindu relations, see 
Hindu-Muslim relations 

h4uslim League, see All-India 
Muslim League 

Muslims, in Kashmir, 6; in Balti- 
stan, 9; in Gilgit, 9; in Jammu, 
9; under Dogra rule, 13, i 5;  
attitude toward Abdullah, 27; 
and national unity, 43; in 
Puniab, 50; in ~ r i t i s h  Indian 
arm;, 54:' revolt against Maha- 
raia, 66-67; massacred in Kash- 
mir, 77; '~bdol lah concerned 
about position of, 2 39-240; 
demonstrate against Abdul- 

lah's dismissal, 24 3; Soviet 
government appeals to, 280; 
in the Soviet Union, 286; in 
Sinkiang, Soviet Turkestan, 

34 
Mysore, Princely State, 292 

Nagir, 5 
Naidu Saroiini, late National 

Congress leader, 37 
Nanak, Guru, founder of Sikh- 

ism. 50 
~ a ~ o l e c h  I, 275, 276, 289 
Nation (Calcutta), 227 n. 
National Conference, ' see All- 

Jammu and Kashmir National 
Conference 

National Congress, see All- 
India National Congress 

National Herald (Lucknow), 
84 

National Standard, The (Bom- 
bay), 223 n. 

Nazimuddin, Khwaja, Prime 
Minister of Pakistan, 190 

Nehru, Pandit Jawaharlal, on 
beauties of Kashmir, 4: phi- 
losophy of oneness of -the 
Tndian nation, 25-27, 31, 41; 
differences with Jinnah, 38; 
on national unity, 41, 42, 127- 
128; on Jinnah, 45; wishes to 
go to Kashmir, 56, 59; and 
Abdullah's release from prison, 
70; prevented by illnes; from 
negotiating, 88; on UN super- 
vised plebiscite, 90, 91, 92 

criticizes Security Council 
resolution of April 21, 1948. 
112; first contact with 
UNCIP, 122, 1 2 7 ,  126, 127; 
conversation with Czecho- 
slovak delegate, 127-1 30; in- 
dicates solution by partition 



Index 
of Kashmir, 130, 131; on 
cease-fire, 1 34; questions inter- 
pretation of UNCIP resolution 
of August 1 3, 1948, 141; ques- 
tions interpretation of UNCIP 
resolution of January 5, 1949, 
152; and the problein of de- 
militarization, 152; critical of 
arbitration proposal, 1 58, 180; 
against US military observers, 
163 -1 64; No War Declaration 
proposed by, 166; refutes for- 
eign press, 170; on China 
aggression, 181-1 82; critical 
of Security Council resolution 
of March 30, 1951, 182; ex- 
plains juridical in~plications of 
India partition, 182; warns 
Pakistan, 184-185; on Dr. 
Graham's method of media- 
tion, 188; against retention of 
Admiral Nimitz as debiscite 

L 

administrator, i 94-19 5, 269; 
meets Ali in London, Karachi, 
Delhi, 192, at Colombo Con- 
ference, 195; and US military 
help to Pakistan, 195, 270-271, 
272, 302 

and National Conference 
meeting, 219; on Kashmir 
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